

EDITED BY: Ilenia Pantano and Piero Ruscitti PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Medicine









Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-578-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-578-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

COMORBIDITIES IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS AND THEIR IMPACT ON THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES

Topic Editors: Ilenia Pantano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Citation: Pantano, I., Ruscitti, P., eds. (2022). Comorbidities in Psoriatic Arthritis and Their Impact on Therapeutic Strategies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-578-4

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Comorbidities in Psoriatic Arthritis and Their Impact on Therapeutic Strategies

Ilenia Pantano and Piero Ruscitti

06 Increased Incidence of Total Knee Replacement Surgery in Patients With Psoriasis: A Secondary Cohort Analysis of a Nationwide, Population-Based Health Claims Database

Ming-Chi Lu, Kuo-Sheng Fan, Chia-Wen Hsu, Malcolm Koo and Ning-Sheng Lai

11 Multicenter Study of Secukinumab Survival and Safety in Spondyloarthritis and Psoriatic Arthritis: SEcukinumab in Cantabria and ASTURias Study

Sara Alonso, Ignacio Villa, Sabela Fernández, José L. Martín, Lilyan Charca, Marina Pino, Leyre Riancho, Isla Morante, Monserrat Santos, Anahy Brandy, Elena Aurrecoechea, Loreto Carmona and Rubén Queiro

20 Depression and Endothelial Dysfunction in Psoriatic Arthritis: Is There Any Possible Relationship?

Enrico De Lorenzis, Angela Di Giorgio, Gerlando Natalello, Antonio Nesci, Giacomo Tanti, Pietro Rubortone, Donatella Lucchetti, Maria Rosaria Magurano, Clara Di Mario, Barbara Tolusso, Giusy Peluso, Angelo Santoliquido and Elisa Gremese

29 Psoriatic Arthritis and Metabolic Syndrome: Is There a Role for Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs?

Fabiola Atzeni, Elisabetta Gerratana, Ignazio Francesco Masala, Sara Bongiovanni, Piercarlo Sarzi-Puttini and Javier Rodríguez-Carrio

Managing Psoriatic Arthritis With Inflammatory Bowel Disease and/or Uveitis

Alfred Yu Ting Chia, Gladys Wei Xin Ang, Anita Sook Yee Chan, Webber Chan, Timothy Kit Yeong Chong and Ying Ying Leung

62 Hyperuricemia in Psoriatic Arthritis: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Implications

Cesare Tripolino, Jacopo Ciaffi, Piero Ruscitti, Roberto Giacomelli, Riccardo Meliconi and Francesco Ursini

73 Extra-Articular Manifestations and Comorbidities in Psoriatic Disease: A Journey Into the Immunologic Crosstalk

Lucia Novelli, Ennio Lubrano, Vincenzo Venerito, Fabio Massimo Perrotta, Francesca Marando, Giacomo Curradi and Florenzo Iannone

- 87 Update on Cardiovascular Risk and Obesity in Psoriatic Arthritis Julio Ramírez, Ana Belén Azuaga-Piñango, Raquel Celis and Juan D. Cañete
- 95 Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms in Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis: Have Numbers Changed During the COVID-19 Pandemic?
 Matthias Englbrecht, Peter Bartz-Bazzanella, Cay von der Decken, Georg Gauler, Patrick Wurth, Peer Aries, Kirsten Karberg, Christoph Kuhn, Florian Schuch, Susanna Späthling-Mestekemper, Wolfgang Vorbrüggen,

Jörg Wendler, Martin Welcker and Stefan Kleinert





Editorial: Comorbidities in Psoriatic Arthritis and Their Impact on Therapeutic Strategies

Ilenia Pantano 1*† and Piero Ruscitti 2†

¹ Rheumatology Unit, Department of Precision Medicine, University of Campania L. Vanvitelli, Caserta, Italy, ² Department of Biotechnological and Applied Clinical Sciences, University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy

Keywords: psoriatic arthritis, comorbidities, BDMARDs, cardiovascular disease, obesity

Editorial on the Research Topic

Comorbidities in Psoriatic Arthritis and Their Impact on Therapeutic Strategies

Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) is a chronic disease characterized by the inflammatory involvement of joint in patients with psoriasis, manifest or not (1). PsA may be also associated with a significant rate of comorbidities, mainly cardiometabolic, which, together with the musculoskeletal manifestations, may have a relevant impact on quality of life and outcome of these patients (2, 3). The synergy between inflammation and "traditional" cardiovascular risk factors may result in this typical clinical phenotype and may be considered as a part of the psoriatic disease itself. Multiple lines of evidence may suggest that at the basis of these comorbidities there is a cytokine activation (2, 3). The systemic inflammation is pivotal in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, involving low-grade inflammatory activity in the vascular wall (4). Moreover, inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF and IL-6, are also involved in the pathophysiology of hypertension and dyslipidemia associated with obesity and insulin resistance. In recent years, several drugs have been approved for PsA but little data is available on their impact of on associated comorbidities of these patients. Similarly, the impact of these comorbidities in influencing the choice as well as the efficacy of such medications remain to be fully evaluated. There are no specific data which may guide the physician in the therapeutic choice based on the presence of certain comorbidities. Given that the comorbidities may be linked to the inflammatory process underlying PsA, it could be possible to speculate that the currently available therapies could also play a role in the associated disorders.

Taking together these observations, in this special issue, the impact of comorbidities was assessed in the management of patients with PsA. The selected articles are very different from each since the topic itself is very heterogeneous. The association between PsA and different comorbidities was discussed, highlighting the relevance of this problem in managing these patients (Lu et al.; De Lorenzis et al.; Alonso et al.; Atzeni et al.; Novelli et al.; Chia et al.; Tripolino et al.; Ramírez et al.; Englbrecht et al.). The rate of depression was discussed in PsA, which is acknowledged as a frequent comorbidity in inflammatory arthritis influencing the patient clinical picture (Englbrecht et al.). In addition, a vascular dysfunction was observed in patients with PsA and depression; a correlation between flow mediated dilatation features and depressive symptoms was observed (De Lorenzis et al.). The most frequently topic of these works was the cardiometabolic risk associated with PsA (Atzeni et al.; Novelli et al.; Ramírez et al.). An update about cardiovascular risk in PsA was provided, also describing the involved inflammatory pathogenic mechanisms (Novelli et al.). In fact, a number of epidemiologic studies, systematic reviews, and meta-analyses have suggested that PsA may be considered an independent risk factor for major adverse cardiovascular events. In addition, the clinical impact of obesity was reviewed in PsA (Ramírez et al.); this is recognized as

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: João Eurico Fonseca,

University of Lisbon, Portugal

*Correspondence: Ilenia Pantano ilenia.pantano@libero.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 06 December 2021 Accepted: 22 December 2021 Published: 03 February 2022

Citation:

Pantano I and Ruscitti P (2022) Editorial: Comorbidities in Psoriatic Arthritis and Their Impact on Therapeutic Strategies. Front. Med. 8:830179. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.830179

4

an independent risk factor for PsA occurrence and its association with cardiometabolic burden (2). The clinical role of hyperuricemia in managing patients with PsA was also pointed out. Serum levels of uric acid may be associated with the severity of clinical manifestations and inflammatory features in patients with PsA (Tripolino et al.). In addition, in this special issue, the treatment was described in PsA with associated extra-articular manifestations or comorbidities (Alonso et al.; Atzeni et al.; Tripolino et al.). The management of concomitant uveitis and inflammatory bowel disease in these patients may be associated with specific therapeutic strategies according to different underlying pathogenetic steps (Chia et al.). Frequently, patients with PsA are characterized by the presence of metabolic syndrome, but the impact of approved therapies on that is far from being optimal. Thus, the main evidence related to the possible effects of synthetic and biologic DMARDs on metabolic syndrome outcomes was described in patients with PsA (Atzeni et al.). Finally, the effectiveness of secukinumab, a monoclonal antibody binding IL-17A, was explored in a "real-life" setting (Alonso et al.). Interestingly, in this study, the presence of some comorbidities (i.e., high blood pressure, diabetes, and obesity) were associated with a lower risk of discontinuation of the biologic DMARDs in patients with PsA (Alonso et al.). These findings may suggest that the effectiveness of this drug may be not influenced by the presence of comorbidity. In fact, the specific mechanism of action of secukinumab may not be influenced by the presence of associated disorder and possibly proposing its therapeutic relevance in a "real-life" setting. In

REFERENCES

- Ocampo DV, Gladman D. Psoriatic arthritis. F1000Res. (2019) 8:1– 16. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.19144.1
- Puig L. Cardiometabolic comorbidities in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Int J Mol Sci. (2018) 19:58. doi: 10.3390/ijms1901 0058
- 3. Perez-Chada LM, Merola JF. Comorbidities associated with psoriatic arthritis: review and update. Clin 214:108397. Immunol. (2020)doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.10 8397
- Arida A, Protogerou AD, Kitas GD, Sfikakis PP. Systemic inflammatory response and atherosclerosis : the paradigm of chronic inflammatory rheumatic diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1890. doi: 10.3390/ijms1907 1890

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial

this context, it must be pointed out that the evidence deriving from randomized clinical trials did not entirely clarify this issue. The strict enrolment criteria of these studies would decrease the generalizability of the results since the enrolled patients could not fully mirror the "real-life" scenario.

Taking together these findings, the increase of the rate of comorbidities, especially the cardiometabolic ones, is recognized in PsA with a consequent enhanced mortality and disability in these patients. In the clinical practice every rheumatologist routinely deals with these problems in patients with PsA and there are no specific therapeutic strategies to manage these comorbidities. This special issue has collected data about the influence of comorbidities, especially cardiometabolic, in the management of these patients. Thus, this special issue may provide the rationale of designing specific designed studies to fully evaluate these issues in PsA.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the authors who participated in the special issue by submitting their works.

relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pantano and Ruscitti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Increased Incidence of Total Knee Replacement Surgery in Patients With Psoriasis: A Secondary Cohort Analysis of a Nationwide, Population-Based Health Claims Database

Ming-Chi Lu^{1,2†}, Kuo-Sheng Fan^{3†}, Chia-Wen Hsu⁴, Malcolm Koo^{5,6*} and Ning-Sheng Lai^{1,2*}

¹ Division of Allergy, Immunology and Rheumatology, Dalin Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation, Chiayi, Taiwan, ² School of Medicine, Tzu Chi University, Hualien City, Taiwan, ³ Division of Pulmonology and Critical Care, Department of Internal Medicine, Dalin Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation, Chiayi, Taiwan, ⁴ Department of Medical Research, Dalin Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation, Chiayi, Taiwan, ⁶ Graduate Institute of Long-term Care, Tzu Chi University of Science and Technology, Hualien City, Taiwan, ⁶ Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Reviewed by:

Anabela Barcelos, New University of Lisbon, Portugal Hsin-Hua Chen, Taichung Veterans General Hospital, Taiwan

*Correspondence:

Malcolm Koo m.koo@utoronto.ca Ning-Sheng Lai tzuchilai@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 11 February 2021 Accepted: 19 April 2021 Published: 11 May 2021

Citation:

Lu M-C, Fan K-S, Hsu C-W, Koo M and Lai N-S (2021) Increased Incidence of Total Knee Replacement Surgery in Patients With Psoriasis: A Secondary Cohort Analysis of a Nationwide, Population-Based Health Claims Database. Front. Med. 8:666802. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.666802 Patients with rheumatic diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, and systemic lupus erythematosus, have increased risk of receiving total knee replacement surgery or total hip replacement surgery. We speculated that psoriasis could also attack the joints of the knees and hips, leading to an increased risk of receiving total knee replacement surgery or total hip replacement surgery. The aim of this study was to investigate the risk of total knee replacement or total hip replacement surgery in patients with psoriasis using a nationwide, population-based health claims database in Taiwan. Using the Taiwan's National Health Insurance Research Database, we identified 10,819 patients with psoriasis between 2000 and 2012. A comparison cohort consisting of five patients without psoriasis for each patient with psoriasis was assembled, based on frequency matching for sex, 10-year age interval, and index year. Both groups were followed until a diagnosis of the study outcomes (total knee replacement or total hip replacement surgery) or the end of the follow-up period. Incidence rate ratios (IRRs) for the outcome variables were calculated using multiple Poisson regression models. Female patients with psoriasis exhibited a significantly higher incidence of receiving total knee replacement surgery [adjusted IRR = 1.44, p = 0.014]. Analyses stratified by age groups showed that the risk of receiving total knee replacement surgery was significantly higher older (adjusted IRR = 1.31, p = 0.047) patients with psoriasis. There were no significant differences in the risk of receiving total hip replacement surgery in patients with psoriasis compared with controls, either with or without stratification by sex or age groups. In conclusion, patients with psoriasis were associated with an increased risk of receiving total knee. Clinicians should be vigilant in assessing the presence of arthritis in these patients, and initiate strategies to delay or prevent the need for joint replacement.

Keywords: psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, total knee replacement, total hip replacement, surgery

INTRODUCTION

Psoriasis is a common, chronic, non-communicable, inflammatory skin disease characterized by erythematous, scaly patches, or plaques on the skin (1). The worldwide prevalence of psoriasis was estimated to vary from 0.14 to 1.99% (2). The debilitating and highly visible skin symptoms of psoriasis can severely impact on patients' quality of life (3). Up to one-third of patients with psoriasis could develop psoriatic arthritis, which is a chronic and potentially severe condition. It can cause joint damage leading to deformity, and may require surgery to alleviate pain and restore function (4). Our previous studies have shown that patients with rheumatic diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, and systemic lupus erythematosus, have increased risk of receiving total knee replacement (TKR) surgery or total hip replacement (THR) surgery (5-7). We speculated that psoriasis could also attack the joints of the knees and hips resulting in their destruction, which then lead to an increased risk of receiving TKR and THR. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the incidence of THR and TKR in patients with psoriasis using a nationwide, population-based health claims database in Taiwan.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Data Source

This study is a secondary analysis of a nationwide, populationbased, retrospective cohort based on the data available from the National Health Insurance Research Database (NHIRD). The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board of the Dalin Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation, Taiwan (No. B10104020). The requirement for obtaining informed consent from patients was waived because the data file contained only deidentified secondary data.

Identification of the Psoriasis Cohort and a Comparison Cohort

Patients in the psoriasis cohort were identified based on the International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) codes 696.0, 696.1, and 696.8, using the ambulatory care expenditures by visits datafile of the Longitudinal Health Insurance Database (LHID 2000) from January 1, 2000 to December 31, 2012. The comparison cohort was assembled from the patients in LHID 2000. Five patients without psoriasis were selected, based on frequency matching for 10-year age interval and index year, for each patient with psoriasis.

In both cohorts, patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (ICD-9-CM code 710.0), rheumatoid arthritis (ICD-9-CM code 714.0), ankylosing spondylitis (ICD-9-CM code 720.0), juvenile rheumatoid arthritis (ICD-9-CM code 714.3X), and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (ICD-9-CM code: 042) were excluded. In addition, patients with fracture of the lower limb (ICD-9-CM codes 820–829), obesity (ICD-9-CM code 278.0x), osteoarthritis (ICD-9-CM code 715.xx), and avascular necrosis (ICD-9-CM code 733.4x) were identified and these conditions

were adjusted as potential confounders. Patients younger than 20 years or older than 80 years of age were also excluded.

Identification of Total Knee Replacement Surgery and Total Hip Replacement Surgery

We followed all patients until the occurrence of our study events or the end of the follow-up period, separately for the TKR and THR outcome variables. TKR and THR were defined in this study using inpatient ICD-9-CM procedure codes 81.54 and 81.51, respectively. For the analysis of the risk of TKR, patients in the psoriasis and comparison cohorts receiving TKR before the index date were excluded. For the analysis of the risk of THR, those receiving THR before the index date were excluded.

Statistical Analysis

We compared the basic characteristics between the psoriasis cohort and the comparison cohort using t-test or Chi-square test, as appropriate. For the psoriasis cohort and the comparison cohort, the incidence rate per 1,000 person-years was separately calculated for TKR and THR. Incidence rate ratios (IRRs) for the outcome variables were calculated using Poisson regression models (generalized linear models with a Poisson log-linear link function and person-years as the offset variable), with and without adjusting for potential confounding factors, including fractures of the lower limb, obesity, osteoarthritis, osteonecrosis, age, sex, socioeconomic status, and geographic region. In addition, subgroup analyses were conducted with stratification by age groups (20-44, 45-64, and 65-80 years). All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics software package, version 24.0 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY, USA). A p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

There were no significant differences between the psoriasis cohort and the comparison cohort in age and sex. Patients with psoriasis showed a higher socioeconomic status and different geographic distribution compared with the comparison cohort. Patients with psoriasis had a significantly higher proportion of obesity (p = 0.004), osteoarthritis (p < 0.001), and avascular necrosis (p < 0.001), but a significantly lower proportion of fractures of the lower limb (p = 0.046) compared to those in the comparison cohort (**Table 1**).

Table 2 shows the incidence rates, IRRs, and adjusted IRRs of TKR for the psoriasis cohort and the comparison cohort. Patients with psoriasis showed a significantly higher incidence of receiving TKR compared with the comparison cohort (adjusted IRR 1.38, p = 0.007). In addition, with subgroup analyses stratified by sex, female patients, but not male patients with psoriasis had a significantly higher incidence of receiving TKR (adjusted IRR 1.44, p = 0.014) compared with the comparison cohort. Furthermore, in analyses stratified by the three age groups, only patients with psoriasis showed an increased incidence in TKR in the 60–80 year group (adjusted IRR 1.31, p = 0.047).

TABLE 1 | Basic characteristics of the psoriasis cohort and comparison cohort (N = 64,914).

Variable			N (%)		Р
	Psoriasis	cohort 10,819 (16.7)	Compariso		
Sex					>0.999
male	6,197	(57.3)	30,985	(57.3)	
female	4,622	(42.7)	23,110	(42.7)	
Age group (years)					>0.999
20–39	4,182	(38.7)	20,910	(38.7)	
40–59	4,045	(37.3)	20,225	(37.3)	
60–80	2,592	(24.0)	12,960	(24.0)	
Mean age (standard deviation), years	46.3	(16.6)	46.3	(16.6)	0.988
Median age (interquartile range), years	45	(32–59)	45	(32–59)	
Obesity	38	(0.4)	112	(0.2)	0.004
Fracture of the lower limb	38	(0.4)	268	(0.5)	0.046
Osteoarthritis	424	(3.9)	1,157	(2.1)	< 0.001
Avascular necrosis	20	(0.2)	32	(0.1)	< 0.001
Socioeconomic status ($n = 64,879$)					< 0.001
low	5,483	(50.7)	30,115	(55.8)	
middle	2,887	(26.7)	14,019	(25.9)	
high	2,449	(22.6)	9,886	(18.3)	
Geographic region ($n = 63,237$)					<0.001
Northern	5,864	(55.6)	32,748	(62.2)	
Central	1,539	(14.6)	8,629	(16.4)	
Southern	2,943	(27.9)	10,260	(19.5)	
Eastern	202	(1.9)	1,052	(2.0)	

Socioeconomic status was estimated by insurance premiums based on salary. Low: ≤ 19,000 New Taiwan dollars (NT\$); middle: 19,001–24,000; and high: > 24,000.

Disorder (ICD-9-CM)		Psoriasis c	Psoriasis cohort ($n = 10,764$)			cohort ($n = 53$,	908)	IRR (95% CI)	alRR* (95% CI)	
		No. of patient	Person-years	IR	No. of patient	Person-years	IR	Р	Р	
TKR (815.4)	Overall	96	68,510	1.40	297	325,346	0.91	1.54 (1.22–1.93) < 0.001	1.38 (1.09–1.75) 0.007	
	Sex									
	male	33	39,013	0.85	111	185,879	0.60	1.42 (0.96–2.09) 0.079	1.29 (0.87–1.92) 0.209	
	female	63	29,497	2.14	186	139,467	1.33	1.60 (1.20–2.13) 0.001	1.44 (1.08–1.93) 0.014	
	Age group (years	6)								
	20–39	1	27,750	0.04	3	132,933	0.02	1.60 (0.17–15.35) 0.685	2.84 (0.26–31.36) 0.394	
	40–59	21	25,817	0.81	56	125,788	0.45	1.83 (1.11–3.02) 0.018	1.68 (1.00–2.81) 0.051	
	60-80	74	14,943	4.95	238	66,625	3.57	1.39 (1.07–1.80) 0.014	1.31 (1.00–1.71) 0.047	

TABLE 2 | The incidence rate and incidence risk ratio of total knee replacement in the psoriasis cohort and comparison cohort (N = 64,672).

aIRR, adjusted incidence rate ratio; CI, confidence interval; ICD-9-CM, International Classification of Diseases, Ninth revision, clinical modification; IR, incidence rate per 1,000 person-years; IRR, incidence rate ratio; TKR, total knee replacement.

*Adjusted for age, sex, socioeconomic status, geographic region, obesity, fracture of the lower limb, osteoarthritis, and avascular necrosis.

Table 3 shows the incidence rates, IRRs, and adjusted IRRs of THR for the psoriasis cohort and the comparison cohort. The overall adjusted IRR for receiving THR in patients with psoriasis was not significantly different between the two cohorts. Similarly, subgroup analyses stratified by either the three age groups or sex were not significantly different between the two cohorts in the risk of THR.

DISCUSSION

This secondary cohort analysis of a nationwide, populationbased health claim database showed that patients with psoriasis, especially female and those middle-aged or older, had a significantly higher risk of receiving TKR. On the other hand, male and those middle-aged patients with psoriasis had a significantly higher risk of receiving THR. It is TABLE 3 | The incidence rate and incidence risk ratio of total hip replacement in the psoriasis cohort and comparison cohort (N = 64,781).

Disorder (ICD-9-CM)		Psoriasis c	ohort (<i>n</i> = 10,78	32)	Comparison cohort ($n = 53,999$)			IRR (95% CI)	aIRR* (95% CI)	
		No. of patient	Person-years	IR	No. of patient	Person-years	IR	Р	Р	
THR (815.1)	Overall	37	68,548	0.54	137	325,555	0.42	1.28 (0.89–1.84) 0.179	1.27 (0.88–1.84) 0.204	
	Sex									
	male	27	38,931	0.69	89	185,755	0.48	1.45 (0.94–2.23) 0.092	1.40 (0.90–2.19) 0.137	
	female	10	29,617	0.34	48	139,800	0.34	0.98 (0.50–1.94) 0.962	1.09 (0.55–2.19) 0.803	
	Age group (years))								
	20–39	5	27,716	0.18	21	132,919	0.16	1.14 (0.43–3.03) 0.790	1.18 (0.42–3.32) 0.757	
	40–59	19	25,725	0.74	61	125,611	0.49	1.52 (0.91–2.54) 0.111	1.55 (0.91–2.65) 0.106	
	60–80	13	15,107	0.86	55	67,025	0.82	1.05 (0.57–1.92) 0.878	0.97 (0.53–1.79) 0.923	

aIRR, adjusted incidence rate ratio; CI, confidence interval; ICD-9-CM, international classification of diseases, Ninth revision, clinical modification; IR, incidence rate per 1,000 person-years; IRR, incidence rate ratio; THR, total hip replacement.

*Adjusted for age, sex, socioeconomic status, geographic region, obesity, fracture of the lower limb, osteoarthritis, and avascular necrosis.

known that women are more likely to receiving TKR in the general population (8). Knee joint inflammation has been demonstrated in patients with psoriasis (9), and our finding was consistent with their findings. Although the presence of detection bias was possible as a result of increased medical utilization in our patients, we believe its effects on my results are minimal. First, patients generally would only consider TKR and THR surgery when they have severe joint damage over the hip or knee joint, which is accompanied with obvious pain and disability. Second, prior to TKR and THR surgery, an approval from the Taiwan National Health Insurance Administration, which requires a review of X-ray films of the target joint and clinical data by an orthopedic specialist (5). As these factors are not related to increased medical surveillance, our results should not be affected by detection bias.

Prior to this study, we anticipated that some patients with psoriasis would develop psoriatic arthritis, causing chronic and destructive inflammation of joints and thereby leading to an increased risk of receiving TKR or THR. However, we found that only four (4.2%) patients with psoriasis were diagnosed with psoriatic arthritis before TKR and only three (8.1%) patients were diagnosed with psoriatic arthritis before THR in our study. The number of cases is too few to analyze. The percentage of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis has been reported to be 20-30% (4). Nevertheless, the percentage of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis was found to be only 8.2% based on a study using the NHIRD in Taiwan (10). A study based on 34 dermatology centers in seven European and North American countries found that approximately a third of patients with psoriasis seen in dermatology centers had psoriatic arthritis as assessed by rheumatologists. Among the patients with psoriatic arthritis, 41% had not been previously given the diagnosis (11). A metaanalysis based on seven epidemiological studies and five studies on psoriatic arthritis screening questionnaires also supported that there is a high prevalence of undiagnosed psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis (12). In a cross-sectional clinical survey of 414 patients, the percentage of psoriatic arthritis patients with psoriasis was found to be 30.6% (13). Therefore, we believed that psoriatic arthritis was underdiagnosed in the NHIRD. In addition, there are many therapeutic agents available for treating psoriatic arthritis (14). Early treatment and tight control of inflammation in early psoriatic arthritis can clearly improve patients' outcome (15). Therefore, clinicians need to be vigilant regarding the possible psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis.

There are some limitations in this study. First, the identification of psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, THR, and TKR were based on ICD-9-CM codes. Nevertheless, the National Health Insurance Administration routinely performs audits on random samples of medical claims to ensure their accuracy. Second, the severity of psoriasis could not be obtained because the NHIRD data did not include clinical assessments. Despite these limitations, the strengths of this study included the large sample size, a population-based cohort study design, and a long follow-up period.

In conclusion, this study showed that female and older patients with psoriasis had a higher risk of receiving TKR. Patients with psoriasis did not show an increased risk for receiving THR. Clinicians should be vigilant in assessing the presence of arthritis in patients with psoriasis, and initiate strategies to delay or prevent the need for joint replacement in these patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: Due to legal restrictions imposed by the government of Taiwan in relation to the "Personal Information Protection Act," data cannot be made publicly available. Requests for data can be sent as a formal application to the Health and Welfare Data Science Center, Department of Statistics, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taiwan. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to http://dep.mohw.gov.tw/DOS/np-2497-113.html.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the institutional review board of the Dalin Tzu Chi Hospital, Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation, Taiwan (No. B10104020). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

This study is based in part on data from the National Health Insurance Research Database provided by the National Health Insurance Administration, Ministry of Health and Welfare and managed by the National Health Research Institutes, Taiwan. The interpretation and conclusions contained herein do not represent those of the National Health Insurance Administration,

REFERENCES

- 1. Boehncke WH, Schön MP. Psoriasis. Lancet. (2015) 386:983-94. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61909-7
- Parisi R, Iskandar IYK, Kontopantelis E, Augustin M, Griffiths CEM, Ashcroft DM, et al. National, regional, and worldwide epidemiology of psoriasis: systematic analysis and modelling study. *BMJ*. (2020) 369:m1590. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1590
- 3. Gelfand JM, Feldman SR, Stern RS, Thomas J, Rolstad T, Margolis DJ. Determinants of quality of life in patients with psoriasis: a study from the US population. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* (2004) 51:704–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2004.04.014
- Alinaghi F, Calov M, Kristensen LE, Gladman DD, Coates LC, Jullien D, et al. Prevalence of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational and clinical studies. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2019) 80:251–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018. 06.027
- Lu MC, Liu KC, Lai NS, Koo M. Higher incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis or osteoarthritis-related surgery: a nationwide, population-based, case-control study in Taiwan. *BMJ Open.* (2015) 5:e008513. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008513
- Lu MC, Tung CH, Yang CC, Wang CL, Huang KY, Koo M, et al. Incident osteoarthritis and osteoarthritis-related joint replacement surgery in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a secondary cohort analysis of a nationwide, population-based health claims database. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0187594. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187594
- Chen CH, Hsu CW, Lu MC. Risk of joint replacement surgery in Taiwanese female adults with systemic lupus erythematosus: a population-based cohort study. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord.* (2019) 20:314. doi: 10.1186/s12891-019-2698-6
- Carr AJ, Robertsson O, Graves S, Price AJ, Arden NK, Judge A, et al. Knee replacement. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:1331– 40. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60752-6
- 9. Emad Y, Ragab Y, Gheita T, Anbar A, Kamal H, Saad A, et al. Knee enthesitis and synovitis on magneticresonance imaging in patients

Ministry of Health and Welfare or the National Health Research Institutes, Taiwan.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M-CL, K-SF, and N-SL conceptualized the idea of the manuscript. C-WH conducted statistical analysis of data. M-CL and MK wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the contents of the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Buddhist Tzu Chi Medical Foundation (Tzu Chi Medical Mission Project 105-01-05 and TCMF-A 108-05).

with psoriasis without arthritic symptoms. J Rheumatol. (2012) 39:1979-86. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.120301

- Dai YX, Hsu MC, Hu HY, Chang YT, Chen TJ, Li CP, et al. The risk of mortality among psoriatic patients with varying severity: a nationwide population-based cohort study in Taiwan. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2018) 15:2622. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15122622
- Mease PJ, Gladman DD, Papp KA, Khraishi MM, Thaçi D, Behrens F, et al. Prevalence of rheumatologist-diagnosed psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis in European/North American dermatology clinics. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2013) 69:729–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2013.07.023
- Villani AP, Rouzaud M, Sevrain M, Barnetche T, Paul C, Richard MA, et al. Prevalence of undiagnosed psoriatic arthritis among psoriasis patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2015) 73:242– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.05.001
- Ng CY, Yang YW, Liu SH, Lu JF, Yang LC, Yang CH, et al. SF-36 healthy survey on psoriasis quality-of-life: a study of 414 Taiwanese patients. J Dermatol. (2015) 42:159–65. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.12748
- Ritchlin CT, Colbert RA, Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:957–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1505557
- Coates LC, Moverley AR, McParland L, Brown S, Navarro-Coy N, O'Dwyer JL, et al. Effect of tight control of inflammation in early psoriatic arthritis (TICOPA): a UK multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*. (2015) 386:2489–98. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00347-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Lu, Fan, Hsu, Koo and Lai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Multicenter Study of Secukinumab Survival and Safety in Spondyloarthritis and Psoriatic Arthritis: SEcukinumab in Cantabria and ASTURias Study

Sara Alonso¹, Ignacio Villa², Sabela Fernández¹, José L. Martín², Lilyan Charca¹, Marina Pino¹, Leyre Riancho², Isla Morante², Monserrat Santos², Anahy Brandy³, Elena Aurrecoechea², Loreto Carmona⁴ and Rubén Queiro^{1,5*}

Edited by:

llenia Pantano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli. Italv

OPEN ACCESS

Reviewed by:

Enrico Fusaro, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Città della Salute e della Scienza di Torino, Italy Vincenzo Venerito, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

> *Correspondence: Rubén Queiro rubenque7@yahoo.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 10 March 2021 Accepted: 29 April 2021 Published: 26 May 2021

Citation:

Alonso S, Villa I, Fernández S, Martín JL, Charca L, Pino M, Riancho L, Morante I, Santos M, Brandy A, Aurrecoechea E, Carmona L and Queiro R (2021) Multicenter Study of Secukinumab Survival and Safety in Spondyloarthritis and Psoriatic Arthritis: SEcukinumab in Cantabria and ASTURias Study. Front. Med. 8:679009. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.679009 ¹ Rheumatology Division, Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias, Oviedo, Spain, ² Rheumatology Division, Hospital Sierrallana, Torrelavega, Spain, ⁹ Rheumatology Division, Hospital Universitario de Cabueñes, Gijón, Spain, ⁴ Instituto de Salud Musculoesquelética, Madrid, Spain, ⁵ Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Principado de Asturias (ISPA) Translational Immunology Division, Hospital Universitario Central de Asturias (HUCA), Oviedo, Spain

Objectives: We aimed to evaluate the drug retention rate and safety of secukinumab (SEC) in patients with axial spondyloarthritis (AxSpA) and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) in a real clinical setting.

Methods: This multicenter retrospective observational study included all AxSpA and PsA patients who received at least one dose of SEC. Adverse events (AE) and the drug retention rate were the main study outcomes. Drug survival was analyzed by Kaplan-Meier curves while predictive factors of discontinuation were evaluated using a Cox regression analysis. The weight of these associations was estimated by hazard ratio (HR) values.

Results: We included 154 patients (59 PsA and 95 AxSpA). Mean disease duration was 6.5 years (IQR 2-8). Sixty-one percent of patients were treated with two or more biologics prior to SEC. The 1 and 2-year retention rates for SEC were 66 and 43%, respectively. The main causes of discontinuation were inefficacy (59%) and AE (36%). The factors associated with lower risk of discontinuation were male gender (HR 0.54, 95% CI 0.38-0.78 p = 0.001), obesity (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.30-0.93 p = 0.027), hypertension (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.30-0.93 p = 0.008), and diabetes (HR 0.42 95% CI 0.18-0.99 p = 0.047) while number of previous biologics and depression were predictors of discontinuation (HR 1.18, 95% CI 1.04-1.34 p = 0.011 and HR 2.53, 95% CI 1.61-3.96 p < 0.001).

Conclusions: SEC showed a good retention rate in a population previously exposed to several biological therapies. As a novelty, cardiometabolic comorbidities were associated with better drug survival.

Keywords: secukinumab, safety, survival, spondyloarthritis, psoriatic arthritis, comorbidities

INTRODUCTION

Secukinumab (SEC) is a human monoclonal antibody (IgG1) directed against IL-17A, approved for the treatment of plaque psoriasis (1), psoriatic arthritis (PsA) and axial spondyloarthritis (AxSpA) (2, 3). The safety profile observed for SEC during clinical development is generally not different from other biological therapies including among others, infections, neutropenia, and hypersensitivity reactions. Data from randomized controlled clinical trials (RCTs) and post-marketing surveillance have shown that SEC has a favorable safety profile over long-term treatment (4), even with fewer adverse events and low frequency of treatment discontinuation (2, 4-6). Compared to placebo, SEC has been described to increase the incidence of upper respiratory tract infections and an increased incidence of mucocutaneous Candida infections, middle ear infections, and herpes simplex infections has also been observed compared to placebo (7). Some severe cases and exacerbations of Crohn's disease have also been described (8), so caution is recommended with its use. In terms of routine clinical practice, studies show a safety profile similar to that previously reported in RCTs and their long-term extension studies (9-12), but information from real-world evidence studies is still scarce. Data on survival of biological therapy in PsA from the DANBIO registry showed a median survival of the first TNF inhibitor (TNFi) being 2.2 years and the second and third TNFi being 1.3 and 1.1 years, respectively. Switchers were more frequently women, had a shorter disease duration, a higher median Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ) score, DAS28 and fatigue and pain scores (on a VAS), and had more swollen and tender joints compared to non-switchers when they started the first TNFi (13). Likewise, the NOR-DMAR registry performed an analysis in patients who switched from one TNFi to another, finding that survival of the second TNFi was only 3 years in 36% (14). However, we currently have no consistent data on long-term survival of SEC in patients with AxSpA and PsA in routine clinical practice. Efficacy, the number of previous treatments, specific comorbidity and perhaps obesity and smoking are factors that may determine SEC survival.

Therefore, we aimed to evaluate the safety of SEC in actual clinical practice, as well as to study drug retention and causes for discontinuation, and to evaluate factors associated with SEC suspension in patients diagnosed with PsA or AxSpA who receive or have received such therapy.

METHODS

We designed a multicenter retrospective longitudinal observational study. The project adhered to the postulates of the Declaration of Helsinki and its extensions as well as to the rules of good clinical practice and General Data Protection Regulation. The ethics review board of Sierrallana Hospital approved the study and exempted the participants from informed consent due to the retrospective nature of the study (EPA-OD, code: HUC- SEC-2019-01).

Study Population

Eligible subjects were all adult patients with a diagnosis of AxSpA (age range: 27-77 years) by the Assessment of Spondyloarthritis International Society (ASAS) classification criteria (15) or PsA (age range: 24-81 years) by the Classification Criteria for Psoriatic Arthritis (CASPAR) (16) who received at least one dose of SEC in three hospitals from northern Spain.

The two primary outcomes were safety and drug survival. Safety was analyzed by reviewing the clinical charts from the date of initiation of SEC, as well as the hospital admission records; the following were specifically checked: (1) Infections (type, microorganism, location and whether it was accompanied by bacteremia); (2) neoplasms (type, location, and stage); (3) Events located or affecting any other organs or systems. Drug survival (in months) was defined as the time from the start of SEC to the last dose administered if discontinued or to the last dose administered if lost to follow-up. The reason for suspension was also collected.

TABLE 1 | Disease characteristics of the study population.

Characteristic	Psoriatic arthritis n = 59	Axial spondyloarthritis n = 95	Total n = 154
Age, mean (SD)	51 (12)	47 (10)	49 (11)
Male	27 (46)	58 (61)	85 (55)
Disease duration, m (SD)	7 (8)	6 (5)	6 (7)
Number of previous biologics, median (IQR)	3 (2)	3 (2)	3 (2)
csDMARD prior to SEC	39 (66)	15 (16)	54 (36)
Type of csDMARD			
Methotrexate	34 (58)	10 (11)	44 (29)
Leflunomide	9 (15)	3 (3)	12 (8)
Sulfasalazine	1 (2)	5 (5)	6 (4)
Other	3 (5)	1 (1)	4 (3)
Glucocorticoids	18 (31)	10 (11)	28 (19)
Secukinumab dose 300 mg	34 (57)	11 (12)	45 (29)
Obesity (BMI > 30)	16 (27)	10 (11)	26 (17)
Smoker	15 (26)	29 (31)	44 (29)
Hypertension	17 (29)	18 (19)	35 (23)
Dyslipidemia	22 (37)	19 (20)	41 (27)
Diabetes	9 (15)	3 (3)	12 (8)
COPD	1	-	1
Cardiovascular disease*	1	2	3 (2)
Ischemic heart disease	4 (7)	3 (3)	7 (5)
Depression	10 (17)	17 (18)	27 (18)
Chronic Kidney Disease	2	-	2
Hepatic failure	1	2	3 (2)

Cells include n (%) unless otherwise indicated.

*Myocardial infarction or cerebrovascular event.

SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; csDMARD, conventional synthetic disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug; BMI, body mass index; COPD, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

The following secondary variables were collected: descriptive and explanatory variables related to treatment, disease, and comorbidities, indication (AxSpA, PsA), dose of SEC administered, corticosteroids, tobacco (active, ex-smoker, never), age, years evolution of the illness, sex, enthesitis, dactylitis, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, obesity, dyslipemia, depression, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE), ischemic cardiopathy, renal and hepatic insufficiency, biological treatment line (1st line, 2nd, 3rd, 4th...), primary or secondary failure, previous serious AEs, previous disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) (yes/no and concomitant), BASDAI, BASFI, ASDAS, MDA, BSA, ESR, CRP, hemoglobin (baseline and at 6 and 12 months).

Statistical Analysis

The sample was described in terms of the distribution of the descriptive variables by summary statistics. The rate of AEs was estimated in total, by severity and by type of event. The denominator used was the total number of patients*years of follow-up. Survival was analyzed using Kaplan-Meier curves and the hazard ratio was used as a measure of the association. Multivariate Cox regression was used to analyze the effect of the explanatory variables on survival. Potential confounding variables were previous and concomitant treatments, and comorbidities.

A random sample of 68 individuals was deemed sufficient to estimate, with 95% confidence and a precision of \pm 5% units, a population rate of AE expected to be around 15%, and a percentage of replacements of 5%.

RESULTS

154 patients were included, 59 with PsA (38%) and 95 with AxSpA (62%), with a mean age of disease onset of 49 years (SD \pm 11), being 55% men. The median disease duration was 6.5 years (IQR 2-8). **Table 1** shows a description of the study population, by diagnosis and total.

The population was largely refractory to biological therapy: SEC was the first line of treatment in 13 patients (8%), the second line in 46 (30%), the third line in 54 (35%) and subsequent lines in 41 (27%).

The median survival of SEC was 23 months (IQR 5-32), with a 1-year retention rate of 66% and a 2-year retention rate of 43%.



No differences were found between AxSpA and PsA (log-rank *p* 0.526) (**Figure 1**).

The main cause of SEC discontinuation was inefficacy (59%) followed by AEs (23 cases, 36%). Most patients who discontinued due to AEs (71%) did so during the first 6 months of treatment. The rate of discontinuation due to AE was 6.4 per 1,000 persons-years (95% CI: 4.1-9.7). The most frequent AE were gastrointestinal (nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain, including two cases of Crohn's disease), cutaneous (mainly generalized rash, pruritus, and papulo-nodular lesions), and infections (mostly upper respiratory tract). One major cardiovascular event was collected, and a neoplasm was diagnosed in two patients during the exposure. **Table 2** shows a description of the AEs identified.

The factors associated with lower risk of discontinuation were male gender (HR 0.54, 95% CI 0.38-0.78 p = 0.001), obesity (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.30-0.93 p = 0.027), hypertension (HR 0.55, 95% CI 0.30-0.93 p = 0.008), and diabetes (HR 0.42 95% CI 0.18-0.99 p = 0.047) while number of previous biologics and depression were predictors of discontinuation (HR 1.18, 95% CI 1.04-1.34 p = 0.011 and HR 2.53, 95% CI 1.61-3.96 p < 0.001). The survival by treatment line (biologic order) and by obesity are shown in **Figures 2** and **3**. **Table 3** shows bivariable and multivariable survival analysis.

DISCUSSION

In this clinical practice study conducted in 154 patients with AxSpA and PsA, treatment with SEC showed a 66% 1-year retention rate in a population largely refractory to biological therapy irrespective of the disease and the number of biologics previously received. The main cause of discontinuation in our study was lack of efficacy while AEs leading to discontinuation of the drug occurred mainly in the first 6 months of treatment. Factors associated with longer SEC survival were male gender, obesity, hypertension and diabetes. Number of previous biologics and depression were identified as negative predictors for drug survival.

Discontinuation or switching of biological agents in inflammatory arthritis is quite common. Switchers receiving their second TNFi agent usually have considerably poorer responses compared with non-switchers (17), so switching to other biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) with different mechanisms of action may be a better therapeutic strategy alternative (18). Among the main factors related to reduced TNFi survival different studies have found female sex, shorter disease duration, number or previous biologics, older age, current smoking, and comorbidities (13, 19-21). Other studies showed a better overall drug survival in patients with higher C-reactive protein (CRP) levels and patients replacing the first TNFi as a result of adverse events (21-23). The effect of concomitant methotrexate (MTX) on TNFi survival varies among registry studies, with similar TNFi persistence on combination therapy and monotherapy in the CORRONA registry (24), a trend toward longer drug survival in the SSATG TABLE 2 | Description of adverse events collected.

Adverse event	n (%)	Withdrawal
Disorders of the blood and lymphatic system	0 (0)	-
Heart disorders	1 (0.6)	1/1
Congenital, familial and genetic disorders	0 (0)	-
Disorders of the ear and vestibular maze	1 (0.6)	1/1
Endocrine disorders	0 (0)	-
Eye disorders	0 (0)	-
Gastrointestinal disorders	6 (3.8)	6/6
General symptoms and local injection site reactions	0 (0)	-
Hepatobiliary disorders	0 (0)	-
Immune system disorders	O (O)	-
Traumatic injuries, intoxications and complications of therapeutic procedures	O (O)	-
Disorders of metabolism and nutrition	O (O)	-
Musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders	O (O)	-
Disorders of the nervous system	0 (0)	-
Pregnancy, puerperium and perinatal diseases	0 (0)	-
Psychiatric disorders	1 (0.6)	1/1
Kidney and urinary disorders	0 (0)	-
Reproductive and breast disorders	0 (0)	-
Respiratory, thoracic and mediastinal disorders	1 (0.6)	1/1
Disorders of the skin and subcutaneous tissue	5 (3)	5/5
Social circumstances	O (O)	-
Vascular disorders	O (O)	-
Infections	5 (3)	4/5
Neoplasms	2 (1)	2/2

Cells include n (%).

Withdrawal: No. patients in whom the adverse event led to discontinuation of the drug.

study (22) and the DANBIO study (25) and significantly longer drug survival in the NOR-DMARD study (20). It is unclear at this time whether combination therapy with conventional DMARDs could influence SEC survival, and our data do not allow us to make any claims about this either, so further studies are needed.

Patients who start SEC retain the drug in a large percentage for at least 12 months according to clinical trials (5), but long term data regarding SEC survival in daily clinical practice are limited. Also, patients in clinical trials may be subject to selection bias as they are recruited on the basis of different clinical or disease characteristics, comorbidities and/or concomitant drugs. Factors that may affect SEC survival have not yet been established with certainty. In another Spanish observational study conducted in real clinical practice, Pinto et al. analyzed the efficacy and safety of SEC in 76 patients with peripheral PsA who started treatment in a 1-year period. 71% of patients had received at least one biological treatment before SEC. In line with our study, the retention rate of SEC at 12 months was lower in the group previously treated with biologics (81.5 vs. 90.9%) (26). Other reallife studies both in patients with PsA and AxSpA, had shown similar results with an ever decreasing SEC survival rate in



patients who had previously received biological therapy (11, 26–28). We found only one study in real-life in which the survival rate of SEC was not related to the number of previous biologics. In the study by Gentileschi et al. evaluating the long-term efficacy of SEC in only 39 patients with radiographic and non-radiographic AxSpA, it was found an overall 2-year retention rate of 78.2% with no significant differences between biologic-naïve and anti-TNF-failure patients (29). Regarding other possible factors associated with SEC survival, Chimenti et al. published a real-life, prospective observational study on 169 consecutive patients (39 with ankylosing spondylitis and 130 with PsA) treated with SEC over a 1-year period. Most patients had received at least one biological drug (79%), and in line with our data they found higher persistence rate in male patients than female (30).

Obesity has been related to a higher risk of immune-mediated inflammatory diseases with an obesity range prevalence of 10– 50% among these patients (31). High body weight has been associated with accelerated clearance resulting in lower trough concentrations of TNF blockers (32). Furthermore, visceral fat has been shown to independently contribute to an increased systemic inflammatory load (33). Obesity is associated to a poor prognosis in patients with rheumatic diseases, especially psoriasis and PsA (34). Obese patients with PsA are less likely to achieve minimal disease activity (MDA), more likely to discontinue treatment and also show lower skin clearance rate. This effect appears to be proportional to body mass index (BMI) and, in fact, weight reduction improves response to treatment (4, 35). In a recent meta-analysis, obesity was associated with 60% higher odds of failure to an index TNFi therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, AxSpA, and psoriatic disease (36).

On the other hand, the therapeutic response to SEC tends to be poor in obese psoriasis patients (37). However, we found that obesity, and other components of metabolic syndrome, were predictors of longer survival for SEC therapy. Therefore, SEC could be a good therapeutic choice in obese patients with AxSpA and PsA as opposed to TNFi agents. In line with our data, Pantano et al. analyzed 100 PsA patients treated with EC. Patients were divided into two groups based on their BMI. After 6 months of SEC, changes of the Disease Activity Index for Psoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) were inversely related to BMI values (38). Analysis of IL-17 serum levels showed significantly higher serum levels of this cytokine among obese patients. Also, Tiberio et al. described two cases of obese patients with psoriasis and PsA effectively treated with SEC (39). Therefore, SEC seems



to be an efficacious drug irrespective of body weight. PASI 75, PASI 90, and PASI 100 response rates were high across weight quartiles and were maintained through week 52 in the pooled analysis of phase III trials with SEC. Moreover, SEC 300 mg dose demonstrated consistently greater benefit than the 150 mg dose across weight quartiles (40). Data from the CLEAR study showed that SEC 300 mg had a significantly higher efficacy (PASI 90 at week 16) than Ustekinumab 90 mg in patients with a body weight over 100 kg (41). All these data indicate that obesity may be one of the most relevant clinical factors driving the choice of SEC over other drugs in patients with AxSpA and PsA. IL-17 has been associated with insulin resistance and obesity in patients with psoriatic disease (42). Moreover, IL-17-deficient mice are characterized by enhanced insulin sensitivity and increased glucose uptake. In human co-culture experiments, macrophagederived IL-1β was shown to enhance IL-17 production. Since macrophages do express IL-17 receptors, there might exist a positive and paracrine feedback loop that enhances local visceral adipose tissue inflammation (42). In line with these findings, our study shows that patients with a cardiometabolic inflammatory profile (obesity, diabetes, hypertension, arthritis) show better

SEC survival, thus giving IL17 a central role in the pathogenesis of this inflammatory phenotype.

In our study we identified depression as a predictor of poor survival of SEC. According to the EULAR recommendations for the management of PsA and AxSpA, comorbidities such as depression should be considered (43, 44). Depression affects nearly 20% of patients with PsA (45) and SpAs and is associated with increased disease activity (higher BASDAI, ASDAS, DAPSA, and CDAI), worse functional impairment (higher BASFI, BASMI, and PGA), poor prognosis and greater non-adherence (45). Different studies have shown that patients with major depression have overexpressed levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, acute phase reactants, and chemokines. Thus, IL-6, IL-17, and TNF levels are higher in patients with depression compared with healthy controls. These alterations may partly explain the correlation between higher inflammation, depressive symptoms and pain, the depression-pain syndrome, and the worse impact of the disease reported by patients on PROs (46, 47). Regarding fibromyalgia, although some of our patients met this profile, most of them fell into the category of patients with depression, so this aspect was not assessed independently.

TABLE 3 Bivariable and multivariable survival analysis.
--

	HR (95	% CI)
Characteristic	Bivariable	Multivariable
Age, per year	1.00 (0.99 - 1.02)	
Male sex	0.77 (0.54 - 1.09)	0.54 (0.38 - 0.78)
Disease duration, per year	0.97 (0.95 - 1.00)	0.97 (0.94 - 1.00)
Biologic order		
First biologic	Ref.	
Second	2.49 (0.97-6.38)	3.62 (1.39-9.44)
Third	2.77 (1.10-6.98)	4.25 (1.66-10.93)
Fourth or more	2.53 (0.99-6.44)	5.09 (1.93-13.44)
csDMARD prior to Sec	0.75 (0.52-1.09)	
Glucocorticoids	2.00 (0.80-1.81)	
Obesity (BMI>30)	0.49 (0.30-0.82)	0.53 (0.30-0.93)
Smoker	1.09 (0.87-1.35)	
Hypertension	0.51 (0.34-0.77)	0.55 (0.35-0.85)
Dyslipidemia	0.87 (0.60-1.27)	
Diabetes	0.29 (0.13-0.63)	0.42 (0.18-0.99)
Cardiovascular disease*	4.63 (0.64-33.39)	
schemic heart disease	0.64 (0.26-1.58)	
Depression	2.10 (1.38-3.21)	2.53 (1.61-3.96)
Kidney failure	1.40 (0.56-3.49)	
Hepatic failure	1.09 (0.44-2.68)	

*Myocardial infarction or cerebrovascular event.

Treatment with biological therapy, mitigating pain and reducing inflammation, may suggest a beneficial effect on the control of depressive symptoms and therefore a better response and increased survival of these therapies in patients with PsA or AxSpA. However, the present study identified depression as a risk factor for reduced survival among patients with PsA or AxSpA treated with SEC (HR 2.52, 95% CI 1.61-3.95 p = 0.000). Our results are in line with Danish (48) and British cohort (19) studies which included 1,750 and 566 PsA patients treated with TNFi therapy and with a Canadian cohort of 825 patients with ankylosing spondylitis and PsA (49). In all these cohorts, baseline depression negatively affected the response to TNFi therapy and was correlated with higher baseline disease activity and shorter TNFi persistence. Our study showed similar results of drug retention with an anti-IL17A therapy.

Our study has some limitations, which deserve to be discussed. First, we acknowledge that the sample size was relatively small and that the study was performed within an ethnically homogeneous population being cared for in various centers in north Spain, and therefore, these results may not be generalizable. Second, the collection of data in a retrospective manner may carry a certain risk of bias due to the lack of

REFERENCES

 Langley RG, Elewski BE, Lebwohl M, Reich K, Griffiths CE, Papp K, et al. Secukinumab in plaque psoriasis-results of two phase 3 trials. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:326-38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1314258 standardization in data collection. Unfortunately, we did not make a distinction between radiographic and non-radiographic AxSpA. This distinction is relevant because as Lopalco et al. demonstrated, the effectiveness of TNFi seems to be lower in nonradiographic AxSpA patients than in those with radiographic disease (50). The strength of our study is the interest of real clinical practice studies to complement the results of clinical trials, providing valuable data regarding the overall safety, efficacy and survival of a drug in heterogeneous patient populations usually with co-morbidities not registered in RCTs. In addition, data of SEC survival on Spanish population are still scarce.

In conclusion, in this study of real clinical practice, SEC showed a 66% retention rate at 1 year in a population mostly refractory to biological therapy. Treatment persistence has been optimal even in third line treatment, independent of the underlying disease, and obesity does not seem a marker of poor treatment response. The implications of our findings should be replicated in larger cohorts.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Sierrallana Hospital of Torrelavega, Spain (HUC- SEC-2019-01). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IV, SA, SF, EA, and RQ: study design, data management, analysis, verification, interpretation, and writing. LoC: study design, analysis, interpretation, and writing. JM, LiC, MP, LR, IM, MS, and AB: data management, analysis, and interpretation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We especially thank Raquel Linge, Agnes Díaz, and Juan Calatayud, for their thoughts and ideas that have enriched the content of this project. Part of this work has been presented as a conference paper with the following reference (51).

McInnes IB, Mease PJ, Kirkham B, Kavanaugh A, Ritchlin CT, Rahman P, et al. Secukinumab, a human anti-interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriatic arthritis (FUTURE 2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:1137-46. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61134-5

- Baeten D, Sieper J, Braun J, Baraliakos X, Dougados M, Emery P, et al. Secukinumab, an interleukin-17A inhibitor, in ankylosing spondylitis. N Engl J Med. (2015) 373:2534-48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1505066
- 4. Deodhar A, Mease PJ, McInnes IB, Baraliakos X, Reich K, Blauvelt A, et al. Long-term safety of secukinumab in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis: integrated pooled clinical trial and post-marketing surveillance data. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2019) 21:111. doi: 10.1186/s13075-019-1882-2
- Mease P, van der Heijde D, Landewé R, Mpofu S, Rahman P, Tahir H, et al. Secukinumab improves active psoriatic arthritis symptoms and inhibits radiographic progression: primary results from the randomised, double-blind, phase III FUTURE 5 study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2018) 77:890-7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-212687
- Nash P, Mease PJ, McInnes IB, Rahman P, Ritchlin CT, Blanco R, et al. Efficacy and safety of secukinumab administration by autoinjector in patients with psoriatic arthritis: results from a randomized, placebo-controlled trial (FUTURE 3). Arthritis Res Ther. (2018) 20:47. doi: 10.1186/s13075-018-1551-x
- Shirley M, Scott LJ. Secukinumab: a review in psoriatic arthritis. Drugs. (2016) 76:1135-45. doi: 10.1007/s40265-016-0602-3
- Mease PJ, McInnes IB, Kirkham B, Kavanaugh A, Rahman P, van der Heijde D, et al. Secukinumab inhibition of interleukin-17A in patients with psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med. (2015) 373:1329-39. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1412679
- Augustin M, Jullien D, Martin A, Peralta C. Real-world evidence of secukinumab in psoriasis treatment - a meta-analysis of 43 studies. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2020) 34:1174-85. doi: 10.1111/jdv.16180
- Thaçi D, Körber A, von Kiedrowski R, Bachhuber T, Melzer N, Kasparek T, et al. Secukinumab is effective in treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis: real-life effectiveness and safety from the PROSPECT study. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2020) 34:310-8. doi: 10.1111/jdv.15962
- Klavdianou K, Lazarini A, Grivas A, Tseronis D, Tsalapaki C, Rapsomaniki P, et al. Real life efficacy and safety of secukinumab in biologic-experienced patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:288. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00288
- Kiltz U, Sfikakis PP, Gaffney K, Sator PG, von Kiedrowski R, Bounas A, et al. Secukinumab use in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis in real-world setting in Europe: baseline data from SERENA study. *Adv Ther.* (2020) 37:2865-83. doi: 10.1007/s12325-020-01352-8
- 13. Glintborg B, Ostergaard M, Krogh NS, Andersen MD, Tarp U, Loft AG, et al. Clinical response, drug survival, and predictors thereof among 548 patients with psoriatic arthritis who switched tumor necrosis factor α inhibitor therapy: results from the Danish Nationwide DANBIO Registry. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2013) 65:1213-23. doi: 10.1002/art.37876
- Fagerli KM, Lie E, van der Heijde D, Heiberg MS, Kalstad S, Rødevand E, et al. Switching between TNF inhibitors in psoriatic arthritis: data from the NOR-DMARD study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2013) 72:1840-4. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-203018
- Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewé R, Listing J, Akkoc N, Brandt J, et al. The development of assessment of spondyloarthritis international Society classification criteria for axial spondyloarthritis (part II): validation and final selection. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2009) 68:777-83. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.108233
- Taylor W, Gladman D, Helliwell P, Marchesoni A, Mease P, Mielants H. Classification criteria for psoriatic arthritis: development of new criteria from a large international study. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2006) 54:2665-73. doi: 10.1002/art.21972
- Costa L, Perricone C, Chimenti MS, Del Puente A, Caso P, Peluso R, et al. Switching between biological treatments in psoriatic arthritis: a review of the evidence. *Drugs R D.* (2017) 17:509-22. doi: 10.1007/s40268-017-0215-7
- Mease PJ, Lesperance T, Liu M, Collier DH, Mason M, Deveikis S, et al. Changes in treatment patterns in patients with psoriatic arthritis initiating biologic and nonbiologic therapy in a clinical registry. *J Rheumatol.* (2017) 44:184-92. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.160343
- Saad AA, Ashcroft DM, Watson KD, Hyrich KL, Noyce PR, Symmons DP. Persistence with anti-tumour necrosis factor therapies in patients with psoriatic arthritis: observational study from the British Society of Rheumatology Biologics Register. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2009) 11:R52. doi: 10.1186/ar2670

- Fagerli KM, Lie E, van der Heijde D, Heiberg MS, Lexberg AS, Rødevand E, et al. The role of methotrexate co-medication in TNF-inhibitor treatment in patients with psoriatic arthritis: results from 440 patients included in the NOR-DMARD study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:132-7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202347
- Gomez-Reino JJ, Carmona L. Switching TNF antagonists in patients with chronic arthritis: an observational study of 488 patients over a four-year period. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2006) 8:R29. doi: 10.1186/ar1881
- Kristensen LE, Gülfe A, Saxne T, Geborek P. Efficacy and tolerability of antitumour necrosis factor therapy in psoriatic arthritis patients: results from the South Swedish Arthritis Treatment Group register. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2008) 67:364-9. doi: 10.1136/ard.2007.073544
- Zhu B, Edson-Heredia E, Gatz JL, Guo J, Shuler CL. Treatment patterns and health care costs for patients with psoriatic arthritis on biologic therapy: a retrospective cohort study. *Clin Ther.* (2013) 35:1376-85. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.07.328
- Mease PJ, Collier DH, Saunders KC, Li G, Kremer JM, Greenberg JD. Comparative effectiveness of biologic monotherapy versus combination therapy for patients with psoriatic arthritis: results from the Corrona registry. *RMD Open.* (2015) 1:e000181. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2015-000181
- 25. Glintborg B, Østergaard M, Dreyer L, Krogh NS, Tarp U, Hansen MS, et al. Treatment response, drug survival, and predictors thereof in 764 patients with psoriatic arthritis treated with anti-tumor necrosis factor α therapy: results from the nationwide Danish DANBIO registry. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2011) 63:382-90. doi: 10.1002/art.30117
- Pinto Tasende JA, Maceiras Pan FJ, Mosquera Martínez JA, Fernández Dominguez L, Correa Rey B, García Porrúa C. Secukinumab as biological treatment for psoriatic arthritis in real clinical practice. *Reumatol Clin.* (2019) 17:203–6. doi: 10.1016/j.reuma.2019.07.002
- Williams T, Wadeley A, Bond D, Cavill C, Freeth M, Sengupta R. Realworld experience of secukinumab treatment for ankylosing spondylitis at the Royal National Hospital for rheumatic diseases, bath. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2020) 39:1501-4. doi: 10.1007/s10067-020-04944-5
- Gentileschi S, Vitale A, Rigante D, Lopalco G, Emmi G, Orlando I, et al. Prompt clinical response to secukinumab in patients with axial spondyloarthritis: real life observational data from three Italian referral centers. *Isr Med Assoc J.* (2018) 20:438-41.
- Gentileschi S, Rigante D, Sota J, Lopalco G, Giannotta MG, Emmi G, et al. Long-term effectiveness of secukinumab in patients with axial spondyloarthritis. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2020) 2020:6983272. doi: 10.1155/2020/6983272
- Chimenti MS, Fonti GL, Conigliaro P, Sunzini F, Scrivo R, Navarini L, et al. One-year effectiveness, retention rate, and safety of secukinumab in ankylosing spondylitis and psoriatic arthritis: a real-life multicenter study. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2020) 20:813-21. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2020.1761957
- Singh S, Fumery M, Shaffer K, Singh AG, Prokop L, Grunvald E, et al. Pre-morbid obesity is associated with increased risk of developing immunemediated inflammatory diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology*. (2017) 152:S976-7. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(17)33310-3
- Passot C, Mulleman D, Bejan-Angoulvant T, Aubourg A, Willot S, Lecomte T, et al. The underlying inflammatory chronic disease influences infliximab pharmacokinetics. *MAbs.* (2016) 8:1407-16. doi: 10.1080/19420862.2016.1216741
- Lumeng CN, Saltiel AR. Inflammatory links between obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:2111-7. doi: 10.1172/ JCI57132
- 34. Højgaard P, Glintborg B, Kristensen LE, Gudbjornsson B, Love TJ, Dreyer L. The influence of obesity on response to tumour necrosis factor-α inhibitors in psoriatic arthritis: results from the DANBIO and ICEBIO registries. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* (2016) 55:2191-9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew326
- 35. Galíndez E, Carmona L. Is obesity in psoriatic arthritis associated with a poorer therapeutic response and more adverse effects of treatment with an anchor drug? *Reumatol Clin.* (2016) 12:307-12. doi: 10.1016/j.reumae.2015.12.002
- 36. Singh S, Facciorusso A, Singh AG, Vande Casteele N, Zarrinpar A, Prokop LJ, et al. Obesity and response to anti-tumor necrosis factorα agents in patients with select immune-mediated inflammatory

diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0195123. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195123

- Notario J, Deza G, Vilarrasa E, Valentí F, Muñoz C, Mollet J, et al. Treatment of patients with plaque psoriasis with secukinumab in a real-life setting: a 52week, multicenter, retrospective study in Spain. J Dermatolog Treat. (2019) 30:424-9. doi: 10.1080/09546634.2018.1528000
- Pantano I, Iacono D, Favalli EG, Scalise G, Costa L, Caso F, et al. Secukinumab efficacy in patients with PsA is not dependent on patients' body mass index. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217251
- Tiberio R, Graziola F, Miglino B, Veronese F, Annali G, Savoia P. Secukinumab for psoriasis in obese patients: minireview and clinical experience. *Case Rep Dermatol.* (2019) 11(Suppl 1):29-36. doi: 10.1159/000501990
- Szepietowski J, Rich P, Loeffler J, Papavassilis C, Fox T. Secukinumab 300 mg shows superior efficacy across subject body weight groups: pooled analysis of phase 3 ERASURE and FIXTURE trials. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2015) 72:AB248. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.02.992
- Blauvelt A, Reich K, Tsai TF, Tyring S, Vanaclocha F, Kingo K, et al. Secukinumab is superior to ustekinumab in clearing skin of subjects with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis up to 1 year: Results from the CLEAR study. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2017) 76:60-9.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2016. 08.008
- von Stebut E, Boehncke WH, Ghoreschi K, Gori T, Kaya Z, Thaci D, Schäffler A. IL-17A in psoriasis and beyond: cardiovascular and metabolic implications. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 10:3096. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.201 9.03096
- 43. Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, de Wit M, McInnes I, Dougados M, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:700-12. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217159
- 44. van der Heijde D, Ramiro S, Landewé R, Baraliakos X, Van den Bosch F, Sepriano A, et al. 2016 update of the ASAS-EULAR management recommendations for axial spondyloarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:978-91. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-210770
- 45. Freire M, Rodríguez J, Möller I, Valcárcel A, Tornero C, Díaz G, et al. [Prevalence of symptoms of anxiety and depression in patients with psoriatic arthritis attending rheumatology clinics]. *Reumatol Clin.* (2011) 7:20-6. doi: 10.1016/j.reuma.2010.03.003
- Mathew AJ, Chandran V. Depression in psoriatic arthritis: dimensional aspects and link with systemic inflammation. *Rheumatol Ther.* (2020) 7:287-300. doi: 10.1007/s40744-020-00207-6

- 47. Cañete JD, Tasende JAP, Laserna FJR, Castro SG, Queiro R. The impact of comorbidity on patient-reported outcomes in psoriatic arthritis: a systematic literature review. *Rheumatol Ther.* (2020) 7:237-57. doi: 10.1007/s40744-020-00202-x
- Ballegaard C, Højgaard P, Dreyer L, Cordtz R, Jørgensen TS, Skougaard M, et al. Impact of comorbidities on tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy in psoriatic arthritis: a population-based cohort study. *Arthritis Care Res* (*Hoboken*). (2018) 70:592-9. doi: 10.1002/acr.23333
- 49. Khraishi M, Remple VP, Bessette L. Does depression predict future disease status and improvements in disease parameters? Results from the COMPLETE studies, a Canadian real world observational cohort. Ann Rheum Dis. (2019) 78(Suppl 2):1245-6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-eular.6084
- 50. Lopalco G, Venerito V, Cantarini L, Emmi G, Salaffi F, Di Carlo M, et al. Different drug survival of first line tumour necrosis factor inhibitors in radiographic and non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis: a multicentre retrospective survey. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2019) 37:762-7.
- Villa-Blanco I, Castro SA, Fernández S, Martín-Varillas JL, Charca Benavente LC, Pino Martínez M, et al. FRI0291 safety and survival of secukinumab in spondyloarthritis and psoriatic arthritis: real-life data. a multicenter study. Ann Rheum Dis. (2020) 79(Suppl 1):730.

Conflict of Interest: IV consultant of: UCB, Speakers bureau: Novartis, MSD, Lilly, JM Grant/research support from: AbbVie, Pfizer, Janssen, and Celgene, Speakers bureau: Pfizer and Lilly, LR Grant/research support from: Yes, Speakers bureau: Yes, LoC Grant/research support from: Novartis Farmaceutica, SA, Pfizer, S.L.U., Merck Sharp & Dohme España, S.A., Roche Farma, S.A, Sanofi Aventis, AbbVie Spain, S.L.U., and Laboratorios Gebro Pharma, SA (All trhough institution).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Alonso, Villa, Fernández, Martín, Charca, Pino, Riancho, Morante, Santos, Brandy, Aurrecoechea, Carmona and Queiro. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Depression and Endothelial Dysfunction in Psoriatic Arthritis: Is There Any Possible Relationship?

Enrico De Lorenzis^{1,2}, Angela Di Giorgio³, Gerlando Natalello¹, Antonio Nesci³, Giacomo Tanti¹, Pietro Rubortone¹, Donatella Lucchetti⁴, Maria Rosaria Magurano⁵, Clara Di Mario¹, Barbara Tolusso⁶, Giusy Peluso⁶, Angelo Santoliquido³ and Elisa Gremese^{1,6*}

¹ Institute of Rheumatology, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy, ² PhD Program in Biomolecular Medicine -Cycle XXXV, University of Verona, Verona, Italy, ³ Department of Internal Medicine, Angiology Unit, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Translational Medicine and Surgery, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Unit of Clinical Psychology, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ⁶ Division of Rheumatology, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli IRCCS, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alen Zabotti, Università degli Studi di Udine, Italy Ilenia Pantano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

> *Correspondence: Elisa Gremese elisa.gremese@unicatt.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 18 February 2021 Accepted: 02 August 2021 Published: 27 August 2021

Citation:

De Lorenzis E, Di Giorgio A, Natalello G, Nesci A, Tanti G, Rubortone P, Lucchetti D, Magurano MR, Di Mario C, Tolusso B, Peluso G, Santoliquido A and Gremese E (2021) Depression and Endothelial Dysfunction in Psoriatic Arthritis: Is There Any Possible Relationship? Front. Med. 8:669397. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.669397 **Background:** Cardiovascular events (CVEs) are the first cause of death in patients with psoriatic arthritis (PsA). Depression is a recognized risk factor in cardiovascular events and is frequently associated with PsA. Flow-mediated dilatation (FMD) is a widely used method for assessing endothelial dysfunction, a parameter with strong prognostic implications for CVEs. The study aims to explore the relationship between FMD, depressive symptoms and serum cytokines in a cohort of patients with PsA.

Patients and Methods: FMD was assessed in 50 consecutive PsA patients aged between 30 and 75 years without known cerebrovascular and coronary heart disease or diabetes. Depressive symptoms were reported using the related subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HDS). Disease features, activity indexes, and adjusted Framingham risk score (aFRS) were calculated. Serum level of IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-17A were also assessed.

Results: In PsA patients (age 50.7 ± 10.2 years, male 42%, disease duration 5.9 ± 3.3 years, Disease Activity in PSoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) score 14.0 ± 9.4) FMD inversely correlated with the severity of depressive symptoms according to HDS ($\rho = -0.339$, p = 0.016), age ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001), aFRS (rs = -0.453, p < 0.001), duration of PsA ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001), intensity of pain ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001), and DAPSA ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001). No statistically significant correlation was found between FMD or HDS and serum cytokines concentrations. HDS predicted FMD in a model adjusted for age, aFRS, PsA duration, and pain intensity ($\beta = -0.271$, p = 0.008), with depressive symptoms contributing directly to 6.4% of the variance.

Conclusions: Depressive symptoms correlate with endothelial dysfunction with an exposure-response pattern in our cohort of PsA patients.

Keywords: psoriatic arthritis, depression, flow-mediated dilatation, cardiovascular risk, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin-17

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular events (CVEs) are the leading cause of death in patients affected by psoriatic arthritis (PsA), who indeed present an increased rate of myocardial infarction and stroke (1). Nonetheless, current strategies for cardiovascular risk estimation (2) and reduction (3) appear inadequate. Both overt depression and subsyndromal depressive symptoms are currently recognized as independent cardiovascular risk factors comparable with smoking, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes (4– 6). Depression is often associated with PsA (7) but the effective contribution of mood disorders in the cardiovascular burden of PsA patients is currently unknown.

Endothelial dysfunction (ED) is the inability of an artery to dilate in response to chemical or physical stimuli due to a reduced nitric oxide (NO) availability. ED plays a key role in early atherosclerosis and has the power to predict CVEs such as stroke, myocardial infarction, and cardiovascular death (8) consistently with the antiatherogenic and plaque-stabilizing properties of endothelium-derived NO (9). The ultrasound assessment of flow-mediated dilation (FMD) is a widely used method for assessing the endothelial function and strongly correlates with more invasive measures of the vasomotor responses (10).

Reduced FMD has been reported in both PsA patients (11) and depressed subjects (12) and related mainly to traditional cardiovascular risk factors and systemic inflammation. A dysregulated production of cytokines-particularly interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), and interleukin-17 (IL-17)-could be proposed as a unifying common feature between PsA, depression, and ED, as it plays a key role in the pathogenesis of psoriatic diseases and seems to be associated to mood disorders and impaired endothelial function in non-psoriatic cohorts (13, 14). Alternative or complementary mechanisms including heightened sympathetic arousal with excessive circulating catecholamines, abnormal neurohormonal function, reduced circulating endothelial progenitor cell, abnormal platelet activation, or increased oxidative stress could represent further mechanisms of impairment of vasomotor responses in PsA-depressed patients (15).

The aim of this study is therefore to evaluate the relationship of ED evaluated by FMD with depressive symptoms and serum cytokines in a cohort of PsA patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Rheumatological Assessment

The study has a comparative cross-sectional design. The protocol has been approved by the Ethics Committee of Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli-IRCCS (FPG), Rome (Protocol n.0014580/18), and written informed consent was obtained from all participants. Consecutive patients, aged between 30 and 75 years who met classification criteria for psoriatic arthritis (CASPAR) (16) and on stable treatment for at least 3 months were enrolled at the outpatient rheumatology clinic of FPG between October 2018 and March 2019. PsA patients with diabetes, stroke, peripheral arterial disease, or

overt coronary heart disease for previous myocardial infarction, coronary bypass surgery or angioplasty, coronary stenosis on angiogram, or evidence of exercise-induced myocardial ischemia, were excluded. Other exclusion criteria were history of neoplasm in the last 5 years, kidney or liver failure, chronic liver infection, drug or alcohol abuse, secondary hypertension, and treatment with antidepressant or corticosteroids.

Duration of PsA, history of peripheral arthritis, axial disease, dactylitis, enthesitis, skin disease and nail disease, pain intensity and patient global assessment (PtGA) on a 10-cm visual analog scale, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and C-reactive protein (CRP) values were registered. Systemic, cutaneous, and articular examination—including tender and swollen joint count—was performed for all patients. Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) index and Psoriasis Area Severity Index (PASI) were calculated to assess disease activity. The use of conventional and biologic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) was noted.

Assessment of Traditional Cardiovascular Risk Factors

Smoking habit, premature coronary artery disease in first- and second-degree relatives (male aged <55 years and female aged <65 years) and sedentary lifestyle were recorded. Body mass index (BMI) and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) were recorded as well as proportion of patients with obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) and abdominal obesity (WHR >0.94 for males and WHR >0.80 for females) were reported. Baseline resting blood pressure was measured by auscultatory technique, recording the average of three consecutive measures. Total cholesterol, high- (HDL) and low-density (LDL) lipoprotein cholesterol, and triglycerides were assessed before the visit according to standard practice, and atherogenic index of plasma (AIP) and LDL/HDL cholesterol ratio were computed. High-risk lipid profile has been defined as AIP >0.5 or LDL/HDL cholesterol ratio >3.5 in men and >3.0 in women (17). Ongoing treatment for systemic arterial hypertension and dyslipidemia were recorded (18).

Framingham risk score (FRS) (19) was used to estimate the 10 year risk of coronary heart disease death, non-fatal myocardial infarction, coronary insufficiency or angina, fatal or non-fatal ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke, transient ischemic attack, intermittent claudication, and heart failure for each patient according to traditional risk factors. The score was based on the following variables: age, sex, smoking status, total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and systolic blood pressure. This prediction model was adjusted for patients with chronic arthritis by a 1.5 multiplier (aFRS) (20). Notably, the age between 30 and 75 years was chosen as inclusion criteria, since FRS is validated in this range.

Assessment of Depressive Symptoms

The presence of depression and the severity of psychological symptoms were evaluated by an experienced psychologist blinded to the other clinical data using the depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HDS). This scale was chosen because the items do not include somatic symptoms that may be caused by immunosuppressive drugs and extra-articular physical manifestations of PsA. Although it is not a basis for the clinical diagnosis of depression, a validated cutoff of 8 was used to define patients with significative depressive symptoms, who were referred to as depressed in this paper (21).

Evaluation of Flow-Mediated Dilation

FMD was evaluated within 2 days from the screening visit by an experienced angiologist blinded to other clinical data. All participants were studied in the morning beginning between 8:00 and 9:00 am, fasting, and having avoided alcohol for at least 24 h and caffeine for at least 12 h. Vasoactive and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medications were withheld for 48 h before the test. Subjects rested supine in a quiet, temperaturecontrolled environment for 20 min before the exam. The right brachial artery was imaged in the longitudinal plane 2 to 15 cm proximal to the antecubital fossa using a 17-5 MHz linear array transducer connected to an iU22 ultrasound machine (Philips Medical Systems, Monza, Italy). Depth and gain were selected to enable optimal identification of the anterior and posterior intimal interface between lumen and vessel wall on 2D grayscale images. Baseline images were then acquired. Blood flow was measured from the pulsed wave Doppler signal with a 60° insonation angle. After recording baseline values, a sphygmomanometer cuff was applied around the forearm, inflated to 250 mmHg, and left in place for 5 min, causing forearm ischemia and consequent dilation of downstream resistance vessels. Blood flow was measured over the first 15s after cuff deflation, whereas arterial images were acquired between 60 and 90s after cuff release (22).

Assessment of Serum Cytokines

Blood samples for soluble biomarkers assays were collected from all enrolled PsA patients soon after FMD evaluation. Sera were collected from blood samples after centrifugation at 3,500 rpm for 15 min and stored at -80° C until the time of analysis. Serum levels of IL-6 were measured by ELISA (R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK) with a sensitivity of the test of 0.7 pg/ml. Serum levels of TNF- α and IL-17A were simultaneously measured by Luminex assay (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA) on a Luminex xMAP system (Bio-Plex 200 System, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). Results were analyzed using a dedicated Bio-Plex Manager software and are expressed in picograms per milliliter.

Statistical Analysis and Sample Size Calculation

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics v26.0 (Armonk, NY, USA). Categorical variables were reported as numbers and percentages. Continuous variables were reported as mean \pm SD or median and interquartile range (IQR), according to the distribution of the data. Normality of continuous variables was assessed by inspection of Q–Q (quantile-quantile) plots. Variables without Gaussian distribution were normalized using the logarithm transformation, when effective. Linearity of the relationship between continuous variables and the presence of significant outliers were assessed by scatterplot. The relationship between FMD and HDS or other paired continuous variables was explored using Pearson's (ρ) or Spearman's coefficient

 $(r_{\rm s})$ as indicated. The relationship between FMD and natural dichotomous variables was tested by point-biserial correlation (ρ) after ruling out the presence of significant outliers by boxplot and checking the homogeneity of variances by Levene's test. Hierarchical multivariate linear analyses were done with the percentage of FMD as the dependent variable. Variables showing a correlation with FMD were included in the model as predictors. The first block included predictors of FMD shared with general population (traditional cardiovascular risk factors, baseline brachial diameter), in the second block the model was adjusted for potential PsA-related predictors, in the last block HDS was added to the model. HDS was added in the last step in order to estimate the percentage of the total variance of FMD explained by depressive symptoms after controlling for potential confounding variables. Statistical significance of F modification was reported for each step. Independence of residuals was assessed by Durbin-Watson test, multicollinearity was excluded for $\rho < 0.700$ for each couple of predictors. Homoscedasticity and normality of residual distribution were checked by visual inspection of a plot of standardized residuals vs. standardized predicted values and a probability plot, respectively. All tests were two sided. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

Consistent with the available literature, we calculated the minimum sample size based on the occurrence rate of depression (defined by HDS \geq 8) of 33% in PsA patients defined by HDS \geq 8, and an expected FMD value of 6.5 \pm 3.0 in patients with depressed symptoms and 8.5 \pm 3.0 in the other PsA patients. The α was set as double-sided 0.05 (5% level of significance), and β was set as 0.2 (90% power). Thus, we set the sample size as n = 50 in this study.

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristics of PsA Patients, Serum Cytokines, Traditional Risk Factors for CVEs, and Depressive Symptoms

Fifty consecutive PsA patients were enrolled; the clinical characteristics of the study cohort are summarized in **Table 1** and modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors for cardiovascular diseases in **Table 2**. The patients were treated according to standard of care at the time of the evaluation. Thirty-three patients (46.0%) were treated with conventional synthetic (cs)-DMARDs and specifically 19 with methotrexate, 16 with sulphasalazine, and two with leflunomide. Twenty-two patients (44.0%) were treated with biologic (b)-DMARDs, of whom five in monotherapy. In particular, 18 patients assumed an anti-TNF α , two patients secukinumab, and two ustekinumab. One patient was treated with apremilast.

Four patients (8.0%) were in high disease activity, 19 (38.0%) in moderate disease activity, 20 (40.0%) in low disease activity and 7 (14.0%) in remission according to DAPSA score while under treatment. Twenty (40.0%) patients were depressed according to HDS \geq 8 with an average HDS of 6.8 \pm 3 0.3. Depressed and non-depressed patients did not significantly differ according to disease features and serum levels of IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-17A (**Table 1**).

TABLE 1 | Clinical features of the enrolled PsA patients.

	All patients	HDS ≥ 8	HDS < 8	p-Value
N	50	20	30	-
Disease duration (years, mean \pm SD)	5.9 ± 3.3	6.4 ± 3.5	5.6 ± 3.2	0.378
Age of onset (years, mean \pm SD)	41.1 ± 11.9	40.4 ± 12.1	41.6 ± 12.0	0.732
Peripheral arthritis [n (%)]	50 (100.0)	20 (100.0)	30 (100.0)	-
Dactylitis [n (%)]	25 (50.0)	11 (55.0)	14 (46.7)	0.564
Enthesitis [n (%)]	28 (56.0)	11 (55.0)	17 (56.7)	0.907
Spondylitis [n (%)]	11 (22.0)	3 (15.0)	8 (26.7)	0.269
Psoriatic skin disease [n (%)]	40 (80.0)	15 (75.0)	25 (83.3)	0.470
Psoriatic nail disease [n (%)]	20 (40.0)	10 (50.0)	10 (33.3)	0.239
TJC on 68 joints [median (IQR)]	1.0 (0.0–4.5)	1.5 (0.0–8.8)	1.0 (0.0–2.5)	0.138
SJC on 66 joints [median (IQR)]	0.0 (0.0–2.0)	1.0 (0.0–3.5)	0.0 (0.0-2.0)	0.222
Pain intensity on VAS (cm, mean \pm SD)	5.1 ± 2.7	6.2 ± 2.6	4.1 ± 2.8	0.008
PtGA (cm, mean \pm SD)	3.6 ± 2.3	4.7 ± 2.3	2.9 ± 2.0	0.004
DAPSA (mean \pm SD)	14.0 ± 9.4	18.4 ± 10.5	11.1 ± 7.6	0.007
PASI [median (IQR)]	0.5 (0.0–3.5)	0.6 (0.0-4.2)	0.5 (0.0–3.5)	0.935
HAQ-DI [median (IQR)]	0.889 (0.000-1.120)	0.935 (0.370–1.778)	0.060 (0.000–0.870)	0.001
Conventional DMARDs (%)	32 (64.0)	13 (65.0)	19 (63.3)	0.904
Biologic DMARDs and apremilast [n (%)]	23 (46.0)	8 (40.0)	15 (50.0)	0.487
No DMARDs [n (%)]	13 (26.0)	5 (25.0)	8 (26.7)	0.895
IL-6 [pg/ml, median (IQR)]	0.21 (0.01–2.08)	0.82 (0.01–2.56)	0.02 (0.01-1.42)	0.165
TNF-α [pg/ml, median (IQR)]	3.52 (2.23-5.57)	3.88 (2.56-5.63)	3.36 (2.22-5.09)	0.442
IL-17A [pg/ml, median (IQR)]	0.01 (0.01-0.24)	0.01 (0.01–0.11)	0.01 (0.01-0.35)	0.760

PsA, psoriatic arthritis; HDS, depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; SD, standard deviation; TJC tender joint count; SJC, swollen joint count; IQR, interquartile range; VAS, visual analog scale; PtGA, patient global assessment; DAPSA, disease activity in psoriatic arthritis; HDA, high disease activity; MDA, moderate disease activity; LDA, low disease activity; PASI, psoriasis area severity index; IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; DMARDs, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs.

The median 10 year risk of CVEs according to aFRS was 10.7% (IQR, 7.2–14.5%). Depressed patients were less frequently male (20.0% vs. 56.4%, p = 0.01) while they did not differ according to the other recorded cardiovascular risk factors (**Table 2**).

Flow Mediated Dilatation

Single correlations of FMD and HDS with traditional risk factors for CVD and other clinical features are shown in Supplementary Table 1. Baseline brachial artery diameter on ultrasound was 3.7 \pm 0.7 mm and mean FMD was 7.9% \pm 3.6%. There was a statistically significant, negative correlation between endothelial function according to FMD and severity of depressive symptoms according to HDS ($\rho = -0.339$, p = 0.016), explaining 11% of the variation in endothelium-dependent vasodilation. The relationship was similar if the cutoff of HDS >8 was considered to define depressed patients ($\rho = -0.322$, p =0.022). Regarding traditional risk factors for CVD, there was a statistically significant, strong negative correlation between FMD and age ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001) and a moderate negative correlation with aFRS ($r_s = -0.453$, p < 0.001) and Log(aFRS) $(\rho = -0.423, p = 0.002)$. Of notice, aFRS was normalized by log transformation because of the markedly skewed distribution of the data.

There was a statistically significant correlation between gender and HDS ($\rho = -0.320$, p = 0.024), with females showing higher depressive scores compared with males (7.7 ± 2.8 vs. 5.5 ± 3.6). As concerns disease characteristics, FMD correlated with PsA disease duration ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001), intensity of pain (ρ = -0.507, p = 0.001), and DAPSA ($\rho = -0.507$, p = 0.001) while HDS correlated with TJC on 68 joints ($r_s = 0.312$, p =0.028), the intensity of pain ($\rho = 0.483$, p < 0.001) and DAPSA ($\rho = 0.495$, p < 0.001) (**Figures 1, 2**). Notably, there was not a significant correlation between FMD or HDS and serum cytokine concentrations and classic acute-phase reactants.

Multiple regression analyses was carried out to assess the relative contribution of the variables in predicting FMD. Predictors were chosen according to both theoretical importance and statistical significance on bivariate correlation. Since pain intensity and PtGA were both highly correlated with DAPSA ($\rho = 0.821, p < 0.001$ and $\rho = 0.791, p < 0.001$, respectively) and each other ($\rho = 0.802, p < 0.001$), these measures have not been entered simultaneously in the model, to avoid multicollinearity. We decided to use pain intensity in the model since it was included in DAPSA formula and because psychological factors have an established role in the experience of pain. Therefore, hierarchical regression was run to predict FMD, entering as

TABLE 2 | Traditional risk factors for cardiovascular disease.

	All patients	$HDS \ge 8$	HDS < 8	p-Value
N	50	20	30	_
Age (years, mean \pm SD)	50.7 ± 10.2	51.5 ± 11.1	50.1 ± 9.6	0.638
Male sex [n (%)]	21 (42.0)	4 (20.0)	17 (56.7)	0.010
Family history of premature CVD [n (%)]	13 (26.0)	5 (25.0)	8 (26.7)	0.895
BMI (kg/m ² , mean \pm SD)	26.0 ± 4.0	24.7 ± 3.8	26.8 ± 4.0	0.067
Obesity [n (%)]	10 (20.0)	3 (15.0)	7 (23.3)	0.365
WHR (mean \pm SD)	0.88 ± 0.14	0.92 ± 0.10	0.86 ± 0.16	0.162
Abdominal obesity [n (%)]	34 (68.0)	14 (70.0)	20 (66.7)	0.804
Current smokers [n (%)]	13 (26.0)	6 (30.0)	7 (23.3)	0.599
Sedentary lifestyle [n (%)]	32 (64.0)	12 (60.0)	20 (66.7)	0.630
SBP at the time of the study (mmHg, mean \pm SD)	123 ± 16	123 ± 15	123 ± 17	0.818
DBP at the time of the study (mmHg, mean \pm SD)	80 ± 11	80 ± 10	81 ± 11	0.815
Antihypertensive treatment [n (%)]	18 (36.0)	8 (40.0)	10 (33.3)	0.630
Total cholesterol (mg/dl, mean \pm SD)	207 ± 31	207 ± 33	207 ± 31	0.994
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dl, mean \pm SD)	63 ± 18	64 ± 22	61 ± 16	0.615
LDL-cholesterol (mg/dl, mean \pm SD)	123 ± 33	125 ± 32	122 ± 35	0.783
Triglycerides (mg/dl, mean \pm SD)	112 ± 75	101 ± 46	118 ± 87	0.454
Atherogenic index of plasma [median (IQR)]	0.44 (-0.09 to 0.96)	0.49 (-0.10 to 1.00)	0.42 (-0.06 to 0.96)	0.740
Atherogenic index of plasma at risk $[n (\%)]$	24 (48.9)	10 (50.0)	14 (46.7)	0.912
LDL/HDL cholesterol ratio (mean \pm SD)	2.17 ± 0.97	2.16 ± 0.85	2.18 ± 1.05	0.930
LDL/HDL cholesterol ratio at risk $[n (\%)]$	8 (16.0)	3 (15.0)	5 (16.7)	0.599
Lipid-lowering treatment $[n \ (\%)]$	8 (16.0)	3 (15.0)	5 (16.7)	0.599
aFRS [%, median (IQR range)]	10.7 (7.2–14.5)	11.3 (7.2–18.2)	10.8 (8.0–15.2)	0.501

HDS, depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; SD, standard deviation; CVD, cardiovascular disease; BMI, body mass index; WHR, waist-to-hip ratio; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HDL, high-density lipoproteins; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; IQR, interquartile range.







FIGURE 2 | Scatterplots showing the relationship between FMD and PsA duration (A), PtGA (B), pain intensity on VAS (C), and DAPSA (D). Dotted lines indicate 95% confidence interval. FMD, flow-mediated dilation; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; PtGA, patient global assessment; VAS, visual analog scale; DAPSA, disease activity in psoriatic arthritis.

TABLE 3 Hierarchical linear regression a	analysis of FMD in patients with PsA.
--	---------------------------------------

	Predictors	В	CIS	95%	p (B)	β	F change	p (F change)	R ²	R ² change
Step 1	Age	-0.152	-0.261	-0.042	0.008	-0.425	6.88	0.001	0.310	
	Baseline artery diameter	-1.159	-2.837	0.519	0.171	-0.218				
	Log(aFRS)	-0.482	-5.047	4.084	0.883	-0.040				
Step 2	Age	-0.132	-0.237	-0.025	0.015	-0.370	3.64	0.034	0.408	0.098
	Baseline artery diameter	-0.869	-2.522	0.783	0.295	-0.163				
	Log(aFRS)	-1.087	-5.440	3.266	0.617	-0.089				
	PsA duration	-1.016	-0.431	0.123	0.270	-0.140				
	Pain severity	-0.358	-0.670	-0.045	0.026	-0.271				
Step 3	Age	-0.132	-0.233	-0.032	0.011	-0.372	5.21	0.027	0.472	0.064
	Baseline artery diameter	-1.182	-2.785	0.422	0.145	-0.222				
	Log(aFRS)	-1.016	-5.177	3.146	0.625	-0.084				
	PsA duration	-0.098	-0.368	0.171	0.466	-0.090				
	Pain severity	-0.178	-0.516	0.161	0.295	-0.135				
	HDS	-0.324	-0.610	-0.038	0.027	-0.297				

FMD, flow-mediated dilatation; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; CI, confidence interval; aFRS, adjusted Framingham risk score; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; HDS, depression subscale of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

variables age, baseline arterial diameter, and Log(aFRS) in the first step. PsA duration and pain intensity were added in the second step and HDS in the third step. Regression coefficient (R^2)values are reported in **Table 3**. Conventional cardiovascular risk factors (age, aFRS) and baseline arterial diameter accounted for 31.0% of the total FMD (F = 6.88, p < 0.001) with age independently associated with the endothelial function ($\beta = -0.425$, p = 0.008). PsA-related variables in the second step, the explained variance increased up to 40.8% (F = 3.64, p = 0.034) and pain intensity ($\beta = -0.370$, p = 0.015) and age ($\beta = -0.271$, p = 0.026) were both significantly associated with the endothelial function in the adjusted model. The inclusion of HDS in the third step contributed to an additional 6.4% of the variance in predicting FMD (F = 5.21, p = 0.027). It should be noted that

at the last step the correlation between FMD and HDS remained significant on multivariate regression analysis ($\beta = -0.297$, p = 0.027) suggesting an independent effect of the depressed mood on endothelial function. Age was also significantly associated with FMD ($\beta = -0.372$, p = 0.011) in the full-enter model.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we examined the endothelial function assessed by FMD according to depressed mood and key serum cytokines in a clinically well-characterized cohort of PsA patients. Our main observation was an inverse correlation between endothelial function and severity of depressive symptoms according to HDS, confirmed after adjusting for other relevant



symptoms. PsA, psoriatic arthritis; ED, endothelial dysfunction.

variables such as age, baseline brachial diameter, traditional cardiovascular risk factors (aFRS), disease duration, and pain severity. In the multivariable linear model, the largest variation of FMD was explained by age and aFRS, as reported in the general non-psoriatic population (23, 24), while disease duration and pain severity were the only disease characteristics that were related to FMD, explaining further 9.8% of its variance. Expanding the hierarchical model, we found that the variation of FMD independently explained by HRS was of 6.4%. Even if this percentage may appear small or clinically irrelevant, it must be emphasized that very small differences in FMD can predict major CVEs (8).

These data allow us to speculate that the gap between predicted and actual incidence of CVEs could be in part explained by a quote of endothelial dysfunction related to an eventual concurrent depressive status. In this perspective, the investigation of depressive symptoms in PsA could contribute to a more accurate stratification of cardiovascular risk, since mood disorders are often under-recognized and under-treated in these patients (25). It should also be noted that mood disorders have a stronger impact on cardiovascular disease burden in women than in men (26) and that depressive symptoms are more frequent in female PsA patients (27). The identification of depressive symptoms may therefore be crucial in female PsA patients that could be mistakenly considered at low risk in premenopausal age. Notably, the relationship between depressive symptoms and FMD showed a linear trend, suggesting that evaluating the depressive status as dichotomous phenomenon (i.e., depressed vs. nondepressed) may eventually be inadequate in the stratification of cardiovascular risk.

Mechanisms of ED in PsA or depression are still unclear, but they are expected to be multiple and overlapping. The crosstalk between central and peripheral nervous system, the inflammatory and autoimmune response, and the cardiovascular system is complex (Figure 3), and our current understanding of these interactions is incomplete, particularly in PsA patients. It is well-known that, even if traditional cardiovascular risk factors are frequently reported in PsA and depression, ED and cardiovascular risk are independent of them in both cases (28-30). Systemic inflammation is considered a major actor in ED in PsA and other chronic inflammatory diseases (13), indeed we failed in detecting a correlation between endothelial function and acute-phase reactants or inflammatory molecules (i.e., IL-6, TNF-α, and IL-17A), consistently with previous reports on FMD in PsA patients (11, 28, 30). Interestingly, ED has been related to the cumulative rather than the transient exposure to inflammation (30, 31),

and we consistently found an inverse correlation between FMD and disease duration. Depression itself has also been associated with a sustained state of systemic inflammation and increased concentrations of inflammatory molecules in patients without overt systemic inflammatory diseases (14) and, in this regard, we previously reported that depressive symptoms were independently associated with elevated IL-6 in a larger cohort of unselected PsA patients (32). An alternative or complementary explanation is that other non-inflammatory mechanisms may interfere with endothelial function in these patients. These include deregulation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis with elevated circulating cortisol levels (33, 34) and an imbalance between the sympathetic and parasympathetic systems (35, 36). Such mechanisms might be heightened in PsA-depressed patients. Coherently with this hypothesis, autonomic dysfunction has been reported in PsA patients (37), particularly in association with psychoemotional impairment (38). Notably, we also fund that ED was inversely correlated with pain, that is cross-linked with sympathetic activation (39).

The limitations of the present study include the lack of a control group and the cross-sectional design with the consequent inadequacy to more strongly support the relationship between endothelial dysfunction and depressive symptoms. Moreover, we did not directly measure potential non-inflammatory determinants of ED nor the cumulative exposure to inflammation or depressive mood (40). Lastly, we did not assess the impact of different immunosuppressants on endothelial function since the study was not powered for this aim.

The study has some strengths, too. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study assessing the relationship between ED and depressive symptoms in patients with PsA. The patients have been thoroughly studied in terms of traditional cardiovascular risk factors, and we applied stringent exclusion criteria in order to limit confounding factors. Patients treated with antidepressants, for example, were excluded from the study because of the effect of antidepressant drugs on endothelial function (41).

REFERENCES

- Gladman DD. Mortality in psoriatic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. (2008) 26(Suppl. 51):S62–5.
- Navarini L, Margiotta DPE, Caso F, Currado D, Tasso M, Angeletti S, et al. Performances of five risk algorithms in predicting cardiovascular events in patients with Psoriatic Arthritis: an Italian bicentric study. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0205506. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0205506
- Eder L, Harvey P, Chandran V, Rosen CF, Dutz J, Elder JT, et al. Gaps in diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with psoriatic disease: an international multicenter study. *J Rheumatol.* (2018) 45:378–84. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.170379
- Wulsin LR, Singal BM. Do depressive symptoms increase the risk for the onset of coronary disease? A systematic quantitative review. *Psychosom Med.* (2003) 65:201–10. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000058371.50240.e3
- Rosengren A, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Sliwa K, Zubaid M, Almahmeed WA, et al. Association of psychosocial risk factors with risk of acute myocardial infarction in 11119 cases and 13648 controls from 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *Lancet.* (2004) 364:953– 62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17019-0

CONCLUSIONS

In our cohort of PsA patients, depressive symptoms were related to ED. If validated in longitudinal studies, this evidence would encourage a systematic research of depressive symptoms as a part of a correct assessment of cardiovascular risk in PsA, helping to raise the effectiveness of prevention strategies. The future research agenda should clarify if the choice of both immunosuppressant and antidepressant treatment in PsA could be personalized according to effects on endothelium, as part of cardiovascular prevention strategies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The protocol and the template informed consent forms were reviewed and approved by Committee on Research Ethics of Catholic University of the Sacred Heart. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors gave substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work, acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data, drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content, and final approval of the version published.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.669397/full#supplementary-material

- Rowan PJ, Haas D, Campbell JA, Maclean DR, Davidson KW. Depressive symptoms have an independent, gradient risk for coronary heart disease incidence in a random, population-based sample. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2005) 15:316–20. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2004. 08.006
- Husni ME, Merola JF, Davin S. The psychosocial burden of psoriatic arthritis. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2017) 47:351– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.05.010
- Ras RT, Streppel MT, Draijer R, Zock PL. Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular risk prediction: a systematic review with metaanalysis. *Int J Cardiol.* (2013) 168:344–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012. 09.047
- 9. Matthys KE, Bult H. Nitric oxide function in atherosclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm.* (1997) 6:3–21. doi: 10.1080/09629359791875
- Corretti MC, Anderson TJ, Benjamin EJ, Celermajer D, Charbonneau F, Creager MA, et al. Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2002) 39:257–65. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(01)01 746-6

- Sharma A, Reddy MH, Sharma K, Dogra S, Vijayvergiya R. Study of endothelial dysfunction in patients of psoriatic arthritis by flow mediated and nitroglycerine mediated dilatation of brachial artery. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2016) 19:300–4. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.12336
- Cooper DC, Tomfohr LM, Milic MS, Natarajan L, Bardwell WA, Ziegler MG, et al. Depressed mood and flow-mediated dilation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med.* (2011) 73:360– 9. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31821db79a
- Steyers CM III, Miller FJ Jr. Endothelial dysfunction in chronic inflammatory diseases. Int J Mol Sci. (2014) 15:11324–49. doi: 10.3390/ijms150711324
- Lee CH, Giuliani F. The role of inflammation in depression and fatigue. Front Immunol. (2019) 10:1696. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01696
- Vaccarino V, Badimon L, Bremner JD, Cenko E, Cubedo J, Dorobantu M, et al. Depression and coronary heart disease: 2018 position paper of the ESC working group on coronary pathophysiology and microcirculation. *Eur Heart J.* (2020) 41:1687–96. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy913
- Taylor W, Gladman D, Helliwell P, Marchesoni A, Mease P, Mielants H, et al. Classification criteria for psoriatic arthritis: development of new criteria from a large international study. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2006) 54:2665– 73. doi: 10.1002/art.21972
- Millán J, Pintó X, Muñoz A, Zúñiga M, Rubiés-Prat J, Pallardo LF, et al. Lipoprotein ratios: physiological significance and clinical usefulness in cardiovascular prevention. *Vasc Health Risk Manag.* (2009) 5:757–65.
- Piepoli MF, Hoes AW, Agewall S, Albus C, Brotons C, Catapano AL, et al. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: the Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of 10 societies and by invited experts) Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation (EACPR). *Atherosclerosis.* (2016) 252:207–74. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016. 05.037
- D'Agostino RB Sr, Vasan RS, Pencina MJ, Wolf PA, Cobain M, Massaro JM, et al. General cardiovascular risk profile for use in primary care: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. (2008) 117:743–53. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.699579
- Agca R, Heslinga SC, Rollefstad S, Heslinga M, McInnes IB, Peters MJ, et al. EULAR recommendations for cardiovascular disease risk management in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other forms of inflammatory joint disorders: 2015/2016 update. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:17–28. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209775
- Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (1983) 67:361–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x
- Thijssen DH, Black MA, Pyke KE, Padilla J, Atkinson G, Harris RA, et al. Assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans: a methodological and physiological guideline. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2011) 300:H2– 12. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00471.2010
- Witte DR, Westerink J, de Koning EJ, van der Graaf Y, Grobbee DE, Bots ML. Is the association between flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular risk limited to low-risk populations? J Am Coll Cardiol. (2005) 45:1987– 93. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.02.073
- Campuzano R, Moya JL, García-Lledó A, Tomas JP, Ruiz S, Megías A, et al. Endothelial dysfunction, intima-media thickness and coronary reserve in relation to risk factors and Framingham score in patients without clinical atherosclerosis. J Hypertens. (2006) 24:1581–8. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000239294.17636.27
- Korman AM, Hill D, Alikhan A, Feldman SR. Impact and management of depression in psoriasis patients. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. (2016) 17:147– 52. doi: 10.1517/14656566.2016.1128894
- Wyman L, Crum RM, Celentano D. Depressed mood and cause-specific mortality: a 40-year general community assessment. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2012) 22:638–43. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2012.06.102
- McDonough E, Ayearst R, Eder L, Chandran V, Rosen CF, Thavaneswaran A, et al. Depression and anxiety in psoriatic disease: prevalence and associated factors. J Rheumatol. (2014) 41:887–96. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.130797
- Yilmazer B, Sahin T, Unlu BÖ, Kir HM, Cefle A. Investigation of subclinical atherosclerosis in psoriatic arthritis patients with minimal disease activity. *Rheumatol Int.* (2015) 35:1385–92. doi: 10.1007/s00296-015-3228-y

- Cooper DC, Milic MS, Tafur JR, Mills PJ, Bardwell WA, Ziegler MG, et al. Adverse impact of mood on flow-mediated dilation. *Psychosom Med.* (2010) 72:122–7. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181cdbfc0
- Gonzalez-Juanatey C, Llorca J, Miranda-Filloy JA, Amigo-Diaz E, Testa A, Garcia-Porrua C, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in psoriatic arthritis patients without clinically evident cardiovascular disease or classic atherosclerosis risk factors. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2007) 57:287–93. doi: 10.1002/art. 22530
- Vaudo G, Marchesi S, Gerli R, Allegrucci R, Giordano A, Siepi D, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in young patients with rheumatoid arthritis and low disease activity. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2004) 63:31–5. doi: 10.1136/ard.2003.007740
- 32. De Lorenzis E, Natalello G, Bruno D, Tanti G, Magurano MR, Lucchetti D, et al. Psoriatic arthritis and depressive symptoms: does systemic inflammation play a role? *Clin Rheumatol.* (2020) 40:1893–902. doi: 10.1007/s10067-020-05417-5
- Weber B, Lewicka S, Deuschle M, Colla M, Vecsei P, Heuser I. Increased diurnal plasma concentrations of cortisone in depressed patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2000) 85:1133–6. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85. 3.6469
- Liu Y, Mladinov D, Pietrusz JL, Usa K, Liang M. Glucocorticoid response elements and 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in the regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2009) 81:140– 7. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn231
- 35. Sheng Y, Zhu L. The crosstalk between autonomic nervous system and blood vessels. *Int J Physiol Pathophysiol Pharmacol.* (2018) 10:17–28.
- 36. Barton DA, Dawood T, Lambert EA, Esler MD, Haikerwal D, Brenchley C, et al. Sympathetic activity in major depressive disorder: identifying those at increased cardiac risk? J Hypertens. (2007) 25:2117–24. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e3282 9baae7
- Syngle A, Verma I, Garg N, Krishan P. Autonomic dysfunction in psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2013) 32:1059–64. doi: 10.1007/s10067-013-2239-x
- Blaginina I, Rebrova O, Blagodarenko A, Bludova N, Pokryshka I. AB0923 Autonomic dysfunction in psoriatic arthritis patients and psycho-emotional disorders frequency. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2018) 77:1586–7.
- Burton AR, Fazalbhoy A, Macefield VG. Sympathetic responses to noxious stimulation of muscle and skin. *Front Neurol.* (2016) 7:109. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00109
- Chimenti MS, Fonti GL, Conigliaro P, Triggianese P, Bianciardi E, Coviello M, et al. The burden of depressive disorders in musculoskeletal diseases: is there an association between mood and inflammation? *Ann Gen Psychiatry*. (2021) 20:1. doi: 10.1186/s12991-020-00322-2
- Biffi A, Scotti L, Corrao G. Use of antidepressants and the risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2017) 73:487–97. doi: 10.1007/s00228-016-2187-x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 De Lorenzis, Di Giorgio, Natalello, Nesci, Tanti, Rubortone, Lucchetti, Magurano, Di Mario, Tolusso, Peluso, Santoliquido and Gremese. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Psoriatic Arthritis and Metabolic Syndrome: Is There a Role for Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs?

Fabiola Atzeni^{1*}, Elisabetta Gerratana¹, Ignazio Francesco Masala², Sara Bongiovanni³, Piercarlo Sarzi-Puttini^{3†} and Javier Rodríguez-Carrio^{4,5†}

¹ Rheumatology Unit, Department of Experimental and Internal Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ² Trauma and Orthopedic Unit, Santissima Trinità Hospital, Cagliari, Italy, ³ Rheumatology Unit, Azienda Socio Sanitaria Territoriale (ASST)-Fatebenefratelli L. Sacco University Hospital, University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Department of Functional Biology, Immunology Area, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oviedo, Oviedo, Spain, ⁵ Area of Metabolism, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Principado de Asturias (ISPA), Oviedo, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Reviewed by:

Prasanta Padhan, Kalinga Institute of Medical Sciences (KIMS), India Fabio Massimo Perrotta, University of Molise, Italy

> *Correspondence: Fabiola Atzeni atzenifabiola@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 02 July 2021 Accepted: 09 August 2021 Published: 30 August 2021

Citation:

Atzeni F, Gerratana E, Francesco Masala I, Bongiovanni S, Sarzi-Puttini P and Rodríguez-Carrio J (2021) Psoriatic Arthritis and Metabolic Syndrome: Is There a Role for Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs? Front. Med. 8:735150. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.735150 Although psoriatic arthritis (PsA) primarily leads to joint and skin damage, it is associated with higher prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MetS) and its components, namely hypertension, dyslipidemia, obesity, and type II diabetes. Additionally, chronic inflammation is known to aggravate these cardiometabolic factors, thus explaining the enhanced cardiovascular (CV) morbidity and mortality in RA. Furthermore, emerging evidence suggest that some risk factors can fuel inflammation, thus pointing to a bidirectional crosstalk between inflammation and cardiometabolic factors. Therefore, dampening inflammation by disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) may be thought to ameliorate MetS burden and thus, CV risk and disease severity. In fact, recommendations for PsA management emphasize the need of considering comorbidities to guide the treatment decision process. However, the existing evidence on the impact of approved DMARDs in PsA on MetS and MetS components is far from being optimal, thus representing a major challenge for the clinical setting. Although a beneficial effect of some DMARDs such as methotrexate, TNF inhibitors and some small molecules is clear, no head-to-head studies are published and no evidence is available for other therapeutic approaches such as IL-23 or IL-17 inhibitors. This narrative review summarizes the main evidence related to the effect of DMARDs on MetS outcomes in PsA patients and identify the main limitations, research needs and future perspectives in this scenario.

Keywords: metabolic syndrome, psoriatic arthritis, dyslipidemia, diabetes, hypertension

INTRODUCTION

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory musculoskeletal and skin disease, associated with psoriasis (PsO). PsA can affect peripheral joints, entheses, and the axial skeleton, and it is characterized by different clinical manifestations and a variable clinical course (1). It affects 10–40% of PsO patients, although in some cases it may occur in the absence of skin manifestations. In most cases, skin manifestations precede arthritis, in 15% of the cases the onset is simultaneous, and in 10–15% of the cases arthritis precedes PsO (2). Moreover, beyond musculoskeletal and skin

manifestations, patients of PsA have a higher prevalence of comorbidities compared to the general population (3), with more than half of PsA patients reporting at least one comorbidity and up to 40% of patients having more than three comorbidities (4). PsA patients exhibit a high prevalence of cardiovascular (CV) risk factors, including the metabolic syndrome (MetS) (5).

METABOLIC SYNDROME

MetS is defined as a constellation of interrelated alterations, which directly increase the risk of CV disease and type II diabetes mellitus (DM) (6). The main components of MetS are: atherogenic dyslipidemia (hypertriglyceridemia, increased Apo-B, low HDLc levels), altered glucose homeostasis, arterial hypertension, and chronic pro-thrombotic and pro-inflammatory state (7, 8). These are all risk factors for developing CV disease, occurring in association with each other more often than expected by chance (6). Although definitions may vary, nowadays the most widely used MetS definition was formulated by the US National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) together with the American Heart Association (AHA) (7). In accordance with the NHLBI/AHA criteria, MetS is diagnosed when three or more of the following five criteria are present:

- Fasting blood glucose level ≥100 mg/dl or pharmacological therapy for hyperglycemia.
- Blood pressure ≥130/86 mmHg or pharmacological therapy for hypertension.
- 3) Triglycerides \geq 150 mg/dl or pharmacological therapy for hypertriglyceridemia.
- High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDLc) <40 mg/dl in men or <50 mg/dl in women.
- 5) Waist circumference ≥ 102 cm in men and ≥ 88 cm in women.

Interestingly, both MetS and its components are significantly over-represented in patients with PsA than in the general population and also compared to PsO and RA patients (9–12). Approximately 24–58% of patients with PsA have MetS, whereas it is only observed in 15–24% of individuals from the general population (5, 11, 13, 14). According to a study conducted in China, the odds ratio of MetS in PsA is 2.68 (95% CI: 1.60– 4.50) when compared with the general population (5). A similar picture was observed for MetS prevalence in PsA compared to RA or ankylosing spondylitis populations in an outpatient arthritis clinic cohort [odds ratio (OR): 2.44, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.48–4.01] (4). Importantly, the MetS components seem to precede the occurrence of PsA by at least 5 years (15), and hyperlipidemia and obesity have been described as risk factors for PsA development (16).

The elevated MetS may account for the elevated CV risk observed in PsA. In fact, patients with PsA have a 55% higher probability of developing CV diseases such as ischemic heart disease, cerebrovascular events or congestive heart failure (17). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis found that PsA patients exhibit increased mortality [relative risk (RR): 1.74, 95% CI: 1.32–2.30], particularly arising from CV disease (RR: 1.84, 95% CI: 1.11–3.06) (18).

The reasons for this increased prevalence of MetS in patients with PsA is an interesting field of research. Actually, recent studies have also associated MetS components with subclinical CV outcomes (19), thus suggesting that attenuating MetS components may lead to a certain degree of CV protection.

Diabetes

The evaluation of the individual components of MetS in PsA patients revealed that the prevalence of DM, as well as the presence of insulin resistance, is higher than in the general population (4). In addition, studies conducted on PsA patients without DM diagnosis at the time of enrollment, have shown that patients with PsA have a greater risk [hazard ratio (HR): 1.4-1.5] of developing type II DM over time compared to the general population (10, 20, 21). Moreover, this risk appears increased in women and in those with higher disease activity (20, 22). In addition to obesity and lifestyle factors, the inflammatory process related to arthritis pathogenesis may also play a key role in the risk of developing type II DM (23, 24). In 2013, a meta-analysis showed that the risk of type II DM was higher in patients with PsA (OR: 2.18; 95% CI: 1.36-3.50) compared to those with PsO (OR: 1.76, 95% CI: 1.59-1.96) (24). In a study using data from the "Consortium of Rheumatology Researchers of North America (CORRONA registry)" the prevalence of type II DM in PsA patients was also found to be higher than in those diagnosed with RA (15 vs. 11%; OR: 1.56, 95% CI: 1.07–2.28) (11).

Of note, the risk of type II DM seems to be related to disease severity in PsA, being positively associated with joint involvement and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (20, 22). Moreover, inflammation seems to trigger insulin resistance (23, 24) in this condition, hence pointing to a potential connection of MetS and inflammatory burden in PsA.

Hypertension

Arterial hypertension (HTN) is another CV risk factor with a higher prevalence in patients with PsO and PsA compared to the general population (4, 25). Data from a large Middle-Eastern PsA cohort reported an increase in the prevalence HTN (OR: 1.51; 95% CI: 1.40–1.6), in addition to that of hyperlipidemia (OR: 1.54; 95% CI: 1.43–1.67), type II DM (OR: 1.48, 95% CI: 1.36–1.61), and obesity (OR: 1.71, 95% CI: 1.58–1.84) (26). In a Spanish monocentric study, the prevalence of HTN was found to be higher in PsA compared to PsO (29 vs. 18%, OR: 1.7, 95% CI: 1.25–2.50) (26). A higher prevalence of HTN in patients with PsA than in patients with PsO was also observed in a cohort study of the University of Toronto (OR: 2.17, 95% CI: 1.22–3.83), after adjusting the data for demographic factors, comorbidity, and pharmacological treatments (9).

In a study obtained using data from the MarketScan claims database, a higher HTN prevalence (19.9 vs. 18.6%) and incidence (79.8 vs. 74.0 per 1,000 patient-years) were observed in PsA when compared to RA (27). Analyzing the prevalence of HTN in patients with PsO, Duan and coworkers observed an elevated prevalence of HTN compared to the general population only in patients with severe psoriatic disease (OR: 1.13, 95% CI: 1.03–1.25), but not in their mild disease counterparts (OR: 1.09, 95%

CI: 0.98–1.22), suggesting that a relationship between HTN and the systemic inflammatory response is also likely (28).

Dyslipidemia

Dyslipidemia is defined as a disorder of lipid metabolism characterized by increased LDL-cholesterol (LDLc) and triglycerides levels, usually associated with decreased HDLc levels.

A higher prevalence of dyslipidemia was observed in PsA compared to both the general population (5, 10, 25, 29). A study from the MarketScan database showed a higher incidence of hyperlipidemia in PsA patients than in controls [incidence risk ratio (IRR): 1.10, 95% CI: 1.04-1.17] (27). A similar picture was observed when compared with PsO patients (4, 26, 30). In fact, dyslipidemia seems to be more prominent in PsA patients with active disease, suggesting a potential link between inflammation and lipid profiles [reviewed in (18)]. However, the study of lipids is challenging in this scenario, since inflammation can lower serum LDLc levels (31, 32), as observed in RA (33). Therefore, hypercholesterolemia as a risk for MetS and CV disease may not apply in systemic diseases and should be interpreted with caution. Moreover, beyond lipoprotein levels, PsA patients exhibit qualitative alterations in their lipid profiles, namely a HDL3 sub-fraction reduction and an increase in most dense LDL sub-fraction, these features being associated with an enhanced atherogenicity activity (34). Furthermore, numerically higher lipoprotein A [Lp(a)] serum levels have been reported in PsA (34). Moreover, dyslipidemia in PsA patients is associated with increased markers of inflammation, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), and with a higher risk of subclinical atherosclerosis (35-37).

Obesity

Obesity is defined as a body mass index (BMI) \geq 30 kg/m². Several studies have reported a higher prevalence of obesity in patients with PsA compared to the general population (10, 11, 25, 27, 38, 39), but also compared to patients with PsO (22.68 vs. 16.75%) in a large cohort study from the UK THIN database (40). However, also patients with PsO have a higher incidence of obesity when compared to the general population (OR: 1.66, 95% CI: 1.46-1.89), as demonstrated in a systematic review with pooled data of more than 200,000 PsO patients (41). The prevalence of obesity is also higher in PsA patients than in their RA counterparts (11), as well as in other chronic inflammatory diseases (29). Obesity has been also associated with poor treatments outcomes and decreased rates of remission attainment in PsA patients undergoing TNF inhibitors (42), thus affecting not only the metabolic dimension of the disease but the inflammatory process itself.

Obesity appears to be a significant risk factor for both the development of PsA and PsO, and this risk seems to be weight-dependent, as the risk of developing PsA increases with increasing BMI (43–45). In fact, a British study reported a growing risk RR of developing PsA with increasing BMI: the RR of PsA was 1.09 (0.93–1.28), 1.22 (1.02–1.47), and 1.48 (1.20–1.81) with BMI of 25–29.9, 30.0–34.9, and 35.0 kg/m² (44), respectively. Moreover, the risk of PsA in obese patients seems

to decrease if the patient undergoes weight loss, as demonstrated by several studies (46, 47). The results of two broad populationbased cohort studies also showed a protective effect of bariatric surgery for the development of PsA (HR 0.52, 95% CI 0.33– 0.81) (46–48).

MetS AND INFLAMMATION

In addition of an enhanced CV risk, PsA patients with MetS have been reported to exhibit higher disease activity scores. In fact, there is evidence supporting that MetS occurrence is associated with PsA severity (49, 50). The underlying reasons are unclear, but several explanations might (co)exist (Figure 1). First, the composite indices to measure PsA activity contain patient reported outcomes (PROs). Obesity may contribute to the joint discomfort referred by patients, thus causing an overestimation of PROs. In addition, obesity, especially visceral obesity (51), is associated with increased CRP. Furthermore, obesity has also been associated with a lower probability of achieving a therapeutic response (52), thus accounting for an enhanced proinflammatory milieu as well. The increase in obesity-related PROs and CRP levels may therefore result in a higher score of the composite indices to measure disease activity (53, 54). Of note, the association between MetS and inflammation can be regarded as bi-directional, since elevated inflammation or disease severity has been associated with higher odds of DM occurrence (HR: 1.21, 95% CI: 1.03-1.41; and HR: 1.53, 95% CI: 1.08-2.18, respectively) in a recent cohort study (20), and inflammation is known to trigger impaired glycemic and lipid metabolism, hence contributing to MetS severity.

Of note, although MetS is known to predict CV disease development or subclinical atherosclerosis occurrence in PsA, inflammation has been demonstrated to play a role in shaping this association, probably by accelerating atherosclerosis development or by aggravating MetS burden (55–58). Of note, CV disease prevalence cannot be fully explained by traditional risk factors in RA (39), hence suggesting that other factors such as inflammation may play a significant role.

Mechanistic evidence adds to these findings, since a number of cytokines implicated in the psoriatic and arthritic disease domains can contribute to atherosclerosis and metabolic impairments, including Th1 (TNF, IFN γ , and IL-12) and Th17 cytokines (IL-17, IL-22, IL-23, IL-6, and TNF). These cytokines can act on distant organs, such as liver, skeletal muscle, vascular endothelia, and adipose tissue, thus bridging chronic inflammation, atherogenesis, and metabolic dysfunction leading to CV risk [reviewed in (59)].

Taken together, it is tempting to speculate that a good control of PsA may lead to an amelioration of the underlying inflammatory process thus causing an improvement of the articular and skin outcomes, but also to the MetS burden. In fact, an improvement of MetS components has been associated with reaching the minimal disease activity status in PsA (52, 60, 61), thus consequently suggesting a link between inflammation and reduction of the CV risk (62). Importantly, PsA patients not taking disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs)



were twice as likely to have MetS compared to PsO patients even after adjusting by age, CRP and blood pressure (adjusted OR: 2.09, 95% CI: 0.78-5.59) (19). Similarly, patients not taking DMARDs are more likely to suffer a major adverse CV event (MACE) compared to the general population (HR: 1.24, 95% CI: 1.03-1.49) after adjusting for confounders, and exhibit a numerically higher risk when compared to their DMARD-treated counterparts (HR: 1.08, 95% CI: 1.02-1.15) (40). Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis concluded that systemic therapies, including TNF inhibitors and methotrexate, was associated with a reduction of CV events, although evidence was lower than for RA patients (63). Finally, many studies linked the suppression of inflammation with a favorable impact on subclinical CV surrogate markers (18, 26, 43, 45). Taken together, all these lines of evidence support that DMARDs exposure may ameliorate MetS burden, and thus CV risk, in PsA patients (Figure 1).

Therefore, the possible presence of MetS should be seriously taken into account during the therapeutic decision process

for PsA. Targeting inflammation with DMARDs may have an important effect in mitigating MetS burden in PsA.

DMARDs AND MetS IN PsA

Conventional DMARDs

Methotrexate

Numerous data exists supporting the role of methotrexate (MTX) in reducing CV risk in patients with chronic inflammatory diseases. The protective effect of MTX is linked to an overall reduction of the inflammatory response. Although most of the studies are derived from RA populations (64), the first data begins to appear also for patients with PsA and associated MetS.

A study assessing the safety of MTX on glucose metabolism in PsA and MetS patients found that glycated hemoglobin in such patients showed no difference before and after 12 weeks of starting treatment. As a result, the use of MTX in this category of patients is safe, having shown no hyperglycemic effects (65). It actually seems to even have a positive effect on carbohydrate metabolism. In fact, a study observed reduction of glycated hemoglobin after starting MTX treatment in patients with arthritis of about half (~0.4 units) of what would be obtained with metformin (~0.8 units). A comparable result was observed after starting treatment with TNF inhibitors (TNFi) (65). The PSARA (Psoriatic Arthritis, Ankylosing Spondylitis, Rheumatoid Arthritis Study) study, aimed at observing the effects on endothelial function of MTX in monotherapy, MTX in combination with TNFi, and TNFi in monotherapy, noted an improvement in endothelial function after 6 months of treatment in all the three treatment groups. However, this improvement was stronger in the group of patients treated with MTX in monotherapy (66).

Biological DMARDs

TNF Inhibitors

The effectiveness of TNFi in patients with MetS is still a subject of debate. Several studies highlight the reduced efficacy of TNFi in obese patients (67, 68). A meta-analysis including 22 studies (for a total of 11,873 patients) conducted by Singh and coworkers showed that obesity was associated with a lower therapeutic response in patients with PsO and PsA (OR: 1.57, 95% CI: 1.30-1.89) (67). A recent study based on the US CORRONA PsA/SpA registry found that the presence of obesity was a strong predictor of failure to achieve remission in PsA (OR: 0.51, 95%) CI: 0.32-0.81) (68). By contrast, an Italian study observed that the presence of MetS does not reduce the anti-inflammatory effect of TNFi neither the likelihood of reaching MDA (69). In a separate study, the same study group found out that in patients with MetS and PsA, the carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT) was greater in those treated with other DMARDs than in those undergoing TNFi, thus suggesting that the latter, by reducing inflammation may reduce CV risk in PsA (70). Whether a stronger, general effect on inflammation or a specific role of the TNF pathway was responsible of these findings remain to be elucidated. The efficacy of TNF blockade therapy in reducing or containing subclinical atherosclerosis was confirmed by other studies (71).

However, it is not yet clear whether weight-dependent changes in the dosage of the drug, possible with intravenous golimumab and infliximab, can improve the therapeutic response to TNFi in obese patients (4). Although the efficacy of TNFi may be lower in obese patients than in their non-obese counterparts, some studies have shown a lower risk of developing DM in TNFi-treated patients compared to other non-biological systemic treatments (excluding MTX) (72–74).

Interestingly, the impact of TNFi seems to be associated with a beneficial effect on several MetS components, including, including waist circumference, levels of triglycerides and HDLc as well as blood glucose levels (75). In fact, a clinical trial including 127 patients with PsA and active PsO undergoing TNFi treatment reported an increment in apolipoprotein AI, apolipoprotein B and triglycerides and a decline of Lp(a) after 12 weeks, although the relevance of these findings in terms of CV risk remained unclear (76).

Other Biological Drugs: IL-17 and IL-12/23 Inhibitors

Unfortunately, there is a lack of robust clinical evidence on the role of drugs targeting IL-17 and IL-12/23 on MetS and CV outcomes in PsA. Interestingly, this axis is expected to contribute to the cardiometabolic alterations, at least in PsO (77). A recent prospective study has demonstrated that overweight and obese patients had a better Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis (DAPSA) score compared with their normoweight counterparts (78), and serum IL-17 seem to correlate BMI, pointing to an association between obesity and IL-17 and thus, a potential better clinical benefit in patients with obesity. This finding was also supported by the fact that obesity was related to a Th17 expansion in adipose and peripheral tissues. However, due to the paradoxical association between IL-17 and CV disease (79, 80), whether IL-17 blockade leads to a more favorable profile and MetS mitigation requires further research.

Concerning IL-12/23 inhibitors, short-term data revealed no increased CV risk in PsO patients (81, 82). Moreover, it has been hypothesized that IL-23 inhibition may be more effective in patients with comorbidities in PsO patients (83). However, a recent *post-hoc* analysis of two clinical trials revealed no differences between PsO patients with and without MetS (84). Nevertheless, no evidence on its impact on MetS components in PsA is available. Due to the functional differences in the IL-23/IL-17 axis across chronic inflammatory conditions (85, 86), and the role of IL-23 in maintaining gut homeostasis and preventing obesity in animal models (87), studies on the effect of IL-23 blockade in metabolic outcomes in PsA patients are warranted.

Small Molecules

Apremilast

Apremilast is a phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE4) inhibitor belonging to the class of oral small molecules. It is indicated for the treatment of PsA and moderate/severe PsO (88). It acts at the intracellular level by modulating the production of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators by PDE4. In addition to fueling inflammatory processes, PDE4 seems to be also involved in lipid and glucose metabolism disorders, liver steatosis, altered lipolysis, and neuroendocrine alterations (89, 90). Therefore, its inhibition may bring benefits on both the inflammatory component at the base of PsO/PsA, as well as on the MetS components.

Inhibition of PDE4 improves liver steatosis, reduces lipid deposition in the liver and consequently improves insulin resistance (89). Apremilast also appears to contribute to counteracting endothelial dysfunction, thus reducing CV risk (91, 92), and to stabilize atherosclerotic plaques, hence blocking its evolution to an unstable, high risk phenotype (93). An interesting study conducted by Mazzilli and coworkers observed a better therapeutic response to apremilast in diabetic patients compared to non-diabetic patients, with a reduction in blood glucose and total- and LDLc levels (94). Based on these findings, apremilast may be an appropriate therapeutic choice in patients with PsO/PsA and MetS (94).

Tofacitinib

Tofacitinib is an oral Janus kinase inhibitor (JAKi) that works interfering with the intracellular signaling pathway of s number of cytokines and inflammatory mediators. It is indicated for the treatment of PsA (95–97). Tofacitinib treatment has been observed to increase LDLc levels (98). Hypercholesterolemia is an important CV risk factor, and for this reason tests have been carried out aimed at assessing the efficacy and safety of tofacitinib in patients with MetS, and in general in those with increased CV risk (98, 99). A *post-hoc* analysis of phase III tofacitinib studies analyzed the efficacy and safety profile of this drug in patients with MetS (99).

Regarding efficacy data, the proportion of patients with MetS reaching endpoints such as ACR20/50/70 and Health Assessment Questionnaire-Disability Index (HAQ-DI) response, as well as resolution of enthesitis and dactilytis, was greater in the tofacitinib group compare to placebo. When comparing patients with and without MetS, similar results were observed except for resolution of dactylitis and HAQ-DI response, which were lower in patients with MetS. Regarding safety data, no differences in the proportion of adverse events were found between tofacitinib and placebo groups, and no new risk factors were identified in tofacitinib-treated presenting MetS at baseline (99). Since patients with MetS are much more likely to develop nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (100), and considering the tofacitinibinduced hyperlipidemia, the hepatic impact of tofacitinib in this subset of patients was analyzed, and no clinically relevant abnormalities were found (99).

Considering the increased CV risk in PsA patients, Dafna and coworkers analyzed changes in lipid profile, risk factors for CV disease occurrence, and incidence of MACE in patients with PsA undergoing treatment with tofacitinib (5 or 10 mg twice a day) in combination with conventional DMARDs (98). Although a 10-15% increase in lipid levels was observed, HDLc was increased in conjunction with other lipids, and no significant changes were observed in the LDLc/HDLc or total cholesterol/HDLc ratios (98). A parallel, significant reduction in CRP levels was also registered (98). Importantly, lipid ratios and CRP levels and blood pressure/hypertension are known CV risk factors in PsA (101-103). Therefore, these findings did not show overall a further increased risk of CV disease after treatment with tofacitinib (98), thus suggesting that these lipid changes do not fully translate into CV disease occurrence. Similar picture has been also observed in RA (32, 104).

UNMET NEEDS, FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND CONCLUSIONS

Compelling evidence urges the intervention of cardiometabolic risk in PsA patients. Due to the involvement of inflammatory pathways on MetS components, the use of DMARDs may be accompanied by a MetS mitigation. This aligns with the EULAR recommendations of keeping a tight disease control and flare prevention in order to achieve a good CV risk management (105). Overall, the current literature is supportive of a therapeutic effect of approved DMARDs on MetS outcomes in PsA populations. However, the whole picture is far from being clear and the existing evidence is not optimal for a robust therapeutic decision making process in PsA. Of note, DMARDs may be doubleedge swords in this scenario. For example, corticosteroids worsen glucose homeostasis, and NSAIDs are associated with an increased CV risk (4). On the contrary, other treatments such as TNFi may decrease the cardiometabolic risk by reducing the underlying inflammatory response in PsA (63, 106). Therefore, the MetS burden may be at the center of the therapeutic decision process, in addition to joint and skin involvement. This is in line with the most recent international recommendations for PsA management, which highlight the relevance of comorbidities to choose the most appropriate drug for each patient and tailor therapeutic approaches in accordance (107–109).

Unfortunately, the evidence on the harmful/beneficial balance effect of the different DMARDs approved for PsA is far from being optimal, and there is a lack of robust evidence to guide these decisions in PsA populations. On the one hand, most of the evidence in terms of CV effects derive from RA and PsO studies. Although similarities between RA and PsA exist (59), significant differences in terms of pathogenesis are present, especially regarding CD4⁺ T-cell involvement, TNF/IL-17 role and participation of the humoral response. More importantly, traditional CV risk factors are overrepresented in PsA compared to RA populations, although CV disease occurrence seems to be higher in the latter, hence pointing to divergent patterns in the inflammation-cardiometabolic risk connection across diseases. Of note, the levels of evidence of the recommendations for CV risk management in PsA is lower than those of RA (105). Taken together, all these lines of evidence emphasize the need for further, well-conducted PsA-specific studies. In fact, in a complex clinical scenario as PsA, a special attention should be paid to the comorbidity-multimorbidity spectrum (3). Multimorbidity could be a novel driving force in improving the disease management by giving a role for the several conditions potentially coexisting in PsA, shifting from a classical "index disease" model to a "multimorbidity centered" scheme. The role of patient preferences and patient-centric concepts is warranted in this setting.

In addition to better studies and comparative trials with the drugs therein reviewed, there is a clear knowledge gap in terms of the clinical effects on the MetS and its components of the approved drugs targeting the IL-17/IL-23 axis in PsA patients. Individual and head-to-head comparative clinical trials are much awaited due to the clinical benefit of these drugs in joint and skin domains in PsA patients. However, to which extent this clinical benefit translates to MetS, CV or multimorbidity outcomes in PsA patients remain unclear. Similarly, whether these drugs may benefit the general PsA population or specific patient subsets represent an important unmet need in this setting. Additionally, it is important to note that the existing evidence came from pharmaco-epidemiological studies, and thus are inherently affected by allocation and confounding by indication biases, which are a key limitation to establish firm recommendations for clinical practice. The need for better design trials and large registries to address this questions is in the research agenda (104).

Besides the effect of DMARDs on MetS outcomes, PsA patients face important rates of underscreening, underdiagnosis, and undertreatment of CV risk factors, including MetS components [reviewed in (59)]. This poses relevant questions in terms of cardiometabolic risk intervention. First, it may be important to ascertain whether the documented effect of DMARDs in the existing studies may be an underestimation of their actual effect due to poor risk factor conventional treatment (anti-hypertensive, lipid-lowering, oral antidiabetic agents, etc.). Second, it may be key to elucidate if DMARDs plus conventional risk factor conventional treatments show potential synergistic effects or if drug-drug interactions should be considered. Third, whether an optimal management of CV risk factors leads to a better disease control by virtue of the bi-directional crosstalk between cardiometabolic and inflammatory pathways remain to be elucidated.

Finally, the role of lifestyle interventions should be considered in future studies and clinical research. EULAR urges the implementation of lifestyle modifications to dampen CV risk

REFERENCES

- Ritchlin CT, Colbert RA, Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:957–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1505557
- Villani AP, Rouzaud M, Sevrain M, Barnetche T, Paul C, Richard M-A, et al. Prevalence of undiagnosed psoriatic arthritis among psoriasis patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2015) 73:242– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2015.05.001
- Lubrano E, Scriffignano S, Perrotta FM. Multimorbidity and comorbidity in psoriatic arthritis – a perspective. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2020) 16:963–72. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2021.1825941
- Karmacharya P, Ogdie A, Eder L. Psoriatic arthritis and the association with cardiometabolic disease: a narrative review. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis.* (2021) 13:1759720X2199827. doi: 10.1177/1759720X219 98279
- Mok CC, Ko GTC, Ho LY, Yu KL, Chan PT, To CH. Prevalence of atherosclerotic risk factors and the metabolic syndrome in patients with chronic inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2011) 63:195– 202. doi: 10.1002/acr.20363
- Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. *Lancet.* (2005) 365:1415–28. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66378-7
- Kassi E, Pervanidou P, Kaltsas G, Chrousos G. Metabolic syndrome: definitions and controversies. *BMC Med.* (2011) 9:48. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-48
- American Heart Association, National Heart, Lung BI, Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, et al. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome. An American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Executive summary. *Cardiol Rev.* (2005) 13:322– 26. doi: 10.1097/01.crd.0000380842.14048.7e
- Husted JA, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V, Eder L, Rosen CF, Cook RJ, et al. Cardiovascular and other comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a comparison with patients with psoriasis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2011) 63:1729–35. doi: 10.1002/acr.20627
- Jafri K, Bartels CM, Shin D, Gelfand JM, Ogdie A. Incidence and management of cardiovascular risk factors in psoriatic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based study. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2017) 69:51–7. doi: 10.1002/acr.23094
- 11. Labitigan M, Bahče-Altuntas A, Kremer JM, Reed G, Greenberg JD, Jordan N, et al. Higher rates and clustering of abnormal lipids, obesity, and diabetes mellitus in psoriatic arthritis compared with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2014) 66:600–7. doi: 10.1002/acr. 22185

factors. Whether these interventions can add to or modulate the effect of DMARDs on the MetS burden needs to be established. With the advancement of the syndemics framework for complex conditions (110, 111), such an approach must be conceived in this scenario.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FA, EG, IF, SB, and JR-C designed and performed the literature search. FA and JR-C drafted the narrative review and edited the manuscript. All authors read the manuscript, revised it for intellectual content, approved the final version, and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

JR-C was supported by European Union FEDER funds and Fondo de Investigación Sanitaria (PI16/00113) from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII).

- Loganathan A, Kamalaraj N, El-Haddad C, Pile K. Systematic review and meta-analysis on prevalence of metabolic syndrome in psoriatic arthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2021). doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.14147. [Epub ahead of print].
- Raychaudhuri SK, Chatterjee S, Nguyen C, Kaur M, Jialal I, Raychaudhuri SP. Increased prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. (2010) 8:331–34. doi: 10.1089/met.2009.0124
- Moore JX, Chaudhary N, Akinyemiju T. Metabolic syndrome prevalence by race/ethnicity and sex in the United States, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–2012. Prev Chronic Dis. (2017) 14:160287. doi: 10.5888/pcd14.160287
- Kristensen LE, Jørgensen TS, Christensen R, Gudbergsen H, Dreyer L, Ballegaard C, et al. Societal costs and patients' experience of health inequities before and after diagnosis of psoriatic arthritis: a Danish cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:1495–501. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-210579
- Scher JU, Ogdie A, Merola JF, Ritchlin C. Preventing psoriatic arthritis: focusing on patients with psoriasis at increased risk of transition. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2019) 15:153–66. doi: 10.1038/s41584-019-0175-0
- Polachek A, Touma Z, Anderson M, Eder L. Risk of cardiovascular morbidity in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2017) 69:67–74. doi: 10.1002/acr.22926
- Jamnitski A, Symmons D, Peters MJL, Sattar N, McInnes I, McInnes I, et al. Cardiovascular comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2013) 72:211–6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-201194
- Lin YC, Dalal D, Churton S, Brennan DM, Korman NJ, Kim ESH, et al. Relationship between metabolic syndrome and carotid intimamedia thickness: cross-sectional comparison between psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2014) 66:97–103. doi: 10.1002/acr.22144
- Eder L, Chandran V, Cook R, Gladman DD. The risk of developing diabetes mellitus in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a cohort study. J Rheumatol. (2017) 44:286–91. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.160861
- Dubreuil M, Rho YH, Man A, Zhu Y, Zhang Y, Love TJ, et al. Diabetes incidence in psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis: a UK population-based cohort study. *Rheumatology*. (2014) 53:346– 52. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ket343
- Dreiher J, Freud T, Cohen AD. Psoriatic arthritis and diabetes: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Dermatol Res Pract.* (2013) 2013:1– 7. doi: 10.1155/2013/580404
- 23. Boehncke S, Salgo R, Garbaraviciene J, Beschmann H, Hardt K, Diehl S, et al. Effective continuous systemic therapy of severe plaque-type psoriasis
is accompanied by amelioration of biomarkers of cardiovascular risk: results of a prospective longitudinal observational study. *J Eur Acad Dermatology Venereol.* (2011) 25:1187–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2010.03947.x

- Coto-Segura P, Eiris-Salvado N, González-Lara L, Queiro-Silva R, Martinez-Camblor P, Maldonado-Seral C, et al. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Dermatol.* (2013) 169:783–93. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12473
- Kibari A, Cohen AD, Gazitt T, Bitterman H, Lavi I, Feldhamer I, et al. Cardiac and cardiovascular morbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a population-based case control study. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2019) 38:2069– 75. doi: 10.1007/s10067-019-04528-y
- Queiro R, Lorenzo A, Tejón P, Coto P, Pardo E. Obesity in psoriatic arthritis. Medicine. (2019) 98:e16400. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000016400
- Radner H, Lesperance T, Accortt NA, Solomon DH. Incidence and prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors among patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, or psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2017) 69:1510– 8. doi: 10.1002/acr.23171
- Duan X, Liu J, Mu Y, Liu T, Chen Y, Yu R, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between psoriasis and hypertension with adjustment for covariates. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e19303. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000019303
- Han C, Robinson DW, Hackett MV, Paramore LC, Fraeman KH, Bala MV. Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, and ankylosing spondylitis. *J Rheumatol.* (2006) 33:2167–72.
- Su Y-J. Early diagnosis of psoriatic arthritis among psoriasis patients: clinical experience sharing. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2020) 39:3677-84. doi: 10.1007/s10067-020-05132-1
- Robertson J, Peters MJ, McInnes IB, Sattar N. Changes in lipid levels with inflammation and therapy in RA: a maturing paradigm. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2013) 9:513–23. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2013.91
- Choy E, Sattar N. Interpreting lipid levels in the context of high-grade inflammatory states with a focus on rheumatoid arthritis: a challenge to conventional cardiovascular risk actions. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2009) 68:460– 9. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.101964
- 33. Myasoedova E, Crowson CS, Kremers HM, Roger VL, Fitz-Gibbon PD, Therneau TM, et al. Lipid paradox in rheumatoid arthritis: the impact of serum lipid measures and systemic inflammation on the risk of cardiovascular disease. Ann Rheum Dis. (2011) 70:482–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2010.135871
- Jones SM, Harris CP, Lloyd J, Stirling CA, Reckless JP, McHugh NJ. Lipoproteins and their subfractions in psoriatic arthritis: identification of an atherogenic profile with active joint disease. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2000) 59:904–9. doi: 10.1136/ard.59.11.904
- Eder L, Zisman D, Barzilai M, Laor A, Rahat M, Rozenbaum M, et al. Subclinical atherosclerosis in psoriatic arthritis: a case-control study. J Rheumatol. (2008) 35:877–82. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.080314
- 36. Gonzalez-juanatey C, Llorca J, Amigo-Diaz E, Dierssen T, Martin J, Gonzalez-Gay MA. High prevalence of subclinical atherosclerosis in psoriatic arthritis patients without clinically evident cardiovascular disease or classic atherosclerosis risk factors. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2007) 57:1074– 80. doi: 10.1002/art.22884
- Tam L-S, Shang Q, Li EK, Tomlinson B, Chu TTW, Li M, et al. Subclinical carotid atherosclerosis in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2008) 59:1322–31. doi: 10.1002/art.24014
- Tam L-S, Tomlinson B, Chu TT-W, Li M, Leung Y-Y, Kwok L-W, et al. Cardiovascular risk profile of patients with psoriatic arthritis compared to controls-the role of inflammation. *Rheumatology.* (2008) 47:718– 23. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ken090
- Ernste FC, Sánchez-Menéndez M, Wilton KM, Crowson CS, Matteson EL, Maradit Kremers H. Cardiovascular risk profile at the onset of psoriatic arthritis: a population-based cohort study. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2015) 67:1015–21. doi: 10.1002/acr.22536
- Ogdie A, Yu Y, Haynes K, Love TJ, Maliha S, Jiang Y, et al. Risk of major cardiovascular events in patients with psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:326–32. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205675

- Armstrong AW, Harskamp CT, Armstrong EJ. The association between psoriasis and obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutr Diabetes*. (2012) 2:e54. doi: 10.1038/nutd.2012.26
- Eder L, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V, Cook RJ, Gladman DD. Obesity is associated with a lower probability of achieving sustained minimal disease activity state among patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:813–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204448
- Eder L, Haddad A, Rosen CF, Lee K-A, Chandran V, Cook R, et al. The incidence and risk factors for psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis: a prospective cohort study. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2016) 68:915– 23. doi: 10.1002/art.39494
- 44. Jon Love T, Zhu Y, Zhang Y, Wall-Burns L, Ogdie A, Gelfand JM, et al. Obesity and the risk of psoriatic arthritis: a population-based study. Ann Rheum Dis. (2012) 71:1273–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201299
- Li W, Han J, Qureshi AA. Obesity and risk of incident psoriatic arthritis in US women. Ann Rheum Dis. (2012) 71:1267-72. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-201273
- Egeberg A, Sørensen JA, Gislason GH, Knop FK, Skov L. Incidence and prognosis of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in patients undergoing bariatric surgery. *JAMA Surg.* (2017) 152:344. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2016.4610
- Maglio C, Peltonen M, Rudin A, Carlsson LMS. Bariatric surgery and the incidence of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in the swedish obese subjects study. *Obesity*. (2017) 25:2068–73. doi: 10.1002/oby.21955
- Mahil SK, McSweeney SM, Kloczko E, McGowan B, Barker JN, Smith CH. Does weight loss reduce the severity and incidence of psoriasis or psoriatic arthritis? A critically appraised topic. *Br J Dermatol.* (2019) 181:946– 53. doi: 10.1111/bjd.17741
- Haroon M, Gallagher P, Heffernan E, FitzGerald O. High prevalence of metabolic syndrome and of insulin resistance in psoriatic arthritis is associated with the severity of underlying disease. *J Rheumatol.* (2014) 41:1357–65. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.140021
- Gelfand JM, Yeung H. Metabolic syndrome in patients with psoriatic disease. J Rheumatol Suppl. (2012) 89:24–8. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.120237
- George MD, Giles JT, Katz PP, England BR, Mikuls TR, Michaud K, et al. Impact of obesity and adiposity on inflammatory markers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2017) 69:1789– 98. doi: 10.1002/acr.23229
- 52. Costa L, Caso F, Ramonda R, Del Puente A, Cantarini L, Darda MA, et al. Metabolic syndrome and its relationship with the achievement of minimal disease activity state in psoriatic arthritis patients: an observational study. *Immunol Res.* (2015) 61:147–53. doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8595-z
- Walsh JA, Wan MT, Willinger C, Husni ME, Scher JU, Reddy SM, et al. Measuring Outcomes in Psoriatic Arthritis: Comparing Routine Assessment of Patient Index Data and Psoriatic Arthritis Impact of Disease. *J Rheumatol.* (2020) 47:1496–505. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.190219
- 54. Højgaard P, Glintborg B, Kristensen LE, Gudbjornsson B, Love TJ, Dreyer L. The influence of obesity on response to tumour necrosis factor-α inhibitors in psoriatic arthritis: results from the DANBIO and ICEBIO registries. *Rheumatology*. (2016) 55:2191–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew326
- 55. Szentpetery A, Healy GM, Brady D, Haroon M, Gallagher P, Redmond CE, et al. Higher coronary plaque burden in psoriatic arthritis is independent of metabolic syndrome and associated with underlying disease severity. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2018) 70:396–407. doi: 10.1002/art.40389
- Kimhi O, Caspi D, Bornstein NM, Maharshak N, Gur A, Arbel Y, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of atherosclerosis in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2007) 36:203–9. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2006.09.001
- Eder L, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V, Cook R, Gladman DD. Increased burden of inflammation over time is associated with the extent of atherosclerotic plaques in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:1830–5. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205267
- Eder L, Wu Y, Chandran V, Cook R, Gladman DD. Incidence and predictors for cardiovascular events in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2016) 75:1680–6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-207980
- Ferguson LD, Siebert S, McInnes IB, Sattar N. Cardiometabolic comorbidities in RA and PsA: lessons learned and future directions. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2019) 15:461–74. doi: 10.1038/s41584-019-0256-0

- Cheng IT, Li EK, Wong PC, Law MY, Yim IC, Lai BT, et al. Treat to target and prevention of subclinical atherosclerosis in psoriatic arthritis—which target should we choose? *Rheumatology*. (2020) 59:2881– 92. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa025
- 61. Cheng IT, Shang Q, Li EK, Wong PC, Kun EW, Law MY, et al. Effect of achieving minimal disease activity on the progression of subclinical atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness: a prospective cohort study in psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2019) 71:271–80. doi: 10.1002/art.40695
- 62. Lam SHM, Cheng IT, Li EK, Wong P, Lee J, Yip RM-L, et al. DAPSA, carotid plaque and cardiovascular events in psoriatic arthritis: a longitudinal study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:1320–6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217595
- 63. Roubille C, Richer V, Starnino T, McCourt C, McFarlane A, Fleming P, et al. The effects of tumour necrosis factor inhibitors, methotrexate, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and corticosteroids on cardiovascular events in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:480–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206624
- Bălănescu A, Bojincă V, Bojincă M, Donisan T, Bălănescu S. Cardiovascular effects of methotrexate in immune-mediated inflammatory diseases (Review). Exp Ther Med. (2018) 17:1024–9. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.6992
- 65. Dehpouri T, Rahmatpour Rokni G, Ahangar Narenjbon N, Goldust M, Yamauchi PS, Wollina U, et al. Evaluation of the glycemic effect of methotrexate in psoriatic arthritis patients with metabolic syndrome: a pilot study. *Dermatol Rep.* (2019) 11:7965. doi: 10.4081/dr.2019.7965
- 66. Deyab G, Hokstad I, Whist JE, Smastuen MC, Agewall S, Lyberg T, et al. Methotrexate and anti-tumor necrosis factor treatment improves endothelial function in patients with inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2017) 19:232. doi: 10.1186/s13075-017-1439-1
- 67. Singh S, Facciorusso A, Singh AG, Casteele NV, Zarrinpar A, Prokop LJ, et al. Obesity and response to anti-tumor necrosis factor- α agents in patients with select immune-mediated inflammatory diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0195123. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195123
- Ogdie A, Palmer JL, Greenberg J, Curtis JR, Harrold LR, Solomon DH, et al. Predictors of achieving remission among patients with psoriatic arthritis initiating a tumor necrosis factor inhibitor. *J Rheumatol.* (2019) 46:475– 82. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.171034
- Iervolino S, Di Minno MND, Peluso R, Lofrano M, Russolillo A, Di Minno G, et al. Predictors of early minimal disease activity in patients with psoriatic arthritis treated with tumor necrosis factor-α blockers. *J Rheumatol.* (2012) 39:568–73. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.110763
- Di Minno MND, Iervolino S, Peluso R, Scarpa R, Di Minno G. Carotid intima-media thickness in psoriatic arthritis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2011) 31:705–12. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.214585
- Ortolan A, Ramonda R, Lorenzin M, Pesavento R, Spinazzè A, Felicetti M, et al. Subclinical atherosclerosis evolution during 5 years of anti-TNF-alpha treatment in psoriatic arthritis patients. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2021) 39:158–61.
- Solomon DH. Association between disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs and diabetes risk in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis. *JAMA*. (2011) 305:2525. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.878
- Prignano F, Ricceri F, Pescitelli L, Buggiani G, Troiano M, Zanieri F, et al. Comparison of body weight and clinical-parameter changes following the treatment of plaque psoriasis with biological therapies. *Curr Med Res Opin*. (2009) 25:2311–6. doi: 10.1185/03007990903162465
- Solomon DH, Love TJ, Canning C, Schneeweiss S. Risk of diabetes among patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2010) 69:2114–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.125476
- 75. Costa L, Caso F, Atteno M, Del Puente A, Darda MA, Caso P, et al. Impact of 24-month treatment with etanercept, adalimumab, or methotrexate on metabolic syndrome components in a cohort of 210 psoriatic arthritis patients. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2013) 33:833–9. doi: 10.1007/s10067-013-2369-1
- Sattar N, Crompton P, Cherry L, Kane D, Lowe G, McInnes IB. Effects of tumor necrosis factor blockade on cardiovascular risk factors in psoriatic arthritis: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2007) 56:831–9. doi: 10.1002/art.22447
- 77. Egeberg A, Gisondi P, Carrascosa JM, Warren RB, Mrowietz U. The role of the interleukin-23/Th17 pathway in cardiometabolic comorbidity

associated with psoriasis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. (2020) 34:1695-706. doi: 10.1111/jdv.16273

- Pantano I, Iacono D, Favalli EG, Scalise G, Costa L, Caso F, et al. Secukinumab efficacy in patients with PsA is not dependent on patients' body mass index. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020). doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217251. [Epub ahead of print].
- Gong F, Liu Z, Liu J, Zhou P, Liu Y, Lu X. The paradoxical role of IL-17 in atherosclerosis. *Cell Immunol.* (2015) 297:33– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.05.007
- Taleb S, Tedgui A. IL-17 in atherosclerosis: the good and the bad. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2018) 114:7–9. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx225
- Reich K, Papp KA, Armstrong AW, Wasfi Y, Li S, Shen YK, et al. Safety of guselkumab in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis treated through 100 weeks: a pooled analysis from the randomized VOYAGE 1 and VOYAGE 2 studies. *Br J Dermatol.* (2019) 180:1039–49. doi: 10.1111/bjd.17454
- 82. van de Kerkhof PCM, Griffiths CEM, Reich K, Leonardi CL, Blauvelt A, Tsai T-F, et al. Secukinumab long-term safety experience: a pooled analysis of 10 phase II and III clinical studies in patients with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2016) 75:83–98.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2016.03.024
- Bagel J. Treatment strategies, management of comorbidities, and the role of IL-23 inhibitors in moderate to severe psoriasis. *Am J Manag Care.* (2021) 27:S203–8. doi: 10.37765/ajmc.2021.88675
- Menter MA, Mehta NN, Lebwohl MG, Gottlieb AB, Mendelsohn AM, Rozzo SJ, et al. The effect of tildrakizumab on cardiometabolic risk factors in psoriasis by metabolic syndrome status: post hoc analysis of two phase 3 trials (ReSURFACE 1 and ReSURFACE 2). J Drugs Dermatol. (2020) 19:703–8. doi: 10.36849/JDD.2020.5337
- McGonagle DG, McInnes IB, Kirkham BW, Sherlock J, Moots R. The role of IL-17A in axial spondyloarthritis and psoriatic arthritis: recent advances and controversies. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2019) 78:1167– 78. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-215356
- Taams LS. Interleukin-17 in rheumatoid arthritis: Trials and tribulations. J Exp Med. (2020) 217:e20192048. doi: 10.1084/jem.20192048
- Martins LMS, Perez MM, Pereira CA, Costa FRC, Dias MS, Tostes RC, et al. Interleukin-23 promotes intestinal T helper type17 immunity and ameliorates obesity-associated metabolic syndrome in a murine high-fat diet model. *Immunology*. (2018) 154:624–36. doi: 10.1111/imm.12946
- Ohata C, Ohyama B, Kuwahara F, Katayama E, Nakama T. Realworld data on the efficacy and safety of apremilast in Japanese patients with plaque psoriasis. J Dermatolog Treat. (2019) 30:383– 6. doi: 10.1080/09546634.2018.1525480
- Wu C, Rajagopalan S. Phosphodiesterase-4 inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for metabolic disorders. *Obes Rev.* (2016) 17:429–41. doi: 10.1111/obr.12385
- Gooderham M, Papp K. Selective phosphodiesterase inhibitors for psoriasis: focus on apremilast. *BioDrugs*. (2015) 29:327– 39. doi: 10.1007/s40259-015-0144-3
- 91. Barbarroja N, Arias de la Rosa I, de la Rosa-Garrido M, Perez-Sanchez C, Abalos-Aguilera M, Ruiz-Ponce M, et al. Inflammation, adipokines and endothelial dysfunction in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Relationship with Cardiovascular and Metabolic Comorbidities. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2018) 70(suppl 10).
- 92. Arias De La Rosa I, López-Montilla MD, Pérez-Sánchez C, Ábalos-Aguilera MDC, Ruiz-Ponce M, Jiménez-Gómez Y, Escudero A, et al. SAT0331 Inflammatory Markers and Adipokines Related to Cardiovascular Risk and Metabolic Comorbidities in Psoriatic Arthritis. In vivo Effects of Apremilast. Amsterdam: BMJ Publishing Group Ltd.; European League Against Rheumatism. (2018). p. 1030.2–31.
- 93. Imam F, Al-Harbi NO, Al-Harbi MM, Ansari MA, Al-Asmari AF, Ansari MN, et al. Apremilast prevent doxorubicin-induced apoptosis and inflammation in heart through inhibition of oxidative stress mediated activation of NF-κB signaling pathways. *Pharmacol Reports*. (2018) 70:993– 1000. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2018.03.009
- Mazzilli S, Lanna C, Chiaramonte C, Cesaroni GM, Zangrilli A, Palumbo V, et al. Real life experience of apremilast in psoriasis and arthritis psoriatic patients: preliminary results on metabolic biomarkers. *J Dermatol.* (2020) 47:578–82. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.15293

- Mease P, Hall S, FitzGerald O, van der Heijde D, Merola JF, Avila-Zapata F, et al. Tofacitinib or adalimumab versus placebo for psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 377:1537–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1615975
- 96. Gladman D, Rigby W, Azevedo VF, Behrens F, Blanco R, Kaszuba A, et al. Tofacitinib for psoriatic arthritis in patients with an inadequate response to TNF inhibitors. N Engl J Med. (2017) 377:1525–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1615977
- Nash P, Coates LC, Kivitz AJ, Mease PJ, Gladman DD, Covarrubias-Cobos JA, et al. Safety and efficacy of tofacitinib in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: interim analysis of OPAL balance, an open-label, long-term extension study. *Rheumatol Ther.* (2020) 7:553–80. doi: 10.1007/s40744-020-00209-4
- 98. Gladman DD, Charles-Schoeman C, McInnes IB, Veale DJ, Thiers B, Nurmohamed M, et al. Changes in lipid levels and incidence of cardiovascular events following tofacitinib treatment in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a pooled analysis across phase III and long-term extension studies. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2019) 71:1387–95. doi: 10.1002/acr.23930
- Ritchlin CT, Giles JT, Ogdie A, Gomez-Reino JJ, Helliwell P, Young P, et al. Tofacitinib in patients with psoriatic arthritis and metabolic syndrome: a post hoc analysis of phase 3 studies. ACR Open Rheumatol. (2020) 2:543– 54. doi: 10.1002/acr2.11166
- 100. Hamaguchi M, Kojima T, Takeda N, Nakagawa T, Taniguchi H, Fujii K, et al. The metabolic syndrome as a predictor of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Ann Intern Med.* (2005) 143:722. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-143-10-200511150-00009
- 101. Boers M. Influence of glucocorticoids and disease activity on total and high density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. (2003) 62:842–5. doi: 10.1136/ard.62.9.842
- 102. Danesh J, Wheeler JG, Hirschfield GM, Eda S, Eiriksdottir G, Rumley A, et al. C-reactive protein and other circulating markers of inflammation in the prediction of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. (2004) 350:1387– 97. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa032804
- Franklin SS, Wong ND. Hypertension and cardiovascular disease: contributions of the framingham heart study. *Glob Heart.* (2013) 8:49. doi: 10.1016/j.gheart.2012.12.004
- 104. Atzeni F, Rodríguez-Carrio J, Popa CD, Nurmohamed MT, Szucs G, Szekanecz Z. Cardiovascular effects of approved drugs for rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2021) 17:270–90. doi: 10.1038/s41584-021-00593-3
- 105. Agca R, Heslinga SC, Rollefstad S, Heslinga M, McInnes IB, Peters MJL, et al. EULAR recommendations for cardiovascular disease risk management in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other forms of

inflammatory joint disorders: 2015/2016 update. Ann Rheum Dis. (2017) 76:17–28. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209775

- 106. Bhala N, Emberson J, Merhi A, Abramson S, Arber N, Baron JA, et al. Vascular and upper gastrointestinal effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: meta-analyses of individual participant data from randomised trials. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:769–79. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60900-9
- Kaushik SB, Lebwohl MG. Psoriasis: which therapy for which patient: psoriasis comorbidities and preferred systemic agents. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2019) 80:27–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.06.057
- Kaushik SB, Lebwohl MG. Psoriasis: which therapy for which patient: focus on special populations and chronic infections. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2019) 80:43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.06.056
- 109. Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, de Wit M, McInnes I, Dougados M, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:700.1–12. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218456
- Nikiphorou E, Lempp H, Kohrt BA. Treatment failure in inflammatory arthritis: time to think about syndemics? *Rheumatology*. (2019) 58:1526– 33. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kez222
- 111. Nikiphorou E, Alpizar-Rodriguez D, Gastelum-Strozzi A, Buch M, Peláez-Ballestas I. Syndemics & syndemogenesis in COVID-19 and rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases: old challenges, new era. *Rheumatology*. (2021) 60:2040–5. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa840

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Atzeni, Gerratana, Francesco Masala, Bongiovanni, Sarzi-Puttini and Rodríguez-Carrio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Managing Psoriatic Arthritis With Inflammatory Bowel Disease and/or Uveitis

Alfred Yu Ting Chia^{1,2}, Gladys Wei Xin Ang², Anita Sook Yee Chan^{1,3}, Webber Chan⁴, Timothy Kit Yeong Chong⁵ and Ying Ying Leung^{1,5*}

¹ Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore, ² Translational Immunology Institute, SingHealth Duke-NUS Academic Medical Centre, Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore, ³ Singapore National Eye Center and Singapore Eye Research Center, Singapore, Singapore, ⁴ Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore, Singapore, ⁶ Department of Rheumatology and Immunology, Singapore General Hospital, Singapore

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory disease that presents with psoriasis (PsO), peripheral and axial arthropathy. The heterogeneity of disease presentation leads to the term "psoriatic disease (PsD)" which is thought to better encompass the range of clinical manifestations. PsA is associated with several comorbidities such as cardiovascular diseases, metabolic syndrome and other extra-articular manifestations including uveitis, and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). While novel therapeutics are being developed following advances in our understanding of the pathogenesis of the disease, the diverse combinations of PsA with its various comorbidities still pose a clinical challenge in managing patients with PsA. This article reviews our current understanding of the pathogenesis of PsA and how various pathways in the pathogenesis lead to the two comorbid extra-articular manifestations – uveitis and IBD. We also review current evidence of treatment strategies in managing patients with PsA with Comorbidities of uveitis and/or IBD.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Reviewed by:

Anabela Barcelos, New University of Lisbon, Portugal Qiang Xu, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, China

> *Correspondence: Ying Ying Leung katyccc@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 06 July 2021 Accepted: 20 August 2021 Published: 16 September 2021

Citation:

Chia AYT, Ang GWX, Chan ASY, Chan W, Chong TKY and Leung YY (2021) Managing Psoriatic Arthritis With Inflammatory Bowel Disease and/or Uveitis. Front. Med. 8:737256. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.737256 Keywords: psoriatic arthritis, uveitis, inflammatory bowel disease, co-morbidity, biologic therapy

INTRODUCTION

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is an inflammatory arthritis associated with psoriasis (PsO) (1). It belongs to the family of spondyloarthritis (SpA) and the musculoskeletal manifestations include peripheral arthritis, dactylitis, enthesitis, and axial arthropathy. The impact of PsA extends beyond skin and joints to disability, fatigue, anxiety, depression, and poor quality of life (2, 3). PsA is associated with comorbidities such as obesity, metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance, and cardiovascular disease (4). The extra-articular manifestations of PsA include inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and uveitis (5). In recent years, there are advancements in therapeutic options to treat musculoskeletal manifestations of PsA (6), but research to understand the pathogenesis of extra-articular manifestations and their treatment options is still in infancy. The purpose of this review is to summarize the current understanding of pathogenesis of PsA and the extra-articular manifestations and their treatment options.

EXTRA-ARTICULAR MANIFESTATIONS

IBD

Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are the two main forms of IBD. CD is characterized by chronic, patchy granulomatous inflammation with skip lesions, affecting any part of the

gastrointestinal tract, especially the terminal ileum and colon. The inflammation is transmural which can lead to fibrosis, stricture, and fistula. In contrast, UC is characterized by continuous mucosal inflammation extending from the rectum proximally toward the colon. Differentiating these two conditions is important as each has diverse prognoses and differential responses to treatment (7). The clinical presentations of IBD include recurrent abdominal pain, bloody diarrhea, and mucus in the stool. Patients with CD can present with intestinal obstruction, recurrent fistulas, and other perianal findings. Systemic symptoms include fatigue, weight loss, fever, and symptoms of anemia. The standardized mortality ratio for CD ranges from 1.2 to 1.9 times the general population (8). The prognosis of IBD has improved in recent decades due to therapeutic advances.

Amongst patients with IBD, extraintestinal manifestations are common, including musculoskeletal (axial and peripheral arthropathy and arthritis), ocular (uveitis, scleritis and episcleritis), and skin. Inflammatory arthropathies are reported up to 40% of patients with IBD (9). While asymptomatic sacroiliitis may be seen in up to three-quarters of IBD patients, the reported prevalence of seronegative SpA ranges from 18– 45%, and ankylosing spondylitis (AS) 3–9.9% (10, 11). Peripheral arthritis is reported in 7–16% of IBD patients. Peripheral arthritis is mainly asymmetrical and oligoarticular, usually acute and occurs during IBD exacerbations, and self-limiting. However, it may also persist for months or years. Its onset usually coincides with or after IBD but may precede IBD. Enthesitis and dactylitis were reported in 2–4% of patients (12).

Amongst patients with SpA, IBD is common (13). Patients with PsO, PsA and AS have a 1-4 fold increased risk of IBD compared to the general population (14-18). Among patients with SpA, 30-42 % have endoscopic (macroscopic) gastrointestinal inflammation (19-22) while 46-58 % have histologic (microscopic) inflammation (20, 21, 23). The presence of macroscopic or microscopic inflammatory lesions poorly correlates with symptoms (19). In patients with axial SpA, the severity of microscopic inflammation was significantly associated with severity of bone marrow edema on magnetic resonance imaging, indicating a link between mucosal inflammation and progressive disease (24). These subclinical gastrointestinal inflammatory lesions may predispose SpA patients to develop IBD, with a lifetime IBD risk of between 4-8% (25-28). Among patients with PsO and PsA, IBD is more common in patients with more severe PsA (29). IBD is also more common in patients with axial-PsA than in those with peripheral-only PsA (30).

Uveitis

Uveitis is the inflammation of the uveal tract of the eye which comprises of the iris, ciliary body, and choroid. Adjacent structures including retina, optic nerve, vitreous, and sclera may also be affected. Clinically, uveitis is categorized anatomically – anterior, intermediate, posterior, or panuveitis (31). There is an increased association of ocular manifestations amongst patients with PsD (32, 33). Other presentations like vitritis, retinal vasculitis, and cystoid macular edema involving the posterior chamber are sight-threatening (34, 35). The prevalence of uveitis

increases with disease duration, lifelong prevalence is over 40%. Among patients with SpA, acute anterior uveitis (AAU) is most common (26) and its prevalence varied with the type of SpA: 33% in AS; 37% in IBD-associated arthritis; 26% in reactive arthritis; 25% in PsA; and 13% in undifferentiated SpA (36, 37). In both Asian and Western populations, uveitis is common in patients with severe PsO and those with PsA (38, 39). Uveitis in SpA usually presents with a 'unilateral alternating' pattern, sudden in onset, confined to the anterior chamber, and completely resolves between episodes (40). In contrast, uveitis in PsA is insidious in onset, bilateral with a chronic relapsing course. PsA patients with both uveitis and axial arthropathy tend to be male and HLA-B*27 positive (41, 42). HLA-DR*13 positivity is also associated with uveitis in patients with PsA (43). Uveitis may also precede the development of PsA in patients with PsO (44).

PATHOGENESIS

Pathogenesis of PsA

A combination of genetic and environmental factors contributes to pathogenesis of PsA (Figure 1). Genetic component in PsA is strong (45). HLA class I alleles such as HLA-B*27:05:02 haplotype is widely reported to be positively associated with enthesitis, dactylitis, and sacroiliitis while the HLA-B*08:01:01-HLA-C*07:01:01 haplotype is positively associated with joint fusion, deformity and asymmetrical sacroiliitis. In contrast, the B*44:03:01-C*16:01:01 haplotype may be protective against enthesitis (46). Additional HLA haplotypes associated with susceptibility to PsA were HLA-B*38, and HLA-B*39 (47-51). Non-HLA PsA susceptibility loci related to inflammatory pathways have been implicated. IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) polymorphisms are associated with risk of PsA (52). Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 3-interacting protein 2 (TRAF3IP2), encoding nuclear factor-кВ (NFкB) activator protein 1 (Act1) which is an adaptor protein for interleukin-17 (IL-17) receptor (53-55), IL-23A, IL-12B, and TYK2 (Tyrosine Kinase 2) are other examples, highlighting the importance of IL-23/IL-17 axis in the pathogenesis of PsA (56).

In a genetically predisposed individual, environmental factors including mechanical stress may trigger enthesitis - a hallmark clinical presentation of SpA including PsA (57, 58). Mechanical stress and trauma release damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), triggering the production of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (59) by resident mesenchymal cells, which recruit innate immune cells to perpetuate inflammation. PGE2 also induces T cell secretion of IL-17, a key driver in PsA pathogenesis (58, 60). Innate immune cells such as dendritic cells (DCs), monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) corroborate with adaptive immune cells to perpetuate inflammation in PsA (61). Additionally, plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) infiltrate the synovium to act as antigen presenting cells (APCs), triggering downstream expression of TNF- α , IFNy, and IL-2 from CD68+ macrophage-like-synoviocytes that mediate synovial inflammation and bone erosions (62, 63). TNFa synergizes with DCs to activate and polarize Th17 cells (64). In addition to Th17 cells, type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) (65, 66), mucosal-associated variant T (MAIT) cells (67, 68), and



FIGURE 1 The interplay of genetic, immune, and other factors results in inflammation of the various domains - skin, joints, gut, and eye - in PsD. Common genetic associations (highlighted in red) can be found amongst the three manifestations. Gut dysbiosis is thought to contribute to the pathogenesis for the three manifestations by leakage of bacterial antigen into systemic circulation thereby resulting in inflammation and/or trafficking of immune subsets to and from the GI mucosa and other sites. In PsA enthesitis and uveitis, mechanical stress triggers the release of PGE2, resulting in the recruitment and activation of innate immune cells (DC, neutrophils, macrophages, ILC like type 3 ILC, MAIT cells, γδ T cells) which perpetuate inflammation. Furthermore, these innate cells secrete cytokines, notably IL-23, which polarize and maintain Th17 cells which are central to the IL-23/IL-17 axis which is believed to be important in the pathogenesis of PSD. HLA, human leukocyte antigen; *IL*-23*R*, interleukin-23 receptor; *IL*-23*A*, interleukin-23A; *IL*-12*B*, interleukin-12B; *TRAF3IP2*, tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 3 characting protein 2; *TYK2*, tyrosine kinase 2; *NOD2*, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2; *STAT3*, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; *CARD9*, caspase recruitment domain family Member 9; *TN/F*, tumor necrosis factor; *MICA*, major histocompatibility complex class I chain-related gene A; *KIR*, killer immunoglobulin receptor; DC, dendritic cell; ILC, innate lymphoid cell; MAIT, mucosal-associated invariant T cell; Th17, T helper 17 cell; IL-17, interleukin-12; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; IFN-γ, interferon gamma. Created with BioRender.com.

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells (69) are recruited to the synovium and produce IL-17A upon stimulation (70). In short, the IL-23/IL-17 axis is the central driver of inflammation in PsA (71–75).

Pathogenesis of IBD

Genetic predisposition increases the risk of developing IBD amongst patients with PsA and SpA. HLA-B27 is the major HLA

associated with IBD risk. 25–78% of patients with AS and IBD are HLA-B27 positive (9, 76, 77). HLA-DRB1*01:03 is also common between AS and IBD (76, 78–80). Non-HLA polymorphisms such as nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (*NOD2*) polymorphisms increase the risk of CD about 4–40 times and is associated with sacroiliitis amongst patients with IBD. NOD2, an intracellular receptor expressed by immune

and intestinal cells, is involved in the activation of NF κ B and inducing pro-inflammatory genes in innate immune cells (81– 85). *IL-23R* polymorphisms modify susceptibility to IBD, where a loss-of-function mutation may have protective effect against IBD (86). Polymorphisms in genes related to the IL-23/IL-17 axis such as *IL-12B*, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (*STAT3*), and caspase recruitment domain family member 9 (*CARD9*) are associated with CD (87). Once again, this highlights the IL-23/IL-17 axis as a major pathogenetic pathway for IBD manifestations in patients with PsA.

The microbiome plays an important role in gastrointestinal health, and dysbiosis of the microbiota is observed in patients with IBD. Microbiota in IBD patients is less diverse compared to healthy controls. Gastrointestinal bacteria may invade the sterile inner colonic adherent mucus layer, disrupt epithelial architecture, and allow leakage of bacterial antigen into the systemic circulation to induce and perpetuate inflammation (88-90). A "gut-joint axis" has been proposed where immune cells traffic between the two domains (91, 92). Fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) has shown promising results in the treatment of UC in a Cochrane Database systematic review (93). Positive clinical outcomes are associated with higher dosage and delivery of FMT via lower gastrointestinal tract (94), and may be dependent on stool donor (95). However, a recent RCT on FMT in 31 patients with active PsA randomized to FMT vs. sham treatment was not efficacious for arthritis (96). Further study is required.

In patients with IBD, the number of IL-17-secreting MAIT cells (97), was increased in the gastrointestinal tract as compared to the peripheral blood, echoing PsA studies showing depleted MAIT cells in blood, and increased MAIT cells in inflamed synovia and psoriatic skin (67, 68). $\gamma\delta$ T cells are found in colonic mucosa and represent around 40% of intraepithelial lymphocytes (98). In contrast to PsA, the presence of $\gamma\delta$ T cells appears to be protective and anti-inflammatory in patients with IBD. Different subtypes of $\gamma\delta$ T cells may behave differently in different cytokine environments, explaining the diverse observations of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in PsA and IBD (99, 100). As with PsA, Th17 cells are major players in IBD (101). The chemokine receptor CCR6 is the main surface marker of the Th17 lineage. CCL20, a ligand for CCR6, is elevated in IBD gut epithelium and likely contributes to recruitment of CCR6+ type 3 ILC, Th17, and dendritic cells (102, 103). Due to high levels of IL-17 and IL-23 in IBD gut epithelia, the IL-23/IL-17 pathway was thought to be a therapeutic target (104-106). However IL-23 inhibition showed efficacy in patients with IBD but IL-17 inhibition lead to disease exacerbation (107). A possible explanation for this paradox is that IL-17 plays a role in maintaining intestinal barrier and microbial defense (108-110).

Pathogenesis of Uveitis

The HLA-B*27 is associated with increased risk of AAU (111), and is a common risk locus for PsA (and other SpA) and uveitis (112). HLA haplotypes such as HLA-A*02 (113), HLA-DRB1*08-03 (114), HLA-B*58 (115) were also associated with development of uveitis. Other non-HLA susceptibility loci are major histocompatibility complex class I chain-related gene A (*MICA*) (116, 117), IL-10 (118), *TNF* (119), killer

immunoglobulin receptor (*KIR*) (120), and polymorphisms in *IL-23R*, which all participate in immune response (121). Nonetheless, positive risk polymorphisms do not necessarily translate to uveitis. Other environmental and undiscovered factors are likely required to initiate uveitis in patients with SpA.

The eye is an immunologically privileged organ with a local inhibitory microenvironment, entailing immune ignorance and tolerance to prevent inflammation. The blood-retina barrier and absence of efferent lymphatics reduces exposure of the eye to the circulating immune system (122). In uveitis, infiltration of immune cells into the eve and disrupts the immunologically quiescent environment. However, the trigger of this infiltration is undetermined (123). Some evidence implicates the perturbation of the gut microbiome to SpA-associated uveitis. Animal studies demonstrated trafficking of leucocytes from intestine to eye, supporting the concept of a gut-eye axis (124). Further evidence from retina-specific TCR transgenic mice reared under germfree conditions showed that the severity of uveitis was reduced in the absence of gut microbiota. This reduction of severity was associated with a reduction in Th17 cells in the lamina propria of the intestine. Reconstitution of gut microbiota increased retinaspecific T cell signaling (125). McGonagle et. al (2015) proposed that anterior uveal structures are analogous to entheses due to their mechanical and structural roles in lens suspension. The repeated contractions and relaxations of these structures expose them to mechanical stress just like musculoskeletal entheses, thus providing the initial stimuli for inflammation (126). Like entheseal mesenchymal cells in enthesitis, cells in ciliary body express IL-23R, suggesting receptiveness to IL-23 signaling (127). In patients with uveitis, serum IL-17A levels were elevated during active disease (128). Association between Th17 and the development of uveitis has been observed in animal and clinical studies highlighting the importance of the IL-23/IL-17 axis in driving inflammation in PsA and uveitis (129-132). However, clinical trials have yet to demonstrate the efficacy of IL-17 inhibition in uveitis (133).

MANAGEMENT OF EXTRA-ARTICULAR MANIFESTATIONS IN PSA

Therapeutic advances in the last decade for PsA and PsO have improved quality of life of many. The European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) developed algorithm treatment recommendations for the musculoskeletal manifestations of PsA (134). However, patients who have co-existing nonmusculoskeletal manifestations such as IBD and uveitis pose a clinical challenge. The Group for Research and Assessment of Psoriasis and Psoriatic Arthritis (GRAPPA) recommendation guideline highlighted a domain-driven approach focused on peripheral, axial, dactylitis, enthesitis, skin and nails (135, 136). The evidence for optimal treatment options for extra-articular manifestations in PsA is lacking and relies on evidence built in the fields of IBD and uveitis as independent conditions. Regardless of domains, the treatment goals are moving toward achieving low or minimal disease activity. Although some treatment options are common across the different domains, the doses may be different.

TABLE 1 | Therapeutic options and common dosing regimen for PsD and extra-articular manifestations.

Drug class	Agents			Dosage for domains		
		Peripheral arthritis	Axial arthritis	Psoriasis	IBD	Uveitis
Corticosteroid		 Intra-articular corticosteroid injection as indicated Systemic corticosteroid to be avoided 	- No indication	 Topical corticosteroid Systemic corticosteroid to be avoided 	 Induction: corticosteroid short tapering course Maintenance: not indicated 	 Corticosteroid eye drops tapering course Periocular corticosteroid injections or intravitreal implants Systemic corticosteroid for sight-threatening disease
Immune-modulator	Methotrexate Sulfasalazine Leflunomide Cyclosporin Thiopurines	 MTX 10–25 mg QW, PO SSZ 500 mg-3g/day, PO LEF 10–20 mg OM, PO CyA 2.5-4 mg/kg/day, PO 	- Not effective	- MTX 10–25 mg QW, PO - CyA 2.5–5 mg/kg/day, PO	 5-ASA (UC): 1.5–4.5 g/day, PO MTX 25 mg QW, SC or IM SSZ 3–4 g/day, PO AZA 2.5 mg/kg, PO 	- MTX 7.5–20 mg QW, PO - SSZ 3–4 g/day, PO
TNFI	Infliximab	 5–10 mg/kg loading at W0, 2 and 6, IV then Q6–8W, IV 	 5–10 mg/kg loading at W0, 2 and 6, IV then Q6–8W, IV 	 5–10 mg/kg loading at W0, 2 and 6, IV then Q8W, IV 	 Induction (CD/UC): 5–10 mg/kg loading at W0, 2 and 6, IV Maintenance (CD/UC): 5–10 mg/kg Q8W, IV 	Off label use - Induction: 4 to 6 mg/kg at W0, 2, 6, then Q4W until clinical remission, IV - Maintenance: 5 mg/kg Q10–12W, IV
	Adalimumab	- 40 mg Q2W, SC	- 40 mg Q2W, SC	- 40 mg Q2W, SC	 160 mg or 80 mg at W0, then 80 mg at W2, then 40 mg Q2W, SC 	- 40 mg Q2W, SC
	Etanercept	- 50 mg QW to BIW, SC*	- 50 mg QW, SC	 50 mg BIW for 3 months, then 50 mg QW, SC* 	- 25 mg BIW, SC*	- No indication
	Golimumab	 50 mg Q4W, SC Or 100 mg Q4W, SC if BW >100 kg Alternative IV formulation at 2 mg/kg at W0 and W4, then Q8W 	- 50 mg Q4W, SC	Off label use - Not primary approved for Psoriasis	 Induction (CD/UC): 200 mg at W0, then 100 mg at W2 Maintenance (CD/UC): 100 mg Q4W 	- Off label use
	Certolizumab	 400 mg at W0, 2 and 4, then 200 mg Q2W, SC 400 mg Q4W, SC can be considered for maintenance 	 400 mg at W0, 2 and 4, then 200 mg Q2W, SC 400 mg Q4W, SC can be considered for maintenance 	 400 mg Q2W, SC For BW < 90 kg, can consider 400 mg at W0, 2 and 4, then 200 mg Q2W, SC 	 Induction (CD/UC): 400 mg at W0, 2, 4, SC Maintenance (CD/UC): 400 mg Q4W, SC 	 Ongoing phase III trial, promising preliminary data 400 mg at W0, 2, 4; then 200 mg Q2W
IL-17i	Secukinumab	 Loading 150 mg QW for 5 doses, then monthly, SC (300 mg if TNFi experienced) 	- Loading 150 mg QW for 5 doses, then monthly, SC	- Loading 300 mg QW for 5 doses, then monthly, SC	 (CD) no difference compared to placebo, more adverse events, not indicated 	Failure in 3 RCTsHigher dose is superior to lower dosesNo indication
	Ixekizumab	- Loading 160 mg once, then 80 mg monthly, SC	- Loading 160 mg once, then 80 mg monthly, SC	 160 mg at W0, then 80 mg at W2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12, then 80 mg Q4W, SC 	- No study, no indication	- No study, no indication

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Drug class	Agents			Dosage for domains		
		Peripheral arthritis	Axial arthritis	Psoriasis	IBD	Uveitis
IL-12/23i	Ustekinumab	 45 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then Q12W 90 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then Q12W if BW>100 kg 	- No indication	 45 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then Q12W 90 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then Q12W if BW>100 kg 	 Induction: single weight-based dose (<55 kg, 260 mg, 55–85 kg, 390 mg, >85 kg 520 mg), IV Maintenance: 90 mg Q8W, SC 	- Ongoing phase 2 trials
IL-23i	Guselkumab	 Loading 100 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then 100 mg Q8W, SC 	- No indication	 Loading 100 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then 100 mg Q8W, SC 	- Ongoing phase II/III RCTs	- No study, no indicatior
	Risankizumab	- 150 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then Q12W, SC	 No difference compared to placebo, no indicated 	- 150 mg Q4W for 2 doses, then Q12W, SC	 Ongoing phase III studies in CD Induction (CD): 600 mg or 1200 mg once, IV Maintenance (CD): 600 mg or 1200 mg Q12W, SC 	 No study, no indicatior
$\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin inhibitor	Vedolizumab	- No indication	- No indication	- No indication	 Induction (CD/UC): 300 mg at W0, 2, and 6, IV Maintenance (CD/UC): 300 mg Q8W, IV 	- No indication
JAKi	Tofacitinib	- 5 mg BD, PO	- 5 mg BD, PO	- 10mg BD, PO	 Induction (UC only): 10 mg BD for at least 8 weeks; PO Maintenance (UC only): then 5 or 10 mg BD, PO CD: No difference compared to placebo, No indication 	 No study, no indication
	Upadacitinib	- 15 mg OM, PO	- 15 mg OM, PO	- 15 mg OM, PO	- Phase II dose ranging RCT in CD	- No study, no indicatior

*Less favored due to lower efficacy; not yet approved by authorities; 5-ASA, 5-aminosalicylic acid; AZA, azathioprine; BD, two times per day; BIW, twice per week; BW, body weight; CD, Crohn's disease; CyA, cyclosporin A; IL, interleukin; IM, intramuscular; IV, intravenous; OM, daily; PO, per oral; JAKi, Janus kinase inhibitors; LEF, leflunomide; MTX, methotrexate; Q, every; SC, subcutaneous; SSZ, sulfasalazine; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor inhibitors; UC, ulcerative colitis; W, week.

We summarize the usual doses used for various domains in Table 1.

Therapeutic Goals

The treatment targets for patients with IBD are clinical remission, mucosal healing, and restoring quality of life (137, 138). The importance of mucosal healing defined as restitution of the intestinal lining and regression or disappearance of endoscopic lesions has been emphasized. Achievement of this target is associated with reduced risk of relapse, reduced hospitalization rates, steroid-free remission, and resection-free status (139–141). With medical advancements, the need for bowel resection is substantially reduced (142).

Medical Therapies for CD

Corticosteroids can be used to induce clinical remission. It is given either topically as ileal-release budesonide for active mild-to-moderate CD or systemically for moderate-to-severe CD (132). However, systemic corticosteroid should not be used for maintenance (143, 144). Early initiation of corticosteroid-sparing immunomodulators such as azathioprine (AZA), mercaptopurine or methotrexate (MTX) for maintenance should be considered, although the level of evidence supporting efficacy of these drugs is relatively low (144, 145).

Monoclonal antibody targeting $TNF\alpha$ (TNF inhibitors, TNFi) has become the standard of care for patients with moderateto-severe, active CD. Infliximab (IFX), adalimumab (ADA), and certolizumab (CZP) have demonstrated efficacy in inducing remission and maintenance in RCTs, and well supported by meta-analyses (146, 147). We summarized the major RCTs supporting the efficacies of TNFi in IBD Table 2. In a Cochrane Database Systematic review, CD patients who responded to induction by TNFi were more likely to maintain remission at 52 weeks with TNFi compared to placebo (147). Continued treatment with TNFi reduces surgery and hospitalization for CD (168, 169). Combination therapy of IFX with AZA was more efficacious than either agent alone in achieving response, inducing clinical and histological remission (156), suggesting synergistic effect. TNFi appears to be more effective when given at earlier stage of disease, with higher rates of response and remission, than given at later stage of disease (170, 171). Early escalation to TNFi treatment should be considered for patients with extensive disease and poor prognostic factors (144, 145).

Vedolizumab (VZD) is a monoclonal antibody targeting $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin, which reduces lymphocytes trafficking to the gastrointestinal tract by blocking lymphocyte surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$ binding to the mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1). The efficacies of VZD in induction and maintenance in CD have been demonstrated in the GEMINI-2 (172) and GEMINI-3 trials (173) (**Table 1**). In a meta-analysis involving 1716 patients with CD, VZD was more effective than placebo for inducing clinical remission (RR 1.71 [95% confidence interval, CI: 1.25, 2.34], p = 0.0008), and maintaining clinical remission (RR 1.75 (95% CI: 1.25, 2.44), p < 0.001).

Ustekinumab (UST) is an antibody targeting the IL-12/23 p40 subunit. The efficacy of UST in inducing remission in CD has been shown in UNITI-1 and UNITI-2 trials

in patients with inadequate response to TNFi, and without prior TNFi failure, respectively. Responders from both studies were randomized to the IM-UNITI maintenance study and demonstrated significantly higher clinical remission rates [high dose: 53%, P = 0.005; low dose: 49%, P = 0.04] compared to placebo (36%) at week 44 (162). There is no head-to-head study comparing efficacies between TNFi, VZD and UST. The choice of biological treatment is a shared decision between clinician and patient, and according to the individual risk-benefit preferences.

Risankizumab (RZB), an IL-23/p19 inhibitor met the primary remission induction endpoints in CD in two phase III RCTs, ADVANCE (NCT03105128) and MOTIVATE (NCT03104413) (174). Patients in remission from ADVANCE and MOTIVATE were recruited to the Phase III open-label maintenance study, FORTIFY, showing RZB 360 mg every 8 weeks achieved the coprimary endpoints of clinical remission and endoscopic response at 52 weeks (175).

Blocking IL-17, however, has not been effective in CD. In a phase II trial evaluating safety and efficacy of brodalumab (BRO), a monoclonal antibody targeting IL-17 receptor, the primary induction endpoint was not met. The trial was terminated early due to a disproportionate number of cases of worsening CD (160). In a phase II RCT, two doses of 10 mg/kg secukinumab (SEC) given intravenously on days 0 and 22, failed to meet the primary endpoint and had more adverse events compared to placebo (176). However, the use IL-17i is not associated with increased incidence of IBD. Data from the SEC development program pooling 7,355 patients with a cumulative exposure of 16,227 person-years of patients exposed to SEC for PsO, PsA or SpA, no increase in exposure adjusted incidence rates of IBD was observed (15). Similarly, events of IBD remained low in the ixekizumab development program that pooled data from 15 RCTs in PsO and PsA (177).

Phase II RCT results for the Janus kinase inhibitor (JAKi), upadacitinib (UPA), in CD are promising. Endoscopic but not clinical remission increased with dose during the induction period (167). However, in a phase II trial for JAKi, tofacitinib (TOF), no statistically significant differences in clinical responses between TOF and placebo were observed at week 4 (164) (**Table 2**).

Medical Treatment for UC

Oral 5-ASA (5-aminosalicylic acid) is the standard therapy for induction in mild-to-moderately active UC. For those failing 5-ASA or with moderate-to-severe UC, a short 6- to 8-week course of oral corticosteroid is indicated. 5-ASA and thiopurines can be used as maintenance therapy. Like the treatment strategy for CD, early escalation to biologic therapies should be considered for those who failed induction therapy with corticosteroid, or failed maintenance with immunomodulators, and those with poor prognostic factors. TNFi [IFX, ADA, golimumab (GOL)], $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin inhibitor (VZD) and IL12/23i (UST) are approved treatments for induction and maintenance of UC (**Table 3**). A combination of TNFi with an immunomodulator is more effective. In the UC-SUCCESS trial, patients treated with IFX and AZA were more likely to achieve corticosteroid-free remission at 16 weeks than those receiving either monotherapy (181).

September 2021	
Volume 8 Article 737256	

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
TNFi	TNFi ADA	CLASSIC I (148)	ll	299	Active CD, naïve to TNFi (induction)	- ADA 160/80 mg - Vs. 80/40 mg, - Vs. 40/20 mg at W0, 2, SC	 Clinical remission at W4: ADA 160/80 36% (ρ = 0.001), ADA 80/40 24% (ρ = 0.06), ADA 40/20 18% (ρ = 0.036), Vs. PBO 12% (all comparison vs. PBO).
ADA	CLASSIC II (149)	Π	276	CD achieved induction in CLASSIC I (maintenance)	 Patients achieved remission in CLASSIC I were re-randomized (n = 55) to ADA 40 mg QW, SC Vs. ADA 40 mg Q2W, SC Vs. PBO Patients not achieved remission (n = 209) received open-labeled ADA 40 mg Q2W, SC 	 Clinical remission at W56 for re-randomized (n = 55): ADA 40 mg QW 83%, ADA 40 mg Q2W 79% Vs. PBO 44% (all p < 0.05 vs. PBO). Clinical remission at W56 for open labeled patients (n = 209): ADA 46% 	
	ADA	GAIN (150)	III	325	Active CD, TNFi IR (induction)	ADA 160 mg at W0, then 80 mg at W2, SC vs. PBO	- Clinical remission at W4: ADA 21.6% vs. PBO 6.7%, (p < 0.001).
	ADA	CHARM (151)	II	854	Active CD despite immunomodulators, non-TNFi IR. All received open labeled induction: ADA 80 mg at W0, 40 mg at W2, SC (maintenance)	Maintenance: - ADA 40 mg Q2W, - vs. 40 mg QW - vs. PBO	 Clinical remission at W26: ADA QW 47% vs. ADA Q2W 40% vs. PBO 17% (all p < 0.001 vs. PBO). Clinical remission at W56: ADA QW 41% vs. ADA Q2W 36% vs. PBO 12%, (all p < 0.001 vs. PBO).
	ADA	EXTEND (152)	11	129	Active CD, responded to open labeled ADA induction (160/80 mg at W0, 2, SC) at W4 (maintenance)	Maintenance: - ADA 40 mg QW, SC - vs. 40 mg Q2W, SC - vs. PBO	 Mucosal healing at W12: ADA 27% vs. PBO 13%, (<i>p</i> = 0.056). Clinical remission at W12: ADA 52% vs. PBO 28% (<i>p</i> = 0.006) Mucosal healing at W52: ADA 24% vs. PBO 0% (<i>p</i> < 0.001). Clinical remission at W52: ADA 28% vs. PBO 3% (<i>p</i> < 0.001).
	IFX	(153)	Ш	108	Moderate to severe CD, naïve to TNFi (induction)	 IFX 5 mg/kg, once, IV vs. IFX 10 mg/kg, once, IV vs. IFX 20 mg/Kg, once, IV vs. PBO 	 Clinical response W4: IFX 5 mg 81% (<i>p</i> = 0.33) vs. 10 mg 50% (<i>P</i> = 0.26) vs. 20 mg: 64% (<i>p</i> = 0.01) vs. PBO 17%. (all comparison vs. PBO) Clinical remission W4: IFX (all doses) 33% vs. PBO 4% (<i>p</i> = 0.005). Clinical response W12: IFX (all doses) 41% vs. PBO 12% (<i>p</i> = 0.008).

TABLE 2 | Evidence from major clinical trials for class of therapeutic options for Crohn's disease.

Managing Psoriatic Arthritis With Co-morbidities

46

TABLE 2 | Continued

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
	IFX	ACCENT-I (154)	111	573	Active CD, despite immunomodulators naïve to TNFi, all received open-labeled IFX induction, then re-randomized for maintenance (induction and maintenance)	Open-labeled induction (all): IFX 5 mg/kg at W0, IV par Randomized at W2 for maintenance: - IFX 10 mg/kg at W2, 6, then Q8W, IV - Vs. IFX 5 mg/kg at W2, 6, then 5 mg/kg Q8W, IV - Vs. PBO	- Induction: 58% responded to initial IFX at W2. - Clinical remission at W30: IFX10 mg/kg 45% (ρ = 0.003), vs. IFX3 mg/kg 39% (ρ = 0.0002), vs. PBO 21% (all comparison vs. PBO) - Median time to loss of response at W54 IFX 10 mg/kg >54W (ρ = 0.002), vs. IFX 5 mg/kg 38W (ρ = 0.0002), vs. PBO 19W (all comparison vs. PBO)
	IFX	ACCENT-II (155)	111	282	Fistulating CD, naïve to TNFi (induction and maintenance)	Open-labeled induction (all): IFX 5 mg/kg at W0, 2, 6, IV - Randomized at W14 for maintenance: - IFX 5 mg/kg Q8W, IV - vs. PBO	 Induction: 69% responded to initial IFX at W14. Time to loss of response: IFX >40W vs. PBO 14W (p < 0.001) Clinical response W54: IFX 36% vs. PBO 19% (p = 0.009)
	IFX	SONIC (156)	111	508	Active CD, naïve to immunomodulator and TNFi (induction and maintenance)	IFX 5 mg/kg at W0, 2, 6, then Q8W + AZA 2.5 mg/kg/day - vs. IFX alone - vs. AZA alone	 Corticosteroid-free remission W26: IFX+AZA: 57% (p = 0.002 vs. IFX; p < 0.001 vs. PBO), vs. IFX alone: 44% (p = 0.006 vs. AZA), vs. AZA alone: 30%. Mucosal healing W26: IFX+AZA 44% (p = 0.06 vs IFX; p = <0.001 vs. AZA), vs. IFX alone 30% (p = 0.02 vs. AZA), vs. AZA alone: 17%.
	CZP	PRECISE I (157)	11	662	Active CD, 17% concomitant corticosteroid and immunomodulators, 28% prior TNFi (induction)	- CZP 400 mg at W0, 2, 4, then Q4W, SC - vs. PBO	 Clinical response at W6: CZP 35% vs. PBO 27%, (<i>p</i> = 0.02); Clinical response at both W6 and W26: CZP 23% vs. PBO 16%, (<i>p</i> = 0.02) Remission at W6: CZP 14% vs. PBO 10% (<i>p</i> = 0.17) Remission at both W6 and W26: CZP 22% vs. PBO 17% (<i>p</i> = 0.07)
		PRECISE II (158)	Ш	428	Active CD, 24% concomitant corticosteroid and immunomodulators, 15% prior TNFi (maintenance)	Open-labeled induction ($n = 668$): CZP 400 mg at W0, 2, 4, SC Patient with clinical response were randomized at W6 for maintenance ($n = 428$): - CZP 400 mg Q4W, SC - vs. PBO	 Clinical response at induction (W6): 64% Clinical remission at W26: CZP 48% vs. PBO 29% (p < 0.001).

(Continued)

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
	CZP	WELCOME (159)	III	539	Active CD, TNFi IR (maintenance)	 Open-labeled induction (n = 539): CZP 400 mg at W0, 2, 4, SC Patient with clinical response were randomized at W6 for open-labeled maintenance (n = 329): CZP 400 mg Q2W, SC vs. CZP 400 mg Q4W, SC vs. PBO 	 Clinical response at induction (W6): 629 Clinical response at W26: CZP Q2W 379 vs. CZP Q4W 40% (<i>p</i> = 0.55). Clinical remission at W26: CZP Q2W 30% vs. CZP Q4W 29% (<i>p</i> = 0.81).
IL-17i I	BRO	(160)	Ι	130	Active CD (induction)	BRO 210 mg vs. 350 mg vs. 700 mg Q4W for 4W, SC vs. PBO	 Early termination due to worsening CE in active treatment groups, n = 130 analyzed at termination Clinical response at W6: BRO 210 mg 16% vs. 350 mg 27% vs. 700 mg 15% vs. PBO 13%. Clinical remission at W6: BRO 210 mg 3% vs. 350 mg 15% vs. 700 mg 9% vs. PBO 13%.
	UST	CERTIFI (161)	llb		Active CD, TNFi IR (induction and maintenance)	 Induction W0-8 (n = 539): UST 1, 3, 6 mg/kg, SC vs. PBO Maintenance 8–36W (re-randomized at W8): UST 90 mg at W8 and 16, SC vs. PBO 	 Clinical remission at W6 (induction): UST6 mg/kg 39.7% vs. PBO 23.5% (p = 0.005) NS for other UST doses Maintenance for those responded to induction, n = 145 Clinical response at W22: UST 69.4% vs. PBO 42.5% (p < 0.05) Clinical remission at W22: UST 42% vs. PBO 27% (p < 0.05)
IL-12/23i	UST	IM-UNITI (162)	111	397	UNITI-1: active CD, TNFi IR $(n = 741)$. UNITI-2: active CD, immunomodulator IR $(n = 628)$. IM-UNITI: Who had clinical response in UNITI-1 and 2 $(n = 397)$	Induction W0-8 (UNITI-1 or 2): - UST 130 mg, SC - vs. UST 6 mg/kg, SC - vs. PBO - Maintenance W8-44: - UST 90 mg/8W, SC - vs. UST 90 mg/12W, SC - vs. PBO	 Induction: Clinical remission at W8: UNITI-1 UST 6 mg/kg 38% (<i>p</i> < 0.001) vs. UST 130 mg 34% (<i>p</i> = 0.001) vs. PBC 20% (all comparison vs. PBO) UNITI-2 UST 6 mg/kg 58% (<i>p</i> < 0.001) vs. UST 130 mg: 47% (<i>p</i> = 0.001) vs. PBO 32% (all comparison vs. PBO) Maintenance (IM-UNITI) Clinical response: UST 90 mg Q12W 58% (<i>p</i> = 0.02) vs. UST 90 mg Q12W 58% (<i>p</i> = 0.03) vs. PBO 44% (all comparison vs. PBO) Clinical remission UST 90 mg Q4W 53% (<i>p</i> = 0.02) vs. UST 90 mg Q4W 53% (<i>p</i> = 0.02) vs. UST 90 mg Q12W 49% (<i>p</i> = 0.03) vs. PBO 36% (all comparison vs. PBO)

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
IL-23i	RZB	(163)	II	121	Active CD, TNFi IR (induction)	- RZB 600 mg Q4W - vs. RZB 200 mg Q4W - vs. PBO	 Clinical response at W12: RZD 600 mg 42% (<i>ρ</i> = 0.0366) vs. RZD 200 mg 37% (<i>ρ</i> = NS) vs. PBO 21% (all comparison vs. PBO) Clinical remission at W12: RZD 600 mg 37% (<i>ρ</i> = 0.025) vs. RZD 200 mg: 24% (<i>ρ</i> = NS) vs. PBO 15% (<i>ρ</i> = 0.049) (all comparison vs. PBO)
JAKi	TOF	(164)	II	139	Active CD (induction)	TOF 15, 5, 5 mg BD, PO vs. PBO	- Clinical response W4: TOF 15 mg 46% ($p = 0.467$) vs. 5 mg 58% ($p = 0.466$) vs. 5 mg: 36% ($p \ge 0.999$) vs. PBO 47% (all comparison vs. PBO). - Clinical remission at W4: TOF 15 mg 14% ($p = 0.540$) vs. 5 mg 24% ($p = 0.776$) vs. 5 mg 31% ($p = 0.417$) vs. PBO 21% (all comparison vs. PBO).
	TOF	(165)	llb	280 (induction) 180 (maintenance)	Active CD, % prior TNFi (induction and maintenance)	 Induction 0-8W (n = 280) TOF 10 mg BD, PO vs. TOF 5 mg BD, PO vs. PBO Maintenance 8–26W for those responded to TOF induction (n = 180): TOF 10 mg BD, PO vs. TOF 5 mg BD, PO vs. PBO 	- Clinical remission at W8 (induction): TOF 10 mg 43% ($p = 0.392$) vs. TOF 5 mg 44% ($p = 0.325$) vs. PBO 36.7% (all comparison vs. PBO). - Clinical remission at W26 (maintenance): TOF 10 mg 56% ($p = 0.13$) vs. TOF 5 mg 40% ($p = NS$) vs. PBO 38.1%. (all comparison vs. PBO).
	FIL	FITZROY (166)	II	174	Active CD, 27% prior bowel resection, 58% prior TNFi (induction)	FIL 200 mg/day, PO vs. PBO	 Clinical remission at W10: FIL 47% vs. PBO 36.7%. (ρ = 0.0077)
	UPA	CELEST (167)	I	220	Active CD (induction and maintenance)	Induction W0-16: UPD 3, 6, 12, 24 mg BD or 24 mg/day vs. PBO Maintenance W16-52: UPD 3, 6, 12, 24 mg BD or 24 mg/day No PBO control	- Clinical remission at W16: UPA 3 mg 13% (NS) vs. 6 mg 27% ($p < 0.1$ vs. PBO) vs. 12 mg 11% (NS) vs. 24 mg; 22% (NS) vs. 24 mg/day 14% (NS) vs. PBO 11%. (all comparison vs. PBO) - Endoscopic remission at W16: - UPA 3 mg 10% ($p < 0.1$) vs. 6 mg 8% (NS) vs. 12 mg 8% ($p < 0.1$) vs. 24 mg 22% ($p < 0.01$) vs. 24 mg/day 14% ($p < 0.05$) vs. PBO 0%. (all comparison vs. PBO). - Maintenance: Efficacy was maintained for most endpoints through week 52

ADA, adalimumab; AZA, azathioprine; BD, Twice daily; BRO, brodalumab; BW, Body weight; CD, Crohn's Disease; CZP, certolizumab; FIL, filgotinib; Gp, Group; IFX, infliximab; IL, Interleukin; i, inhibitor; IR, inadequate responder; IV, intravenous; JAKi, Janus kinase inhibitor; NS, not statistically significant; PBO, placebo; Q, every; RCT, Randomized control trial; RZB, risankizumab; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; inhibitor; TOF, tofacitinib; UPA, upadacitinib; UST, ustekinumab; vs., versus; W, week; yr, year.

49

Chia et al.

In a head-to-head study (VARSITY) comparing TNFi and VZD in patients with moderate-to-severe UC, 769 patients with moderate-to-severe active UC were randomized to receive VDZ or ADA (185). Only 26% of patients in either group were on concomitant immunomodulators. At week 52, a higher percentage of patients achieved clinical remission (31.3 vs. 22.5%; P = 0.006), and endoscopic improvement (39.7 vs. 27.7%; P < 0.001) in VDZ compared to ADA group. Whilst corticosteroid-free clinical remission occurred at a higher rate in the group receiving ADA compared to VDZ (21.8 vs. 12.6%; difference, -9.3 percentage points; 95% CI, -18.9 to 0.4). Despite a slight superiority of VDZ over ADA, more data are pending for consistency and class effect. The choice of biologics is, again, a shared decision between between clinician and patient.

Due to the ineffectiveness of IL-17i for CD, there have not been trials for their use in UC. As for IL-23i, there is an ongoing phase II/III trial of RZB for UC (NCT03398148).

In contrast to CD, the JAKi, TOF, was approved for use in moderate-to-severe UC based on three pivotal phase III OCTAVE studies, showing a significantly greater percentage of clinical remission at week 8 for induction, and remission at week 52 for maintenance in TOF compared to placebo group (186). UPA met the clinical remission, endoscopic improvement and histological improvement endpoints in a phase III induction trial for moderate-to-severe UC (187).

Medical Treatment for Uveitis

Prompt control of inflammation using topical corticosteroid is the first-line treatment for anterior uveitis in SpA. Typically, prednisolone acetate 1% eye drops are used as for severe AAU while milder corticosteroids such as dexamethasone 0.1% may be used for maintenance. A mydriatic drug is often prescribed together to reduce the development of posterior synechia and reduce pain from ciliary body spasm. Periocular corticosteroid injections or intravitreal implants can be used for more chronic cases. Adverse effects of corticosteroid in the eyes include cataract and ocular hypertension in up to 30% of patients. Oral corticosteroids may be used for acute management of severe and sight-threatening posterior uveitis such as vasculitis and cystoid macular edema, however, immunotherapy should be considered early in these cases to reduce recurrences (188). Traditional immunomodulators such as sulfasalazine (SSZ) and MTX may be tried although few data have supported their efficacy. Monoclonal antibody-TNFi including IFX, ADA, GOL and CZP are considered as effective treatment options for both acute flares and reducing recurrences of AAU (189). We summarize the major RCTs of therapeutic options for uveitis in Table 4. In a post-hoc analysis pooling data from four RCTs with TNFi in AS, the frequency of AAU flares was substantially lower among IFX or etanercept (ETN) treated than placebo treated patients. Lower frequency of AAU flares was seen in the open-labeled extension phase compared to the placebo phase of the trial (TNFi: 6.8 flares per 100 patient-years compared to PBO: 15.6 per 100 patient-years, p = 0.01) (198). ADA is the only TNFi licensed for treatment of non-infectious uveitis in adult following favorable results in 2 phase III RCTs. In the VISUAL I study, patients with active non-infectious intermediate, posterior uveitis or panuveitis

were randomized to receive ADA or placebo after a prednisolone burst (60 mg) with tapering course. Patients treated with ADA were less likely than those treated with placebo to have treatment failure (hazard ratio, HR, 0.50; 95% CI, 0.36 to 0.70; *P* < 0.001). The VISUAL II study recruited 226 patients with inactive, noninfectious intermediate, posterior, or panuveitis controlled by 10-35 mg/day of prednisone were randomized to ADA vs. placebo. All patients underwent a mandatory prednisolone tapering to 0 mg by week 19. The time to treatment failure was significantly longer in ADA compared to placebo arm (median >18 months vs. 8.3 months; HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.39–0.84; *p* = 0.004) (191). ADA is also licensed for juvenile idiopathic arthritis-related uveitis. In an open-label study in 93 AS patients with history of uveitis, GOL reduced uveitis flares compared to patients' historical control 12month prior to initiation of GOL (192). There is an ongoing phase III 96-week open-label study for CZP in 115 patients with axial SpA and recurrent uveitis. In the 48-week interim analysis of 85 patients, uveitis flares were substantially reduced during the CZP treated period compared to the historical rates (64.0 and 31.5% respectively) (193). The use of ETN in the management of uveitis has diminished in favor of other TNFi because of its weaker ability in preventing flares.

Despite implicated in the pathogenesis of uveitis, inhibiting IL-17A was not effective for uveitis. In three RCTs, SEC failed to meet the primary efficacy endpoints (194). In another RCT comparing three doses of SEC, statistical higher response rates and remission on day 57 for the high dose regimen (30 mg/kg intravenously Q2W for 4 doses) was seen compared to the other two lower dose regimens, suggesting a higher dose intravenous regimen may be required to deliver SEC in therapeutic concentrations (195). Results are awaiting for two trials using UST in active sight-threatening uveitis (STAR) (196) and Behçet uveitis (STELABEC) (197), which may provide insight for its potential use in PsA related uveitis.

Minimal data exist for use of JAKi in uveitis. One phase 2 RCT evaluating filgotinib (FIL) in patients with active non-infectious uveitis (NCT03207815) is ongoing.

MANAGEMENT OF PSA WITH CONSIDERATION OF EXTRA-ARTICULAR MANIFESTATIONS

Given the heterogeneity in manifestations, enhanced collaboration between disciplines are required to deliver optimal care for PsD (199). While collaborations between rheumatologists and dermatologists are increasing (200), collaborations with gastroenterologists and ophthalmologists have traditionally been weaker. Apart from setting up combined clinics, collaborations between disciplines can take other forms as determined by needs and circumstances of different institutions. Minimally, identifying key stakeholders specializing in the care of PsA patients and keeping them in close communication over the management plan is essential. These collaborations serve both clinical and educational needs. Close collaboration between the various disciplines will help in early diagnosis of the various manifestations, providing expert advice on choice of

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
TNFi (mAb) ADA	ADA	Ultra 1 (178)	III	186	Active UC, despite corticosteroid and/or immunomodulators (induction)	 ADA 160 mg at W0, 80 mg at W2, 40 mg at W4 and 6, SC Vs. ADA 80 mg at W0 and 2, 40 mg at W4 and 6, SC Vs. PBO 	 Clinical remission at W8: ADA160/80 18.5% (p = 0.031 vs. PBO) vs. ADA 80/40 10.0% (p = 0.833 vs. PBO) vs. 9.2% PBO
	ADA	Ultra 2 (179)	III	494	Active UC, despite corticosteroid and/or immunomodulators 40% prior TNFi (induction and maintenance)	 ADA 160 mg at W0, 80 mg at W2, and then 40 mg Q2W, SC Vs. PBO 	 Clinical remission at W8: ADA 16.5% vs PBO 9.3% (ρ = 0.019) Clinical remission at W52 ADA 17.3% vs PBO 8.5% (ρ = 0.004) Better response in TNFi naïve patients
	IFX	ACT I (180)	111	364	Active UC despite corticosteroid and/or thiopurines (induction and maintenance)	 IFX 5 mg or 10 mg/kg at W0, 2, 6, 14, 22, 30, 38, and 46, IV Vs. PBO 	 At W8, higher clinical response in IFX groups: IFX 10 mg/kg vs. IFX 5 mg/kg vs. PBO: 61.5% vs. 69.4% vs. 37.2%, (all <i>p</i> < 0.001 compared to PBO). At W8, higher clinical remission in IFX groups: IFX 10 mg/kg vs. IFX 5 mg/kg vs. PBO: 32% vs. 38.8% vs. 14.9%, (all <i>p</i> < 0.001 compared to PBO). Remission rate at W54: IFX 10 mg/kg vs. IFX 5 mg/kg vs. PBO (34.4% vs. 34.7% vs. 16.5%), (all <i>p</i> = 0.001 compared to PBO).
	IFX	ACT II (180)	111	364	Active UC despite corticosteroid and/or thiopurines and 5-ASA (induction and maintenance)	 IFX 5 mg or 10 mg/kg at W0, 2, 6, 14, and 22, IV Vs. PBO 	 At W8, higher clinical response in IFX groups: IFX 10 mg/kg vs. IFX 5 mg/kg vs. PBO: 69.2% vs. 64.5% vs. 29.3%, (all <i>p</i> < 0.001 compared to PBO). At W8, higher clinical remission in IFX groups: IFX 10 mg/kg vs. IFX 5 mg/kg vs. PBO: 27.5% vs. 33.9% vs. 57.%, (all <i>p</i> < 0.002 compared to PBO). Remission rate at W30: IFX 10 mg/kg vs. IFX 5 mg/kg vs. PBO: 35.8% vs. 25.6% vs. 10.6%, all <i>p</i> = 0.001 compared to PBO.

TABLE 3 Evidence from clinical trials for class of therapeutic options for ulcerative colitis.

TAI	
Cla	

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
	IFX	US-SUCCESS (181)	Ш	239 (planned 600)	Active UC (induction)	 IFX 5 mg/kg at weeks 0, 2, 6, and 14, IV + AZA 2.5 mg/kg/day, PO Vs. IFX alone Vs. AZA alone 	 Study terminated early before enrolment target (intermittent IFX regimen raised concern for injection site reaction in another study) Corticosteroid-free remission at W16: IFX+AZA 39.7% vs. IFX alone 22.1% (<i>p</i> = 0.017) vs. AZA alone 23.7% (<i>p</i> = 0.032). Mucosal healing at W16: IFX+AZA 62.8% vs. IFX alone 54.6% (<i>p</i> = 0.295) vs. AZA alone 36.8% (<i>p</i> = 0.001).
	GOL	PURSUIT -SC (182)	Ш	761	Active UC despite corticosteroid and/or immunomodulators (induction)	 GOL 400 mg at W0, then 200 mg at W2, SC Vs. GOL 200 mg at W0, then 100 mg at W2, SC Vs PBO 	- Clinical response at W6: GOL 400/200 54.9% vs. GOL 200/100 51% vs. PBO 30.3% (all $p < 0.001$ vs. PBO) - Clinical remission at W6: GOL 400/200 17.9% vs. GOL 200/100 17.8% vs. PBO 6.4% (all $p < 0.001$ vs. PBO) - Mucosal healing at W6: GOL 400/200 45.1% vs. GOL 200/100 42.3% ($p = 0.0014$ vs. PCB) vs. PBO 28.7% (all $p < 0.001$ vs. PBO)
	GOL	PURSUIT -MAINTENANCE (183)	III	464	UC patients responded to GOL induction (maintenance)	- GOL 100 mg Q4W, SC - Vs. GOL 50 mg Q4W, SC - Vs. PBO	- Clinical response maintained at 54W: GOL100 49.7% ($p = 0.01$) vs. GOL50 47% ($p < 0.001$) vs. 31.2% PBO (all comparison vs. PBO) - Clinical remission at both W30 and W54: GOL100 27.8% ($p = 0.004$) vs. GOL50 23.2% (NS) vs. 15.6% PBO (all comparison vs. PBO) - Mucosal healing at both W30 and W54: GOL100 42.4% ($p = 0.002$) vs. GOL50 41.7% ($p = 0.011$) vs. 26.6% PBO (all comparison vs. PBO)
$\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin inhibitor	VDL	GERMIN I (184)	Ш	Induction = 886 Maintenance = 373	 Induction: active UC despite corticosteroid and/or immunomodulators (48.2% prior TNFi) maintenance: patients responded to induction phase 	 VDL 300 mg Q4W, IV Vs. VDL 300 mg Q8W, IV Vs. PBO (both induction and maintenance) 	 Induction phase at W6: Clinical response: VDL 47% vs. PBO 25.5%, <i>p</i> < 0.001 Clinical remission: VDL 16.9% vs. PBO 5.4%, <i>p</i> = 0.001 Mucosal healing: VDL 40.9% vs. 24.8%, <i>p</i> = 0.001 Maintenance phase at W52: Clinical remission: VDLQ4 44.8% vs. VDLQ8 41.8% vs. PBO 15.9% (all <i>p</i> < 0.001 vs. PBO)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	RCT Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
							 Mucosal healing: VDLQ4 56% vs. VDLQ8 51.6% vs. PBO 19.8% (all p < 0.001 vs. PBO)
	VDL vs. ADA	VARSITY (185)	III	769	 Active UC despite corticosteroid, or immunomodulators (Non TNFi failure) 21% Prior TNFi exposure 26% concomitant immunomodulators 	 VDL 300 mg W0, 2, 6, 14, 22, 30, 38, and 46, IV ADA 40 mg 160 mg at W0, 80 mg at W2, then 40 mg Q2W till W50, SC 	 Clinical response at W52: VDL 31.3% vs. ADA 22.5%, p = 0.006 Endoscopic improvement at W52: VDL39.7% vs. ADA 27.7%; P < 0.001. Corticosteroid-free remission at W52: VDL 12.6% vs. ADA 21.8%, NS
JAKi	TOF	OCTAVE Induction-1 (186)	III	598	Active UC despite immunomodulators/ TNFi 74% TNFi failure	- TOF 10 mg BD, PO - Vs. PBO	- Clinical remission at W8: TOF 18.5% vs. PBO 8.2%, $p = 0.007$ - Mucosal healing at W8: TOF 31.3% vs. 15.6%, $p < 0.001$
		OCTAVE Induction-2 (186)	III	541	 Active UC despite immunomodulators/ TNFi 70% TNFi failure 	TOF 10 mg BD, PO - Vs. PBO	 Clinical remission at W8: TOF 16.6% vs. PBO 3.6%, <i>ρ</i> < 0.001 Mucosal healing at W8: TOF 28.4% vs. 11.6%, <i>ρ</i> < 0.001
		OCTAVE -Sustain (186)	III	593	- Patients who has a clinical response in OCTAVE 1 and 2	- TOF 10 mg BD, PO - Vs. TOF 5 mg BD, PO - Vs. PBO	 Clinical remission at W52: TOF10 40.6% vs. TOF5 34.3% vs. PB0 11.1%, (all p < 0.001 vs. PB0) Mucosal healing at W52: TOF10 45.7% vs. TOF5 37.4% vs. PB0 13.1%, (all p < 0.001 vs. PB0)
	UPA	AbbVie UPA UC development program	III	>1300	NCT02819635, NCT03653026, NCT03006068	No details yet	 Preliminary: met primary endpoints or clinical response, remission, endoscopi improvement, and response No detail yet

ADA, adalimumab; AS, ankylosing spondylitis; axSpA, axial spondyloarthritis; AZA, azathioprine; BD, twice daily; CI, confidence interval; CZP, certolizumab; GOL, golimumab; Gp, group; HR, hazard ratio; IFX, infliximab; IR, incidence rate ratio; IV, intravenous; JAKi, Janus kinase inhibitor; M, month; PO, per oral; Q, every; NS, not statistically significant; PBO, placebo; SC, subcutaneous; SEC, secukinumab; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor inhibitor; TOF, tofacitinib; UPA, upadacitinib; VDL, vedolizumab; Vs., versus; W, week; Yr, year.

TABLE 4 | Evidence from clinical trials for class of therapeutic options for uveitis.

Class of drug	Agent	Trial acronyms	Trial Phase	Sample size	Patient population	Treatment vs. comparison	Outcomes
TNFi	ADA	VISUAL-1 (190)	RCT, III	217	Active non-infectious intermediate uveitis, posterior uveitis, or panuveitis despite corticosteroid	 ADA loading 80 mg, then 40 mg Q2W, SC Vs. PBO 	 FU: till 80w or pre-specified events or treatment failure is reached. Longer median time to treatment failure ADA vs PBO (24w vs. 13w) ADA less likely than PBO group to have treatment failure (HR 0.50; 95% CI: 0.36-0.70; <i>P</i> < 0.001).
	ADA	VISUAL-2 (191)	RCT, III	229	Inactive, non-infectious intermediate, posterior, or panuveitis requiring prednisolone for maintenance	 ADA loading 80 mg, then 40 mg Q2W, SC Vs. PBO 	 FU: till 80w or at treatment failure event Long time to treatment failure, ADA vs PBO (10.2m vs. 4.8m) ADA less likely than PBO group to have treatment failure (HR 0.57; 95% CI: 0.3984; P = 0.004).
	GOL	GO-EASY (192)	Open label, non-randomized	93	 AS patients (55% TNFi-naive, 27% history of uveitis) 	All: GOL 50 mg monthly - VS. historical control (flare rates in previous yr)	 Lower risk of uveitis flare in GOL vs. historical rates (2.2 vs. 11.1 per 100 patient-years, rate-ratio 0.20, 95% Cl 0.04–0.91).
	CZP	(Abstract only) (193)	Open label, non- randomized,	115 enrolled (85 in interim	Active axSpA, HLAB27 positive, having history of	 All: 400 mg at W0, 2, 4, then 200 mg Q2W till W96 	 Interim analysis of 85 patients completed W48
		(195)	IV	analysis)	recurrent uveitis	- Vs. historical control	 Few flares CZP vs. historical rates (Poisson-adjusted IR: 0.2 vs 1.5, p < 0.001).
IL-17i	SEC	3 RCTs: SHIELD, INSURE, ENDURE (194)	RCT, III	274	Behçet's uveitis = 118 (SHIELD) Active non-infectious active uveitis = 31 (INSURE) Inactive non-infectious uveitis = 125 (ENDURE)	 Varies dosing: SEC loading (150 mg or 300 mg), then Q2W-Q4W Vs. PBO 	 SHIELD: completed, primary endpoint not met INSURE: terminated early ENDURE: completed, planned analysis dropped No statistically significant differences in uveitis flares, SEC vs. PBO in all 3 RCTs
	SEC	(195)	Π	37	Active non-infectious intermediate uveitis, posterior uveitis, or panuveitis, requiring corticosteroid sparing therapy	 SEC 30 mg/kg Q4W, IV for 2 doses, (Group 1) Vs. SEC 10 mg/kg Q2W, IV for 4 doses, (Gp 2) Vs. SEC 300 mg Q2W, SC for 4 doses, (Gp 3) 	 Higher response rate in higher dose compared to lower dose regimen on day 57. Responder rates (Gp 1: 72.7% vs. Gp2: 61.5% vs. Gp3: 33.3%, statistically significant Gp 1 vs. Gp3) Remission rates (Gp1: 27.3% and Gp2: 38.5% vs. Gp3: 16.7%, NS)
IL-12/23i	UST	STAR (196)	Ι	8 enrolled	Active sight-threatening active intermediate uveitis, posterior uveitis, or panuveitis	- 90 mg, SC at W0,4 and 8 vs 260-520 mg (weight-based dose), IV at W0 then 90 mg, SC at W8	- Completed, awaiting analysis and publication of results
	UST	STELABEC-2 (197)	ΙΙ	16	Active posterior uveitis and/or panuveitis and/or retinal vasculitis in patients with Behçet's disease	 90 mg, SC at W0, W4, and W16. Patients with response will receive 90 mg, SC at W28 and W40 	- Ongoing

ADA, adalimumab; AS, ankylosing spondylitis; axSpA, axial spondyloarthritis; CI, confidence interval; CZP, certolizumab; GOL, golimumab; Gp, group; HR, hazard ratio; IR, incidence rate ratio; IV, intravenous; M, month; Q, every; NS, not statistically significant; PBO, placebo; SC, subcutaneous; SEC, secukinumab; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor inhibitor; UST, ustekinumab; Vs., versus; W, week; Yr, year.

therapeutics to create a patient-centric, individualized care plan for the heterogeneous manifestations. Often, the therapeutics will need to cover multiple domains, but the predominant domain should drive the therapeutic option of choice in the shared decision-making process.

For severe IBD in the setting of PsA with peripheral manifestations, traditional immunomodulators can he considered for maintenance. TNFi (monoclonal antibodies) is a better option for patients with axial arthropathy. UST is effective for IBD but is less effective on peripheral arthritis as compared to TNFi or IL-17i, and ineffective for axial arthropathy. While IL-17i is an effective treatment for both peripheral and axial arthropathy, and probably does not increase the risk of IBD, it is not recommended for patients with underlying active IBD, due to its possibility of exacerbating pre-existing disease. IL-23i may be promising for IBD but its use requires caution in patients with predominant axial arthropathy. JAKi is effective for UC, peripheral and axial arthropathy, but may exacerbate CD. VDZ is effective for both CD and UC but has no indication for all other manifestations in PsA. With these considerations, TNFi (monoclonal antibodies) with or without concomitant immunosuppressants would be the best option for PsA patients with IBD. IBD is a chronic relapsing condition, and often requires higher doses of TNFi for induction than arthritis alone. Collaboration between rheumatologist and gastroenterologist is invaluable to ensure the optimal choice of treatment regimen.

Uveitis can be serious and sight threatening. Patients with symptoms of possible uveitis should have access to ophthalmology care promptly and given appropriate treatment for uveitis. Uveitis can arise even when arthritis is under control; it may manifest either suddenly or insidiously. It is important that patients are educated to be aware of the symptoms of uveitis and seek appropriate care when the needs arise. Care models like enquiry hotline, early referral or walk-in ophthalmology clinics are examples that may facilitate early diagnosis. For subsequent management, collaboration between rheumatologist and ophthalmologist is essential to ensure regular assessment of response to therapy and to modify management accordingly.

REFERENCES

- Ritchlin CT, Colbert RA, Gladman DD. Psoriatic Arthritis. New England Journal of Medicine. (2017) 376:957–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1505 557
- Orbai AM, de Wit M, Mease P, Shea JA, Gossec L, Leung YY, et al. International patient and physician consensus on a psoriatic arthritis core outcome set for clinical trials. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:673–80. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-210242
- Husni ME, Merola JF, Davin S. The psychosocial burden of psoriatic arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. (2017) 47:351–60. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.05.010
- So H, Tam LS. Cardiovascular disease and depression in psoriatic arthritis: multidimensional comorbidities requiring multidisciplinary management. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* (2021) 101689. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2021.101689
- Kovitwanichkanont T, Chong AH, Foley P. Beyond skin deep: addressing comorbidities in psoriasis. *Med J Aust.* (2020) 212:528–34. doi: 10.5694/mja2.50591

If uveitis fails to respond to topical corticosteroids, or fails to be weaned, or is severe at the onset, an escalation to either conventional immunomodulators or biological agents should be considered. The use of systemic corticosteroid is best avoided, given the risk of severe PsO flare upon its withdrawal. For patients with peripheral musculoskeletal manifestations (peripheral arthritis, enthesitis and dactylitis), MTX, SSZ or leflunomide (LEF) can be tried for maintenance, but an early escalation to TNFi (monoclonal antibodies) should be considered if these options fail. Traditional immunomodulators are not effective for axial arthropathy, thus for patients with active axial arthropathy TNFi (monoclonal antibodies) would be a good choice. Some patients may require higher or more frequent doses of TNFi especially for severe uveitis, highlighting again the importance of collaboration between rheumatologist and ophthalmologist for drug titration. IL-17i is an effective treatment for axial arthropathy, but SEC may not be effective for AAU at standard dose, and more data is still needed to inform the use of other IL-17i.

All in all, detailed considerations of all domains and extraarticular manifestations are necessary to formulate the best therapeutic option. Multi-disciplinary collaborative care models are advocated for optimal care for patients with PsA, and especially so for those who present with co-morbidities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AlC and YL conceptualized the project. AlC, TC, and YL collected relevant data for review and drafted the manuscript. AnC, WC, GA, and YL critically appraised the content of manuscript. All authors approved the final version of manuscript.

FUNDING

YL was supported by the National Medical Research Council, Singapore (NMRC/CSA-Inv/0022/2017). The funding sources had no role in the views expressed in this review.

- Noviani M, Feletar M, Nash P, Leung YY. Choosing the right treatment for patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis.* (2020). 12:1759720x20962623. doi: 10.1177/1759720X20962623
- Yu YR, Rodriguez JR. Clinical presentation of Crohn's, ulcerative colitis, and indeterminate colitis: Symptoms, extraintestinal manifestations, disease phenotypes. *Semin Pediatr Surg.* (2017) 26:349–55. doi: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2017.10.003
- Langholz E. Current trends in inflammatory bowel disease: the natural history. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2010) 3:77–86. doi: 10.1177/1756283X10361304
- Arvikar SL, Fisher MC. Inflammatory bowel disease associated arthropathy. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med. (2011) 4:123–31. doi: 10.1007/s12178-011-9085-8
- Larsen S, Bendtzen K, Nielsen OH. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease: epidemiology, diagnosis, and management. *Ann Med.* (2010) 42:97–114. doi: 10.3109/07853890903559724
- Rodríguez-Reyna TS, Martínez-Reyes C, Yamamoto-Furusho JK. Rheumatic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2009) 15:5517–24. doi: 10.3748/wjg.15.5517

- Atzeni F, Defendenti C, Ditto MC, Batticciotto A, Ventura D, Antivalle M, et al. Rheumatic manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:20–3. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2013.06.006
- Orlando A, Renna S, Perricone G, Cottone M. Gastrointestinal lesions associated with spondyloarthropathies. World J Gastroenterol. (2009) 15:2443–8. doi: 10.3748/wjg.15.2443
- Li, W-Q, Han J-L, Chan AT, Qureshi AA. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and increased risk of incident Crohn's disease in US women. *Ann Rheumatic Dis.* (2013). 72:1200–5. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202143
- Schreiber S, Colombel J-F, Feagan BG, Reich K, Deodhar AA, McInnes IB, et al. Incidence rates of inflammatory bowel disease in patients with psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis treated with secukinumab: a retrospective analysis of pooled data from 21 clinical trials. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2019) 78:473–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214273
- Zohar A, Cohen AD, Bitterman H, Feldhamer I, Greenberg-Dotan S, Lavi I, et al. Gastrointestinal comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2016) 35:2679–84. doi: 10.1007/s10067-016-3374-y
- Makredes M, Robinson D, Bala M, Kimball AB. The burden of autoimmune disease: a comparison of prevalence ratios in patients with psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2009) 61:405–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2009.02.015
- Eppinga H, Poortinga S, Thio HB, Nijsten TEC, Nuij V, van der Woude CJ, et al. Prevalence and phenotype of concurrent psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2017) 23:1783–9. doi: 10.1097/MIB.000000000001169
- Kopylov U, Starr M, Watts C, Dionne S, Girardin M, Seidman EG. Detection of crohn disease in patients with spondyloarthropathy: the SpACE capsule study. J Rheumatol. (2018) 45:498–505. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.161216
- Mielants H, Veys EM, Cuvelier C, de Vos M. Ileocolonoscopic findings in seronegative spondylarthropathies. Br J Rheumatol. (1988) 27 Suppl 2:95– 105. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/XXVII.suppl_2.95
- Lee YH Ji JD, Kim JS, Bak YT, Lee CH, Kim CH, et al. Ileocolonoscopic and histologic studies of Korean patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Scand J Rheumatol.* (1997) 26:473–6. doi: 10.3109/03009749709065722
- 22. Leirisalo-Repo M, Turunen U, Stenman S, Helenius P, Seppälä K. High frequency of silent inflammatory bowel disease in spondylarthropathy. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1994) 37:23–31. doi: 10.1002/art.1780370105
- 23. Van Praet L, Van den Bosch FE, Jacques P, Carron P, Jans L, Colman R, et al. Microscopic gut inflammation in axial spondyloarthritis: a multiparametric predictive model. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2013) 72:414–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202135
- 24. Van Praet L, Jans L, Carron P, Jacques P, Glorieus E, Colman R, et al. Degree of bone marrow oedema in sacroiliac joints of patients with axial spondyloarthritis is linked to gut inflammation and male sex: results from the GIANT cohort. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:1186–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203854
- De Vos M, Mielants H, Cuvelier C, Elewaut A, Veys E. Long-term evolution of gut inflammation in patients with spondyloarthropathy. *Gastroenterology*. (1996) 110:1696–703. doi: 10.1053/gast.1996.v110.pm8964393
- 26. Stolwijk C, van Tubergen A, Castillo-Ortiz JD, Boonen A. Prevalence of extra-articular manifestations in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:65–73. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203582
- Stolwijk C, Essers I, van Tubergen A, Boonen A, Bazelier MT, De Bruin ML, et al. The epidemiology of extra-articular manifestations in ankylosing spondylitis: a population-based matched cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:1373–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205253
- 28. de Winter JJ, van Mens LJ, van der Heijde D, Landewé R, Baeten DL. Prevalence of peripheral and extra-articular disease in ankylosing spondylitis versus non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis: a meta-analysis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2016) 18:196. doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-1093-z
- Sanchez-Bilbao L, Martinez-Lopez D, Palmou-Fontana N, Armesto S, González-Gay MA, Blanco R. AB0829 inflammatoy bowel disease in psoriatic arthritis. Study of 306 patients from a single university center, prevalence clinical features and relationship to biologic therapy. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:1719–1719. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-eular.4806
- 30. Jadon DR, Sengupta R, Nightingale A, Lindsay M, Korendowych E, Robinson G, et al. Axial Disease in Psoriatic Arthritis study: defining the clinical

and radiographic phenotype of psoriatic spondyloarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:701–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209853

- Lee RW, Nicholson LB, Sen HN, Chan C-C, Wei L, Nussenblatt RB, et al. Autoimmune and autoinflammatory mechanisms in uveitis. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2014) 36:581–94. doi: 10.1007/s00281-014-0433-9
- 32. Li, C-R, Chen L, Wang L-F, Yan B, Liang Y-L, Luo J. Association between uveitis and psoriatic disease: a systematic review and Meta-analysis based on the evidence from cohort studies. *Int J Ophthalmol.* (2020). 13:650–9. doi: 10.18240/ijo.2020.04.19
- Ruggiero A, Fabbrocini G, Cacciapuoti S, Cinelli E, Gallo L, Megna M. Ocular manifestations in psoriasis screening (OcMaPS) questionnaire: a useful tool to reveal misdiagnosed ocular involvement in psoriasis. J Clin Med. (2021). 10:1031. doi: 10.3390/jcm10051031
- Abbouda A, Abicca I, Fabiani C, Scappatura N, Peña-García P, Scrivo R, et al. Psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis-related uveitis: different ophthalmological manifestations and ocular inflammation features. *Semin Ophthalmol.* (2017) 32:715–20. doi: 10.3109/08820538.2016.1170161
- Castellino N, Longo A, Fallico M, Russo A, Bonfiglio V, Cennamo G, et al. Retinal vascular assessment in psoriasis: a multicenter study. *Front Neurosci.* (2021) 15:629401. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.629401
- Zeboulon N, Dougados M, Gossec L. Prevalence and characteristics of uveitis in the spondyloarthropathies: a systematic literature review. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2008) 67:955–9. doi: 10.1136/ard.2007.075754
- Niccoli L, Nannini C, Cassarà E, Kaloudi O, Susini M, Lenzetti I, et al. Frequency of iridocyclitis in patients with early psoriatic arthritis: a prospective, follow up study. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2012) 15:414–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-185X.2012.01736.x
- Egeberg A, Khalid U, Gislason GH, Mallbris L, Skov L, Hansen PR. Association of psoriatic disease with uveitis: a danish nationwide cohort study. *JAMA Dermatol.* (2015) 151:1200–5. doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2015.1986
- Chi CC, Tung TH, Wang J, Lin YS, Chen YF, Hsu TK, et al. Risk of uveitis among people with psoriasis: a nationwide cohort study. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* (2017) 135:415–22. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2017.0569
- Khan MA, Haroon M, Rosenbaum JT. Acute anterior uveitis and spondyloarthritis: more than meets the eye. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2015) 17:59. doi: 10.1007/s11926-015-0536-x
- Paiva ES, Macaluso DC, Edwards A, Rosenbaum JT. Characterisation of uveitis in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2000) 59:67–70. doi: 10.1136/ard.59.1.67
- Peluso R, Iervolino S, Vitiello M, Bruner V, Lupoli G, Di Minno MN. Extraarticular manifestations in psoriatic arthritis patients. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2015) 34:745–53. doi: 10.1007/s10067-014-2652-9
- Queiro R, Torre JC, Belzunegui J, González C, De Dios JR, Unanue F, et al. Clinical features and predictive factors in psoriatic arthritis-related uveitis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. (2002) 31:264–70. doi: 10.1053/sarh.2002.28798
- Burden-Teh E, Murphy R. Psoriasis and uveitis-should we be asking about eye symptoms? Br J Dermatol. (2014) 170:756–7. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12731
- O'Rielly DD, Rahman P. Clinical and molecular significance of genetic loci associated with psoriatic arthritis. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* (2021) 35:101691. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2021.101691
- 46. Haroon M, Winchester R, Giles JT, Heffernan E, FitzGerald O. Certain class I HLA alleles and haplotypes implicated in susceptibility play a role in determining specific features of the psoriatic arthritis phenotype. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2016) 75:155–62. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205461
- 47. Winchester R, Minevich G, Steshenko V, Kirby B, Kane D, Greenberg DA, et al. associations reveal genetic heterogeneity in psoriatic arthritis and in the psoriasis phenotype. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2012) 64:1134–44. doi: 10.1002/art.33415
- Murray C, Mann DL, Gerber LN, Barth W, Perlmann S, Decker JL, et al. Histocompatibility alloantigens in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Evidence for the influence of multiple genes in the major histocompatibility complex. J Clin Invest. (1980) 66:670–5. doi: 10.1172/JCI10 9903
- Eastmond CJ. Psoriatic arthritis. Genetics and HLA antigens Baillieres. Clin Rheumatol. (1994) 8:263–76. doi: 10.1016/S0950-3579(94)80018-9
- Gladman DD, Farewell VT, Kopciuk KA, Cook RJ, HLA. markers and progression in psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol. (1998) 25:730–3.

- Espinoza LR, Vasey FB, Oh JH, Wilkinson R, Osterland CK. Association between HLA-BW38 and peripheral psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1978) 21:72–5. doi: 10.1002/art.1780210112
- Bowes J, Budu-Aggrey A, Huffmeier U, Uebe S, Steel K, Hebert HL, et al. Dense genotyping of immune-related susceptibility loci reveals new insights into the genetics of psoriatic arthritis. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:6046. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8741
- Hüffmeier U, Uebe S, Ekici AB, Bowes J, Giardina E, Korendowych E, et al. Common variants at TRAF3IP2 are associated with susceptibility to psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. *Nat Genet.* (2010) 42:996–9. doi: 10.1038/ng.688
- Stuart PE, Nair RP, Tsoi LC, Tejasvi T, Das S, Kang HM, et al. Genomewide association analysis of psoriatic arthritis and cutaneous psoriasis reveals differences in their genetic architecture. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2015) 97:816–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.10.019
- Doyle MS, Collins ES, FitzGerald OM, Pennington SR. New insight into the functions of the interleukin-17 receptor adaptor protein Act1 in psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. (2012) 14:226. doi: 10.1186/ar4071
- Vecellio M, Hake VX, Davidson C, Carena MC, Wordsworth BP, Selmi C. The IL-17/IL-23 axis and its genetic contribution to psoriatic arthritis. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:596086. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.596086
- Jacques P, Lambrecht S, Verheugen E, Pauwels E, Kollias G, Armaka M, et al. Proof of concept: enthesitis and new bone formation in spondyloarthritis are driven by mechanical strain and stromal cells. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:437–45. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203643
- Schett G, Lories RJ, D'Agostino MA, Elewaut D, Kirkham B, Soriano ER, et al. Enthesitis: from pathophysiology to treatment. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2017) 13:731–41. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2017.188
- Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, et al. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17-producing helper T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:950–7. doi: 10.1038/ni1497
- Paulissen SM, van Hamburg JP, Davelaar N, Asmawidjaja PS, Hazes JM, Lubberts E. Synovial fibroblasts directly induce Th17 pathogenicity via the cyclooxygenase/prostaglandin E2 pathway, independent of IL-23. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1364–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300274
- McGonagle D, McDermott MF, A. proposed classification of the immunological diseases. *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3:e297. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030297
- 62. Jongbloed SL, Lebre MC, Fraser AR, Gracie JA, Sturrock RD, Tak PP, et al. Enumeration and phenotypical analysis of distinct dendritic cell subsets in psoriatic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2006) 8:R15. doi: 10.1186/ar1864
- Candia L, Marquez J, Hernandez C, Zea AH, Espinoza LR. Toll-like receptor-2 expression is upregulated in antigen-presenting cells from patients with psoriatic arthritis: a pathogenic role for innate immunity? J Rheumatol. (2007) 34:374–9.
- Mease P. TNFalpha therapy in psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. Ann Rheum Dis. (2004) 63:755–8. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.020719
- 65. Leijten EF, van Kempen TS, Boes M. Michels-van Amelsfort JM, Hijnen D, Hartgring SA, et al. Brief report: enrichment of activated group 3 innate lymphoid cells in psoriatic arthritis synovial fluid. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2015) 67:2673–8. doi: 10.1002/art.39261
- Soare A, Weber S, Maul L, Rauber S, Gheorghiu AM, Luber M, et al. Cutting edge: homeostasis of innate lymphoid cells is imbalanced in psoriatic arthritis. J Immunol. (2018) 200:1249–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700596
- Teunissen MBM, Yeremenko NG, Baeten DLP, Chielie S, Spuls PI, de Rie MA, et al. The IL-17A-producing CD8+ T-cell population in psoriatic lesional skin comprises mucosa-associated invariant T cells and conventional T cells. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2014) 134:2898–907. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.261
- Raychaudhuri SK, Abria C, Mitra A, Raychaudhuri SP. Functional significance of MAIT cells in psoriatic arthritis. *Cytokine*. (2020) 125:154855. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2019.154855
- Guggino G, Ciccia F, Di Liberto D, Lo Pizzo M, Ruscitti P, Cipriani P, et al. Interleukin (IL)-9/IL-9R axis drives γδ T cells activation in psoriatic arthritis patients. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2016) 186:277–83. doi: 10.1111/cei.12853
- Miossec P. Local and systemic effects of IL-17 in joint inflammation: a historical perspective from discovery to targeting. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2021) 18:860–5. doi: 10.1038/s41423-021-00644-5

- Chizzolini C, Chicheportiche R, Alvarez M, de Rham C, Roux-Lombard P, Ferrari-Lacraz S, et al. Prostaglandin E2 synergistically with interleukin-23 favors human Th17 expansion. *Blood.* (2008) 112:3696–703. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-05-155408
- 72. Menon B, Gullick NJ, Walter GJ, Rajasekhar M, Garrood T, Evans HG, et al. Interleukin-17+CD8+ T cells are enriched in the joints of patients with psoriatic arthritis and correlate with disease activity and joint damage progression. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2014) 66:1272–81. doi: 10.1002/art.38376
- 73. Steel KJA, Srenathan U, Ridley M, Durham LE, Wu S-Y, Ryan SE, et al. Polyfunctional Proinflammatory, Tissue-Resident Memory Phenotype and Function of Synovial Interleukin-17A+CD8+ T Cells in Psoriatic Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2020) 72:435–47. doi: 10.1002/art.41156
- Raychaudhuri SK, Saxena A, Raychaudhuri SP. Role of IL-17 in the pathogenesis of psoriatic arthritis and axial spondyloarthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2015) 34:1019–23. doi: 10.1007/s10067-015-2961-7
- Benham H, Norris P, Goodall J, Wechalekar MD, FitzGerald O, Szentpetery A, et al. Th17 and Th22 cells in psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2013) 15:R136–R136. doi: 10.1186/ar4317
- Salvarani C, Fries W. Clinical features and epidemiology of spondyloarthritides associated with inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. (2009) 15:2449–55. doi: 10.3748/wjg.15.2449
- Sheth T, Pitchumoni CS, Das KM. Management of musculoskeletal manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Res Pract.* (2015) 2015:387891. doi: 10.1155/2015/387891
- 78. Goyette P, Boucher G, Mallon D, Ellinghaus E, Jostins L, Huang H, et al. High-density mapping of the MHC identifies a shared role for HLA-DRB1*01:03 in inflammatory bowel diseases and heterozygous advantage in ulcerative colitis. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:172–9. doi: 10.1038/ng.3176
- Orchard TR, Thiyagaraja S, Welsh KI, Wordsworth BP, Hill Gaston JS, Jewell DP. Clinical phenotype is related to HLA genotype in the peripheral arthropathies of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2000) 118:274–8. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(00)70209-5
- Reveille JD, Zhou X, Lee M, Weisman MH Yi L, Gensler LS, et al. HLA class I and II alleles in susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2019) 78:66–73. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213779
- Bouma G, Strober W. The immunological and genetic basis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2003) 3:521–33. doi: 10.1038/nri1132
- Brakenhoff LK, van der Heijde DM, Hommes DW, Huizinga TW, Fidder HH. The joint-gut axis in inflammatory bowel diseases. J Crohns Colitis. (2010) 4:257–68. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2009.11.005
- Peeters H, Vander Cruyssen B, Laukens D, Coucke P, Marichal D, Van Den Berghe M, et al. Radiological sacroiliitis, a hallmark of spondylitis, is linked with CARD15 gene polymorphisms in patients with Crohn's disease. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2004) 63:1131–4. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.021774
- Ogura Y, Bonen DK, Inohara N, Nicolae DL, Chen FF, Ramos R, et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature*. (2001) 411:603–6. doi: 10.1038/35079114
- Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, Sun S-C. NF-κB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct Targeted Ther. (2017) 2:17023. doi: 10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. *Science*. (2006) 314:1461–3. doi: 10.1126/science.113 5245
- Danoy P, Pryce K, Hadler J, Bradbury LA, Farrar C, Pointon J, et al. Association of variants at 1q32 and STAT3 with ankylosing spondylitis suggests genetic overlap with Crohn's disease. *PLoS Genet.* (2010) 6:e1001195–e1001195. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1001195
- Ott SJ, Musfeldt M, Wenderoth DF, Hampe J, Brant O, Fölsch UR, et al. Reduction in diversity of the colonic mucosa associated bacterial microflora in patients with active inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* (2004) 53:685–93. doi: 10.1136/gut.2003.025403
- Martinez-Medina M, Aldeguer X, Gonzalez-Huix F, Acero D, Garcia-Gil LJ. Abnormal microbiota composition in the ileocolonic mucosa of Crohn's disease patients as revealed by polymerase chain reactiondenaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2006) 12:1136– 45. doi: 10.1097/01.mib.0000235828.09305.0c
- 90. Johansson ME, Phillipson M, Petersson J, Velcich A, Holm L, Hansson GC. The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon

is devoid of bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2008) 105:15064–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803124105

- Gracey E, Vereecke L, McGovern D, Fröhling M, Schett G, Danese S, et al. Revisiting the gut-joint axis: links between gut inflammation and spondyloarthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2020) 16:415–33. doi: 10.1038/s41584-020-0454-9
- Jacques P, Elewaut D, Mielants H. Interactions between gut inflammation and arthritis/spondylitis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2010) 22:368–74. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e3283393807
- Imdad A, Nicholson MR, Tanner-Smith EE, Zackular JP, Gomez-Duarte OG, Beaulieu DB, et al. Fecal transplantation for treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 11:Cd012774. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012774.pub2
- 94. Zhao HL, Chen SZ, Xu HM, Zhou YL, He J, Huang HL, et al. Efficacy and safety of fecal microbiota transplantation for treating patients with ulcerative colitis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dig Dis.* (2020) 21:534–48. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12933
- Moayyedi P, Surette MG, Kim PT, Libertucci J, Wolfe M, Onischi C, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation induces remission in patients with active ulcerative colitis in a randomized controlled trial. *Gastroenterology*. (2015). 149:102–109e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.001
- 96. Kragsnaes MS, Kjeldsen J, Horn HC, Munk HL, Pedersen JK, Just SA, et al. Safety and efficacy of faecal microbiota transplantation for active peripheral psoriatic arthritis: an exploratory randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2021). doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2021-220910
- Serriari NE, Eoche M, Lamotte L, Lion J, Fumery M, Marcelo P, et al. Innate mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are activated in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2014) 176:266–74. doi: 10.1111/cei.12277
- Deusch K, Lüling F, Reich K, Classen M, Wagner H, Pfeffer K, et al. major fraction of human intraepithelial lymphocytes simultaneously expresses the gamma/delta T cell receptor, the CD8 accessory molecule and preferentially uses the V delta 1 gene segment. *Eur J Immunol.* (1991) 21:1053–9. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830210429
- Catalan-Serra I, Sandvik AK, Bruland T, Andreu-Ballester JC. Gammadelta T cells in crohn's disease: a new player in the disease pathogenesis? *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis*. (2017) 11:1135–45. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx039
- Kühl AA, Loddenkemper C, Westermann J, Hoffmann JC. Role of gamma delta T cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *Pathobiology*. (2002) 70:150–5. doi: 10.1159/000068147
- 101. Cosmi L, De Palma R, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Capone M, Frosali F, et al. Human interleukin 17-producing cells originate from a CD161+CD4+ T cell precursor. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:1903–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20080397
- 102. Kaser A, Ludwiczek O, Holzmann S, Moschen AR, Weiss G, Enrich B, et al. Increased expression of CCL20 in human inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Immunol. (2004) 24:74–85. doi: 10.1023/B:JOCI.000018066.46279.6b
- Varona R, Cadenas V, Flores J, Martínez AC, Márquez G. CCR6 has a nonredundant role in the development of inflammatory bowel disease. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:2937–46. doi: 10.1002/eji.200324347
- 104. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, et al. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* (2003) 52:65. doi: 10.1136/gut.52.1.65
- 105. Seiderer J, Elben I, Diegelmann J, Glas J, Stallhofer J, Tillack C. et al. Role of the novel Th17 cytokine IL-17F in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD): upregulated colonic IL-17F expression in active Crohn's disease and analysis of the IL17F pHis161Arg polymorphism in IBD. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2008) 14:437–45. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20339
- 106. Kobayashi T, Okamoto S, Hisamatsu T, Kamada N, Chinen H, Saito R, et al. IL23 differentially regulates the Th1/Th17 balance in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Gut.* (2008) 57:1682–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.135053
- 107. Moschen AR, Tilg H. Raine IL-12 T, IL-23 and IL-17 in IBD: immunobiology and therapeutic targeting. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 16:185–96. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0084-8
- Ogawa A, Andoh A, Araki Y, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y. Neutralization of interleukin-17 aggravates dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. *Clin Immunol.* (2004) 110:55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2003.09.013
- 109. Wang J, Bhatia A, Krugliak Cleveland N, Gupta N, Dalal S, Rubin DT, et al. Rapid onset of inflammatory bowel disease after receiving secukinumab infusion. ACG Case Rep J. (2018) 5:e56. doi: 10.14309/crj.2018.56

- 110. Fauny M, Moulin D, Amico F, Netter P, Petitpain N, Arnone D, Jouzeau J-Y, Loeuille D, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Paradoxical gastrointestinal effects of interleukin-17 blockers. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:1132. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217927
- 111. Martin TM, Rosenbaum JT. An update on the genetics of HLA B27associated acute anterior uveitis. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. (2011) 19:108–14. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2011.559302
- 112. Wakefield D, Montanaro A, McCluskey P. Acute anterior uveitis and HLA-B27. Surv Ophthalmol. (1991) 36:223–32. doi: 10.1016/0039-6257(91)90005-Z
- 113. Khan MA, Kushner I, Braun WE. Association of HLA-A2 with uveitis in HLA-B27 positive patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *J Rheumatol.* (1981) 8:295–8.
- 114. Monowarul Islam SM, Numaga J, Fujino Y, Masuda K, Ohda H, Hirata R, et al. HLA-DR8 and acute anterior uveitis in ankylosing spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheum*. (1995) 38:547–50. doi: 10.1002/art.1780380414
- 115. Orchard TR, Chua CN, Ahmad T, Cheng H, Welsh KI, Jewell DP. Uveitis and erythema nodosum in inflammatory bowel disease: clinical features and the role of HLA genes. *Gastroenterology*. (2002) 123:714–8. doi: 10.1053/gast.2002.35396
- 116. Loukil H, Kamoun A, Mahfoudh N, Frikha F, Snoussi M, Gaddour L, et al. Association study of MICA-TM and HLA-class I polymorphism with uveitis in South Tunisian population. *Pathol Biol (Paris)*. (2015) 63:101–5. doi: 10.1016/j.patbio.2014.10.007
- 117. Goto K, Ota M, Maksymowych WP, Mizuki N, Yabuki K, Katsuyama Y, et al. Association between MICA gene A4 allele and acute anterior uveitis in white patients with and without HLA-B27. Am J Ophthalmol. (1998) 126:436–41. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9394(98)00100-7
- 118. Lindner E, Steinwender G, Plainer S, Poeschl EM, Weger M, Ardjomand N, et al. Role of IL-10 gene polymorphisms in intermediate and HLA-B27-associated uveitis. Acta Ophthalmol. (2013) 91:e415–7. doi: 10.1111/aos.12104
- 119. Xiang Q, Chen L, Fang J, Hou S, Wei L, Bai L, et al. receptor-associated factor 5 gene confers genetic predisposition to acute anterior uveitis and pediatric uveitis. Arthritis Res Ther. (2013) 15:R113. doi: 10.1186/ar4293
- Levinson RD. Killer immunoglobulin-like receptor genes in uveitis. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. (2011) 19:192–201. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2010.538798
- 121. Robinson PC, Claushuis TA, Cortes A, Martin TM, Evans DM, Leo P, et al. Genetic dissection of acute anterior uveitis reveals similarities and differences in associations observed with ankylosing spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2015) 67:140–51. doi: 10.1002/art.38873
- 122. Zhou R, Caspi RR. Ocular immune privilege. F1000 Biol Rep. (2010) 2:3. doi: 10.3410/B2-3
- Forrester JV, Kuffova L. Dick AAutoimmunity D, Autoinflammation, and Infection in Uveitis. Am J Ophthalmol. (2018) 189:77–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2018.02.019
- 124. Nakamura YK, Janowitz C, Metea C, Asquith M, Karstens L, Rosenbaum JT, et al. Short chain fatty acids ameliorate immune-mediated uveitis partially by altering migration of lymphocytes from the intestine. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:11745. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12163-3
- 125. Salvador RS, Horai R, Tang J, Zárate-Bladés C, Jittayasothorn Y, Itoh K, et al. Gut microbiota as a source of signals that trigger spontaneous ocular autoimmunity. *J Immunol.* (2017). 198:218.
- 126. McGonagle D, Aydin SZ, Gül A, Mahr A, Direskeneli H. 'MHC-Iopathy'—unified concept for spondyloarthritis and Behçet disease. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2015) 11:731–40. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2015. 147
- 127. Reinhardt A, Yevsa T, Worbs T, Lienenklaus S, Sandrock I, Oberdörfer L, et al. Interleukin-23-Dependent γ/δ T Cells Produce Interleukin-17 and Accumulate in the Enthesis. Aortic Valve, and Ciliary Body in Mice Arthritis. *Rheumatol.* (2016) 68:2476–86. doi: 10.1002/art. 39732
- Jawad S, Liu B, Agron E, Nussenblatt RB, Sen HN. Elevated serum levels of interleukin-17A in uveitis patients. *Ocul Immunol Inflamm.* (2013) 21:434–9. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2013.815786
- 129. Amadi-Obi A, Yu CR, Liu X, Mahdi RM, Clarke GL, Nussenblatt RB, et al. TH17 cells contribute to uveitis and scleritis and are expanded by IL-2 and inhibited by IL-27/STAT1. Nat Med. (2007) 13:711–8. doi: 10.1038/nm1585

- Liu X, Lee YS Yu CR, Egwuagu CE. Loss of STAT3 in CD4+ T cells prevents development of experimental autoimmune diseases. J Immunol. (2008) 180:6070–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6070
- 131. Hohki S, Ohguro N, Haruta H, Nakai K, Terabe F, Serada S, et al. Blockade of interleukin-6 signaling suppresses experimental autoimmune uveoretinitis by the inhibition of inflammatory Th17 responses. *Exp Eye Res.* (2010) 91:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2010.04.009
- 132. Caspi R. Autoimmunity in the immune privileged eye: pathogenic and regulatory T cells. *Immunol Res.* (2008) 42:41–50. doi: 10.1007/s12026-008-8031-3
- Fotiadou C, Lazaridou E. Psoriasis and uveitis: links and risks. *Psoriasis* (Auckl). (2019) 9:91-6. doi: 10.2147/PTT.S179182
- 134. Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, de Wit M, McInnes I, Dougados M, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:700–12. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218456
- Ritchlin CT, Kavanaugh A, Gladman DD, Mease PJ, Helliwell P, Boehncke WH, et al. Treatment recommendations for psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2009) 68:1387–94. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.094946
- 136. Coates LC, Kavanaugh A, Mease PJ, Soriano ER, Laura Acosta-Felquer M, Armstrong AW, et al. Group for research and assessment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (2015). Treatment recommendations for psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2016) 68:1060–71. doi: 10.1002/art.39573
- 137. Reinink AR, Lee TC, Higgins PD. Endoscopic mucosal healing predicts favorable clinical outcomes in inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:1859–69. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000816
- 138. Turner D, Ricciuto A, Lewis A, D'Amico F, Dhaliwal J, Griffiths AM. et al. STRIDE-II: an update on the selecting therapeutic targets in inflammatory bowel disease (STRIDE) initiative of the international organization for the study of IBD (IOIBD): determining therapeutic goals for treat-to-target strategies in IBD. *Gastroenterology.* (2021) 160:1570–83. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.12.031
- 139. Peyrin-Biroulet L, Sandborn W, Sands BE, Reinisch W, Bemelman W, Bryant RV, et al. Selecting therapeutic targets in inflammatory bowel disease (STRIDE): determining therapeutic goals for treat-to-target. Am J Gastroenterol. (2015) 110:1324–38. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2015.233
- Ungaro R, Colombel JF, Lissoos T, Peyrin-Biroulet L, A. Treat-to-target update in ulcerative colitis: a systematic review. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2019) 114:874–83. doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000183
- 141. Colombel JF, D'Haens G, Lee WJ, Petersson J, Panaccione R. Outcomes and strategies to support a treat-to-target approach in inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) 14:254–66. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz131
- 142. Khoudari G, Mansoor E, Click B, Alkhayyat M, Saleh MA, Sinh P, et al. Rates of intestinal resection and colectomy in inflammatory bowel disease patients after initiation of biologics: a cohort study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2020.10.008
- 143. Gomollón F, Dignass A, Annese V, Tilg H, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, et al. ECCO, 3rd European evidence-based consensus on the diagnosis and management of crohn's disease 2016: part 1: diagnosis and medical management. J Crohn's Colitis. (2016) 11:3–25. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw168
- 144. Lichtenstein GR, Loftus EV, Isaacs KL, Regueiro MD, Gerson LB, Sands BE, et al. Clinical guideline: management of crohn's disease in adults. Am J Gastroenterol. (2018) 113:481–517. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2018.27
- 145. Torres J, Bonovas S, Doherty G, Kucharzik T, Gisbert JP, Raine T, et al. ECCO guidelines on therapeutics in crohn's disease: medical treatment. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) 14:4–22. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz180
- Akobeng AK, Zachos M. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha antibody for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* (2003) 4. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003574.pub2
- Behm BW. Bickston SJ. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha antibody for maintenance of remission in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* (2008) 1. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006893
- 148. Hanauer SB, Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, Fedorak RN, Lukas M, MacIntosh D, et al. Human anti-tumor necrosis factor monoclonal antibody (adalimumab) in Crohn's disease: the CLASSIC-I trial. *Gastroenterology*. (2006). 130:323– 33. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.11.030

- 149. Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Rutgeerts P, Fedorak RN, Lukas M, MacIntosh DG, et al. Adalimumab for maintenance treatment of Crohn's disease: results of the CLASSIC II trial. *Gut.* (2007) 56:1232–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.106781
- 150. Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, Enns R, Hanauer SB, Colombel JF, Panaccione R, et al. Adalimumab induction therapy for Crohn disease previously treated with infliximab: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. (2007) 146:829–38. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-146-12-200706190-00159
- 151. Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Rutgeerts P, Enns R, Hanauer SB, Panaccione R, et al. Adalimumab for maintenance of clinical response and remission in patients with Crohn's disease: the CHARM trial. *Gastroenterology.* (2007) 132:52–65. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.11.041
- 152. Rutgeerts P, Van Assche G, Sandborn WJ, Wolf DC, Geboes K, Colombel JF, et al. Adalimumab induces and maintains mucosal healing in patients with Crohn's disease: data from the EXTEND trial. *Gastroenterology*. (2012). 142:1102–11.e2. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.01.035
- 153. Targan SR, Hanauer SB, van Deventer SJ, Mayer L, Present DH, Braakman T, et al. A short-term study of chimeric monoclonal antibody cA2 to tumor necrosis factor alpha for Crohn's disease. Crohn's disease cA2 study group. N Engl J Med. (1997) 337:1029–35. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199710093371502
- 154. Hanauer SB, Feagan BG, Lichtenstein GR, Mayer LF, Schreiber S, Colombel JF, et al. Maintenance infliximab for Crohn's disease: the ACCENT I randomised trial. *Lancet.* (2002) 359:1541–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08512-4
- 155. Sands BE, Anderson FH, Bernstein CN, Chey WY, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN, et al. Infliximab maintenance therapy for fistulizing Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2004) 350:876–85. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa030815
- 156. Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Reinisch W, Mantzaris GJ, Kornbluth A, Rachmilewitz D, et al. Infliximab, azathioprine, or combination therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:1383–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0904492
- Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Stoinov S, Honiball PJ, Rutgeerts P, Mason D, et al. Certolizumab pegol for the treatment of Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2007) 357:228–38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa067594
- 158. Schreiber S, Colombel JF, Bloomfield R, Nikolaus S, Schölmerich J, Panés J, et al. Increased response and remission rates in short-duration Crohn's disease with subcutaneous certolizumab pegol: an analysis of PRECiSE 2 randomized maintenance trial data. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2010) 105:1574–82. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2010.78
- 159. Sandborn WJ, Abreu MT, D'Haens G, Colombel JF, Vermeire S, Mitchev K, et al. Certolizumab pegol in patients with moderate to severe Crohn's disease and secondary failure to infliximab. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2010). 8:688–95.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2010.04.021
- 160. Targan SR, Feagan B, Vermeire S, Panaccione R, Melmed GY, Landers C, et al. A Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 study of brodalumab in patients with moderate-to-severe Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol. (2016) 111:1599–607. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.298
- 161. Sandborn WJ, Gasink C, Gao LL, Blank MA, Johanns J, Guzzo C, et al. Ustekinumab induction and maintenance therapy in refractory Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2012) 367:1519–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa120 3572
- 162. Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, Gasink C, Jacobstein D, Lang Y, Friedman JR, et al. Ustekinumab as Induction and Maintenance Therapy for Crohn's Disease. *New Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:1946–60.
- 163. Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, Panés J, Kaser A, Ferrante M, et al. Induction therapy with the selective interleukin-23 inhibitor risankizumab in patients with moderate-to-severe Crohn's disease: a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. *Lancet.* (2017) 389:1699–709. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30570-6
- 164. Sandborn WJ, Ghosh S, Panes J, Vranic I, Wang W, Niezychowski W. A phase 2 study of tofacitinib, an oral Janus kinase inhibitor, in patients with Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2014). 12:1485–93.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.01.029
- 165. Panés J, Sandborn WJ, Schreiber S, Sands BE, Vermeire S, D'Haens G, et al. Tofacitinib for induction and maintenance therapy of Crohn's disease: results of two phase IIb randomised placebo-controlled trials. *Gut.* (2017) 66:1049–59. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312735
- 166. Vermeire S, Schreiber S, Petryka R, Kuehbacher T, Hebuterne X, Roblin X, et al. Clinical remission in patients with moderate-to-severe Crohn's

disease treated with filgotinib (the FITZROY study): results from a phase 2, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet*. (2017) 389:266–75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32537-5

- 167. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Loftus EV, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Van Assche G, D'Haens G, et al. Efficacy and safety of upadacitinib in a randomized trial of patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2020). 158:2123–38.e8. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.01.047
- 168. Lichtenstein GR, Yan S, Bala M, Hanauer S. Remission in patients with Crohn's disease is associated with improvement in employment and quality of life and a decrease in hospitalizations and surgeries. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2004) 99:91–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1572-0241.2003.04010.x
- 169. Feagan BG, Panaccione R, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens GR, Schreiber S, Rutgeerts PJ, et al. Effects of adalimumab therapy on incidence of hospitalization and surgery in Crohn's disease: results from the CHARM study. *Gastroenterology*. (2008) 135:1493–9. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.07.069
- 170. Echarri A, Ollero V. Barreiro-de Acosta M, Fernández-Villaverde A, Hernández V, Lorenzo A, et al. Clinical, biological, and endoscopic responses to adalimumab in antitumor necrosis factor-naive Crohn's disease: predictors of efficacy in clinical practice. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2015) 27:430–5. doi: 10.1097/MEG.00000000000296
- 171. Mastronardi M, Curlo M, Cavalcanti E, Burattini O, Cuppone R, Tauro R, et al. Administration timing is the best clinical outcome predictor for adalimumab administration in Crohn's disease. *Frontiers in medicine*. (2019) 6:234–234. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00234
- 172. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sands BE, et al. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2013) 369:711–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa121 5739
- 173. Sands BE, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Sy R, et al. Effects of vedolizumab induction therapy for patients with Crohn's disease in whom tumor necrosis factor antagonist treatment failed. *Gastroenterology*. (2014). 147:618–27.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.05.008
- 174. AbbVie. Risankizumab (SKYRIZI®) Demonstrates Significant Improvements in Clinical Remission and Endoscopic Response in Two Phase 3 Induction Studies in Patients with Crohn's Disease. (2021). Available online at: https://news.abbvie.com/news/press-releases/risankizumabskyrizi-demonstrates-significant-improvements-in-clinical-remissionand-endoscopic-response-in-two-phase-3-induction-studies-in-patientswith-crohns-disease.htm. (accessed July 1, 2021)
- 175. AbbVie. Phase 3 Maintenance Results Show Patients with Crohn's Disease Receiving Risankizumab (SKYRIZI®) Achieved Endoscopic Response and Clinical Remission at One Year. (2021). Available online at: https:// news.abbvie.com/news/press-releases/phase-3-maintenance-results-showpatients-with-crohns-disease-receiving-risankizumab-skyrizi-achievedendoscopic-response-and-clinical-remission-at-one-year.htm. (accessed July 1, 2021)
- 176. Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PD, et al. Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Gut.* (2012) 61:1693–700. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301668
- 177. Genovese M C, Colombel J, Gellett A M., Xu W, D H. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease among patients treated with ixekizumab: an update on adjudicated data from an integrated database of patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. In *ACR/ARHP Annual Meeting. 2018: Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2018).
- Reinisch W, Sandborn WJ, Hommes DW, D'Haens G, Hanauer S, Schreiber S, et al. Adalimumab for induction of clinical remission in moderately to severely active ulcerative colitis: results of a randomised controlled trial. *Gut.* (2011) 60:780–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.221127
- 179. Sandborn WJ, van Assche G, Reinisch W, Colombel JF, D'Haens G, Wolf DC, et al. Adalimumab induces and maintains clinical remission in patients with moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2012). 142:257– 65.e1-3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.10.032
- Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, et al. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:2462–76. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 050516

- 181. Panaccione R, Ghosh S, Middleton S, Márquez JR, Scott BB, Flint L, et al. Combination therapy with infliximab and azathioprine is superior to monotherapy with either agent in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2014). 146:392–400.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.052
- 182. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Marano C, Zhang H, Strauss R, Johanns J, et al. Subcutaneous golimumab induces clinical response and remission in patients with moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2014). 146:85–95. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.05.048
- 183. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Marano C, Zhang H, Strauss R, Johanns J, et al. Subcutaneous golimumab maintains clinical response in patients with moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2014). 146:96– 109.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.06.010
- 184. Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Sands BE, Hanauer S, Colombel J-F, Sandborn WJ, et al. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *New Engl J Med.* (2013) 369:699–710. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa121 5734
- 185. Sands BE, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Loftus EV, Danese S, Colombel J-F, Törüner M, et al. Vedolizumab versus adalimumab for moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis. *New Engl J Med.* (2019) 381:1215–26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa190 5725
- 186. Sandborn WJ, Su C, Sands BE, D'Haens GR, Vermeire S, Schreiber S, et al. Tofacitinib as Induction and Maintenance Therapy for Ulcerative Colitis. *New Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:1723–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa160 6910
- 187. AbbVie. A Study to Evaluate the Long-Term Safety and Efficacy of Upadacitinib (ABT-494) in Participants With Ulcerative Colitis (UC). (2021). Available online at: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03006068. (accessed July 1, 2021)
- Babu K, Mahendradas P. Medical management of uveitis current trends. Indian J Ophthalmol. (2013) 61:277–83. doi: 10.4103/0301-4738.114099
- Cordero-Coma M, Sobrin L. Anti-tumor necrosis factor-α therapy in uveitis. Surv Ophthalmol. (2015). 60:575–89. doi: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2015.06.004
- 190. Jaffe GJ, Dick AD, Brézin AP, Nguyen QD, Thorne JE, Kestelyn P, et al. Adalimumab in patients with active noninfectious uveitis. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:932–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1509852
- 191. Nguyen QD, Merrill PT, Jaffe GJ, Dick AD, Kurup SK, Sheppard J, et al. Adalimumab for prevention of uveitic flare in patients with inactive noninfectious uveitis controlled by corticosteroids (VISUAL II): a multicentre, double-masked, randomised, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet*. (2016) 388:1183–92. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31339-3
- 192. van Bentum RE, Heslinga SC, Nurmohamed MT, Gerards AH, Griep EN, Koehorst C, et al. Reduced occurrence rate of acute anterior uveitis in ankylosing spondylitis treated with golimumab - The GO-EASY study. J Rheumatol. (2019) 46:153–9. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.180312
- 193. Van der Horst-Bruinsma I, Van Bentum R, Verbraak F, Rath T, Rosenbaum J, Misterska-Skora M, et al. THU0379 reduction of anterior uveitis flares in patients with axial spondyloarthritis following one year of treatment with certolizumab pegol: 48-week interim results from a 96-week open-label study. Ann Rheum Dis. (2020) 79:423–423. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-eular.3747
- 194. Dick AD, Tugal-Tutkun I, Foster S, Zierhut M, Melissa Liew SH, Bezlyak V, et al. Secukinumab in the treatment of noninfectious uveitis: results of three randomized, controlled clinical trials. *Ophthalmology*. (2013) 120:777–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2012.09.040
- Letko E, Yeh S, Foster CS, Pleyer U, Brigell M, Grosskreutz CL. Efficacy and safety of intravenous secukinumab in noninfectious uveitis requiring steroidsparing immunosuppressive therapy. *Ophthalmology*. (2015) 122:939–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.12.033
- 196. Sen HN. Ustekinumab (STELARA) for the Treatment of Active Sight-Threatening Uveitis (STAR Study). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/results/NCT02911116. (accessed July 5, 2021)
- 197. Terrier, Efficacy B. Safety of Ustekinumab, a Human Monoclonal Anti-IL-12/IL-23 Antibody, in Patients With Behçet Disease (STELABEC). Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02648581. (accessed July 5, 2021)
- 198. Braun J, Baraliakos X, Listing J, Sieper J. Decreased incidence of anterior uveitis in patients with ankylosing spondylitis treated with the anti-tumor

necrosis factor agents infliximab and etanercept. Arthritis Rheum. (2005) 52:2447-51. doi: 10.1002/art.21197

- 199. Visalli E, Crispino N, Foti R. Multidisciplinary management of psoriatic arthritis: the benefits of a comprehensive approach. *Adv Ther.* (2019) 36:806–16. doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-00 901-0
- 200. Cañete JD, Puig L. Multidisciplinary teams for psoriatic arthritis: on aims and approaches. *Actas Dermosifiliogr.* (2014) 105:325-7. doi: 10.1016/j.adengl.2014.01.002

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chia, Ang, Chan, Chan, Chong and Leung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hyperuricemia in Psoriatic Arthritis: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Implications

Cesare Tripolino¹, Jacopo Ciaffi², Piero Ruscitti³, Roberto Giacomelli⁴, Riccardo Meliconi^{2,5} and Francesco Ursini^{2,5*}

¹ Geriatric Medicine Unit, Department of Medical Functional Area, "San Giovanni di Dio" Hospital, Crotone, Italy, ² Medicine and Rheumatology Unit, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS) Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli (IOR), Bologna, Italy, ³ Rheumatology Unit, Department of Biotechnological and Applied Clinical Sciences, University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy, ⁴ Unit of Allergology, Immunology, Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, Università Campus Bio-Medico Di Roma, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Department of Biomedical and Neuromotor Sciences (DIBINEM), Alma Mater Studiorum University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) represents the articular component of the systemic psoriatic disease and the extra-cutaneous disorder most frequently found in patients with psoriasis. Besides the articular involvement, PsA is associated with several metabolic abnormalities such as insulin resistance, hypertension, diabetes and hyperuricemia. Uric acid is the final product of purine metabolism and the etiological substrate of gout. Accumulating evidence highlights the emerging role of hyperuricemia as a major cardiovascular risk factor. Moreover, different studies evaluated the interplay between hyperuricemia and psoriatic disease, suggesting that individuals affected by psoriasis or PsA might present higher serum levels of uric acid and that hyperuricemia might affect severity of clinical manifestations and degree of inflammation in PsA patients. In this review, we focus on the bidirectional relationship between uric acid and PsA, analyzing how uric acid may be involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis/PsA and how clinical manifestations of PsA and inflammatory mediators are affected by uric acid concentrations. Finally, the effects of anti-rheumatic drugs on uric acid levels and the potential benefit of urate-lowering therapies on psoriasis and PsA were summarized.

Keywords: uric acid, gout, psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, inflammation, cardiovascular

INTRODUCTION

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) represents the articular component of a complex clinical entity now recognized as "psoriatic disease." Musculoskeletal involvement is reported in 20% of patients with psoriasis (Pso) (1) and encompasses a wide spectrum of manifestations including enthesitis, dactylitis, peripheral arthritis, and axial disease. Discrete clinical phenotypes (asymmetric oligoarthritis, symmetrical polyarthritis, distal interphalangeal joints arthritis, arthritis mutilans, spondylitis) have been historically identified although, in clinical practice, they frequently intersect each other (2). Beyond the joint involvement, PsA is burdened by a high prevalence of cardiometabolic comorbidities such as obesity, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, hypertension and hyperuricemia (3).

Uric acid (UA) is the end-product of purine metabolism. Recently, serum uric acid (SUA) gained popularity since an association with cardiovascular mortality and morbidity has been demonstrated (4). A number of studies investigated the interplay between hyperuricemia and Pso/PsA suggesting

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

João Eurico Fonseca, University of Lisbon, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Filipa Farinha, University College London, United Kingdom Prasanta Padhan, Kalinga Institute of Medical Sciences (KIMS), India

> *Correspondence: Francesco Ursini francesco.ursini2@unibo.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 07 July 2021 Accepted: 27 August 2021 Published: 22 September 2021

Citation:

Tripolino C, Ciaffi J, Ruscitti P, Giacomelli R, Meliconi R and Ursini F (2021) Hyperuricemia in Psoriatic Arthritis: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Implications. Front. Med. 8:737573. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.737573 that subjects with these disorders also show higher levels of SUA or increased prevalence of hyperuricemia (5–21). The mechanisms behind these findings are not completely understood. Hyperuricemia was hypothesized to be a consequence of the accelerated cutaneous cells turnover observed in Pso or an epiphenomenon secondary to the metabolic disorders observed in Pso/PsA.

In the present review, we summarize the available literature regarding the association between Pso/PsA and hyperuricemia focusing on epidemiology, pathophysiology, and clinical implications.

Literature review was limited to published primary research, including basic science, cohort studies, intervention and observational trials, and review articles indexed in PubMed.

The following search terms were used: "psoriasis" OR "psoriatic arthritis" AND "urate" OR "uric acid" OR "monosodium urate" OR "gout" OR "urate-lowering agent." The search was limited to articles written in English, with no date restriction. Title and abstract screening of all retrieved studies published up to 1st June 2021 was performed by two of the authors (CT and JC). Eligible articles proceeded to full-text assessment. As the intent of the review was narrative, inclusion was based on relevance, as deemed so by the authors, to one of the 5 subcategories of interest: (1) pathophysiology of uric acid in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis, (2) uric acid levels in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis, (3) uric acid levels and cardiovascular comorbidities in psoriatic arthritis, (4) effects of anti-rheumatic drugs on serum uric acid levels in psoriatic arthritis, and (5) effects of urate-lowering agents on serum inflammatory mediators.

URIC ACID METABOLISM AND BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS: A BRIEF OVERVIEW

UA is a heterocyclic compound of carbon, nitrogen, oxygen, and hydrogen derived from the exogenous and endogenous purine metabolism. Liver and gut, but also muscles, lungs, kidneys and the vascular endothelium represent the main sites of UA production. Normal SUA values range from 1.5 to 6.0 mg/dL in adult females and from 2.5 to 7.0 mg/dL in adult males (22, 23). Urate homeostasis is maintained by a finely regulated balance between production and excretion. Although kidneys are the main responsible for UA excretion (65-75% of UA elimination), also intestine plays a relevant role in UA metabolism (25-35% of UA elimination). Kidneys and intestine exert these activities through the presence of urate transporters on their surface. The primary urate transporters are urate transporter 1 (URAT1), located on the apical surface of proximal tubular cells, glucose transporter 9 (GLUT9), located on the basolateral membrane of the proximal tubule, and ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2), located on both intestinal and renal cells surface (24). On the other hand, organic anion transporters (OAT1, OAT2, and OAT3) at the basolateral membrane, sodiumdependent phosphate cotransporters (NPT1 and NPT4) and multidrug resistance protein-4 (MRP4) at the apical membrane, mediate urate secretion. URAT 1, GLUT 9 and OAT4 are responsible for the tubular urate reabsorption (25).

Raised levels of serum UA derive from increased production, impaired elimination, or a combination of the two. With progress in understanding the pathogenesis, some authors proposed a new classification of hyperuricemia: renal overload type (including overproduction and reduced extra-renal excretion) and renal underexcretion type (26). Neoplastic diseases, Pso, obesity, alcohol consumption, and genetic disorders belong to the first group, whereas kidney disease, diuretics, and immunosuppressant agents are included in the second one (27).

UA formation involves a series of biochemical reactions that lead to the degradation of adenosine and guanosine. As first step, adenosine monophosphate is converted to inosine by a deaminase that removes an amino-group creating the inosine monophosphate. Afterward, it is transformed in inosine by a nucleotidase. Instead, guanine monophosphate is transformed in guanosine by the nucleotidase. Subsequently, an enzyme called purine nucleoside phosphorylase converts inosine and guanosine into hypoxanthine and guanine. The intervention of xanthine-oxidase will transform hypoxanthine in xanthine, whereas the guanine deaminase will convert guanine in xanthine. Finally, xanthine oxidase oxidizes xanthine, forming the uric acid molecule (23). Historically known as the causative agent of gout, uric acid has gained increased popularity in the last years for its double-faced nature as a risk and protective factor in various settings (28).

Uric Acid as Protective Factor

SUA has a strong antioxidant effect and metal-chelating properties (22, 29), acting as a scavenger of plasma nitrogen radicals and reactive oxygen species, thus reducing the production of peroxynitrite (29, 30).

Furthermore, UA plays an important function as immunestimulating agent especially in innate immune responses and type 2 immune responses (31, 32). Studies suggest that UA acts as a damage-associated molecular pattern after transformation in crystals of monosodium urate (33, 34). In this form it activates dendritic cells and enhances the innate immune system, behaving as an endogenous adjuvant (35, 36). Urate in its crystallin shape is phagocytized by monocytes or neutrophils causing the generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1. Furthermore, the internalization of UA crystals by leukocytes leads to production of free radicals, release of cathepsin B and activation of inflammasome (37, 38).

Interestingly, higher SUA levels have been hypothesized to play a protective role in the development of some neurological disorders such as dementia, multiple sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease (39–42). In a recent metaanalysis involving 5,575 participants, Zhou et al. demonstrated a significant inverse association between SUA and Alzheimer's disease or Parkinson's disease (43). Moreover, the authors found a linear dose-response relationship between UA values and risk of dementia. In a retrospective analysis involving 1,166 subjects with ischemic stroke, higher UA levels proved a significant protective role in preventing negative neurological outcomes in male patients (44). The reasons behind these findings are not fully elucidated but it has been speculated that the antioxidant and metal-chelating properties of UA exert a neuro-protective effect on brain function and cognitive decline (45).

Uric Acid as Risk Factor

Besides these beneficial effects, UA is also associated with several cardiovascular disorders (46). In the development of atherosclerotic lesions, UA up-regulates inflammatory signal pathways and promotes the pro-inflammatory response of M1 macrophages inhibiting the anti-inflammatory response of M2 (47). Moreover, hyperuricemia leads to development and progression of atherosclerosis through endothelial dysfunction. Intracellular UA reduces nitric oxide bioavailability impairing the activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide production (48). A role of UA has also been postulated in insulin resistance. Intracellular UA increases reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in turn cause β -cell apoptosis. Furthermore, due to the stimulation of inducible NO synthase (iNOS) gene expression, UA favors nitric oxide overproduction that leads to β-cell dysfunction and apoptosis and reduces glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (49).

Hyperuricemia is implicated in the development of hypertension and chronic kidney disease. UA activates the renin-angiotensin system and inhibits nitric oxide synthesis, promoting endothelial dysfunction, sodium reabsorption and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Moreover, uric acid triggers systemic inflammation and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines leading to increased extracellular fluid volume and vascular resistances, worsening systemic hypertension. Similarly, increased UA levels cause vascular and tubulointerstitial alterations that facilitate development and progression of chronic kidney disease (50).

However, a direct cause-effect relationship between hyperuricemia and chronic kidney disease or cardiovascular disease has not been definitely determined since hyperuricemia is often associated with other cardiovascular risk factors such as obesity, metabolic syndrome and hypertension, which might contribute to cardiovascular morbidity. In 2017, Li et al. (46) conducted a review of systematic reviews, meta-analyses and Mendelian randomization studies, analyzing the correlation between UA and 136 unique health outcomes. The authors concluded that a definitive association exists only between UA and nephrolithiasis, whereas the link with conditions such as heart failure, hypertension, impaired fasting glucose or diabetes, chronic kidney disease and coronary heart disease was deemed highly suggestive.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF URIC ACID IN PSORIASIS AND PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

The mechanisms behind hyperuricemia in Pso/PsA are still not fully elucidated and in part can only be hypothesized. High levels of SUA could be the consequence of an increased production, a reduced excretion or a combination of these factors (**Figure 1**).

It is plausible that, in the course of PsA, all these mechanisms contribute, favoring the development of hyperuricemia. It is also

possible to distinguish *direct causes* of increased uric acid, related to the pathogenetic features of PsA, and *indirect causes*, linked to comorbidities or pharmacological treatment.

One of the recognized mechanisms leading to hyperuricemia in PsA is the increased cellular turnover characterizing this disorder (51). Indeed, the hyperproliferation of keratinocytes leads to accelerated nucleic acid catabolism and enhanced UA synthesis. However, hyperuricemia might also derive from an increased UA production in the liver. The overwhelming cytokines production in PsA, in particular IL-17, can affect the liver, leading to hepatic complications such as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (52). Previous investigations found lower hepatic ATP production in hepatic steatosis (53, 54) that in turn causes increased production of UA from the hepatocytes (55).

Additional conceivable mechanisms might be related to the reduced renal and extra-renal clearance. Although the kidney represents the main actor of uric acid excretion, also other organs such as the intestine contribute to its balance. BCRP/ABCG2 is located at the apical membrane of small intestinal epithelial cells and it is involved in the UA secretion from blood into the intestinal lumen (56). A proportion of PsA patients might present evidence of clinical or microscopic inflammatory bowel disease, which might reduce the levels of these transporters and consequently impair UA homeostasis (57–59).

Hyperuricemia may be the consequence of the metabolic comorbidities associated with PsA: obesity, hypertension, insulin resistance or diabetes (60). In obese individuals, hyperuricemia is the result of both impaired excretion and overproduction of UA (61). In hyperlipidemia, the major mechanism causing hyperuricemia is the altered lipid metabolism. Indeed, the increased production of triglycerides lessens the expression of OAT1 in the kidney, leading to a reduced excretion of UA (25).

Again, the mechanism of overproduction of UA during insulin resistance states lies in the increased fatty acid synthesis in the liver that causes *de novo* purine synthesis and accelerated UA production (61–63). Furthermore, insulin stimulates the renal UA transporters leading to hyperuricemia (64).

Beyond the mechanisms underlying hyperuricemia, an intricate interplay between Pso, PsA and UA has been recognized (**Figure 2**), to the point that some authors proposed the term "psout" (65).

Indeed, it seems that UA could initiate and progress the alterations of PsA. The first observation about this issue dates back to 1981 when Goldman (19) found a high prevalence of urate crystals in samples of Pso plaques.

In a retrospective study, Oliverio et al. (66) analyzed the synovial fluid of patients with various articular disorder such as rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, gout, and PsA. The results of this investigation demonstrated a higher prevalence of urate crystals in PsA patients. Furthermore, the injection of urate crystals *in vivo* leads to the production of Th17 cells and Th17-related inflammatory cyto-chemokines, such as IL-17, one of the main mediators in the pathogenesis of PsA (67).

Urate crystals are able to stimulate human keratinocytes to produce several inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, in particular IL-1 α and IL-1 β , involved not only in gouty flares but also in the pathogenesis of PsA (68). Moreover,





UA increases the expression of purinergic receptors P2Y on keratinocytes, stimulating cell proliferation (69), and promoting the production of IL-8/CXCL8, promoting neutrophil chemotaxis (70, 71). Finally, *in vitro* studies on synoviocytes from

healthy and rheumatoid arthritis subjects, demonstrated that monosodium urate crystals were able to increase the production of inflammatory mediators such as IL-6, CXCL8 and matrix metalloproteinase-1 (72, 73).

Taken together, these evidences suggest that hyperuricemia doesn't represent a simple epiphenomenon in the course of PsA, but may play an important role in its development and progression.

URIC ACID LEVELS IN PSORIASIS AND PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

A summary of the included studies is reported in **Table 1**. The association between Pso and hyperuricemia was first described in a pioneering article by Hermann in 1930. Among 140 Pso patients, 31% had raised SUA levels (5). These data were further confirmed in early subsequent research, showing a prevalence of hyperuricemia of 30–50% in Pso (6, 7), while more recent estimates reported a figure of 15% (8). Other studies investigated mean levels of SUA rather than prevalence of hyperuricemia, confirming that Pso patients present significantly higher SUA concentrations than non-Pso controls (9, 10, 12, 15).

In a meta-analysis, Li et al. (13) identified a remarkable difference in SUA levels between subjects with Pso and controls (mean difference 0.89 mg/dl, 95% CI 0.05–1.73, p = 0.04). Interestingly, this difference was more evident in the subgroups of Western Europe, whereas it was not significant in the subgroups from East Asia or Middle East.

In a population-based study involving 11,282 participants (14), the authors found that patients with Pso were at increased risk of having hyperuricemia compared with subjects without Pso (OR =1.37; p =0.04). Moreover, participants with Pso were more likely to develop gout (*OR* =1.83; p < 0.05) but both associations were no longer significant after adjustment for confounding factors.

However, contrasting results have been reported in literature. For instance, in a case-control study, Scott et al. (74) didn't find any significant difference in SUA levels between Pso patients, subjects with contact dermatitis and healthy individuals.

Additionally, other studies explored the relationship between UA and extent of cutaneous involvement in Pso. A crosssectional study on 198 Pso patients found that SUA levels increased proportionally to the extent of cutaneous involvement in both genders and, in a multiple logistic regression model with hyperuricemia as dependent variable, PASI (Psoriasis Area Severity Index) score was a significant predictor (OR = 1.10; p= 0.03) (11). Similarly, Gisondi et al. (12) found that Pso patients with PASI score ≥ 10 exhibited higher SUA levels than subjects with less extensive skin disease. In a subsequent study (75), the same author found a prevalence of hyperuricemia of 20% in Pso patients, with higher SUA levels in obese individuals and no significant correlation with PASI. Furthermore, in a study by Ataseven et al. (76), PASI was weakly correlated with SUA (r = 0.27; p = 0.046). Conversely, in two cross-sectional studies (15, 16), SUA levels were not associated with the cutaneous extent of Pso. A post-hoc analysis of pooled data from three phase 3 trials with secukinumab, an IL-17A inhibitor, showed a statistically significant, although modest, association between the degree of skin involvement and SUA ($R^2 = 0.014$; p < 0.0001). After 12 weeks of treatment, improvement in PASI score resulted in a decrease of SUA values ($R^2 = 0.014$; p < 0.0001 univariately) (77). Finally, in a large population-based study on 39,111 patients with incident gout and 39,111 matched controls, the former had increased hazard ratios for developing Pso (HR =1.53, 95% CI 1.37–1.74; p < 0.05) and, in turn, Pso increased the risk of having incident gout (OR = 1.32) (78).

Similar to Pso, the prevalence of hyperuricemia has been reported to be increased also in PsA, with estimates of 13.5% in men and 5% in women described by Lambert and Wright (79) and of 21% reported by Bruce et al. (80). Interestingly, in the latter study, no association between PASI and SUA was observed. In a multi-center, cross-sectional observational study of 160 Asian PsA patients, Lai et al. (82) found a prevalence of hyperuricemia of 31% and a significant correlation between hyperuricemia and PASI score (p = 0.05) or Body Surface Area (p = 0.04). Similar estimates were provided by AlJohani et al. (83) who described hyperuricemia in 31% of PsA patients in a prospective study. Moreover, compared to a normouricemic PsA control group, hyperuricemic patients had higher PASI scores (p = 0.006).

In a retrospective case–control study aimed to determine factors associated with development of PsA in subjects with psoriasis (84), hyperuricemia was a significant predictor after correcting for possible confounders (OR = 4.18; p < 0.01), thus suggesting that elevated SUA might represent a risk factor for the development of PsA in subjects with Pso.

However, not only the association between Pso or PsA and hyperuricemia has been investigated, but also the correlation between Pso or PsA and gout. In particular, in the subgroup of participants with confirmed Pso of a large, prospective population-based study (81), the multivariate-adjusted HR for gout were 2.72 (95% CI: 1.75, 4.25) in men and 1.40 (95% CI: 0.90, 2.19) in women. Interestingly, the risk of incident gout was substantially elevated in patients with Pso and concomitant PsA (HR = 4.95, 95% CI 2.72–9.01) and it was similar in males and females.

Furthermore, a case-control study in Taiwan (20) analyzed data of 114623 patients with gout compared with 114623 control subjects. Prevalence of Pso (1.6 vs. 1.1%; p < 0.0001) and PsA (0.3 vs. 0.1%; p < 0.0001) was higher in patients with gout than in controls. In multiple logistic regression analysis, gout was significantly associated with Pso (OR 1.30, 95% CI 1.20–1.42; p < 0.001) and PsA (OR 2.50, 95% CI 1.95–3.22; p < 0.001).

Finally, in a large retrospective observational study (21) including 14898 PsA patients, the risk for gout was significantly higher (incidence rate = 1.28 vs. 0.66; HR = 2.03; 95% CI 1.75–2.36) compared with the group of 35037 matched controls.

The association between Pso, PsA, and SUA levels has attracted the attention of researches since the first decades of 20th century (6, 7, 17–19). The reason behind this finding is not completely understood but probably the keratinocyte hyper-proliferation and increased cell turnover lead to enhanced catabolism of purines resulting in raised SUA. Furthermore, concomitant metabolic disorders such as metabolic syndrome, diabetes or obesity might contribute to the elevated UA levels observed in subjects with Pso. Over the years, a large number of studies has explored this topic, but the often-conflicting results don't allow to draw definitive conclusions. TABLE 1 | Characteristics of studies included in the evaluation of the association between serum uric acid levels and psoriasis or psoriatic arthritis.

Author	Study design	Sample description	Outcome of interest	Main findings
Baumann and Jillson (5)	Cross-sectional	140 patients with Pso or PsA	Prevalence of hyperuricemia	Hyperuricemia was present in 44 (31.4%) Pso patients, most often in those with PsA.
Eisen and Seegmiller (6)	Cross-sectional	38 Pso patients (18 males, 20 females)	Prevalence of hyperuricemia	Hyperuricemia was present in 19 (50%) Pso patients.
Steinberg et al. (7)	Cross-sectional	167 Pso patients (98 males, 69 females)	Prevalence of hyperuricemia	Hyperuricemia was present in 47 (48%) of male patients and in 19 (27%) of female patients.
Kamiya et al. (8)	Retrospective cohort	15,287 Pso patients (9,989 males, 5,298 females)	Prevalence of hyperuricemia	Hyperuricemia was present in 15.1% of patients (19.1% of males and in 6.3% of females).
Scott and Stodell (74)	Prospective cohort	41 Pso patients, 41 contact dermatitis, 41 healthy	Difference in SUA levels	No significant difference between the three groups nor associations between SUA and Pso extent.
Alpsoy et al. (9)	Prospective cohort	60 Pso patients and 50 healthy controls	Difference in SUA levels	Mean SUA concentration was significantly higher in Pso than in controls.
Isha et al. (10)	Prospective cohort	25 Pso patients, 25 healthy controls, 25 patients with skin disorders other than PSo	Difference in SUA levels	Mean SUA concentration was significantly higher in Pso than in the other two groups.
Kwon et al. (11)	Retrospective cross-sectional	198 Pso patients	Difference in SUA levels between Pso patients and general population. Assess correlation between Pso characteristics and SUA levels.	No difference in SUA levels between Pso patients and general population. Significant correlation between SUA levels and PASI ($\rho < 0.05$). Significantly higher PASI in hyperuricemic group than in normouricemic group. PASI was an independent risk factors for hyperuricaemia ($OR = 1.10$; $\rho = 0.03$).
Gisondi et al. (12)	Prospective cohort	119 Pso patients and 119 healthy controls	Prevalence of hyperuricemia and difference in SUA levels.	Higher SUA levels in Pso patients independently of gender). Asymptomatic hyperuricemia was found in 19% of Pso patients compared with 7% of controls (p < 0.001). Pso patients with PASI score \geq 10 had higher SUA levels than patients PASI <10. Pso was the strongest predictor of hyperuricemia ($OR = 3.20$; p < 0.01) independently of other variables.
Gisondi (75)	Prospective cohort	338 Pso patients	Assessment of characterics of Pso patients.	Hyperuricemia was present in 20%. SUA levels were higher in obese patients than in non-obese. SUA levels were not significantly correlated with PASI.
Ataseven et al. (76)	Prospective cohort	56 Pso patients and 33 healthy controls	Prevalence of hyperuricemia and assessment of characteristics of Pso patients.	No difference in SUA levels between groups. In Pso patients PASI showed a significant positive correlation with SUA ($r = 0.27$; $\rho = 0.046$).
Li et al. (13)	Meta-analysis	Total of 1,644 Pso patients and 27,393 controls	Association berween Pso and SUA levels.	
Lai and Yew (14)	Population-based cross-sectional study	297 patients with Pso and 1,493 patients with hyperuricemia in a cohort of 11,282	Risk of hyperuricemia in Pso patients compared with controls.	Patients with Pso were at an increased risk of having hyperuricaemia ($OR = 1.37$; 95% Cl 1.01–1.86; $P = 0.04$). The association was not significant after adjusting for confounders in multivariate regression analysis. No association between Pso severity and risk of hyperuricemia.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Author	Study design	Sample description	Outcome of interest	Main findings
Solak et al. (15)	Case-control study	199 Pso patients and 54 healthy controls.	To compare SUA levels between Pso patients and general population.	SUA levels higher in patients with Pso compared to healthy controls. SUA levels did not correlate with the cutaneous exten of Pso.
Dehlin et al. (77)	Post-hoc analysis of randomized control trials	1,042 patients with Pso and 204 with PsA.	To determine the impact of Pso activity on SUA levels.	The degree of skin involvement showed a statistically significant, although modest, association with SUA levels ($R^2 = 0.014$; p < 0.0001) at baseline. After 12 weeks of treatment, improvement in PASI score resulted in a decrease of SUA levels ($R^2 = 0.014$; p < 0.0001 univariately).
Kuo et al. (78)	Case-control study	39,111 patients with incident gout and 39,111 controls	To determine the burden of comorbidities in patients with gout at diagnosis and the risk of developing new comorbidities post diagnosis.	Patients with gout had increased hazard ratios for Pso (HR =1.53, 95% Cl 1.37–1.74; p <0.05). Pso, in turn, increased the risk of having incident gout (OR = 1.32).
Lambert and Wright (79)	Cross-sectional observational	115 patients with PsA (52 men, 63 women)	To determine the prevalence of hyperuricemia in PsA.	Hyperuricemia was present in 7 (13.5%) men and 3 (5%) women. After comparing PsA patients with and without hyperuricemia, no differences in terms of disease activity or Pso extent were found.
Bruce et al. (80)	Prospective cohort	265 PsA patients	To determine the prevalence of hyperuricemia in PsA and to determine the influence of skin involvement on SUA levels.	The authors found an incidence of hyperuricemia close to 21%, while incidence of gout was 0.8%. No association between PASI score and SUA.
Merola et al. (81)	Prospective population-based study	27,751 men and 71,059 women	To determine the risk of gout in Pso.	In the subgroup analysis of participants with self-reported Pso, the multivariate-adjusted HR for gout were 1.79 (95% CI 1.30–2.47) in men and 1.63 (95% CI 1.17–2.27) in women. The multivariate HR were higher among men (HR = 2.72, 95% CI: 1.75, 4.25) than in women (HR = 1.40, 95% CI: 0.90, 2.19) with confirmed Pso. Patients with Pso and concomitant PsA had a high risk of incident gout (HR = 4.95, 95% CI 2.72–9.01).
Lai et al. (82)	Cross-sectional observational study	160 PsA patients	Hyperuricemia in PsA patients	Hyperuricemia was present in 31% of patients. In simple correlation analysis, hyperuricemia was associated with PASI score ($\rho = 0.05$) and Body Surface Area ($\rho = 0.04$).
AlJohani et al. (83)	Prospective cohort study	318 hyperuricemic PsA patients and 318 normouricemic PsA patients	Investigate the prevalence and characteristics of psoriatic patients with hyperuricemia and to determine the adverse effect of hyperuricemia on outcomes	Huperuricemic patients had longer disease duration of PsA ($p < 0.001$) and Pso ($p < 0.001$) and higher PASI scores ($p = 0.006$). Multivariate analysis showed an association between persistent hyperuricemia and disease duration of PsA (OR 1.073, 95% Cl 1.028–1.113).
Tsuruta et al. (84)	Retrospective cohort study	55 subjects with PsA and 276 with Pso	To determine factors associated with development of PsA in subjects with Pso	Hyperuricemia was significantly more prevalent in patients with Pso and PsA than in the group with only Pso (22 vs. 9% p = 0.01). In multiple logistic regression, hyperuricemia was a strong predictor of PsA development (OR = 4.18; $p < 0.01$).
Hu et al. (20)	Population-based case-control study	114,623 patients with gout compared with 114,623 subjects without gout	Investigate association between Pso, PsA, and gout	Higher prevalence of Pso (1.6 vs. 1.1%; p <0.0001) and PsA (0.3 vs. 0.1%; p < 0.0001) in patients with gout than in controls. In multiple logistic regression, gout was significantly associated with Pso (OR 1.30, 95% Cl 1.20–1.42; p <0.001) and PsA (OR 2.50, 95% Cl 1.95–3.22; p <0.001).

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Author	Study design	Sample description	Outcome of interest	Main findings	
Kaine et al. (21)	Retrospective observational	14,898 PsA patients and 35,037 matched controls	To investigate frequency and incidence of comorbidities in adult patients with newly diagnosed PsA	PsA patients showed a higher risk for gout (incidence rate = 1.28 vs. 0.66; HR = 2.03; 95% Cl 1.75– 2.36) compared with the control group.	

PASI, psoriasis area severity index; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; Pso, psoriasis; SUA, serum uric acid.

URIC ACID LEVELS AND CARDIOVASCULAR COMORBIDITIES IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

The cardiovascular consequences of hyperuricemia in PsA subjects were investigated by Gonzalez-Gay in a small observational study (85). To this purpose, 52 PsA patients without cardiovascular disease underwent clinical assessment with the aim to determine whether SUA was associated with ultrasound measures of subclinical atherosclerosis. Six individuals (11%) had hyperuricemia (defined as SUA >7 mg/dl) and were found to have a carotid intima-media thickness (IMT) greater than normo-uricemic patients (0.89 \pm 0.20 vs. 0.67 ± 0.16 mm; p = 0.01). Furthermore, raised SUA levels were a risk factor for increased carotid IMT (OR = 2.66; p =0.03) and for carotid plaques (OR = 1.85; p = 0.05). However, these results should be interpreted with caution. Patients with hyperuricemia also had higher levels of serum creatinine, glucose, total cholesterol, and triglycerides. The authors tried to analyse the relationship between hyperuricemia and carotid IMT adjusting for these variables, but the small number of patients limited the analysis.

Similar results were obtained by Ibrahim et al. (86) comparing PsA patients with high SUA levels to those with normal values. The former had a significant increase in carotid IMT, presence of carotid plaques and impairment of flow-mediated dilation (FMD) (p < 0.001). In correlation analysis, SUA was positively associated with carotid IMT in PsA patients (r = 0.71; p < 0.001), with disease activity scores such as DAS-28 (r = 0.91; p < 0.001), and with PASI (r = 0.85; p < 0.001) and disease duration (r = 0.89; p < 0.001). Furthermore, a significant negative correlation with FMD of the brachial artery (r = -0.63; p < 0.001) was found.

EFFECTS OF ANTI-RHEUMATIC DRUGS ON SERUM URIC ACID LEVELS IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

On the basis of the described association between PsA and UA, it can be hypothesized that the treatment with anti-rheumatic drugs could lower SUA levels. Some researchers had tested this hypothesis with conflicting results.

In a retrospective study, Wang et al. (87) explored this topic in a population of 99 patients with moderate to severe Pso treated with secukinumab for 24 weeks. Overall, after 24 weeks of treatment, patients showed significantly lower UA values compared to the baseline. Similar results were obtained in a *post-hoc* analysis of pooled data from three phase 3 studies with secukinumab (FIXTURE, ERASURE and SCULPTURE trials) in a population of patients with moderate to severe Pso (88). The total population was composed of 3,010 patients. After 52 weeks of treatment, UA levels were significantly reduced and cutaneous Pso had improved.

Unlike these reports, Karataş et al. (89) did not find significant differences in SUA levels after 6 months of followup in a small population of 36 patients (30 diagnosed with ankylosing spondylitis and 6 with PsA) receiving treatment with secukinumab.

Hasikova et al. (90) investigated the effect of TNF inhibitors on SUA levels in a population of patients with systemic autoimmune rheumatic diseases (rheumatoid arthritis, PsA, ankylosing spondylitis). Interestingly, after 3 months of treatments, the authors observed a significant increase in UA levels along with a reduction of inflammatory cytokines.

EFFECTS OF URATE-LOWERING AGENTS ON SERUM INFLAMMATORY MEDIATORS

From the above, it appears that subjects with Pso or PsA have a higher prevalence of hyperuricemia compared with the healthy population but another relevant point to explore is the effect of urate-lowering drugs on systemic inflammation.

In 1981, Goldman evaluated (19) this topic in a group of Pso patients treated with allopurinol. This study showed marked improvement of skin lesions in most cases, confirming the results of previous studies (91, 92). In more recent years, researchers investigated the effects of urate-lowering drugs on cytokines in patients with other inflammatory diseases such as colitis or gout (93, 94). Luis-Rodríguez et al. (95) determined the levels of serum CRP, TNF- α and IL-6 and assessed the mRNA expression of TNF-a and IL-6 in white blood cells of hyperuricemic patients and in subjects with normal SUA. The former had raised CRP and mRNA expression levels of both IL-6 and TNF-a (p < 0.001). Similar results were obtained also in multiple regression analysis. Finally, the inflammatory profile of a subgroup of 18 subjects was determined at baseline and after 6 months of treatment with allopurinol. The therapy decreased mRNA expression of TNF-a and IL-6 respectively by 23% and 52% (p < 0.001). Furthermore, a significant association was found between variations in SUA and changes in serum TNF-a (r = -0.62; p < 0.01) or IL-6 (r = -0.51; p< 0.05).

In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study, Huang et al. (96) explored the effects of febuxostat on

serum inflammatory markers such as IL-6, IL-17, and TNF- α in 156 Chinese patients with gout and hyperuricemia. Variables were measured at the baseline and at 2, 4, 8, 12, 16, and 24 weeks. After 8 weeks, treatment with febuxostat led to reduction of serum levels of IL-6, IL-17, and TNF- α by 38, 40, and 22%, respectively. The reduction in serum concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines correlated with the reduction of SUA levels.

In a similar study, Hao et al. (97) compared the effects of febuxostat and allopurinol in reducing serum levels of IL-1, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in 80 patients with gout, after 1 week and 3 months of treatment. Both treatments led to a significantly reduction of inflammatory cytokines, but febuxostat showed a more pronounced effect (p < 0.05). Furthermore, febuxostat led to marked reduction of cyclooxygenase-2 compared to allopurinol (p < 0.001).

The anti-inflammatory effects of urate-lowering agents were also studied in mice with induced colitis. The authors demonstrated that treatment with febuxostat led to a significant reduction of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IFN- γ levels. In particular, it was observed a reduced expression of NF-kB in intestinal mucosa after treatment (98, 99). Finally, allopurinol was also used in the treatment of experimental autoimmune uveitis and it was shown to be more effective than prednisolone in suppressing the inflammatory reaction (100).

REFERENCES

- Alinaghi F, Calov M, Kristensen LE, Gladman DD, Coates LC, Jullien D, et al. Prevalence of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational and clinical studies. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2019) 80:251–65.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018. 06.027
- 2. Eder L, Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis: phenotypic variance and nosology. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2013) 15:316. doi: 10.1007/s11926-013-0316-4
- Eder L, Dey A, Joshi AA, Boehncke WH, Mehta NN, Szentpetery A. Cardiovascular diseases in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. *J Rheumatol Suppl.* (2019) 95:20–7. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.190114
- Rahimi-Sakak F, Maroofi M, Rahmani J, Bellissimo N, Hekmatdoost A. Serum uric acid and risk of cardiovascular mortality: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies of over a million participants. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. (2019) 19:218. doi: 10.1186/s12872-019-1215-z
- Baumann RR, Jillson OF. Hyperuricemia and psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol. (1961) 36:105–7.
- Eisen AZ, Seegmiller JE. Uric acid metabolism in psoriasis. J Clin Invest. (1961) 40(8 Pt 1–2):1486–94. doi: 10.1172/JCI104379
- 7. Steinberg AG, Becker SW Jr, Fitzpatrick TB, Kierland RR. A genetic and statistical study of psoriasis. *Am J Hum Genet*. (1951) 3:267–81.
- Kamiya K, Oiso N, Kawada A, Ohtsuki M. Epidemiological survey of the psoriasis patients in the Japanese Society for Psoriasis Research from 2013 to 2018. J Dermatol. (2021) 48:864–75. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.15803
- Alpsoy S, Akyuz A, Erfan G, Akkoyun DC, Topcu B, Guzel S, et al. Atherosclerosis, some serum inflammatory markers in psoriasis. G Ital Dermatol Venereol. (2014) 149:167–75.
- Isha, Jain VK, Lal H. C-reactive protein and uric Acid levels in patients with psoriasis. *Indian J Clin Biochem.* (2011) 26:309–11. doi: 10.1007/s12291-011-0132-4
- Kwon HH, Kwon IH, Choi JW, Youn JI. Cross-sectional study on the correlation of serum uric acid with disease severity in Korean patients with psoriasis. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2011) 36:473–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2010.03988.x

CLINICAL PERSPECTIVES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

PsA is a chronic systemic inflammatory disorder extending far beyond the involvement of skin and joints. This review dealt with the interplay between hyperuricemia and Pso/PsA, summarizing current knowledge on the topic and providing hints for future research. Analyzing the available literature, several issues regarding the mechanisms behind the association between UA and inflammation in Pso/PsA remain unresolved. Which factors contribute to hyperuricemia in Pso/PSA besides increased cellular turnover? What is the role of the kidney in this alteration? To what extent extra-renal organs, such as the intestine, are involved? Could the systemic inflammatory milieu stimulate UA production or hamper its secretion/excretion? Finally, could we still consider PsA and gout as two distinct entities or do they rather represent two facets of the same disease?

Current knowledge doesn't allow to draw firm conclusions about these points and future investigations are needed to shed new lights on this intricate field.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- 12. Gisondi P, Targher G, Cagalli A, Girolomoni G. Hyperuricemia in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* (2014) 70:127–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2013.09.005
- Li X, Miao X, Wang H, Wang Y, Li F, Yang Q, et al. Association of serum uric acid levels in psoriasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e3676. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000003676
- Lai YC, Yew YW. Psoriasis and uric acid: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2016) 41:260–6. doi: 10.1111/ced.12781
- Solak B, Dikicier BS, Erdem T. Impact of elevated serum uric acid levels on systemic inflammation in patients with psoriasis. *Angiology*. (2017) 68:266– 70. doi: 10.1177/0003319716657980
- Gui XY, Jin HZ, Wang ZJ, Xu TD. Serum uric acid levels and hyperuricemia in patients with psoriasis: a hospital-based cross-sectional study. *An Bras Dermatol.* (2018) 93:761–3. doi: 10.1590/abd1806-4841.20187547
- Lea WA Jr, Curtis AC, Bernstein IA. Serum uric acid levels in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol. (1958) 31:269–71. doi: 10.1038/jid.1958.119
- Tickner A, Mier PD. Serum cholesterol, uric acid and proteins in psoriasis. *Br J Dermatol.* (1960) 72:132–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1960.tb13860.x
- Goldman M. Uric acid in the etiology of psoriasis. Am J Dermatopathol. (1981) 3:397–404. doi: 10.1097/0000372-198100340-00014
- Hu SC, Lin CL, Tu HP. Association between psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and gout: a nationwide population-based study. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2019) 33:560–7. doi: 10.1111/jdv.15290
- Kaine J, Song X, Kim G, Hur P, Palmer JB. Higher incidence rates of comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis compared with the general population using U.S. Administrative claims data. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. (2019) 25:122–32. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2018.17421
- El Ridi R, Tallima H. Physiological functions and pathogenic potential of uric acid: a review. J Adv Res. (2017) 8:487–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2017.03.003
- Maiuolo J, Oppedisano F, Gratteri S, Muscoli C, Mollace V. Regulation of uric acid metabolism and excretion. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 213:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.08.109
- Stewart DJ, Langlois V, Noone D. Hyperuricemia and hypertension: links and risks. *Integr Blood Press Control.* (2019) 12:43–62. doi: 10.2147/IBPC.S184685

- Xu L, Shi Y, Zhuang S, Liu N. Recent advances on uric acid transporters. Oncotarget. (2017) 8:100852–62. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20135
- Ichida K, Matsuo H, Takada T, Nakayama A, Murakami K, Shimizu T, et al. Decreased extra-renal urate excretion is a common cause of hyperuricemia. *Nat Commun.* (2012) 3:764. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1756
- Ben Salem C, Slim R, Fathallah N, Hmouda H. Drug-induced hyperuricaemia and gout. *Rheumatology*. (2017) 56:679–88. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew293
- Pasalic D, Marinkovic N, Feher-Turkovic L. Uric acid as one of the important factors in multifactorial disorders–facts and controversies. *Biochem Med.* (2012) 22:63–75. doi: 10.11613/BM.2012.007
- 29. Song Y, Tang L, Han J, Gao Y, Tang B, Shao M, et al. Uric acid provides protective role in red blood cells by antioxidant defense: a hypothetical analysis. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2019) 2019:3435174. doi: 10.1155/2019/3435174
- Glantzounis GK, Tsimoyiannis EC, Kappas AM, Galaris DA. Uric acid and oxidative stress. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2005) 11:4145–51. doi: 10.2174/138161205774913255
- Ghaemi-Oskouie F, Shi Y. The role of uric acid as an endogenous danger signal in immunity and inflammation. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2011) 13:160–6. doi: 10.1007/s11926-011-0162-1
- 32. Hara K, Iijima K, Elias MK, Seno S, Tojima I, Kobayashi T, et al. Airway uric acid is a sensor of inhaled protease allergens and initiates type 2 immune responses in respiratory mucosa. *J Immunol.* (2014) 192:4032–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400110
- Rock KL, Kataoka H, Lai JJ. Uric acid as a danger signal in gout and its comorbidities. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2013) 9:13–23. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2012.143
- 34. Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature*. (2003) 425:516–21. doi: 10.1038/nature01991
- Shi Y, Mucsi AD, Ng G. Monosodium urate crystals in inflammation and immunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2010) 233:203–17. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00851.x
- Martinon F. Update on biology: uric acid and the activation of immune and inflammatory cells. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2010) 12:135–41. doi: 10.1007/s11926-010-0092-3
- Alvarez-Lario B, Macarrón-Vicente J. Is there anything good in uric acid? QJM. (2011) 104:1015–24. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcr159
- Brovold H, Lund T, Svistounov D, Solbu MD, Jenssen TG, Ytrehus K, et al. Crystallized but not soluble uric acid elicits pro-inflammatory response in short-term whole blood cultures from healthy men. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:10513. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46935-w
- Mentis AA, Dardiotis E, Efthymiou V, Chrousos GP. Non-genetic risk and protective factors and biomarkers for neurological disorders: a metaumbrella systematic review of umbrella reviews. *BMC Med.* (2021) 19:6. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01873-7
- Cortese M, Riise T, Engeland A, Ascherio A, Bjørnevik K. Urate and the risk of Parkinson's disease in men and women. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. (2018) 52:76–82. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.03.026
- Shen C, Guo Y, Luo W, Lin C, Ding M. Serum urate and the risk of Parkinson's disease: results from a meta-analysis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2013) 40:73–9. doi: 10.1017/S0317167100012981
- Boccardi V, Carino S, Marinelli E, Lapenna M, Caironi G, Bianco AR, et al. Uric acid and late-onset Alzheimer's disease: results from the ReGAl 2.0 project. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* (2021) 33:361–6. doi: 10.1007/s40520-020-01541-z
- Zhou Z, Zhong S, Liang Y, Zhang X, Zhang R, Kang K, et al. Serum uric acid and the risk of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2021) 13:625690. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.625690
- 44. Wang YF, Li JX, Sun XS, Lai R, Sheng WL. High serum uric acid levels are a protective factor against unfavourable neurological functional outcome in patients with ischaemic stroke. *J Int Med Res.* (2018) 46:1826–38. doi: 10.1177/0300060517752996
- 45. Cheng GM, Wang RL, Zhang B, Deng XY. The protective effect of uric acid in reducing TLR4/NF-κB activation through the inhibition of HMGB1 acetylation in a model of ischemia-reperfusion injury *in vitro*. *Mol Biol Rep*. (2020) 47:3233–40. doi: 10.1007/s11033-020-05324-7
- 46. Li X, Meng X, Timofeeva M, Tzoulaki I, Tsilidis KK, Ioannidis JP, et al. Serum uric acid levels and multiple health outcomes: umbrella review of evidence

from observational studies, randomised controlled trials, and Mendelian randomisation studies. *BMJ*. (2017) 357:j2376. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j2376

- Aroor AR, Demarco VG, Jia G, Sun Z, Nistala R, Meininger GA, et al. The role of tissue Renin-Angiotensin-aldosterone system in the development of endothelial dysfunction and arterial stiffness. *Front Endocrinol.* (2013) 4:161. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00161
- Aroor AR, Jia G, Habibi J, Sun Z, Ramirez-Perez FI, Brady B, et al. Uric acid promotes vascular stiffness, maladaptive inflammatory responses and proteinuria in western diet fed mice. *Metabolism.* (2017) 74:32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.06.006
- Ghasemi A. Uric acid-induced pancreatic β-cell dysfunction. BMC Endocr Disord. (2021) 21:24. doi: 10.1186/s12902-021-00698-6
- Ponticelli C, Podestà MA, Moroni G. Hyperuricemia as a trigger of immune response in hypertension and chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2020) 98:1149–59. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.05.056
- 51. Li J, Li X, Hou R, Liu R, Zhao X, Dong F, et al. Psoriatic T cells reduce epidermal turnover time and affect cell proliferation contributed from differential gene expression. *J Dermatol.* (2015) 42:874–80. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.12961
- Beringer A, Miossec P. Systemic effects of IL-17 in inflammatory arthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol. (2019) 15:491–501. doi: 10.1038/s41584-019-0243-5
- Szendroedi J, Chmelik M, Schmid AI, Nowotny P, Brehm A, Krssak M, et al. Abnormal hepatic energy homeostasis in type 2 diabetes. *Hepatology*. (2009) 50:1079–86. doi: 10.1002/hep.23093
- Cortez-Pinto H, Chatham J, Chacko VP, Arnold C, Rashid A, Diehl AM. Alterations in liver ATP homeostasis in human nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot study. *JAMA*. (1999) 282:1659–64. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.17.1659
- Petrie JL, Patman GL, Sinha I, Alexander TD, Reeves HL, Agius L. The rate of production of uric acid by hepatocytes is a sensitive index of compromised cell ATP homeostasis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 305:E1255–65. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00214.2013
- Hosomi A, Nakanishi T, Fujita T, Tamai I. Extra-renal elimination of uric acid via intestinal efflux transporter BCRP/ABCG2. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e30456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030456
- Fieldhouse KA, Ukaibe S, Crowley EL, Khanna R, O'Toole A, Gooderham MJ. Inflammatory bowel disease in patients with psoriasis treated with interleukin-17 inhibitors. *Drugs Context*. (2020) 9. doi: 10.7573/dic.2020-2-1
- Takada T, Ichida K, Matsuo H, Nakayama A, Murakami K, Yamanashi Y, et al. ABCG2 dysfunction increases serum uric acid by decreased intestinal urate excretion. *Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids*. (2014) 33:275–81. doi: 10.1080/15257770.2013.854902
- Englund G, Jacobson A, Rorsman F, Artursson P, Kindmark A, Rönnblom A. Efflux transporters in ulcerative colitis: decreased expression of BCRP. (ABCG2) and Pgp. (ABCB1). *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2007) 13:291–7. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20030
- Perez-Chada LM, Merola JF. Comorbidities associated with psoriatic arthritis: Review and update. *Clin Immunol.* (2020) 214:108397. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.108397
- Gong M, Wen S, Nguyen T, Wang C, Jin J, Zhou L. Converging relationships of obesity and hyperuricemia with special reference to metabolic disorders and plausible therapeutic implications. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes*. (2020) 13:943–62. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S232377
- Quiñones-Galvan A, Ferrannini E. Renal effects of insulin in man. J Nephrol. (1997) 10:188–91.
- 63. Matsuura F, Yamashita S, Nakamura T, Nishida M, Nozaki S, Funahashi T, et al. Effect of visceral fat accumulation on uric acid metabolism in male obese subjects: visceral fat obesity is linked more closely to overproduction of uric acid than subcutaneous fat obesity. *Metabolism.* (1998) 47:929–33. doi: 10.1016/S0026-0495(98)90346-8
- 64. Toyoki D, Shibata S, Kuribayashi-Okuma E, Xu N, Ishizawa K, Hosoyamada M, et al. Insulin stimulates uric acid reabsorption via regulating urate transporter 1 and ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2017) 313:F826–34. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00012.2017
- Felten R, Duret PM, Gottenberg JE, Spielmann L, Messer L. At the crossroads of gout and psoriatic arthritis: "psout". *Clin Rheumatol.* (2020) 39:1405–13. doi: 10.1007/s10067-020-04981-0
- 66. Oliviero F, Scanu A, Galozzi P, Gava A, Frallonardo P, Ramonda R, et al. Prevalence of calcium pyrophosphate and monosodium urate crystals in synovial fluid of patients with previously diagnosed joint diseases. *Joint Bone Spine*. (2013) 80:287–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2012.08.006
- Raucci F, Iqbal AJ, Saviano A, Minosi P, Piccolo M, Irace C, et al. IL-17A neutralizing antibody regulates monosodium urate crystalinduced gouty inflammation. *Pharmacol Res.* (2019) 147:104351. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104351
- Klück V, Liu R, Joosten LAB. The role of interleukin-1 family members in hyperuricemia and gout. *Joint Bone Spine*. (2021) 88:105092. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2020.105092
- 69. Uratsuji H, Tada Y, Hau CS, Shibata S, Kamata M, Kawashima T, et al. Monosodium urate crystals induce functional expression of P2Y14 receptor in human keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2016) 136:1293–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.01.026
- 70. Ondet T, Muscatelli-Groux B, Coulouarn C, Robert S, Gicquel T, Bodin A, et al. The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines is mediated via mitogenactivated protein kinases rather than by the inflammasome signalling pathway in keratinocytes. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* (2017) 44:827–38. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12765
- Uratsuji H, Tada Y, Kawashima T, Kamata M, Hau CS, Asano Y, et al. P2Y6 receptor signaling pathway mediates inflammatory responses induced by monosodium urate crystals. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:436–44. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1003746
- Zamudio-Cuevas Y, Fernández-Torres J, Martínez-Nava GA, Martínez-Flores K, Ramírez Olvera A, Medina-Luna D, et al. Phagocytosis of monosodium urate crystals by human synoviocytes induces inflammation. *Exp Biol Med.* (2019) 244:344–51. doi: 10.1177/1535370219830665
- Chen DP, Wong CK, Tam LS, Li EK, Lam CW. Activation of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes by uric acid crystals in rheumatoid arthritis. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2011) 8:469–78. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2011.35
- 74. Scott JT, Stodell MA. Serum uric acid levels in psoriasis. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (1984) 165 Pt A:283–5. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-4553-4_55
- Gisondi P. Hyperuricemia in patients with chronic plaque psoriasis. Drug Dev Res. (2014) 75(Suppl 1):S70–2. doi: 10.1002/ddr.21201
- Ataseven A, Kesli R, Kurtipek GS, Ozturk P. Assessment of lipocalin 2, clusterin, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor-1, interleukin-6, homocysteine, and uric acid levels in patients with psoriasis. *Dis Markers*. (2014) 2014:541709. doi: 10.1155/2014/541709
- 77. Dehlin M, Fasth AER, Reinhardt M, Jacobsson LTH. Impact of psoriasis disease activity and other risk factors on serum urate levels in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis-a post-hoc analysis of pooled data from three phase 3 trials with secukinumab. *Rheumatol Adv Pract.* (2021) 5:rkab009. doi: 10.1093/rap/rkab009
- Kuo CF, Grainge MJ, Mallen C, Zhang W, Doherty M. Comorbidities in patients with gout prior to and following diagnosis: case-control study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2016) 75:210–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206410
- Lambert JR, Wright V. Serum uric acid levels in psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. (1977) 36:264–67. doi: 10.1136/ard.36.3.264
- Bruce IN, Schentag CT, Gladman DD. Hyperuricemia in psoriatic arthritis: prevalence and associated features. J Clin Rheumatol. (2000) 6:6–9. doi: 10.1097/00124743-200002000-00001
- Merola JF, Wu S, Han J, Choi HK, Qureshi AA. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and risk of gout in US men and women. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:1495–500. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205212
- Lai TL, Yim CW, Wong PY, Leung MC, Ng WL. Hyperuricemia in Asian psoriatic arthritis patients. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2018) 21:843–9. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.13265
- AlJohani R, Polachek A, Ye JY, Chandran V, Gladman DD. Characteristic and outcome of psoriatic arthritis patients with hyperuricemia. *J Rheumatol.* (2018) 45:213–7. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.170384
- Tsuruta N, Imafuku S, Narisawa Y. Hyperuricemia is an independent risk factor for psoriatic arthritis in psoriatic patients. *J Dermatol.* (2017) 44:1349– 52. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.13968
- Gonzalez-Gay MA, Gonzalez-Juanatey C, Vazquez-Rodriguez TR, Gomez-Acebo I, Miranda-Filloy JA, Paz-Carreira J, et al. Asymptomatic hyperuricemia and serum uric acid concentration correlate with subclinical atherosclerosis in psoriatic arthritis patients without clinically evident cardiovascular disease. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2009) 39:157–62. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2008.06.001
- 86. Ibrahim SE, Helmi A, Yousef TM, Hassan MS, Farouk N. Association of asymptomatic hyperuricemia and endothelial dysfunction

in psoriatic arthritis. *Egyptian Rheumatologist.* (2012) 34:83–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejr.2012.03.002

- Wang HN, Huang YH. Changes in metabolic parameters in psoriatic patients treated with secukinumab. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* (2020) 11:2040622320944777. doi: 10.1177/2040622320944777
- Gerdes S, Pinter A, Papavassilis C, Reinhardt M. Effects of secukinumab on metabolic and liver parameters in plaque psoriasis patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. (2020) 34:533–41. doi: 10.1111/jdv.16004
- Karataş A, Gerçek AN, Öz B, Gözel N, Pişkin Sagir R, Gür M, et al. The effect of secukinumab treatment on hematological parameters in ankylosing spondylitis and psoriatic arthritis. *Eur J Rheumatol.* (2020) 7:169–72. doi: 10.5152/eurjrheum.2020.20109
- Hasikova L, Pavlikova M, Hulejova H, Kozlik P, Kalikova K, Mahajan A, et al. Serum uric acid increases in patients with systemic autoimmune rheumatic diseases after 3 months of treatment with TNF inhibitors. *Rheumatol Int.* (2019) 39:1749–57. doi: 10.1007/s00296-019-04394-6
- Viglioglia PA, Plante GE, Viglioglia J, Saraceno EF. Allopurinol in psoriasis. Dermatologica. (1970) 141:203–7. doi: 10.1159/000252467
- 92. Feuerman EJ, Nir MA. Allopurinol in psoriasis–a double-blind study. Br J Dermatol. (1973) 89:83–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.1973.tb01921.x
- Kondratiuk VE, Tarasenko OM, Karmazina OM, Taranchuk VV. Impact of the synbiotics and urate-lowering therapy on gut microbiota and cytokine profile in patients with chronic gouty arthritis. *J Med Life*. (2020) 13:490–8. doi: 10.25122/jml-2020-0065
- Alghamdi YS, Soliman MM, Nassan MA. Impact of Lesinurad and allopurinol on experimental Hyperuricemia in mice: biochemical, molecular and Immunohistochemical study. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2020) 21:10. doi: 10.1186/s40360-020-0386-7
- Luis-Rodríguez D, Donate-Correa J, Martín-Núñez E, Ferri C, Tagua VG, Pérez Castro A, et al. Serum urate is related to subclinical inflammation in asymptomatic hyperuricaemia. *Rheumatology*. (2021) 60:371–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa425
- 96. Huang YY, Ye Z, Gu SW, Jiang ZY, Zhao L. The efficacy and tolerability of febuxostat treatment in a cohort of Chinese Han population with history of gout. J Int Med Res. (2020) 48:300060520902950. doi: 10.1177/0300060520902950
- Hao G, Duan W, Sun J, Liu J, Peng B. Effects of febuxostat on serum cytokines IL-1, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, TNF-α and COX-2. *Exp Ther Med.* (2019) 17:812–6. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.6972
- Amirshahrokhi K. Febuxostat attenuates ulcerative colitis by the inhibition of NF-κB, proinflammatory cytokines, and oxidative stress in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2019) 76:105884. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019. 105884
- El-Mahdy NA, Saleh DA, Amer MS, Abu-Risha SE. Role of allopurinol and febuxostat in the amelioration of dextran-induced colitis in rats. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* (2020) 141:105116. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2019. 105116
- 100. Namazi MR. Cannabinoids, loratadine and allopurinol as novel additions to the antipsoriatic ammunition. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. (2005) 19:319–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2004.01184.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Tripolino, Ciaffi, Ruscitti, Giacomelli, Meliconi and Ursini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Extra-Articular Manifestations and Comorbidities in Psoriatic Disease: A Journey Into the Immunologic Crosstalk

Lucia Novelli^{1†}, Ennio Lubrano^{2†}, Vincenzo Venerito³, Fabio Massimo Perrotta², Francesca Marando¹, Giacomo Curradi¹ and Florenzo Iannone^{3*}

¹ Medical Department, AbbVie srl, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Medicine and Health Sciences "Vincenzo Tiberio", University of Molise, Campobasso, Italy, ³ Rheumatology Unit—Department of Emergency and Organ Transplantations, University of Bari "Aldo Moro", Bari, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Reviewed by:

Cheng-De Yang, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Prasanta Padhan, Kalinga Institute of Medical Sciences (KIMS), India

> *Correspondence: Florenzo lannone florenzo iannone@uniba it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 06 July 2021 Accepted: 26 August 2021 Published: 23 September 2021

Citation:

Novelli L, Lubrano E, Venerito V, Perrotta FM, Marando F, Curradi G and Iannone F (2021) Extra-Articular Manifestations and Comorbidities in Psoriatic Disease: A Journey Into the Immunologic Crosstalk. Front. Med. 8:737079. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.737079 Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a chronic inflammatory disease primarily affecting peripheral and axial joints, with the possible presence of extra-articular manifestations (EAMs). such as psoriasis, uveitis, and inflammatory bowel disease. Recently, the concept of psoriatic disease (PsD) has been proposed to define a systemic condition encompassing, in addition to joints and EAMs, some comorbidities (e.g., metabolic syndrome, type II diabetes, hypertension) that can affect the disease outcome and the achievement of remission. EAMs and comorbidities in PsA share common immunopathogenic pathways linked to the systemic inflammation of this disease; these involve a broad variety of immune cells and cytokines. Currently, various therapeutics are available targeting different cytokines and molecules implicated in the inflammatory response of this condition; however, despite an improvement in the management of PsA, comprehensive disease control is often not achievable. There is, therefore, a big gap to fill especially in terms of comorbidities and EAMs management. In this review, we summarize the clinical aspects of the main comorbidities and EAMs in PsA, and we focus on the immunopathologic features they share with the articular manifestations. Moreover, we discuss the effect of a diverse immunomodulation and the current unmet needs in PsD.

Keywords: psoriatic arthritis, psoriatic disease, comorbidities, extra-articular manifestations, systemic inflammation, immunomodulation

INTRODUCTION

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is a common chronic inflammatory disease characterized by the association of arthritis and psoriasis, first identified by Verna Wright and his colleagues as a distinct and peculiar condition belonging to the group of spondyloarthritis (SpA) (1). Immune dysregulation, with altered cytokines expression and cellular phenotypes is responsible of the typical clinical features of PsA, which involve peripheral joints and the axial skeleton, with the onset of peripheral arthritis and spondylitis (2). In addition to these characteristic musculoskeletal manifestations, patients with PsA can often suffer from extra-articular manifestations (EAMs), which are genetically and immunologically correlated to these features and include psoriasis; inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs), such as ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn disease (CD); and uveitis (3).

73

Moreover, other concomitant or subsequent diseases, globally called comorbidities, can develop in these patients. These conditions are highly prevalent among patients with PsA and can be due to shared genetic/immunologic risk factors, chronic inflammation, the consequences of its treatment, and reduced physical function and activity (Table 1) (4). In recent years, the concept of psoriatic disease (PsD) emerged among the rheumatologic community, defining PsA as a systemic disease encompassing EAMs and comorbidities other than skin and joint involvement (13). This concept was developed as an attempt to explain more fully the complexity of this disease. The presence of EAMs and comorbidities strongly affects disease burden, often correlating with a poorer outcome, worse quality of life, reduced physical function, and poor response to treatments (14). Moreover, EAMs and comorbidities should drive therapeutic choices, and finding the correct balance between disease control, global efficacy, contraindications, and side effects is still a challenge and an unmet medical need, despite the various therapeutics currently available. Herein, we discuss the concept of PsD, reviewing the main PsA comorbidities and EAMs and focusing on some of their shared immunopathologic features and the effect of their modulation in clinical practice.

THE CONCEPT OF PSORIATIC DISEASE

Since the first descriptions of clinical manifestations, PsA appeared to be a multifaceted disease; in 2006, the term PsD was proposed by Scarpa and colleagues to emphasize the clinical and pathogenetic heterogeneity of PsA (13). PsD represents a heterogeneous, chronic, inflammatory disease with a wide spectrum of phenotypical manifestations that can occur only at joint level or in combination with several cutaneous, periarticular EAMs and different comorbidities, (15) which share key cytokines pathways (**Figure 1**). In this context, patients with PsA may have different clinical phenotypes and presentations, and physicians may need to treat patients in whom several coexisting conditions could be present (16).

PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS EXTRA-ARTICULAR MANIFESTATIONS

Psoriasis

Psoriasis (PsO) is the most common non-musculoskeletal organ involvement in PsA. Approximately one-third of patients with

PsO develops PsA over time. The incidence rate of PsA in different psoriasis cohorts is between 1.3 and 3.5% per annum (5, 17), with skin involvement preceding arthritis by an average of 7 years (17). PsA mainly develops in patients with an established diagnosis of PsO; indeed, PsO seems to occur after the onset of arthritis only in 15% of PsA cases. Simultaneous onset of PsA and PsO occurs in about 15% of patients, who tend to experience combined flares of both articular and skin involvement (17, 18). This makes PsO the most readily identifiable marker that confers risk of arthritis. Moreover, a recent study found that PsO is more common in PsA patients with axial involvement as well as other EAMs (e.g., uveitis and IBDs) (19). Different clinical subsets of PsO exist, such as plaque psoriasis, nail psoriasis, scalp psoriasis, palmoplantar psoriasis, and inverse or intertriginous psoriasis with distinct morphologic phenotype (5, 20, 21). In particular, nail, scalp and inverse psoriasis has been associated with an increased risk of PsA (5, 22).

For many years, PsO has been considered a classical Th1mediated disease, with a central role of interleukin (IL-2)and interferon (IFNy); subsequently, other populations of Thelper cells and their cytokines have been identified as major drivers in PsO development (23). First tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and then IL-17 and IL-12/IL-23 pathways have been recognized as key pathogenic circuits in PsO, acting in synergy for the inflammatory cascade. The currently embraced pathogenic model for PsO suggests a trigger event, leading to the release of autoantigens from skin cells (e.g., LL37), which promote dendritic cell activation, with the consequent release of IL-12 and IL-23. These cytokines activate Th1, Th17, and Th22 cells, which produce IFNy, TNF, IL-17, IL-22, contributing to the pro-inflammatory cytokines' milieu, to which keratinocytes respond (24). These cytokines also play a major role in PsA articular manifestations and, from a genetic standpoint, several cytokines' genes associated with PsO are also associated with PsA (25). However, gene expression patterns in skin and synovium are distinct, showing a stronger IL-17 gene signature in skin and more equivalent TNF and IFNy gene signatures in both skin and synovium (26). This might explain why treating skin and joints with the same cytokine target may show different grades of efficacy. In the last 20 years, therapeutics that directly target these cytokines (e.g., TNF or IL-17 inhibitors) completely revolutionized PsO treatment, allowing the complete clearing of psoriasis in a number of patients; however, the latter drugs account for PsA disease control only in ≤50% of patients (17). Some patients, for example, might experience diminished response to anti-TNF drugs over time or develop a paradoxical exacerbation of PsO (27); similar cases of paradoxical psoriasis have been reported for secukinumab (anti-IL-17 monoclonal antibody) and ustekinumab (IL-12/23 inhibitor) (28, 29). In recent years, new therapeutics have been developed that offer additional options and a more tailored approach for patients with PsO, some of which are selective cytokines inhibitors, such as guselkumab, risankizumab, and tildrakizumab. These new biological drugs selectively target IL-23, acting upstream in the inflammatory cascade and eventually reducing the production of IL-17 (30). Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors are new oral small molecules targeting the JAK/signal transducers and activators

Abbreviations: AMP, adenosine monophosphate; AU, anterior uveitis; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; CD, Crohn disease; CNS, central nervous system; CRP, C-reactive protein; CS, central sensitization; DAPSA, Disease Activity in PsA Index; DM, diabetes mellitus; DMARD, disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drug; DVT, deep venous thrombotic; EAM, extra-articular manifestation; FM, fibromyalgia; HAQ-DI, Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HR, hazard ratio; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; JAK, Janus kinase; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MACE, major cardiovascular event; OP, osteoporosis; PDE4, phosphodiesterase-4; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; PsAID-12, 12-item PsA Impact of Disease Questionnaire; PsD, psoriatic disease; PsO, psoriasi; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; RANK, receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B; SpA, spondyloarthritis; STAT, signal transducers and activators of transcription; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TYK2, tyrosine kinase 2; UC, ulcerative colitis.

Immunologic Crosstalk in Psoriatic Disease

Comorbidity	EAM	Prevalence, %	References (4, 5)	
CV disease	Psoriasis	19; 7–40		
Metabolic syndrome	IBD	29; 0–29	(3, 4)	
Diabetes	Uveitis	6-20; 2–25	(3, 6)	
Fibromyalgia	-	17.8–54	(7)	
Depression	-	9–22	(8)	
Anxiety	-	15–30	(8)	
Osteoporosis	_	1.4–68.8	(9-12)	

TABLE 1 | Prevalence of comorbidities and EAMs in PsA.

CV, cardiovascular; EAM, extra-articular manifestation; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; PsA, psoriatic arthritis.

of transcription (STAT) pathway. Several cytokines, transmit their signals via this pathway, with multiple effects on different cells (31), playing a role in different PsA manifestations, including EAMs and comorbidities (Figure 2). The JAK family consists of JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2); inhibition of each of these molecules can interrupt specific STATdependent signaling pathways. JAK-dependent cytokines directly and indirectly mediate the inflammatory response in PsO, (IFNy, IL-12, IL-23 and TNF, IL-17 respectively), thus, a JAKinhibition acts broader and more upstream in the inflammatory cascade compared with a selective cytokine-inhibition (32). Upadacitinib, a selective JAK1 inhibitor approved for PsA, has shown good results in treating PsO in PsA clinical trials, with 75% improvement in the Psoriasis Area Severity Index achieved (PASI75) even in 52.3% of patients for whom biologic treatment had failed (33). Tofacitinib, a pan-JAK inhibitor (inhibits JAK1/JAK2/JAK3 and to a lesser extent TyK2) has been approved for PsA, and baricitinib, a JAK1/2 selective inhibitor, is being studied as possible treatment for PsO (34). Finally, a selective inhibitor of TYK2 is also under investigation for PsO and PsA^{1, 2}.

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

Crohn's disease (CD) and UC, both IBDs, may occur in patients with PsO and PsA (35). Several studies reported the prevalence of IBD in patients with PsA, ranging from 0 to 20% (3). In a recent meta-analysis, the pooled estimate was 3.3%, although there was major asymmetry on the funnel plot, suggestive of bias (3). An Italian joint consensus by expert rheumatologists, gastroenterologists, and dermatologists has recently defined a core set of red flags for a multidisciplinary referral. Symptoms defined as major criteria for referral to gastroenterologists were bleeding, chronic abdominal pain, perianal fistula or abscess, chronic diarrhea, and nocturnal symptoms. Additionally, authors defined a set of minor criteria, including oral aphtosis, anemia, family history of IBD, weight loss, and fever, underlining the need for at least three of the latter for specialist referral. However, it should be considered that patients with PsO and PsA have a higher risk of developing IBD and that some patients with PsO may have subclinical IBD. To date there is



FIGURE 1 [PSA key cytokines involved in comorbidities and EAMs pathogenesis. CV, cardiovascular; EAM, extra-articular manifestation; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; IFN-γ, interferon; IL, interleukin; PsA, psoriatic arthritis; TNF, tumor necrosis factor. *Created with Biorender.com*.

a lack of studies examining the effect of IBD on longitudinal patient-reported outcomes and clinimetrics. The 2019 European Congress of Rheumatology (EULAR 2019) recommendations for PsA treatment (35) therefore advocated a tailored approach, focusing on both musculoskeletal and non-musculoskeletal involvements if present. From a pathogenic standpoint, PsA and IBD seem to share multiple mechanisms.

The interest of the scientific community in a pathogenic link between gut microbiome dysbiosis and PsA (and SpA in general) development has grown in the last few years. Disruption of the normal gut microbiota homeostasis led to systemic inflammation, with a central role of IL-23 in this process, in both SpA and IBD (36). IL-23 behavior, in the context of IBD, is extremely complex because it acts on multiple cells of the innate and adaptive immune systems. Preclinical data in murine models of colitis highlighted the importance of this cytokine in IBD (37); several anti–IL-23p19–specific antibodies, including

¹Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04772079?term= deucravacitinib&draw=2&rank=3.

²Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03881059.



risankizumab, brazikumab, mirikizumab, and guselkumab, have been or are currently under evaluation in clinical trials in CD and, in some cases, UC (38). Several cytokines sustain and amplify the chronic inflammatory response in IBD, although with different patterns among CD and UC, and many of them are shared by PsA and IBD pathogenesis, with a largely similar therapeutic approach (39). TNF is a crucial cytokine in this context and is considered the main driver of intestinal tissue inflammation; in the last two decades, different TNF blockers have been developed, most of which have been successfully used in IBD and in enteropathic SpA. Still, some patients do not respond to anti-TNF agents or response is lost after one year, mainly because of drug immunogenicity (40). Moreover, anti-TNF inhibitor etanercept is ineffective for IBD (41), and patients with PsA treated with the etanercept had a significant increase in the risk of developing CD [adjusted HR, 2.0 (95% CI, 0.8-2.2)] or UC [2.0 (1.5-2.8)] (42).

CD is mostly a Th1-driven disease compared with UC. This leads to increased levels of IL-12, which acts in synergy with IL-23 and TNF in sustaining the inflammatory response with multiple downstream pathways, including regulation of pro-inflammatory Th17 cells (43). IL-12 and IL-23 share the p40 subunit, which is the target of ustekinumab, a monoclonal antibody approved for CD and also efficient in PsO and peripheral PsA (38). The discovery of the IL-23/Th17 pathways in IBD boosted intensive research aimed at the development of new therapeutics against these targets; unfortunately, both preclinical data and clinical trials showed a paradoxical worsening of the intestinal disease with anti-IL-17 blockage (44). The Janus of the IL-23 and IL-17 neutralization has been recently explained: anti-IL-23 antibodies reduce Th17, improving inflammation, whereas the blockage of IL-17 affects tissue homeostasis repair, impairing intestinal wall integrity and thus exacerbating the disease (45). These negative results have been largely disappointing, especially in the light of a missing option for patients with enteropathic SpA, whose treatment is often more challenging and requires a tighter, tailored, and multidisciplinary approach (46). Similar to PsA, most of the cytokines involved in IBD signal trough the JAK/STAT pathway and multiple clinical trials have recently been initiated to investigate the efficacy of different JAK inhibitors in CD and UC. Indeed, JAK inhibition in these clinical conditions may block multiple cytokines at the same time. Tofacitinib was the first small molecule to be approved for UC, but it was not effective in CD (47, 48). Filgotinib and upadacitinib (the latter of which is already approved for PsA)³ are two selective JAK1 inhibitors currently under investigation in phase III clinical trials for CD and UC^{4, 5, 6, 7}. These new promising therapeutics might have the advantage of being effective in multiple overlapping clinical conditions, as in the case of enteropathic SpA.

Uveitis

Ophthalmic manifestations are estimated to occur in 10% of patients with PsO and 31% of patients with PsA (3, 49). Uveitis is the most frequent inflammatory eye involvement. In literature, the prevalence of uveitis is reported to affect between 2 and 25% of patients with PsA (3) and, in a recent meta-analysis of 21 studies, the pooled estimate of uveitis was 3.2% (3). The wide range of prevalence reported in PsA may be explained by the variable sets of classification criteria used for patient selection and the different time of follow-up. Nevertheless, the analysis reported high heterogeneity in analyzed studies and a high risk of bias. Anterior uveitis (AU) is the most frequent clinical phenotype of uveitis in PsA. The reported prevalence of AU ranges from 2 to 25% of cases, and it is more frequently observed in patients with axial PsA or who are HLA-B27-positive (50). The involvement of the anterior chamber prompted Bridgewood et al. (51) to speculate that connective tissue of uveal structures might be conceptually similar to a musculoskeletal enthesis. Indeed, elastin and type IV collagen compose the structure of tendons of the ciliary muscle and IL-23R-positive resident cells have also been recently detected in the ciliary body of mice (51, 52). AU is a potentially vision-impairing condition if not treated. Patients often complain of ocular pain, photophobia, tearing, marked eye redness and, in more severe cases, vision blurring due to abundant inflammatory precipitate in the anterior chamber (53, 54). Although the most common type of uveitis is recurrent AU, it does not appear to follow a "unilateral alternating" pattern of ankylosing spondylitis and both eyes can be affected simultaneously. In an Italian study comparing the frequency of uveitis in PsA with other SpA, PsA uveitis had a more insidious onset, was more frequently bilateral (38 vs. 7%) and posterior (44 vs. 17%) and lasted longer (31 vs. 6%) (55). In a large Italian cross-sectional study involving 278 patients with uveitis (n.418

 ³Available online at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/smop/chmp-post-authorisation-summary-positive-opinion-rinvoq-ii-04ii-05_en.pdf.
 ⁴Available online at: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02914600?

term=filgotinib&cond=crohn\$+\$disease&draw=2&rank=1. ⁵Available online at: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/ NCT02914522?term=filgotinib&cond=Ulcerative\$+\$Colitis&draw=2&rank= 2.

⁶Available online at: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03653026? term=upadacitinib&cond=Ulcerative\$+\$Colitis&draw=2&rank=1.

⁷Available online at: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03345836? term=upadacitinib&cond=Crohn\$+\$Disease&draw=2&rank=1.

eyes) who were referred to a rheumatologist in two tertiary care centers, Lopalco et al. (56) reported that AU (63.6%) with a chronic course (71.4%) and bilateral involvement (57.1%) was the most frequent phenotype. Nevertheless, the authors also showed that chronic posterior uveitis (42.8%) with bilateral involvement (66.7%) was likely to occur.

Acute AU has a strong genetic component, and most of the identified susceptibility genes belong to various immunologic pathways that are also common in SpA, including PsA. Besides HLA-B27, other genes involving TNF, IL-17, and IL-23 pathways have been identified for uveitis (57), emphasizing the major role of inflammation in this disease. Studies from animal models revealed a role for both innate and adaptive immunity, in line with SpA pathogenesis (58). Moreover, as with synovial fluid from inflamed joints, several pro-inflammatory cytokines can be found in the aqueous humor in case of uveitis, including TNF, IFNy, IL-17, IL-22, IL-23 (59). Thus, it is not surprising that biological therapies played a role in the treatment of this disease in the last few years; with their immunomodulatory properties and a more selective immunosuppression, these drugs reduce the need for topical corticosteroids, lowering the risk of elevated intraocular pressure and vision loss (60). Anti-TNF drugs, such as infliximab and adalimumab, can successfully control uveitis flares, whereas etanercept can promote a paradoxical uveitis. The reason for this paradoxical effect is unknown, but it may be linked to a drug-induced cytokine imbalance (61). Other TNF inhibitors, such as golimumab and certolizumab pegol, showed promising results (62, 63), but to date, only adalimumab is indicated for uveitis treatment. Genetic studies and mice models revealed a possible involvement of the IL-23/IL-17 axis as well (64), thus modulation of this pathway may represent a future therapeutic option for this condition. Ustekinumab showed efficacy in some case reports, (65, 66) and a phase II clinical trial has been recently completed⁸. The JAK/STAT pathway is also being studied in uveitis because of its role in cytokines signaling. Topical tofacitinib showed symptom improvement in an experimental model of autoimmune uveitis (67), and phase II clinical trials are currently ongoing to test tofacitinib⁹ and filgotinib in this disease¹⁰.

PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS COMORBIDITIES

Cardiovascular Disease, Metabolic Syndrome, and Diabetes

Among the different comorbid conditions that could be present in PsA, cardiometabolic disease is the most prevalent, with an important effect on disease burden and outcomes. A recent work analyzed the incidence of new comorbidities per 100 person-years in PsA patients and controls. Compared with controls, patients with PsA had a higher incidence rate of autoimmune disease, cardiovascular disease, fatigue, eczema,

obesity/overweight, depression, anxiety, smoking, cancer, diabetes, alcohol use, osteoporosis, uveitis, and liver disease (68). Furthermore, observational studies showed an increased risk (43%) of cardiovascular diseases in patients with PsA, with higher morbidity risks for myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular diseases, and heart failure compared with the general population (69). Of note, the rates of coronary artery disease hospitalizations were significantly higher in patients with PsA than in controls (primary diagnosis, 0.8 vs. 0.5%; non-primary diagnosis, 3.2 vs. 2.2%; P < 0.001 for both) (68). Other studies confirmed the increased incidence of cardiovascular diseases in patients with PsA [incidence rate, 9.4 (95% CI, 6.5-13.5)], and even reports coming from administrative data showed higher risk of cardiovascular disorders (incidence rate, 6.5 vs. 5.8 compared with controls) and a higher risk of specific cardiovascular disorders (hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary artery disease, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease) (70). All these factors were associated with increased all-cause mortality and, of note, higher cardiovascular mortality rate seemed to be related to the polyarticular pattern, high disease activity, and severity (69). Among cardiovascular risk factors, a recent meta-analysis showed that hypertension is the most prevalent comorbidity in patients with PsA (present in \sim 39%) of patients), followed by hyperlipidemia, diabetes, and obesity (71, 72). Regarding obesity, studies have also suggested that weight gain may be a consequence of the systemic inflammatory state or that obesity may lead to more weight on the joints, altered mechanics, and repetitive micro-trauma, which could represent a trigger for entheseal and synovial inflammation (73). Moreover, obesity is a negative predictor for response to treatment; in particular, response to anti-TNF could be impaired, with higher risk to not achieve the minimal disease activity in obese patients with PsA (74-76). Finally, among the different comorbidities present in patients with PsA, insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus (DM) appeared to be of peculiar interest. DM appears to be more prevalent in patients with PsA compared with general population, with an estimated prevalence of ranging from 6.1 to 20.2%. Moreover, DM seems to be more frequent in patients with PsA vs. patients with only PsO. Clinical factors associated to the development of DM were recently explored: in a large cohort study, tender joint count and erythrocyte sedimentation rate were deemed the predictor factors associated with the development of DM. These results are in keeping with the concept that disease activity is an important driver, suggesting how elevated inflammatory burden may lead to a higher risk of developing DM (6). Indeed, a robust body of evidence indicates a strong bond between the metabolic and the immune system, and alterations in this complex network, may lead to chronic diseases, including diabetes and obesity (77). For example, IL-6, a cytokine renowned for its pro-inflammatory role, is associated with central obesity, hypertension, and insulin resistance. Moreover, it promotes C-reactive protein (CRP) production (78). Additionally, there is a chronic and low-grade state of inflammation called metaflammation, described in obesity and type 2 DM, involving the adipose tissue and other tissues (79). As previously discussed, in patients with PsA,

⁸ Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT02911116.
⁹ Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT03580343? term=tofacitinib&cond=Uveitis&draw=2&rank=1.

¹⁰Available online at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03207815?term=filgotinib&cond=Uveitis&draw=2&rank=1.

the presence of inflammation is associated with an increase in traditional cardiovascular risk factors, such as a higher body mass index, hypertension, high sugar levels, insulin resistance, and dyslipidemia (80). Intensive research in this field brought to light multiple results supporting the hypothesis that the association between PsA and metabolic syndrome might be due to shared inflammatory pathways (81).

Role of Cytokines

Increasing evidence has established that PsO, PsA, and atherosclerosis involve the same T-cell-mediated inflammatory pathways, specifically T-helper 1 and T-helper 17 cascades (82), with release of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., INFy and TNF), which are involved in the initiation and progression of atherosclerotic plaques in the systemic vasculature. Chronic inflammation in both PsA and atherosclerosis promotes increased production of adipokines and pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF) with consequent insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction (83). Indeed, it has been demonstrated that anti-TNF therapy improves insulin resistance (84). Presence of inflammation also influences lipoprotein levels, and patients with PsA have been shown to have several lipid alterations, including oxidized lipoproteins, which are markers of atherosclerosis. Anti-TNF therapies can increase total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), triglycerides, and Apo B levels in patients with PsA and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) without changing the atherogenic index (84). According to some authors, these data suggest normalization with suppression of inflammation; to others, these results might be interpreted with caution despite the reduced cardiovascular risk reported in cohorts of patients treated with anti-TNF (85). Patients with PsA receiving disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) showed a lower cardiovascular risk when compared with those not receiving these medications, and anti-TNF treatment seems to be associated with a reduced progression of subclinical atherosclerosis in these patients (86, 87). TNF is not the only cytokine involved in cardiovascular comorbidity: data from animal models and human studies highlighted the proatherogenic role of IL-17 on vascular inflammation, acting in synergy with TNF and IL-6 (88). IL-17 is involved in endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, plaque progression and destabilization, stroke, and myocardial infarction. However, it also seems to have anti-atherogenic effects, and low serum levels of IL-17 have been associated with a higher risk of cardiovascular relapses in patients with coronary artery disease (89). TNF and IL-17 can also inhibit the autophosphorylation of the insulin receptor, thus inducing insulin resistance and suppressing the expression of GLUT4 (90). Another link between PsA and DM can be found in adipokines, a group of cytokines secreted by adipose tissue. Adiponectin is an adipokine with anti-inflammatory, insulin-sensitizing, and anti-atherogenic properties, but whose secretion is decreased by pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as TNF, IL-1β, and IL-6). Some studies have shown that in inflammatory diseases such as PsA, adiponectin levels are decreased, with a potential effect on the metabolic status of patients. Of note, it has been demonstrated that biologic drugs, such as anti-TNF, may increase adiponectin levels, leading to a possible improvement of metabolic aspects in PsA (91, 92). IL-17 also links inflammation with insulin resistance and adipocytes dysfunction; for instance, there is a reciprocal regulation between the pro-inflammatory adipokine leptin and IL-17. In mice models with systemic inflammation and insulin resistance, there is accumulation of IL-6/IL-17 co-expressing T cells in the adipose tissue; these cells enhance leptin production, which eventually acts in synergy with IL-6 and IL-17 to promote Th17 differentiation. This complex network drives local and systemic insulin resistance, and, in fact, IL-17 neutralization improves glucose uptake (93). Moreover, clinical studies in patients with inflammatory arthritis and type II DM demonstrated that anti-IL-17 (and anti-IL-12/23) therapies do not seem to have an influence on body weight and do not increase the risk of DM manifestations (88).

Signal Transduction Pathways

Phosphodiesterase-4 (PDE4) is a phosphodiesterase that hydrolyzes cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) to adenosine monophosphate (AMP). This molecule can be found in keratinocytes and immune cells and is involved in several cytokines' pathways implicated in inflammation. A small molecule targeting PDE4 (apremilast) has been used for the last few years to treat PsO and PsA. Besides inflammatory diseases, derangement of the PDE4-cAMP signaling is relevant in the development of metabolic disorders. In fact, patients with PsA treated with this anti-PDE4 molecule seem to have a better lipid and glucose profile (94). Most of the pro-inflammatory cytokines involved in PsA pathogenesis signal through the JAK/STAT pathway, and a growing body of evidence points to involvement of this pathway in DM and obesity. It has been shown that through activation of the JAK/STAT pathway insulin signal can be decreased, and data have demonstrated that oxidative stress and inflammation work together to induce insulin resistance with JAK performing a central role (95). The β -pancreatic cells respond to insulin, growth factors and cytokines that are JAK/STAT dependent, and this pathway could be involved in both type I and type II DM. In DM mice models (non-obese diabetic [NOD] mice) treatment with a JAK1/JAK2 inhibitor can reverse the disease (96). However, the role of JAK/STAT proteins in metabolism is highly dependent on the context and the cell type. Impairment of JAK/STAT signaling can lead to various metabolic alterations or protection from obesity and insulin resistance. Knock-out mice for JAK3 or TYK2 have been shown to be prone to obesity and insulin-resistance (97, 98). In contrast with these data from animal studies, an in vitro study showed that tofacitinib induced "browning" in human adipocytes through IFN suppression (99), in which the increase in the number of brown adipocytes in the adipose tissue has been shown to prevent obesity and improve type II DM. This study opened the path of new area of research, involving JAK inhibitors as possible therapeutic options for obesity (99). Concerning the cardiovascular risk, the effect of JAK inhibitors showed contrasting results. JAK/STAT signaling pathway seems to be deeply involved in atherosclerosis, regulating scavenger receptors

involved in LDL uptake (100), and is involved in NOX-dependent oxidative stress in human aortic smooth muscle cells (101). In randomized controlled trials and real-world studies in patients affected by RA, the use of JAK inhibitors tofacitinib, baricitinib, and upadacitinib increased levels of total cholesterol, HDL, and LDL in the first four weeks of therapy and then plateaued, with lack of changes in the atherogenic index (102, 103). In vitro studies have shown that this was associated with release of cholesterol from macrophages by reverse cholesterol transport, and, in line with these observations, tofacitinib was shown to ameliorate atherosclerosis in mice models (104). Moreover, in patients with RA treated with upadacitinib, a significantly higher efflux of cholesterol from macrophages was observed, and this was associated with increased HDLs and reduction of CRP (105). Some real-world studies reported increased major cardiovascular events (MACE) and deep venous thrombotic (DVT) events in patients treated with tofacitinib (especially at higher dose) and baricitinib (106) whereas other studies did not support these findings (107, 108). Currently, it is not possible to establish if this increased risk is related to specific direct and indirect cytokine blockade, to chemical structure and/or pharmacologic and toxicologic properties of specific JAK inhibitors, to the presence of concomitant diseases, or other factors (e.g., genetic mutations). The pathophysiological process that eventually leads to blood clot formation, involves the recruitment of a broad variety of immune cells, chemokines, and cytokines, with an inflammatory response that impairs endothelial function and activates the coagulation cascade (109). Inhibition of the JAK/STAT pathway modulates the inflammatory response and, thus, should reduce the prothrombotic risk. According to some authors, JAK-inhibition specificity matters; when a pro-inflammatory and anti-thrombotic pathway is blocked, other pathways can still transmit pro-thrombotic signals, thus, these complications might not be considered a class drug effect (110). The genetic background of patients could also play a big role, especially in terms of age-dependent JAK mutations (110). A good case in point is the mutation V617F in the JAK2 gene, which enhances its function, resulting in an increased risk of thrombotic events. This mutation is frequent among patients affected by myeloproliferative neoplasms, and ruxolitinib (a JAK1/JAK2 inhibitor) is a recommended second-line treatment for the prevention of thrombosis in these patients (111). Another aspect to take into account, is the patients' clinical response to therapy; to the best of our knowledge, there are contrasting data in the literature regarding a correlation between incomplete disease control and increased MACE/DVT events in patients with inflammatory arthritis treated with tofacitinib: a recently published cohort study from Sweden demonstrated a strong association between disease activity and the risk of venous thrombotic events in patients with RA (112); in contrast, a post hoc analysis of a phase III trial of tofacitinib in patients with RA, did not find any association between disease activity and the MACE risk, but it revealed a trend toward an association between elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate following tofacitinib treatment with an increased risk of future MACE, and this was explained as possibly a form of failure to respond to treatment (113). Thus, the persistence of inflammation, together with other predisposing factors, may contribute to the development of these events in certain individuals.

Osteoporosis

In PsA, bone involvement is quite complex because it involves not only bone loss but also new bone formation. According to some studies, prevalence of osteoporosis (OP) in patients with PsA is similar to the general population (114). However, other studies have shown that OP is found very frequently in PsA, ranging from between 1.4 and 68.8% of patients (9-12), but its likelihood depends on the site of measurement, the arthritic subset, the sex of the patient, and other factors (e.g., menopausal state) (115). Moreover, the use of glucocorticoids are also a contributing factor, although to a lesser extent than RA, requiring a different type of OP management compared with the general population (114). OP is associated with an increased risk of fractures and, according to a study form Pedreira et al. prevalence of fractures seems higher in patients with PsA versus PsO and controls, despite no differences in bone mineral density in the three groups (116). This finding highlights the concept that not only bone density but also bone quality matters when dealing with increased fracture risk (115). The role of the immune system in bone quality and bone metabolism is well established and led to the development of an intriguing field of research called osteoimmunology (117). Bone undergoes continuous remodeling thanks to a delicate but dynamic balance between osteoclasts and osteoblasts. The immune cells and the neuro-endocrine system regulate these cells, answering to physiological/mechanical stress, and dysregulation of this network leads to various bone diseases, including bone damage in inflammatory arthritis and OP (118). Several studies described the role of inflammation in OP pathogenesis as involving both the innate and the adaptive immune systems. Moreover, the presence of a low-grade, chronic, systemic, inflammatory state, associated with aging, has been linked to age-related diseases, including OP (119). Cytokines involved in PsA pathogenesis have an effect on bone cell activity with possible inhibitory or stimulatory stimuli on osteoclasts and osteoblasts. TNF, IL-6, and IL-1, for example, exert stimulatory activity toward osteoclasts and inhibitory activity toward osteoblasts (119). Given the activity of these inflammatory cytokines on bone cells, the high prevalence of OP in a systemic chronic inflammatory disease such as PsA is not surprising. IL-12 and IL-23, involved in PsA, are also critical to inflammation-induced bone resorption. Specifically, IL-23 upregulates the receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B (RANK) on preosteoclasts and induces Th17 cells to produce IL-17 (120). IL-17, one of PsA signature cytokines, promotes bone resorption via RANK ligand upregulation (121). Indeed, Th17 cells have been found to be highly increased in blood and tissues of patients with OP (72). PsA and OP often share another risk factor that is tightly connected to inflammation: vitamin D deficiency. A possibility of crosstalk between vitamin D and IL-33, a cytokine involved both in PsA and OP, has recently been suggested (122). Vitamin D and IL-33 under some conditions act in synergy and under other conditions modulate each other. For instance, they both have a protective effect on bone resorption, whereas in inflammatory conditions, vitamin D

deficiency and IL-33 upregulation boost each other (123). The relationship between inflammation and bone loss suggests that, in light of their immunomodulatory properties, biologic drugs can reduce OP and fracture risk (124). Most of research on this topic focuses on the role of anti-TNF drugs, and several of these studies demonstrated a role of these therapeutics in bone loss reduction in patients with inflammatory arthritis (125, 126), although other studies did not completely confirm these data (127). The effect of TNF-blockade on fracture risk specifically still needs to be fully elucidated. Indeed, a recent article by Manara and Sinigaglia concluded that there is little evidence of a clinically relevant effect of TNF-inhibitors on this, especially considering the conflicting results published in literature (125). Similarly, the effect of IL-17 and IL-23 blockade on bone loss is still not completely clear. Animal studies support a bone protective effect of anti-IL-23 and anti-IL-17 antibodies, preventing bone loss (128, 129). However, clinical studies, especially in the context of inflammatory arthritis, are missing. Most of these cytokines control bone homeostasis via JAK/STAT proteins (130) in a tightly regulated way in physiologic conditions. In cases of inflammation, pathologic activation of this pathway can eventually lead to OP, bone erosions, and other bone disorders. Therefore, inhibition of this pathway, which exerts a positive effect on prevention of bone erosions (131), may have a similar effect on bone density (132, 133). In fact, recently published papers indicated that JAK/STAT inhibition induces osteoanabolic effects in mice models and *in vitro* studies (134, 135).

Mood Disorders

Current evidence suggests that patients with PsA have a significantly worse quality of life compared with patients experiencing other rheumatic diseases (136). This may be due to the additive effect of PsO on chronic pain, limitations in physical functioning and work abilities, extreme fatigue, and emotional and social impairment. Such a detrimental effect on quality of life would also entail depression and anxiety in patients with PsA (7, 8). Indeed, according to a recent meta-analysis, the prevalence of depression in patients with PsA ranges from 9 to 22%, and the prevalence of anxiety between 15 and 30%, which is higher than in the general population (137). Anxiety and depression in PsA are more likely to affect patients who are female, unemployed, and with high disease activity (8). The 2019 EULAR recommendations (35) emphasized that comorbidities should be taken into account in the management of PsA, highlighting that anxiety and depression are among the most common ones in such patients. This is particularly important in planning a treat-to-target strategy because the presence of comorbid depression and anxiety has recently been shown to reduce the likelihood of achieving disease remission, according to the American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism Boolean and Disease Activity Index for PsA Norwegian-DMARD prospective cohort (138). There is rising evidence that an inflammatory process might be also behind these diseases. Specifically, IL-6 might have a negative effect on mood, and it has been shown to be a predictor of higher severity and chronicity of depression (139). Moreover, elevated levels of CRP and TNF have been found in patients with depression and have been associated with higher symptoms severity (139). There is evidence that neuroinflammation also plays a role in depression, with increased pro-inflammatory cytokines in the brain and activation of microglia cells (140). Anti-inflammatory treatment has been shown to improve symptoms of depression according to different studies (141). However, contrasting evidence has been shown regarding the effect of treatment with conventional synthetic and biological DMARDs on psychological disorders. One study demonstrated a reduction in prevalence of depression and anxiety with etanercept treatment (142), but these findings are at high risk of bias because of insufficient data on sampling, response rates, and statistical analysis. According to a recent meta-analysis (137), the overall effect of PsA treatment on depression and anxiety remained unclear. Lastly, patients treated with a PDE4 inhibitor for PsA and PsO showed increased frequency of depression or suicidal behavior in clinical studies (143).

Fibromyalgia

Fibromyalgia (FM) is a chronic syndrome characterized by pain and tenderness, sleep disturbance, fatigue, cognitive dysfunction, and background emotional distress. It sometimes presents as a comorbidity with another disease or condition (144). FM is the clinical expression of stress-related neurobiological responses that lead to increased reactivity in several sensory neural systems, particularly those in the musculoskeletal system. In most patients with comorbid FM, such responses may be related to the burden of having a chronic illness. This includes the symptoms of the disease; the effect on general health; the need for tests, drugs, and treatments; disability; loss of quality of life; and changes in social and work roles (144). In the general population, the prevalence of FM varies, according to classification criteria, between 2 and 8%. These rates increase significantly when FM manifests as comorbidity, particularly in rheumatic diseases, with FM symptoms often merging with those of the underlying condition. Data from retrospective cohorts show that the prevalence of classified FM in patients with PsA according to 2016 American College of Rheumatology criteria is higher, ranging from 17.8 to 64% (7, 145-147). FM can either interfere with the patient's perception of disease activity or alter physicians' clinimetrics. Indeed, patients with FM frequently experience widespread pain that can be mistaken for arthralgia or enthesitis. Comorbid FM is known to amplify the perception of pain and fatigue in patients with PsA and therefore, negatively affects self-reported assessment of disease activity. Furthermore, coexistent FM can make the therapeutic strategy for PsA challenging hampering the global clinical effectiveness of therapies and misleading doctors in their choices. In general, patients with PsA with FM are more likely to be female with polyarticular phenotype and high disease activity score, whichever index is adopted (145-147). Elsawy et al. and Ulutatar et al. (146, 147) report that patients with PsA with comorbid FM show a significant increase in disease activity scores that incorporate measurements of pain and tenderness compared with patients without FM. These include standard instruments such as the Disease Activity in PsA Index (DAPSA), Tender Joint Count, Leeds Enthesitis Index, and Disease Activity Score on 28 Joints (148). Furthermore, patients with PsA with FM had significantly poorer sleep quality, greater fatigue, and lower quality of life (146, 147). Of note, the FM PsA group had also a significantly higher body mass index, which is another factor potentially influencing clinical response to treatment (17). Patients with PsA with FM receiving biologic treatments may also have a significantly lower response rate than those without FM at all time points in terms of both DAPSA remission and minimal disease activity (145). Interestingly, the time to discontinuation of the first and second biologic drugs was also far shorter in patients with PsA with versus without FM, with the FM diagnosis doubling the risk of discontinuing treatment (145).

Fibromyalgia may also affect patient-reported outcomes, such as the Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index (HAQ-DI) and the 12-item PsA Impact of Disease Questionnaire (PsAID-12). Several authors agree that patients with FM PsA have higher (worse) HAQ-DI scores than those without PsA (145, 147). The presence of a coexisting FM might also influence PsAID-12 interpretation (149). Fibromyalgia has long been considered a non-inflammatory rheumatic disease, but multiple recent studies have brought to light the possible role of inflammation in FM pathogenesis (150). Immunologic alterations are added to genetic, hormonal, environmental, and neural factors and can contribute to the development of an inflammatory state (151). Interestingly, a very recent genetic study investigated the gene expression profile in patients with FM, finding that most of modulated genes belonged to the IL-17 pathway and to the type I IFN signatures, suggesting an autoimmune component for this disease (152). These data corroborate the findings of increased serum levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6 and IL-17, found in patients with FM (153). All of these cytokines are known to be involved in the neuroinflammation contributing to pain also found in inflammatory arthritis, including PsA. For example, IL-1 induces sensory neural sensitization to pain, probably trough tyrosine kinases (154); IL-6 is released by hepatocytes during pain stimuli and by neurons and glial cells and has been associated to hyperalgesia, depression, fatigue and sympathetic nervous system activation (153); and IL-17 modulates pain by increasing nociceptor excitability (155). This has empowered the idea of targeting pro-inflammatory cytokines as a potential therapy for FM; however there are no data currently available in the literature on the possible use of biological drugs in this condition. A key mechanism behind FM and chronic pain is believed to be central sensitization (CS). CS is a phenomenon of synaptic plasticity and increased neuronal responsiveness involving the central nervous system (CNS) (156). CS is typically

REFERENCES

- Helliwell PS. Verna Wright: father of the spondyloarthropathies. Ann Rheum Dis. (2019) 78:454–5. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214689
- Coates LC, Helliwell PS. Psoriatic arthritis: state of the art review. *Clin Med.* (2017) 17:65–70. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.17-1-65
- Pittam B, Gupta S, Harrison NL, Robertson S, Hughes DM, Zhao SS. Prevalence of extra-articular manifestations in psoriatic arthritis:

characterized by activation of glia cells and astrocytes with release of cytokines and chemokines, and accumulating evidence suggests that this neuroinflammation process promotes chronic widespread pain in the body via CS (156). Activation of glia cells and astrocytes in neuroinflammation occurs via activation of the intracellular JAK/STAT signaling pathway (157); this pathway has a pleiotropic effect in the context of CNS, being involved in the regulation of multiple neural functions (158). Several preclinical data described the role of this pathway in amplification of pro-inflammatory cytokines implicated in neuropathic pain (154), and the new generation of JAK inhibitors demonstrated rapid pain relief (159). Given the role of this pathway and their dependent and independent cytokines in CS, it is possible to speculate a positive effect of JAK inhibitors on central chronic pain and, thus, FM symptoms, although further studies are needed to demonstrate this hypothesis.

CONCLUSIONS

Psoriatic arthritis is a multifaceted disease encompassing different domains and is associated with several comorbidities that must be considered in the clinical management of patients. The systemic inflammation involved in the musculoskeletal domain plays a major role in EAMs and comorbidities. Current available immunomodulatory treatments can have a multilayered, *yin and yang* effect, which underscores the need for therapies with a more comprehensive disease target.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LN: conceived the work, reviewed the literature, and wrote the manuscript. EL, FI, VV, and FP: reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript. FM and GC: critically contribute to the idea development, reviewed, and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

AbbVie participated in the design of the project, as well as in interpretation of the data, review, and approval of the publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Ralph Lippe and Erin Blondell from AbbVie for their critical suggestions and support.

a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Rheumatology*. (2020) 59:2199–206. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa062

- 4. Gupta S, Syrimi Z, Hughes DM, Zhao SS. Comorbidities in psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Rheumatol Int.* (2021) 41:275–84. doi: 10.1007/s00296-020-04 775-2
- 5. Wilson FC, Icen M, Crowson CS, McEvoy MT, Gabriel SE, Kremers HM. Incidence and clinical predictors of psoriatic arthritis in patients

with psoriasis: a population-based study. Arthritis Rheum. (2009) 61:233-9. doi: 10.1002/art.24172

- Eder L, Chandran V, Cook R, Gladman DD. The risk of developing diabetes mellitus in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a cohort study. J Rheumatol. (2017) 44:286–91. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.160861
- Azarfar A, Ahmed A, Bég S. Prevalence of anxiety, depression, sleep disturbance, fibromyalgia, obesity, and gastroesophageal disease in patients with rheumatic diseases. *Curr Rheumatol Rev.* (2020) 17:252–7. doi: 10.2174/1573397116666201211124815
- McDonough E, Ayearst R, Eder L, Chandran V, Rosen CF, Thavaneswaran A, et al. Depression and anxiety in psoriatic disease: prevalence and associated factors. J Rheumatol. (2014) 41:887–96. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.130797
- Attia EAS, Khafagy A, Abdel-Raheem S, Fathi S, Saad AA. Assessment of osteoporosis in psoriasis with and without arthritis: correlation with disease severity. *Int J Dermatol.* (2011) 50:30–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2010.04600.x
- Grazio S, Cvijetić S, Vlak T, Grubišić F, Matijević V, Nemčić T, et al. Osteoporosis in psoriatic arthritis: is there any? Wien Klin Wochenschr. (2011) 123:743–50. doi: 10.1007/s00508-011-0095-8
- Frediani B, Allegri A, Falsetti P, Storri L, Bisogno S, Baldi F, et al. Bone mineral density in patients with psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol. (2001) 28:138–43.
- Busquets N, Vaquero CG, Moreno JR, Vilaseca DR, Narváez J, Carmona L, et al. Bone mineral density status and frequency of osteoporosis and clinical fractures in 155 patients with psoriatic arthritis followed in a university hospital. *Reumatol Clínica*. (2014) 10:89–93. doi: 10.1016/j.reuma.2013.07.006
- Scarpa R, Ayala F, Caporaso N, Olivieri I. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, or psoriatic disease? J Rheumatol. (2006) 33:210–2.
- Moltó A, Nikiphorou E. Comorbidities in spondyloarthritis. Front Med. (2018) 5:62. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00062
- Chimenti MS, Caso F, Alivernini S, De Martino E, Costa L, Tolusso B, et al. Amplifying the concept of psoriatic arthritis: the role of autoimmunity in systemic psoriatic disease. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2019) 18:565– 75. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.11.007
- Lubrano E, Scriffignano S, Perrotta FM. Multimorbidity and comorbidity in psoriatic arthritis—a perspective. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2020) 16:963– 72. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2021.1825941
- Scher JU, Ogdie A, Merola JF, Ritchlin C. Preventing psoriatic arthritis: focusing on patients with psoriasis at increased risk of transition. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2019) 15:153–66. doi: 10.1038/s41584-019-0175-0
- Ritchlin CT, Colbert RA, Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:957–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1505557
- Peluso R, Iervolino S, Vitiello M, Bruner V, Lupoli G, Di Minno MND. Extraarticular manifestations in psoriatic arthritis patients. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2015) 34:745–53. doi: 10.1007/s10067-014-2652-9
- Eder L, Polachek A, Rosen CF, Chandran V, Cook R, Gladman DD. The development of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis is preceded by a period of nonspecific musculoskeletal symptoms: a prospective cohort Study. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2017) 69:622–9. doi: 10.1002/art.39973
- Rouzaud M, Sevrain M, Villani AP, Barnetche T, Paul C, Richard M-A, et al. Is there a psoriasis skin phenotype associated with psoriatic arthritis? Systematic literature review. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2014) 28(Suppl. 5):17–26. doi: 10.1111/jdv.12562
- Cunha JS, Qureshi AA, Reginato AM. Nail enthesis ultrasound in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a report from the 2016 GRAPPA annual meeting. J Rheumatol. (2017) 44:688–90. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.170146
- Novelli L, Chimenti MS, Chiricozzi A, Perricone R. The new era for the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: perspectives and validated strategies. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:64–9. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2013.08.006
- Lowes MA, Suárez-Fariñas M, Krueger JG. Immunology of psoriasis. Annu Rev Immunol. (2014) 32:227– 55. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120225
- Caputo V, Strafella C, Termine A, Dattola A, Mazzilli S, Lanna C, et al. Overview of the molecular determinants contributing to the expression of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis phenotypes. J Cell Mol Med. (2020) 24:13554– 63. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.15742

- Belasco J, Louie JS, Gulati N, Wei N, Nograles K, Fuentes-Duculan J, et al. Comparative genomic profiling of synovium versus skin lesions in psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2015) 67:934–44. doi: 10.1002/art.38995
- Mylonas A, Conrad C. Psoriasis: classical vs. paradoxical. The Yin-Yang of TNF and type I interferon. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2746. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02746
- Dogra S, Bishnoi A, Narang T, Handa S. Secukinumab-induced paradoxical pustular psoriasis. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* (2019) 44:72–3. doi: 10.1111/ced.13731
- Lee HY, Woo CH, Haw S. Paradoxical flare of psoriasis after Ustekinumab therapy. Ann Dermatol. (2017) 29:794–5. doi: 10.5021/ad.2017.29.6.794
- Yang K, Oak ASW, Elewski BE. Use of IL-23 inhibitors for the treatment of plaque psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a comprehensive review. Am J Clin Dermatol. (2021) 22:173–92. doi: 10.1007/s40257-020-00578-0
- Murray PJ. The JAK-STAT signaling pathway: input and output integration. J Immunol. (2007) 178:2623–2629. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2623
- Kvist-Hansen A, Hansen PR, Skov L. Systemic treatment of psoriasis with JAK inhibitors: a review. *Dermatol Ther.* (2020) 10:29–42. doi: 10.1007/s13555-019-00347-w
- Mease PJ, Lertratanakul A, Anderson JK, Papp K, Van den Bosch F, Tsuji S, et al. Upadacitinib for psoriatic arthritis refractory to biologics: SELECT-PsA 2. Ann Rheum Dis. (2020) 80:312–20. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218870
- Honma M, Hayashi K. Psoriasis: recent progress in molecular-targeted therapies. J Dermatol. (2021) 48:761–77. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.15727
- Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, de Wit M, McInnes I, Dougados M, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:700–12. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217159
- Veale DJ, McGonagle D, McInnes IB, Krueger JG, Ritchlin CT, Elewaut D, et al. The rationale for Janus kinase inhibitors for the treatment of spondyloarthritis. *Rheumatology*. (2019) 58:197–205. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/key070
- Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, et al. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest. (2006) 116:1310–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI21404
- Moschen AR, Tilg H, Raine T. IL-12, IL-23 and IL-17 in IBD: immunobiology and therapeutic targeting. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2019) 16:185–96. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0084-8
- Fragoulis GE, Liava C, Daoussis D, Akriviadis E, Garyfallos A, Dimitroulas T. Inflammatory bowel diseases and spondyloarthropathies: from pathogenesis to treatment. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2019) 25:2162–76. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i18.2162
- Marafini I, Sedda S, Dinallo V, Monteleone G. Inflammatory cytokines: from discoveries to therapies in IBD. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2019) 19:1207– 17. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2019.1652267
- 41. Travers SB. Etanercept for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med. (2004) 350:840. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200402193500818
- Korzenik J, Larsen MD, Nielsen J, Kjeldsen J, Nørgård BM. Increased risk of developing Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis in 17 018 patients while under treatment with anti-TNFα agents, particularly etanercept, for autoimmune diseases other than inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. (2019) 50:289–94. doi: 10.1111/apt.15370
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:967– 74. doi: 10.1038/ni1488
- Fauny M, Moulin D, D'Amico F, Netter P, Petitpain N, Arnone D, et al. Paradoxical gastrointestinal effects of interleukin-17 blockers. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:1132. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217927
- Whibley N, Gaffen SL. Gut-busters: IL-17 Ain't afraid of no IL-23. *Immunity*. (2015) 43:620–2. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.10.001
- Conigliaro P, Chimenti MS, Ascolani M, Triggianese P, Novelli L, Onali S, et al. Impact of a multidisciplinary approach in enteropathic spondyloarthritis patients. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:184–90. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.11.002
- Sandborn WJ, Su C, Sands BE, D'Haens GR, Vermeire S, Schreiber S, et al. Tofacitinib as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1723–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606910

- Panés J, Sandborn WJ, Schreiber S, Sands BE, Vermeire S, D'Haens G, et al. Tofacitinib for induction and maintenance therapy of Crohn's disease: results of two phase IIb randomised placebo-controlled trials. *Gut.* (2017) 66:1049–59. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-31 2735
- Kemeny-Beke A, Szodoray P. Ocular manifestations of rheumatic diseases. Int Ophthalmol. (2020) 40:503–10. doi: 10.1007/s10792-019-01183-9
- Cantini F, Nannini C, Cassarà E, Kaloudi O, Niccoli L. Uveitis in spondyloarthritis: an overview. J Rheumatol Suppl. (2015) 93:27– 9. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.150630
- Bridgewood C, Sharif K, Sherlock J, Watad A, McGonagle D. Interleukin-23 pathway at the enthesis: the emerging story of enthesitis in spondyloarthropathy. *Immunol Rev.* (2020) 294:27–47. doi: 10.1111/imr.12840
- 52. Hysa E, Cutolo CA, Gotelli E, Pacini G, Schenone C, Kreps EO, et al. Immunopathophysiology and clinical impact of uveitis in inflammatory rheumatic diseases: an update. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2021) 51:e13572. doi: 10.1111/eci.13572
- Lopalco G, Venerito V, Sota J, Rigante D, Guerriero S, Orlando I, et al. Epidemiological profile of non-infectious uveitis from the rheumatologist's perspective: a survey from two tertiary referral centres in Italy. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2018) 36:68–73.
- Tugal-Tutkun I, Gupta V, Cunningham ET. Differential diagnosis of behçet uveitis. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. (2013) 21:337–50. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2013.795228
- Murray PI, Rauz S. The eye and inflammatory rheumatic diseases: The eye and rheumatoid arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis, psoriatic arthritis. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* (2016) 30:802–25. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2016.10.007
- Lopalco G, Schiraldi S, Venerito V, Guerriero S, Iannone F. Effectiveness and safety profile of anakinra in a HLA-B27 positive patient with multiple sclerosis-associated uveitis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord.* (2020) 42:102152. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2020.102152
- Robinson PC, Claushuis TAM, Cortes A, Martin TM, Evans DM, Leo P, et al. Genetic dissection of acute anterior uveitis reveals similarities and differences in associations observed with ankylosing spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2015) 67:140–51. doi: 10.1002/art.38873
- Wakefield D, Yates W, Amjadi S, McCluskey P. HLA-B27 anterior uveitis: immunology and immunopathology. *Ocul Immunol Inflamm.* (2016) 24:450–9. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2016.1158283
- Sharma SM, Jackson D. Uveitis and spondyloarthropathies. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. (2017) 31:846–62. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2018.08.002
- Bajwa A, Lee CS, Patrie J, Xin W, Reddy AK. Clinical and visual outcomes of patients with uveitis in the mid-Atlantic United States. *Clin Ophthalmol.* (2015) 9:1655–64. doi: 10.2147/OPTH.S88647
- Arepalli S, Rosenbaum JT. The use of biologics for uveitis associated with spondyloarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2019) 31:349–54. doi: 10.1097/BOR.00000000000619
- Calvo-Río V, Blanco R, Santos-Gómez M, Rubio-Romero E, Cordero-Coma M, Gallego-Flores A, et al. Golimumab in refractory uveitis related to spondyloarthritis. Multicenter study of 15 patients. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2016) 46:95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2016.03.002
- 63. Llorenç V, Mesquida M, Sainz de la Maza M, Blanco R, Calvo V, Maíz O, et al. Certolizumab Pegol, a new anti-TNF- α in the armamentarium against ocular inflammation. *Ocul Immunol Inflamm.* (2016) 24:167–72. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2014.967779
- Guedes MCE, Borrego LM, Proença RD. Roles of interleukin-17 in uveitis. Indian J Ophthalmol. (2016) 64:628–34. doi: 10.4103/0301-4738.194339
- Chateau T, Angioi K, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Two cases of successful ustekinumab treatment for non-infectious uveitis associated with Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis. (2020) 14:571. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz167
- Mugheddu C, Atzori L, Del Piano M, Lappi A, Pau M, Murgia S, et al. Successful ustekinumab treatment of noninfectious uveitis and concomitant severe psoriatic arthritis and plaque psoriasis. *Dermatol Ther.* (2017) 30:e12527. doi: 10.1111/dth.1 2527
- 67. Huang J-F, Zhang Y, Hirakawa B. Evaluation of JAK inhibition with topical tofacitinib in an experimental autoimmune uveitis model (EAU). *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2013) 54:2536.

- Kaine J, Song X, Kim G, Hur P, Palmer JB. Higher incidence rates of comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis compared with the general population using US administrative claims data. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. (2019) 25:122–32. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2018.17421
- Polachek A, Touma Z, Anderson M, Eder L. Risk of cardiovascular morbidity in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2017) 69:67–74. doi: 10.1002/acr.22926
- Mease PJ, Litman HJ, Accortt NA, Rebello S, Greenberg JD, Feng H, et al. THU0324 disease activity and patient characteristics by comorbidity among psoriatic arthritis (PSA) patients in a us registry. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2018) 77:380. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-eular.1403
- Radner H, Lesperance T, Accortt NA, Solomon DH. Incidence and prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors among patients with rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, or psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2017) 69:1510– 8. doi: 10.1002/acr.23171
- Scriffignano S, Perrotta FM, De Socio A, Lubrano E. Role of comorbidities in spondyloarthritis including psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2019) 38:3–10. doi: 10.1007/s10067-018-4332-7
- 73. Kumthekar A, Ogdie A. Obesity and psoriatic arthritis: a narrative review. *Rheumatol Ther.* (2020) 7:447–56. doi: 10.1007/s40744-020-00215-6
- 74. Singh S, Facciorusso A, Singh AG, Vande Casteele N, Zarrinpar A, Prokop LJ, et al. Obesity and response to anti-tumor necrosis factor-α agents in patients with select immune-mediated inflammatory diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0195123. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195123
- 75. di Minno MND, Peluso R, Iervolino S, Lupoli R, Russolillo A, Scarpa R, et al. Obesity and the prediction of minimal disease activity: a prospective study in psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res. (2013) 65:141–7. doi: 10.1002/acr.21711
- Ballegaard C, Højgaard P, Dreyer L, Cordtz R, Jørgensen TS, Skougaard M, et al. Impact of comorbidities on tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapy in psoriatic arthritis: a population-based cohort study. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2018) 70:592–9. doi: 10.1002/acr.23333
- Hotamisligil GS. Foundations of immunometabolism and implications for metabolic health and disease. *Immunity.* (2017) 47:406–20. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.009
- Yudkin JS, Kumari M, Humphries SE, Mohamed-Ali V. Inflammation, obesity, stress and coronary heart disease: is interleukin-6 the link? *Atherosclerosis.* (2000) 148:209–14. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9150(99)00463-3
- Schäffler A, Schölmerich J. Innate immunity and adipose tissue biology. *Trends Immunol.* (2010) 31:228–35. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010.03.001
- Tam L-S, Tomlinson B, Chu TT-W, Li M, Leung Y-Y, Kwok L-W, et al. Cardiovascular risk profile of patients with psoriatic arthritis compared to controls—the role of inflammation. *Rheumatology*. (2008) 47:718– 23. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ken090
- Woo YR, Park CJ, Kang H, Kim JE. The risk of systemic diseases in those with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: from mechanisms to clinic. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:7041. doi: 10.3390/ijms21197041
- Yim KM, Armstrong AW. Updates on cardiovascular comorbidities associated with psoriatic diseases: epidemiology and mechanisms. *Rheumatol Int.* (2017) 37:97–105. doi: 10.1007/s00296-016-3487-2
- Boehncke W-H, Boehncke S, Tobin A-M, Kirby B. The "psoriatic march": a concept of how severe psoriasis may drive cardiovascular comorbidity. *Exp Dermatol.* (2011) 20:303–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2011.01261.x
- Tam L-S, Tomlinson B, Chu TT, Li TK, Li EK. Impact of TNF inhibition on insulin resistance and lipids levels in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2007) 26:1495–8. doi: 10.1007/s10067-007-0539-8
- 85. Di Minno MND, Ambrosino P, Peluso R, Di Minno A, Lupoli R, Dentali F. Lipid profile changes in patients with rheumatic diseases receiving a treatment with TNF-α blockers: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Ann Med.* (2014) 46:73–83. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2013.874661
- 86. Roubille C, Richer V, Starnino T, McCourt C, McFarlane A, Fleming P, et al. The effects of tumour necrosis factor inhibitors, methotrexate, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and corticosteroids on cardiovascular events in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:480–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206624
- 87. Eder L, Joshi AA, Dey AK, Cook R, Siegel EL, Gladman DD, et al. Association of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor treatment with reduced

indices of subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with psoriatic disease. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2018) 70:408–16. doi: 10.1002/art.40366

- von Stebut E, Boehncke W-H, Ghoreschi K, Gori T, Kaya Z, Thaci D, et al. IL-17A in psoriasis and beyond: cardiovascular and metabolic implications. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 10:3096. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03096
- Simon T, Taleb S, Danchin N, Laurans L, Rousseau B, Cattan S, et al. Circulating levels of interleukin-17 and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J.* (2013) 34:570– 7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs263
- Dal Bello G, Gisondi P, Idolazzi L, Girolomoni G. Psoriatic arthritis and diabetes mellitus: a narrative review. *Rheumatol Ther.* (2020) 7:271– 85. doi: 10.1007/s40744-020-00206-7
- Wolk K, Sabat R. Adipokines in psoriasis: an important link between skin inflammation and metabolic alterations. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. (2016) 17:305–17. doi: 10.1007/s11154-016-9381-0
- Shibata S, Saeki H, Tada Y, Karakawa M, Komine M, Tamaki K. Serum high molecular weight adiponectin levels are decreased in psoriasis patients. J Dermatol Sci. (2009) 55:62–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2009.02.009
- Chuang H-C, Sheu WH-H, Lin Y-T, Tsai C-Y, Yang C-Y, Cheng Y-J, et al. HGK/MAP4K4 deficiency induces TRAF2 stabilization and Th17 differentiation leading to insulin resistance. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4602. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5602
- Mazzilli S, Lanna C, Chiaramonte C, Cesaroni GM, Zangrilli A, Palumbo V, et al. Real life experience of apremilast in psoriasis and arthritis psoriatic patients: Preliminary results on metabolic biomarkers. *J Dermatol.* (2020) 47:578–82. doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.15293
- Straub RH. Concepts of evolutionary medicine and energy regulation contribute to the etiology of systemic chronic inflammatory diseases. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2011) 25:1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.08.002
- Dodington DW, Desai HR, Woo M. JAK/STAT—emerging players in metabolism. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 29:55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2017.11.001
- Mishra J, Verma RK, Alpini G, Meng F, Kumar N. Role of Janus Kinase 3 in predisposition to obesity-associated metabolic syndrome. *J Biol Chem.* (2015) 290:29301–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.670331
- Derecka M, Gornicka A, Koralov SB, Szczepanek K, Morgan M, Raje V, et al. Tyk2 and Stat3 regulate brown adipose tissue differentiation and obesity. *Cell Metab.* (2012) 16:814–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.11.005
- Moisan A, Lee Y-K, Zhang JD, Hudak CS, Meyer CA, Prummer M, et al. White-to-brown metabolic conversion of human adipocytes by JAK inhibition. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2015) 17:57–67. doi: 10.1038/ncb3075
- 100. Hashimoto R, Kakigi R, Miyamoto Y, Nakamura K, Itoh S, Daida H, et al. JAK-STAT-dependent regulation of scavenger receptors in LPS-activated murine macrophages. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2020) 871:172940. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.172940
- 101. Manea A, Tanase LI, Raicu M, Simionescu M. Jak/STAT signaling pathway regulates nox1 and nox4-based NADPH oxidase in human aortic smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2010) 30:105– 12. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.193896
- 102. Kang EH, Liao KP, Kim SC. Cardiovascular safety of biologics and JAK inhibitors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2018) 20:42. doi: 10.1007/s11926-018-0752-2
- 103. Cohen SB, van Vollenhoven RF, Winthrop KL, Zerbini CAF, Tanaka Y, Bessette L, et al. Safety profile of upadacitinib in rheumatoid arthritis: integrated analysis from the SELECT phase III clinical programme. Ann Rheum Dis. (2021) 80:304–11. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218510
- 104. Wang Z, Wang S, Wang Z, Yun T, Wang C, Wang H. Tofacitinib ameliorates atherosclerosis and reduces foam cell formation in apoE deficient mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2017) 490:194–201. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.06.020
- 105. Charles-Schoeman C, Sornasse T, Sokolove J. Treatment With Upadacitinib Is Associated With Improvements in Reverse Cholesterol Transport in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis: Correlation With Changes in Inflammation and HDL Levels—ACR Meeting Abstracts. Available online at: https:// acrabstracts.org/abstract/treatment-with-upadacitinib-is-associatedwith-improvements-in-reverse-cholesterol-transport-in-patients-withrheumatoid-arthritis-correlation-with-changes-in-inflammation-and-hdllevels/ (accessed April 23, 2021).

- Vallejo-Yagüe E, Weiler S, Micheroli R, Burden AM. Thromboembolic safety reporting of tofacitinib and baricitinib: an analysis of the WHO VigiBase. Drug Saf. (2020) 43:881–91. doi: 10.1007/s40264-020-00958-9
- 107. Smolen JS, Genovese MC, Takeuchi T, Hyslop DL, Macias WL, Rooney T, et al. Safety profile of baricitinib in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis with over 2 years median time in treatment. *J Rheumatol.* (2019) 46:7–18. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.171361
- Giménez Poderós T, Gallardo Borge S, Vazquez-Ferreiro P. Risk of venous thromboembolism associated with tofacitinib and baricitinib: a systematic review and indirect meta-analysis. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2020) 40:1248– 64. doi: 10.1002/phar.2472
- Budnik I, Brill A. Immune factors in deep vein thrombosis initiation. *Trends Immunol.* (2018) 39:610–23. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.04.010
- 110. Kotyla PJ, Engelmann M, Giemza-Stokłosa J, Wnuk B, Islam MA. Thromboembolic adverse drug reactions in Janus Kinase (JAK) inhibitors: does the inhibitor specificity play a role? *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:2449. doi: 10.3390/ijms22052449
- 111. Masciulli A, Ferrari A, Carobbio A, Ghirardi A, Barbui T. Ruxolitinib for the prevention of thrombosis in polycythemia vera: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Blood Adv.* (2020) 4:380–6. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001158
- 112. Molander V, Bower H, Frisell T, Askling J. Risk of venous thromboembolism in rheumatoid arthritis, and its association with disease activity: a nationwide cohort study from Sweden. Ann Rheum Dis. (2021) 80:169– 75. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218419
- 113. Charles-Schoeman C, DeMasi R, Valdez H, Soma K, Hwang L, Boy MG, et al. Risk factors for major adverse cardiovascular events in phase III and longterm extension studies of tofacitinib in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2019) 71:1450–9. doi: 10.1002/art.40911
- 114. Perez-Chada LM, Merola JF. Comorbidities associated with psoriatic arthritis: review and update. *Clin Immunol.* (2020) 214:108397. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.108397
- Del Puente A, Esposito A, Parisi A, Atteno M, Montalbano S, Vitiello M, et al. Osteoporosis and psoriatic arthritis. J Rheumatol Suppl. (2012) 89:36–8. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.120240
- Pedreira PG, Pinheiro MM, Szejnfeld VL. Bone mineral density and body composition in postmenopausal women with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2011) 13:R16. doi: 10.1186/ar3240
- Dar HY, Azam Z, Anupam R, Mondal RK, Srivastava RK. Osteoimmunology: The Nexus between bone and immune system. *Front Biosci.* (2018) 23:4600. doi: 10.2741/4600
- Srivastava RK, Dar HY, Mishra PK. Immunoporosis: immunology of osteoporosis-role of t cells. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:657. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00657
- Pietschmann P, Mechtcheriakova D, Meshcheryakova A, Föger-Samwald U, Ellinger I. Immunology of osteoporosis: a mini-review. *Gerontology.* (2016) 62:128–37. doi: 10.1159/000431091
- Schön MP, Erpenbeck L. The interleukin-23/Interleukin-17 axis links adaptive and innate immunity in psoriasis. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1323. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01323
- 121. Lee Y. The role of interleukin-17 in bone metabolism and inflammatory skeletal diseases. BMB Rep. (2013) 46:479– 83. doi: 10.5483/bmbrep.2013.46.10.141
- 122. Li J, Liu L, Rui W, Li X, Xuan D, Zheng S, et al. New interleukins in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis patients: the possible roles of interleukin-33 to interleukin-38 in disease activities and bone erosions. *Dermatol Basel.* (2017) 233:37–46. doi: 10.1159/000471798
- 123. De Martinis M, Ginaldi L, Sirufo MM, Bassino EM, De Pietro F, Pioggia G, et al. IL-33/Vitamin D crosstalk in psoriasis-associated osteoporosis. Front Immunol. (2021) 11:604055. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.604055
- Di Munno O, Ferro F. The effect of biologic agents on bone homeostasis in chronic inflammatory rheumatic diseases. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2019) 37:502–7.
- Manara M, Sinigaglia L. Bone and TNF in rheumatoid arthritis: clinical implications. *RMD Open.* (2015) 1:e000065. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2015-000065
- 126. Haugeberg G, Helgetveit KB, Førre Ø, Garen T, Sommerseth H, Prøven A. Generalized bone loss in early rheumatoid arthritis patients followed for

ten years in the biologic treatment era. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. (2014) 15:289. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-289

- 127. Kawai VK, Stein CM, Perrien DS, Griffin MR. Effects of anti-tumor necrosis factor α agents on bone. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2012) 24:576–85. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e328356 d212
- Shukla P, Mansoori MN, Singh D. Efficacy of anti-IL-23 monotherapy versus combination therapy with anti-IL-17 in estrogen deficiency induced bone loss conditions. *Bone*. (2018) 110:84–95. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2018.01.027
- 129. Tyagi AM, Mansoori MN, Srivastava K, Khan MP, Kureel J, Dixit M, et al. Enhanced immunoprotective effects by anti-IL-17 antibody translates to improved skeletal parameters under estrogen deficiency compared with anti-RANKL and anti-TNF- α antibodies. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2014) 29:1981–92. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2228
- 130. Sims NA. The JAK1/STAT3/SOCS3 axis in bone development, physiology, and pathology. *Exp Mol Med.* (2020) 52:1185– 97. doi: 10.1038/s12276-020-0445-6
- 131. Murakami K, Kobayashi Y, Uehara S, Suzuki T, Koide M, Yamashita T, et al. A Jak1/2 inhibitor, baricitinib, inhibits osteoclastogenesis by suppressing RANKL expression in osteoblasts *in vitro*. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0181126. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.018 1126
- 132. Damerau A, Gaber T, Ohrndorf S, Hoff P. JAK/STAT activation: a general mechanism for bone development, homeostasis, and regeneration. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:9004. doi: 10.3390/ijms2123 9004
- 133. Hamar A, Szekanecz Z, Pusztai A, Czókolyová M, Végh E, Petho Z, et al. Effects of one-year tofacitinib therapy on bone metabolism in rheumatoid arthritis. Osteoporos Int J. (2021) 32:1621–9. doi: 10.1007/s00198-021-05 871-0
- 134. Gaber T, Brinkman ACK, Pienczikowski J, Diesing K, Damerau A, Pfeiffenberger M, et al. Impact of Janus Kinase inhibition with tofacitinib on fundamental processes of bone healing. Int J Mol Sci. (2020) 21:865. doi: 10.3390/ijms2103 0865
- 135. Adam S, Simon N, Steffen U, Andes FT, Scholtysek C, Müller DIH, et al. JAK inhibition increases bone mass in steady-state conditions and ameliorates pathological bone loss by stimulating osteoblast function. *Sci Transl Med.* (2020) 12:eaay4447. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aay 4447
- Gudu T, Gossec L. Quality of life in psoriatic arthritis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. (2018) 14:405–17. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2018.146 8252
- 137. Kamalaraj N, El-Haddad C, Hay P, Pile K. Systematic review of depression and anxiety in psoriatic arthritis. Int J Rheum Dis. (2019) 22:967–73. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.1 3553
- 138. Michelsen B, Kristianslund EK, Sexton J, Hammer HB, Fagerli KM, Lie E, et al. Do depression and anxiety reduce the likelihood of remission in rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis? Data from the prospective multicentre NOR-DMARD study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2017) 76:1906–10. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-21 1284
- 139. Beurel E. Toups М, Nemeroff CB. The bidirectional relationship of depression and inflammation: double trouble. (2020)107:234-56. 10.1016/j.neuron.2020.0 Neuron. doi: 6.002
- 140. Wang H-T, Huang F-L, Hu Z-L, Zhang W-J, Qiao X-Q, Huang Y-Q, et al. Early-life social isolation-induced depressive-like behavior in rats results in microglial activation and neuronal histone methylation that are mitigated by minocycline. *Neurotox Res.* (2017) 31:505–20. doi: 10.1007/s12640-016-9 696-3
- 141. Köhler-Forsberg O, N Lydholm C, Hjorthøj C, Nordentoft M, Mors O, Benros ME. Efficacy of anti-inflammatory treatment on major depressive disorder or depressive symptoms: meta-analysis of clinical trials. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (2019) 139:404–19. doi: 10.1111/acps.1 3016

- 142. Gniadecki R, Robertson D, Molta CT, Freundlich B, Pedersen R, Li W, et al. Self-reported health outcomes in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis randomized to two etanercept regimens. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. (2012) 26:1436–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2011.04 308.x
- Lebowitz E, Lebwohl M. Review of suicide and depression in psoriasis and management of suicide warnings in patients treated with psoriasis drugs. *SKIN J Cutan Med.* (2019) 3:72–81. doi: 10.25251/skin.3.2.39
- 144. Littlejohn GO. Fibromyalgia and psoriatic arthritis: partners together. Int J Rheum Dis. (2021) 24:141–3. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.1 4029
- 145. Iannone F, Nivuori M, Fornaro M, Venerito V, Cacciapaglia F, Lopalco G. Comorbid fibromyalgia impairs the effectiveness of biologic drugs in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Rheumatology.* (2020) 59:1599–606. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ke z505
- 146. Ulutatar F, Unal-Ulutatar C, Tuncay Duruoz M. Fibromyalgia in patients with psoriatic arthritis: relationship with enthesopathy, sleep, fatigue and quality of life. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2021) 24:183–8. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.1 3963
- 147. Elsawy NA, Helal A-MH, Abd ElHamid HA, Abdel-Fattah YH. Fibromyalgia in patients with psoriatic arthritis: impact on disease activity indices, fatigue and health-related quality of life. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2021) 24:189–96. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.1 3987
- 148. Gladman Krueger DD, Mease PI. G, van der Heidje DMFM, Antoni С, Helliwell PS, et al. Outcome arthritis. J Rheumatol. (2005) psoriatic measures 32:2 in 262-9.
- 149. Di Carlo M, Becciolini A, Lato V, Crotti C, Favalli EG, Salaffi F. The 12-item psoriatic arthritis impact of disease questionnaire: construct validity, reliability, and interpretability in a clinical setting. *J Rheumatol.* (2017) 44:279–85. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.16 0924
- 150. Coskun Benlidayi inflammation I. Role of in the pathogenesis of fibromyalgia. Rheumatol and treatment (2019) 39:781-91. 10.1007/s00296-019-04 Int. doi: 251-6
- Coskun Benlidayi I. Fibromyalgia as a challenge for patients and physicians. *Rheumatol Int.* (2018) 38:2345. doi: 10.1007/s00296-018-4 138-6
- 152. Dolcino M, Tinazzi E, Puccetti A, Lunardi C. Gene expression profiling in fibromyalgia indicates an autoimmune origin of the disease and opens new avenues for targeted therapy. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:1814. doi: 10.3390/jcm906 1814
- Rodriguez-Pintó I, Agmon-Levin N, Howard A, Shoenfeld Y. Fibromyalgia and cytokines. *Immunol Lett.* (2014) 161:200–3. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.0 1.009
- 154. Salaffi F, Giacobazzi G, Di Carlo M. Chronic pain in inflammatory arthritis: mechanisms, metrology, and emerging targets-a focus on the JAK-STAT pathway. *Pain Res Manag.* (2018) 2018:8564215. doi: 10.1155/2018/856 4215
- 155. McGonagle DG, McInnes IB, Kirkham BW, Sherlock J, Moots R. The role of IL-17A in axial spondyloarthritis and psoriatic arthritis: recent advances and controversies. Ann Rheum Dis. (2019) 78:1167–78. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-21 5356
- 156. Ji R-R, Nackley A, Huh Y, Terrando N, Maixner W. Neuroinflammation and central sensitization in chronic and widespread pain. *Anesthesiology.* (2018) 129:343–66. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000000 2130
- 157. Yan Z, Gibson SA, Buckley JA, Qin H, Benveniste EN. Role of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway in regulation of innate immunity in neuroinflammatory diseases. *Clin Immunol.* (2018) 189:4–13. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.09.014
- Nicolas CS, Amici M, Bortolotto ZA, Doherty A, Csaba Z, Fafouri A, et al. The role of JAK-STAT signaling within the CNS. *JAK-STAT*. (2013) 2:e22925. doi: 10.4161/jkst.22925

159. Strand V, Tundia N, Wells A, Buch MH, Radominski SC, Camp HS, et al. Upadacitinib monotherapy improves patientreported outcomes in rheumatoid arthritis: results from SELECT-EARLY and SELECT-MONOTHERAPY. *Rheumatology.* (2020) 60:3209–21. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa770

Conflict of Interest: FM, LN, and GC, are AbbVie employees and may own AbbVie stocks/options. FI has received consultancy fees and/or speaker honoraria from Actelion, Pfizer, AbbVie, Janssen, Celgene, Novartis, MSD, BMS, UCB, Sobi, Roche, Sanofi outside this work.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Novelli, Lubrano, Venerito, Perrotta, Marando, Curradi and Iannone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Update on Cardiovascular Risk and Obesity in Psoriatic Arthritis

Julio Ramírez*, Ana Belén Azuaga-Piñango, Raquel Celis and Juan D. Cañete

Arthritis Unit, Department of Rheumatology, Hospital Clínic, Barcelona, Spain

PsA is characterized by a high prevalence of cardiovascular (CV) comorbidities. Recognizing these comorbidities is critical due to their influence on the quality of life and the choice of therapy. Imaging techniques also play an important role in the evaluation of the CV risk in psoriatic disease, improving the prediction of CV events when combined with clinical scores as a predictive tool. Meta-analyses point to a significant reduction in the incidence of CV events associated with the suppression of inflammatory activity when using systemic therapies. Consequently, the mortality rate in PsA patients has fallen in the last 40 years and is now similar to that of the general population, including cardiovascular causes. Obesity is an especially relevant CV comorbidity in patients with psoriatic disease, most of whom are overweight/obese. Body mass index (BMI) is a risk factor for PsA and a causal relationship with psoriasis has been demonstrated by Mendelian randomized studies. The study of fat distribution shows that patients with psoriasis are characterized by visceral fat accumulation, which correlates with CV risk measurements. These findings suggest that approaches to the prevention and treatment of psoriatic disease might come from targeting adiposity levels, in addition to the immune pathways. Weight loss treatment with low energy diets in patients with PsA has been associated with significant improvements in disease activity. Novel strategies using a multimorbidity approach, focused more on patients outcomes, are necessary to better address comorbidities, improve clinical outcomes and the quality of life of patients with psoriatic disease.

Keywords: psoriatic arthritis, comorbidities, obesity, cardiovascular risk, psoriasis

INTRODUCTION

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is one of the most common chronic inflammatory conditions, with a prevalence of 0.3–1% in the general population (1). PsA affects up to 30% of patients with psoriasis and leads to severe physical limitations and disability (2). In addition to skin and joint involvement, PsA is characterized by a high prevalence of comorbidities. More than half of PsA patients have ≥ 1 comorbidity (3), which have a significant negative impact on the quality of life. Recognizing and addressing comorbidities are critical to safely and effectively treating PsA patients as they often have implications not only for physical function and the quality of life but also the choice of therapy. For instance, obesity, hypertension, and a Charlson comorbidity index >1 are prognostic factors for worse treatment outcomes (4).

Despite advances in PsA therapy over the past 20 years, current outcomes are far from those achieved in psoriasis. The traditional approach to comorbidities is a part of the problem, as they are not considered in disease activity indexes, despite influencing inflammatory parameters such

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

llenia Pantano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

Reviewed by:

Arti Mahto, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom Marco Fornaro, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

*Correspondence:

Julio Ramírez julramga@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 16 July 2021 Accepted: 13 September 2021 Published: 08 October 2021

Citation:

Ramírez J, Azuaga-Piñango AB, Celis R and Cañete JD (2021) Update on Cardiovascular Risk and Obesity in Psoriatic Arthritis. Front. Med. 8:742713. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.742713

87



these conditions do not fully account for the greater incidence of cardiovascular events. Associated factors, such as chronic systemic inflammation, a predisposing genetic background, or the baseline treatment, must contribute to the higher cardiovascular events. Associated factors, such as chronic systemic inflammation, a predisposing genetic background, or the baseline treatment, must contribute to the higher cardiovascular events. Associated factors, such as the existence of any additional entity during the clinical course of a patient who has the index disease under study, such as PsA. In the comorbidity concept, the management and treatment are primarily focused on the index disease and the effect quantified by evaluating the disease activity. In the multimorbidity concept, the management and treatment focus on the patient and effectiveness is quantified by overall indicators such as quality of life or physical function (5). This new approach compels us to tackle with PsA patients from a multidisciplinary perspective. PsO, psoriasis; PsA, psoriathic arthritis; LDL, Low-density lipoprotein; NAFLD, Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

as C-reactive protein (CRP) and subjective scores (pain and general assessment). In contrast, the multimorbidity approach treats the patient as the central concern and all coexisting diseases and their interactions are of equal importance. In this model, management and treatment are focused on the patient and effectiveness is quantified by overall indicators such as the quality of life and physical function (5) (**Figure 1**).

PREVALENCE OF CARDIOVASCULAR COMORBIDITIES IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

The prevalence of comorbidities associated with cardiovascular (CV) risk, such as hypertension or hyperlipidemia in PsA, varies geographically. Extensive data from American cohorts show that almost half of PsA patients have hypertension or hyperlipidemia and up to 20% have diabetes mellitus, while the prevalence of chronic ischemic heart disease is >11% (6). The rate of comorbidities, especially those related to CV risk, are lower in European countries, as recently shown in a Mediterranean cohort, where the prevalence of hypertension, hyperlipidemia and chronic ischemic heart disease were 39, 19.1, and 5.5\%, respectively (7), suggesting marked geographic differences. A diverse genetic background and different diets

Abbreviations: bDMARDs, biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs; BMI, body mass index; CRP, C-recative protein; CT, computerized tomography; CV, cardiovascular; DMARDs, disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs; DXA, dual energy X-ray absorptiometry; IL, interleukin; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular events; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; PsA, psoriatic Arthritis; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; SMR, standardized mortality ratio; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitor.

are hypothetical explanations. Additional data from retrospective Taiwanese cohorts found an association between psoriasis and cerebrovascular disease [Hazard Ratio (HR) 1.27 (95% CI 1.05-1.52) for ischemic stroke (8) and HR 1.28 (95% CI 1.16–1.41)] for general cerebrovascular disease (9). Moreover, a cross-sectional study from Japan found an association with coronary heart disease [Odds ratio (OR) 1.27 (95% CI 1.01–1.58)] in patients with psoriasis (1197) vs. Hospital-based population (113,065) (10), demonstrating a higher CV risk also in Asian population.

CARDIOVASCULAR COMORBIDITIES, HOSPITALIZATION, AND MORTALITY IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

Studies on all-cause mortality revealed mixed results, in part due to differences in PsA definition, patient population, disease duration, study design and therapy. In general, earlier cohorts showed an increased mortality compared with more recent studies (11, 12). In a Canadian PsA cohort with nearly 40 years of follow-up, the major causes of death included malignant neoplasms and acute myocardial infarction, but no disease was above the rate in the general population (13). A longitudinal cohort study performed in the United Kingdom evaluated the cause-specific mortality in patients with PsA compared with the general population and RA patients, finding that suicide (HR 3.03), but not CV (HR 1.09, 95% CI 0.91-1.32) deaths were elevated in PsA patients (14). In contrast, the results of another British study cohort of severe PsA receiving tumor necrosis factor inhibitors (TNFi) from 2002 to 2012 showed that all-cause mortality was increased (Standardized Mortality Ratio [SMR] 1.56; 95% CI 1.12–2.11). Death from malignancy did not increase, but death from coronary heart disease was higher than in the general population (SMR 2.42; 95% CI: 1.11-4.59) (15).

A retrospective US-based claims study with nearly 15,000 PsA patients and 35,037 matched controls found that PsA patients had higher incidence rates of CV disorders (hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary artery disease, cerebrovascular disease and peripheral vascular disease) and a higher rate of hospitalization due to CV disease than controls (general CV diagnosis: 14.4 vs. 9.4%, p < 0.05; coronary disease as primary diagnosis: 0.8 vs. 0.5%, p < 0.001) (16), although mortality rates were not analyzed.

SUBCLINICAL ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

In addition to a higher incidence of CV risk factors, up to half of PsA patients have imaging evidence of atherosclerosis without traditional CV risk factors (12, 17). The relationship between subclinical atherosclerosis and PsA is complex, and traditional risk factors may not entirely explain the accelerated atherosclerotic process in these patients. Other mechanisms (i.e., inflammatory and immunological) have been proposed to explain the relationship between PsA and atherosclerosis. Chronic inflammation, which accelerates the atherosclerotic process, is believed to contribute to this increased risk (18, 19).

Accordingly, suppression of inflammatory activity using treat-totarget strategies has a protective effect against plaque progression and atherosclerosis, as has been shown in rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriasis and PsA studies (20). In a recent study in 101 patients with PsA, achieving sustained minimal disease activity had a protective effect against plaque progression, as evaluated with carotid ultrasound, a finding independent of biologic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (bDMARDs) use, suggesting that controlling disease activity may be useful in improving the CV risk in these patients (21). Accelerated coronary plaque formation in PsA patients, particularly mixed plaques, was found on 64-slice coronary CT angiography. This accelerated process was independent of metabolic disease, suggesting disease activity and PsA severity may predict the burden of coronary plaque better than traditional risk factors (22). Taken together, imaging techniques play an important role in the evaluation of CV risk in psoriatic disease. The burden of carotid atherosclerosis, as estimated by carotid ultrasound, can improve the prediction of CV events, when combined with the Framingham risk score as a predictive tool (23).

GLOBAL CARDIOVASCULAR RISK IN IMMUNO-MEDIATED DISEASES

It is known that RA patients have a higher incidence of major cardiovascular events (MACE) and a higher mortality rate than the general population. However, it is not clear whether the CV risk is also higher in psoriatic disease. The prevalence of traditional CV risk factors is higher in psoriatic disease but it is unclear whether this leads to excess mortality and whether PsA should be considered an independent risk factor for CV events such as RA or systemic lupus erythematosus (24, 25).

A British population-based study of MACE in immunemediated diseases identified psoriatic disease as an independent risk factor for MACE, including myocardial infarction and stroke, although this was only significant in psoriasis and PsA patients not prescribed a disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drug (DMARD). The odds of MACE in RA patients were 39 and 58% higher than in the general population in DMARD and non-DMARD-treated RA patients, respectively (26).

Taking all the evidence into account, RA should be included in the SCORE scale as an independent factor for CV events. Psoriatic disease should be considered as having the same risk as RA, especially psoriatic disease with severe skin involvement (26). PsA, mild skin psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease should be probably placed on a lower level, with a hypotheticallylower risk of CV events (24, 25) (**Figure 2**), although the evidence is not clear on this point.

CARDIOVASCULAR RISK MODIFICATION WITH SYSTEMIC THERAPIES IN PSORIATIC DISEASE

Meta-analyses show a significant reduction in the incidence of CV events associated with suppression of inflammatory activity using conventional DMARDs (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.57–0.91 for



RA, Rheumatoid Arthritis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus.

methotrexate) or TNFi (RR 0.70, 95%CI 0.54–0.90) in PsA (27). The use of TNFi in RA was shown to reduce the risk of MACE over 8 years (28). Although there is increasing evidence that TNFi may be associated with a reduced risk of CV disease in patients with PsA, data on other biologic treatments are largely lacking.

A large study of 60,028 patients with psoriasis or PsA found no overall differential risk of incident atrial fibrillation and a composite CV endpoint of MI, stroke, and coronary revascularization associated with the use of ustekinumab (interleukin [IL]-12/IL-23 inhibitor) vs. TNFi (29). Ustekinumab has been shown to reduce systemic and vascular inflammation measured using ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography-computed tomography (¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT) in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis achieving a PASI 75 response (30).

Given the efficacy of secukinumab and other anti-IL17 agents on the skin and musculoskeletal manifestations of psoriatic disease (31–34) and the lack of data on the effect of anti-IL17 on CV risk markers in psoriasis, the CARIMA (Evaluation of cardiovascular risk markers in psoriatic patients treated with secukinumab) study was designed to explore the effects of secukinumab on CV risk markers in patients with psoriasis. Flow-mediated dilation (FMD), a measure of endotheliumdependent control of vascular tone, was assessed as a parameter of vascular endothelial function and an early predictor of the CV prognosis. After one year of therapy, there was a 2% (p=0.002) improvement in FMD with 300 mg of secukinumab with no proatherogenic vessel wall changes or alterations in CV markers, indicating that IL17 inhibition might have a beneficial effect on the CV risk by improving the endothelial function of patients with plaque psoriasis (35). Whether this protective effect might also be seen in PsA remains unclear.

INCREASED WEIGHT/BODY MASS INDEX AND OBESITY IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

Obesity is a major health problem worldwide and one of the biggest public health challenges to emerge in recent decades (36). A high proportion of patients with PsA are overweight (BMI >25) or obese (BMI>30) (37). An analysis of the CORRONA (Consortium of Rheumatology Researchers of North America) database found patients with PsA were a mean of 7.7 Kg heavier than patients with RA. Comparing the BMI in PsA (n = 5)

644), psoriasis (n = 5 448), RA (n = 5 350), and the general population, the percentages with obesity were 37, 29, 27, and 18% respectively and the odds of obesity were 61% higher for patients with PsA (38).

Obesity is an independent factor for not achieving a therapeutic response in patients with psoriasis and PsA. A reduction in the clinical response has been found, especially for TNFi therapy, as shown by several studies and a recent metaanalysis (39), which found the odds of failing with TNFi therapy were almost two-fold higher for both psoriasis and PsA patients with obesity.

OBESITY AS A RISK FACTOR FOR PSORIASIS AND PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

Association between higher BMI and psoriasis has been shown by many observational studies (40). Recently, mendelian randomized analyses have provided evidence that a higher BMI increases the odds of psoriasis by 9% per 1 unit increase in BMI, but not the other way around (41). This implies that excess adiposity is part of the reason for some individuals developing psoriasis. Leptin can increase keratinocyte proliferation and proinflammatory protein secretion, which are characteristic of psoriasis (42), while the secretion of adiponectin, which is putatively anti-inflammatory (43), is reduced in obese persons. The skin of obese individuals shows features of impaired barrier function (44), while impairment in lymphatic function may delay the clearance of inflammatory mediators (45). Although further detailed study is required, these findings suggest that approaches to the prevention and treatment of psoriasis might include targeting adiposity levels, in addition to immune pathways in the skin. Although these results imply that such interventions may be effective in the prevention of psoriasis, it has not be determined whether would be effective in improving the disease course after onset.

Obesity could also be a key factor in the transition from skin psoriasis to PsA. Several studies suggest obesity is a risk factor for both psoriasis and PsA. A cohort study by Love et al., which was conducted using an electronic database of medical records representative of the general UK population, with a 15-year time horizon, found the incidence rates of PsA increased in tandem with BMI, both in the 75,395 people with psoriasis and in the general population (almost 2 million) (46). Li et al. analyzed information on BMI, weight change and measures of central obesity in participants in the US Nurse Health Study II (89,049 women) with a 14-year time horizon and found that BMI was monotonically associated with an increased risk of incident PsA. Moreover, there was a graded positive association between weight change from 18 years of age onwards and measures of central obesity, and the risk of PsA. A similar association was found in participants developing psoriasis during the follow-up (47). These studies offer valuable new information on the link between obesity and PsA and provide a potential opportunity to reduce the occurrence of PsA by encouraging a reduction in weight, a modifiable risk factor (48).

FAT MASS DISTRIBUTION IN PSORIATIC DISEASE

Another important issue is the way that fat mass is distributed in the body. Studies on adiposity in PsA and psoriasis generally refer to anthropometric measurements such as BMI, but this does not accurately reflect the visceral fat mass. Using dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), Toussirot et al. studied body composition and fat distribution (android and visceral fat) in patients with psoriasis and PsA. They found that patients with psoriasis are characterized by visceral fat accumulation, whereas the amount of fat in this region did not differ between PsA patients and controls. Furthermore, visceral adiposity in psoriasis correlated with CV risk measurements, such as SCORE (49).

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) may be the most accurate method of measuring the body composition. On MRI, PsA patients showed significantly greater visceral adipose tissue volume and liver fat percentage compared with matched metabolic disease-free controls, whereas the thigh muscle volume was lower. The authors concluded that body fat distribution in PsA is more in keeping with the pattern observed in type 2 diabetes and is more closely associated with cardiometabolic disease (50). These data support the need for a greater emphasis on weight loss in PsA management.

WEIGHT LOSS INTERVENTIONS AS PART OF THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES IN PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS

The concept of losing weight as an effective measure to improve outcomes in PsA has recently been tested. In 41 patients with PsA and obesity, weight loss treatment with very-low energy diets (640 Kcal/day for 12-16 weeks, followed by a structured reintroduction of an energy-restricted diet) resulted in a median weight loss of 18.6% and was associated with significant improvement in disease activity in the joints, entheses and skin at 6 months. Greater weight loss resulted in improvements in a dose-response manner. The treatment was effective, safe and well tolerated. In addition, an association between higher BMI and increased disease activity at baseline was demonstrated (51). After two years follow up, some PsA patients regained weight, but disease activity outcomes were maintained, and the number of patients with minimal disease activity increased from 28.2% at baseline to 45.7% at 24 months. The weight loss was also associated with improved levels of serum lipids, glucose and urate and antihypertensive treatment was reduced or stopped in several patients during the follow up (52). These results support the findings of previous studies showing better responses to TNFi and greater odds of achieving minimal disease activity after a 5% weight loss (53). Taken together, it seems that active weight loss strategies could be a choice in every PsA patient with overweight/obesity.

Whereas, TNFi are less effective in obese patients, new therapeutic options, such as ustekinumab 90 mg, seem to achieve the same clinical response regardless of the patient's weight, as shown in the *post-hoc* analysis of the PSUMMIT trials in PsA (54).

Similarly, secukinumab seems efficacious irrespective of body weight in psoriasis clinical trials, especially at a dose of 300 mg (55). Pooled analysis of clinical trials of tofacitinib in PsA show higher efficacy than placebo at month 3 across all baseline BMI categories. However, like TNFi, reduced efficacy was generally observed in tofacitinib-treated and placebo-treated patients with baseline BMI \geq 35 compared with patients in the other baseline BMI categories (56).

The reason why TNFi and JAK inhibitors have reduced effectiveness in patients with obesity compared with other drugs are unclear; however, pharmacokinetic properties, the volume of distribution and lipophilicity may be contributing factors (57).

Accordingly, current guidelines for the treatment of PsA recommend weight loss in overweight and obese patients to potentially improve pharmacologic responses (58, 59).

DISCUSSION

Psoriasis and PsA are strongly associated with obesity and CV risk factors. Obesity increases the risk of psoriasis and PsA and is associated with greater disease activity, poorer treatment response and a lower chance of achieving minimal disease activity. Patients with PsA also have an increased risk of CV disease. Chronic inflammation, which accelerates the

REFERENCES

- Ritchlin CT, Colbert RA, Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:957–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1505557
- Alinaghi F, Calov M, Kristensen LE, Gladman DD, Coates LC, Jullien D, et al. Prevalence of psoriatic arthritis in patients with psoriasis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational and clinical studies. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2019) 80:251–65.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.06.027
- Husni ME. Comorbidities in psoriatic arthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. (2015) 41:677–98. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2015.07.008
- Ballegaard C, Skougaard M, Guldberg-Møller J, Nissen CV, Amris K, Jørgensen TS, et al. Comorbidities, pain and fatigue in psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and healthy controls: a clinical cohort study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2021) 60:3289–300. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa780
- Lubrano E, Scriffignano S, Perrotta FM. Multimorbidity and comorbidity in psoriatic arthritis - a perspective. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2020) 16:963– 72. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2021.1825941
- Shah K, Paris M, Mellars L, Changolkar A, Mease PJ. Real-world burden of comorbidities in US patients with psoriatic arthritis. *RMD Open.* (2017) 3:e000588. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2017-000588
- Pina Vegas L, Sbidian E, Penso L, Claudepierre P. Epidemiologic study of patients with psoriatic arthritis in a real-world analysis: a cohort study of the French health insurance database. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2021) 60:1243– 51. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa448
- Chiang CH, Huang CC, Chan WL, Huang PH, Chen YC, Chen TJ, et al. Psoriasis and increased risk of ischemic stroke in Taiwan: A nationwide study. *J Dermatol.* (2012) 39:279–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1346-8138.2011.01401
- Lan CC, Ko YC Yu HS, Wu CS Li WC, Lu YW, et al. Methotrexate reduces the occurrence of cerebrovascular events among Taiwanese psoriatic patients: A nationwide population-based study. *Acta Derm Venereol.* (2012) 92:349– 52. doi: 10.2340/00015555-1283
- Shiba M, Kato T, Funasako M, Nakane E, Miyamoto S, Izumi T, et al. Association between psoriasis vulgaris and coronary heart disease in a hospital-based population in Japan. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0149316. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149316

atherosclerotic process, in combination with a higher prevalence of CV risk factors is believed to contribute to this increased risk. Direct interventions with systemic therapies decrease inflammatory activity and potentially reduce the incidence of CV events.

There is an urgent need to improve the primary and secondary prevention of CV disease in patients with psoriasis and PsA. Lifestyle changes should be actively encouraged; risk stratification should be adjusted in patients with psoriasis and PsA; and correct pharmaceutical interventions should be introduced, and their effectiveness monitored. Physicians caring for patients with psoriasis and/or PsA should play an active role in achieving these goals in collaboration with general practitioners and cardiologists.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank David Buss for editorial assistance.

- Hu SC, Lan CE. Psoriasis and cardiovascular comorbidities: focusing on severe vascular events, cardiovascular risk factors and implications for treatment. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:2211. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102211
- Jamnitski A, Symmons D, Peters MJ, Sattar N, McInnes I, Nurmohamed MT. Cardiovascular comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review. Ann Rheum Dis. (2013) 72:211-6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-201194
- Elalouf O, Muntyanu A, Polachek A, Pereira D, Ye JY, Lee KA, et al. Mortality in psoriatic arthritis: Risk, causes of death, predictors for death. Semin Arthritis Rheum. (2020) 50:571–5. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2020.04.001
- Ogdie A, Maliha S, Shin D, Love TJ, Baker J, Jiang Y, et al. Cause-specific mortality in patients with psoriatic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2017) 56:907– 11. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kew502
- Fagerli KM, Kearsley-Fleet L, Mercer LK, Watson K, Packham J, Symmons DPM, et al. Malignancy and mortality rates in patients with severe psoriatic arthritis requiring tumour-necrosis factor alpha inhibition: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2019) 58:80–5. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/key241
- Kaine J, Song X, Kim G, Hur P. Palmer JB. Higher incidence rates of comorbidities in patients with psoriatic arthritis compared with the general population using US administrative claims data. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. (2019) 25:122–32. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2018.17421
- Gladman DD, Ang M, Su L, Tom BD, Schentag CT, Farewell VT. Cardiovascular morbidity in psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2009) 68:1131-5. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.094839
- Hu SC Yu HS, Yen FL, Lin CL, Chen GS, Lan CC. Neutrophil extracellular trap formation is increased in psoriasis and induces human β-defensin-2 production in epidermal keratinocytes. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:31119. doi: 10.1038/srep31119
- Nahrendorf M, Swirski FK. Immunology. Neutrophil-macrophage communication in inflammation and aterosclerosis. *Science.* (2015) 349:237–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aac7801
- 20. Micha R, Imamura F. Wyler von Ballmoos M, Solomon DH, Hernán MA, Ridker PM, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of methotrexate

use and risk of cardiovascular disease. Am J Cardiol. (2011) 108:1362–70. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.06.054

- 21. Cheng IT, Shang Q, Li EK, Wong PC, Kun EW, Law MY, et al. Effect of achieving minimal disease activity on the progression of subclinical atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness: a prospective cohort study in psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2019) 71:271–80. doi: 10.1002/art.40695
- Szentpetery A, Healy GM, Brady D, Haroon M, Gallagher P, Redmond CE, et al. Higher coronary plaque burden in psoriatic arthritis is independent of metabolic syndrome and associated with underlying disease severity. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2018) 70:396–407. doi: 10.1002/art.40389
- Sobchak C, Akhtari S, Harvey P, Gladman D, Chandran V, Cook R, et al. Value of carotid ultrasound in cardiovascular risk stratification in patients with psoriatic disease. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2019) 71:1651– 9. doi: 10.1002/art.40925
- Kristensen SL, McInnes IB, Sattar N. Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and cardiovascular risk: are we closer to a clinical recommendation? *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:321–2. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206617
- Fernández-Gutiérrez B, Perroti PP, Gisbert JP, Doménech E, Fernández-Nebro A, Cañete JD, et al. Cardiovascular disease in immune-mediated inflammatory diseases. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:26.
- Ogdie A, Yu Y, Haynes K, Love TJ, Maliha S, Jiang Y, et al. Risk of major cardiovascular events in patients with psoriatic arthritis, psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:326–32. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205675
- 27. Roubille C, Richer V, Starnino T, McCourt C, McFarlane A, Fleming P, et al. The effects of tumour necrosis factor inhibitors, methotrexate, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and corticosteroids on cardiovascular events in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:480–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206624
- Wu JJ, Guérin A, Sundaram M, Dea K, Cloutier M, Mulani P. Cardiovascular event risk assessment in psoriasis patients treated with tumor necrosis factor-α inhibitors versus methotrexate. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2017) 76:81– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2016.07.042
- Lee MP, Desai RJ, Jin Y, Brill G, Ogdie A, Kim SC. Association of Ustekinumab vs TNF inhibitor therapy with risk of atrial fibrillation and cardiovascular events in patients with psoriasis or psoriatic arthritis. *JAMA Dermatol.* (2019) 155:700–7. doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2019.0001
- 30. Kim BS, Lee WK, Pak K, Han J, Kim GW, Kim HS, et al. Ustekinumab treatment is associated with decreased systemic and vascular inflammation in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis: Feasibility study using ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose PET/CT. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2019) 80:1322– 31. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.03.011
- Baeten D, Baraliakos X, Braun J, Sieper J, Emery P, van der Heijde D, et al. Anti-interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody secukinumab in treatment of ankylosing spondylitis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:1705–13. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61134-4
- Langley RG, Elewski BE, Lebwohl M, Reich K, Griffiths CE, Papp K, et al. Secukinumab in plaque psoriasis-results of two phase 3 trials. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:326–38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1314258
- McInnes IB, Mease PJ, Kirkham B, Kavanaugh A, Ritchlin CT, Rahman P, et al. Secukinumab, a human anti-interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriatic arthritis (FUTURE 2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:1137–46. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61134-5
- 34. Thaçi D, Blauvelt A, Reich K, Tsai TF, Vanaclocha F, Kingo K, et al. Secukinumab is superior to ustekinumab in clearing skin of subjects with moderate to severe plaque psoriasis: CLEAR, a randomized controlled trial. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2015) 73:400–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.201 5.05.013
- von Stebut E, Reich K, Thaçi D, Koenig W, Pinter A, Körber A, et al. Impact of Secukinumab on endothelial dysfunction and other cardiovascular disease parameters in psoriasis patients over 52 weeks. J Invest Dermatol. (2019) 139:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2018.10.042
- Williams EP, Mesidor M, Winters K, Dubbert PM, Wyatt SB. Overweight and obesity: prevalence, consequences, and causes of a growing public health problem. *Curr Obes Rep.* (2015) 4:363–70. doi: 10.1007/s13679-01 5-0169-4

- Eder L, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V, Cook RJ, Gladman DD. Obesity is associated with a lower probability of achieving sustained minimal disease activity state among patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:813–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204448
- Bhole VM, Choi HK, Burns LC, Vera Kellet C, Lacaille DV, Gladman DD, et al. Differences in body mass index among individuals with PsA, psoriasis, RA and the general population. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* (2012) 51:552–6. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ker349
- 39. Singh S, Facciorusso A, Singh AG, Vande Casteele N, Zarrinpar A, Prokop LJ, et al. Obesity and response to anti-tumor necrosis factor- α agents in patients with select immune-mediated inflammatory diseases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0195123. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195123
- Rodríguez-Cerdeira C, Cordeiro-Rodríguez M, Carnero-Gregorio M, López-Barcenas A, Martínez-Herrera E, Fabbrocini G, et al. Biomarkers of inflammation in obesity-psoriatic patients. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2019) 2019:7353420. doi: 10.1155/2019/7353420
- Budu-Aggrey A, Brumpton B, Tyrrell J, Watkins S, Modalsli EH, Celis-Morales C, et al. Evidence of a causal relationship between body mass index and psoriasis: A mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med.* (2019) 16:e1002739. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002739
- 42. Stjernholm T, Ommen P, Langkilde A, Johansen C, Iversen L, Rosada C, et al. Leptin deficiency in mice counteracts imiquimod (IMQ)induced psoriasis-like skin inflammation while leptin stimulation induces inflammation in human keratinocytes. *Exp Dermatol.* (2017) 26:338– 45. doi: 10.1111/exd.13149
- Davidovici BB, Sattar N, Prinz J, Puig L, Emery P, Barker JN, et al. Psoriasis and systemic inflammatory diseases: potential mechanistic links between skin disease and co-morbid conditions. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2010) 130:1785– 96. doi: 10.1038/jid.2010.103
- Löffler H, Aramaki JU, Effendy I. The influence of body mass index on skin susceptibility to sodium lauryl sulphate. *Skin Res Technol.* (2002) 8:19– 22. doi: 10.1046/j.0909-752x
- 45. Nakamizo S, Honda T, Adachi A, Nagatake T, Kunisawa J, Kitoh A, et al. High fat diet exacerbates murine psoriatic dermatitis by increasing the number of IL-17-producing γδ T cells. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:14076. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14292-1
- Love TJ, Zhu Y, Zhang Y, Wall-Burns L, Ogdie A, Gelfand JM, et al. Obesity and the risk of psoriatic arthritis: a population-based study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2012) 71:1273–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201299
- Li W, Han J, Qureshi AA. Obesity and risk of incident psoriatic arthritis in US women. Ann Rheum Dis. (2012) 71:1267– 72. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-201273
- Cañete JD, Mease P. The link between obesity and psoriatic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. (2012) 71:1265–6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201632
- Toussirot E, Aubin F, Desmarets M, Wendling D, Augé B, Gillard J, et al. Visceral adiposity in patients with psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis alone and its relationship with metabolic and cardiovascular risk. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2021) 60:2816–25. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa720
- 50. Ferguson LD, Linge J, Dahlqvist Leinhard O, Woodward R, Hall Barrientos P, et al. Psoriatic arthritis is associated with adverse body composition predictive of greater coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes propensity - a cross-sectional study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (2021) 60:1858–62. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa604
- Klingberg E, Bilberg A, Björkman S, Hedberg M, Jacobsson L. Forsbladd'Elia H, et al. Weight loss improves disease activity in patients with psoriatic arthritis and obesity: an interventional study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2019) 21:17. doi: 10.1186/s13075-019-1810-5
- 52. Klingberg E, Björkman S, Eliasson B, Larsson I, Bilberg A. Weight loss is associated with sustained improvement of disease activity and cardiovascular risk factors in patients with psoriatic arthritis and obesity: a prospective intervention study with two years of follow-up. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2020) 22:254. doi: 10.1186/s13075-020-02350-5
- 53. Di Minno MN, Peluso R, Iervolino S, Russolillo A, Lupoli R, Scarpa R, et al. Weight loss and achievement of minimal disease activity in patients with psoriatic arthritis starting treatment with tumour necrosis factor α blockers. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2014) 73:1157–62. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-2 02812

- 54. Kavanaugh A, Puig L, Gottlieb AB, Ritchlin C, Li S, Wang Y, et al. Maintenance of clinical efficacy and radiographic benefit through two years of ustekinumab therapy in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: results from a randomized, placebo-controlled phase III trial. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. (2015) 67:1739–49. doi: 10.1002/acr.22645
- 55. Mrowietz U, Leonardi CL, Girolomoni G, Toth D, Morita A, Balki SA, Szepietowski JC, et al. Secukinumab retreatment-as-needed versus fixedinterval maintenance regimen for moderate to severe plaque psoriasis: A randomized, double-blind, noninferiority trial (SCULPTURE). J Am Acad Dermatol. (2015) 73:27-36.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.201 5.04.011
- 56. Giles JT, Ogdie A, Gomez Reino JJ, Helliwell P, Germino R, Stockert L, et al. Impact of baseline body mass index on the efficacy and safety of tofacitinib in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *RMD Open.* (2021) 7:e001486. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001486
- Toussirot E. The interrelations between biological and targeted synthetic agents used in inflammatory joint diseases, and obesity or body composition. *Metabolites*. (2020) 10:107. doi: 10.3390/metabo100 30107
- Singh JA, Guyatt G, Ogdie A, Gladman DD, Deal C, Deodhar A, et al. Special article: 2018 American College of rheumatology/national psoriasis foundation guideline for the treatment of psoriatic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2019) 71:5–32. doi: 10.1002/art.40726

 Gossec L, Baraliakos X, Kerschbaumer A, de Wit M, McInnes I, Dougados M, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of psoriatic arthritis with pharmacological therapies: 2019 update. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2020) 79:700– 12. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217159

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ramírez, Azuaga-Piñango, Celis and Cañete. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms in Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis: Have Numbers Changed During the COVID-19 Pandemic?

Matthias Englbrecht^{1*}, Peter Bartz-Bazzanella², Cay von der Decken³, Georg Gauler⁴, Patrick Wurth⁴, Peer Aries⁵, Kirsten Karberg⁶, Christoph Kuhn⁷, Florian Schuch⁸, Susanna Späthling-Mestekemper⁹, Wolfgang Vorbrüggen¹⁰, Jörg Wendler⁸, Martin Welcker¹¹ and Stefan Kleinert^{8,12}

¹ Freelance Data Scientist, Eckental, Germany, ² Medizinisches Versorgungszentrum Stolberg, Stolberg, Germany, ³ Klinik für Internistische Rheumatologie, Rhein-Maas-Klinikum, Würselen, Germany, ⁴ Rheumatologische Schwerpunktpraxis, Osnabrück, Germany, ⁵ Rheumatologie im Struenseehaus, Hamburg, Germany, ⁶ Praxis für Rheumatologie und Innere Medizin, Berlin, Germany, ⁷ Praxis für Rheumatologie, Karlsruhe, Germany, ⁸ Praxisgemeinschaft Rheumatologie-Nephrologie, Erlangen, Germany, ⁹ Rheumatologist in Group Practice, Munich, Germany, ¹⁰ Verein zur Förderung der Rheumatologie eV, Würselen, Germany, ¹¹ Medizinisches Versorgungszentrum für Rheumatologie Dr M Welcker GmbH, Planegg, Germany, ¹² Medizinische Klinik 3, Rheumatology/Immunology, Universitätsklinik Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany

This longitudinal analysis compares the prevalence of depressive symptoms in patients with psoriatic arthritis in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Data from a national patient register in Germany were analyzed regarding the Patient Health Questionnaire 2 (PHQ-2) to identify cases suspicious for depression at two time points, i.e., before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. Only patients with complete concurrent information on the Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis Score (DAPSA) were included in the analysis. The frequency of depressive symptoms in psoriatic arthritis patients during the COVID-19 pandemic did not differ from the prevalence rates measured before. In addition, prevalence rates for depressive symptoms did not differ when stratifying the patient sample for DAPSA levels of disease activity measured before the pandemic. These results were confirmed further in a sensitivity analysis, limiting the second PHQ-2 assessment to lockdown periods only. However, longitudinal data on the prevalence of depressive symptoms in patients with rheumatic diseases, in general, and psoriatic arthritis, in particular, are scarce in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. For a sensible comparison of prevalence rates for depressive symptoms in the future, underlying SARS-CoV-2 infection rates and resulting local healthcare disruptions need to be taken into account, besides the potential use of different depression screening tools to evaluate resulting numbers sensibly and draw corresponding conclusions for patient care.

Keywords: arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, depressive symptoms, COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, depression

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Piero Ruscitti, University of L'Aquila, Italy

Reviewed by:

Vincenzo Venerito, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy Debanjali Sinha, Institute of Neurosciences Kolkata (I-NK), India Gianluca Bagnato, University of Messina, Italy

*Correspondence:

Matthias Englbrecht pmanagement@statscoach.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Rheumatology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 27 July 2021 Accepted: 08 October 2021 Published: 01 November 2021

Citation:

Englbrecht M, Bartz-Bazzanella P, von der Decken C, Gauler G, Wurth P, Aries P, Karberg K, Kuhn C, Schuch F, Späthling-Mestekemper S, Vorbrüggen W, Wendler J, Welcker M and Kleinert S (2021) Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms in Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis: Have Numbers Changed During the COVID-19 Pandemic? Front. Med. 8:748262. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.748262

95

INTRODUCTION

Depression is acknowledged as frequent comorbidity in inflammatory arthritis (1-4). Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is one of the diseases summarized under the "inflammatory arthritis" label, with reported prevalence rates for depression of about 13-20% (1, 2). PsA is found in 0.1-1% of the general population and is particularly frequent in patients with psoriasis (~20%) involving the skin, nails, joints, and entheses (5). PsA patients typically face a combination of dermal and musculoskeletal symptoms impacting the health-related quality of life and social life, resulting in everyday minor and major challenges. Accordingly, recommendations for rheumatologists and dermatologists to screen and manage PsA patients regarding the underlying risk of depression were developed (6). However, regular depression screening has not been implemented into routine rheumatology care yet to help identify patients needing professional mental healthcare support. While depression screening still needed broader implementation into rheumatology care, another challenge occurred in December 2019 caused by a new coronavirus strain (SARS-CoV-2), later referred to as COVID-19. With its global spread and despite the successful initial containment of the first SARS-CoV-2 cases in late January 2020, the first wave eventually hit Germany in early March 2020, resulting in a first national shutdown by March 22nd. The temporal unavailability of face masks further stressed the situation for healthcare professionals and patients in Germany. Although resident rheumatologists and hospitals had taken quick action to refine sanitation and hygiene protocols to reduce SARS-CoV-2 infection risk for staff and patients as far as possible, many routine consultations had to be canceled and postponed. Similar and even more severe disruptive changes in rheumatology care were reported among patients with rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases in the United States and other European countries (7, 8). In a corresponding qualitative analysis of reported perceptions given by patients referring to the pandemic, the following key themes were identified: emotions in response to the pandemic, perceptions of risks from immunosuppressive medications, protective measures to reduce risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, and disruptions in accessing rheumatic disease medications (7). Given underlying health concerns, PsA patients perceived SARS-CoV-2 as a larger threat to their health than patients with psoriasis, whereas patients on biologics were more concerned about SARS-CoV-2 and potential outcomes of a SARS-CoV-2 infection (9). Importantly, if health concerns remain unaddressed over a longer time, disregarded feelings of helplessness may lead to depression. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have consequently reported a high prevalence of depression in the general population, in (front-line) healthcare professionals, and patients diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 during the pandemic (10-14). However, longitudinal data on this topic are scarce and, thus, little is known about whether the prevalence of depressive symptoms in PsA patients has increased during the COVID-19 pandemic. This retrospective analysis of PsA patient data aims to add some information to this gap and addresses whether depressive symptoms were more frequent during the COVID-19 pandemic than they were before.

METHODS

Patient Sample and Setting

Routine clinical data from patients with an established diagnosis of PsA coming from eight centers in Germany participating in the RheumaDatenRhePort (RHADAR) register were included. RHADAR is a real-world longitudinal register for adult patients with rheumatic diseases in Germany. After informed consent, patients' pseudonymized data are added to the database. For this report, patients having consented until March 31st, 2021, were part of the data analysis. Further details on the RHADAR register can be found elsewhere (15). Symptoms of depression were assessed using the Patient Health Questionnaire-2 (PHQ-2), a brief two-item depression screening tool, which had previously been validated in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, demonstrating good sensitivity and specificity (16, 17). The PHQ-2 sum score ranges from 0 (best) to 6 (worst), with scores \geq 3 indicating depressive symptomatology. The RHADAR database was queried for patients who had had a first PHQ-2 assessment in the 12 months preceding the confirmation of the first SARS-CoV-2 cases in Germany (T1: January to December 2019, first SARS-CoV-2 cases in Germany: January 27th 2020) and had another assessment during the pandemic, i.e., after the first national lockdown taking effect on March 22nd 2020 (T2). If multiple PHQ-2 assessments for T1 were available, the first of them was chosen. The second assessment was supposed to be including PsA patients whose appointments had previously been postponed to cover changes in affective mood, resulting from potential healthcare disrupting effects. In addition, all patients included had to have an assessment of the Disease Activity in Psoriatic Arthritis Score (DAPSA) corresponding to each PHQ-2 assessment (18). Additional sample characteristics include information on sex, age, disease duration, the Hannover Functional Ability Questionnaire (HFAQ) as a measure of physical functioning, which is equivalent to the Health Assessment Questionnaire Disability Index (HAQ-DI), the Body Surface Area (BSA) for skin involvement, and anti-rheumatic treatment, aggregated by drug class (19). Besides the RHADAR inclusion criteria and the mandatory availability of data on PHQ-2 and DAPSA before and during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, no further inclusion or exclusion criteria were applied.

Statistical Data Analysis and Analysis Software

Descriptive characteristics of quantitative variables are presented as mean \pm standard deviation and as absolute frequencies (per cent) for nominal data if not stated otherwise. Data on prescribed medication were aggregated into the following drug classes: conventional-, targeted synthetic-, and biological diseasemodifying anti-rheumatic drugs (cDMARDs, tsDMARDs, bDMARDs), non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), and glucocorticoids (GCs). Due to combination therapies, the reported total number of prescriptions may exceed the sample size. Missing values were not imputed to preserve the original information of the available raw data. Differences in the prevalence of symptoms of depression and the prescription

Depressive Symptoms in Psoriatic Arthritis

frequencies of aggregated standard anti-rheumatic therapies for PsA were investigated by McNemar's tests for paired nominal data, including Yate's correction for continuity. PHQ-2 sum scores were dichotomized using a sum score cutoff ≥ 3 , which is the standard threshold to identify cases suspicious for depression. For both time points, before and during the pandemic, the frequencies of the dichotomized PHQ-2 scores were compared. In a subsequent step, this analysis was repeated, stratified for DAPSA levels of disease activity, i.e., ≤ 4 for remission, >4 and \leq 14 for low disease activity, >14 and \leq 28 for moderate disease activity and >28 for high disease activity (20). The stratified PHQ-2 analysis as well as the analysis of drug class-specific prescription frequencies were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Bonferroni-Holm correction to control type I error probability. Inferential test results include test coefficient, p-value and effect size, i.e., odds ratios with corresponding 95% confidence intervals. McNemar test-related odds ratios were calculated from the division of the off-diagonal cells in the respective contingency table (Supplementary File). An additional sensitivity analysis regarding PHQ-2-related outcomes was conducted to investigate whether the choice of the T2 assessment impacted the results. For this analysis, only patients with a second PHQ-2 assessment during lockdown periods were included. The data analysis was conducted using R (version 4.1.0.) and RStudio IDE (version 1.4.1103) (21, 22). $P \le 0.05$ were considered statistically significant in cases with no multiple testing adjustment.

RESULTS

Description of the Patient Sample

Eighty-nine PsA patients with 48 female patients (53.93%) and 41 male patients (46.07%) were included in the analysis. On average, patients were 54.16 \pm 11.66 years of age and had a disease duration of 9.33 \pm 9.02 years at T1. Mean T1 DAPSA was 10.38 \pm 14.56, suggesting patients had low disease activity on average, whereas the subgroup analysis revealed the following distribution across DAPSA categories: 38 (42.70%) remission, 31 (34.83%) low disease activity, 12 (13.48%) moderate disease activity, and 8 (8.99%) high disease activity. Mean DAPSA at T2 was 7.91 \pm 10.31, whereas DAPSA confidence intervals for both time points indicated comparable disease activity (**Table 1**). With potential scores ranging from 0 (worst) to 100 (best), average HFAQ-scores showed mild impairment of physical functioning at both time points (T1: 80.83 \pm 21.77, T2: 82.51 \pm 20.30). Further descriptive information is presented in **Table 1**.

At T1, cDMARDs were the most frequent drug (n = 57, 64.04%), followed by NSAIDs (n = 45, 50.56%), bDMARDs (n = 35, 39.33%), GCs (n = 15, 16.85%), and tsDMARDs (n = 1, 1.12%). Complete data on anti-rheumatic medication was available for 88 (98.88%) patients at T1 and 85 (95.51%) patients at T2. Except for GCs [$\chi^2_{(1)} = 7.11$, p = 0.008], which were prescribed less frequent at T2 than at T1, prescription frequencies between the time points of interest did not differ (see section 1 of **Supplementary File** for further information). The corresponding odds ratio for GCs could not be calculated as division by 0, given by the contingency table, is undefined.

However, the change in the prescription frequency of GCs remained significant after multiple testing adjustments (critical $p_{adj} = 0.01$). Importantly, our results did indicate that neither cDMARDS [$\chi^2_{(1)} = 0.36$, p = 0.55, 95%CI_{OR} = 0.17–1.95] nor bDMARDs [$\chi^2_{(1)} = 0$, p = 1.0, 95%CI_{OR} = 0.14–7.10] were prescribed more or less often during the pandemic than before.

Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms

PHQ-2 frequency analysis showed that the majority of the patients in our sample had a PHQ-2 sum score < 2, which is below the cutpoint for an indication of depressive symptoms at both time points (T1: n = 74, 83.15%; T2: n = 76, 85.39%). A total of 15 (T1) and 13 (T2) patients were found to show depressive symptomatology. Accordingly, the prevalence of symptoms of depression, identified by a PHQ-2 sum score \geq 3, was 16.85% at T1, and 14.61% at T2, respectively. The corresponding inferential McNemar analysis did not reveal any significant changes regarding depressive symptoms when comparing data from before SARS-CoV-2 to data during the pandemic $[\chi^2_{(1)}]$ = 0.06, p = 0.803, 95%CI_{OR} = 0.48-3.45]. Corresponding frequency data even suggested a slight (although non-significant) decrease in prevalence rates. When PHQ-2 data were stratified for DAPSA levels of disease activity, each of the resulting four categories did not indicate any significant changes in prevalence rates for depressive symptoms. With p-values ranging from 0.617 to 1.000 and 95% odds ratio confidence intervals encompassing 1, prevalence rates seemed equal over time irrespective of the DAPSA stratification for disease activity. Further details on PHQ-2 test results are shown in Tables 2, 3; contingency tables are shown in section 2 of the Supplementary File. The sensitivity analysis reduced longitudinal comparisons only to those patients that had their second assessment during one of the two national lockdowns. The corresponding results confirmed the previous findings, again, suggesting prevalence rates for depressive symptoms before and during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic to be comparable in our sample [$\chi^2_{(1)} = 0.25$, p = 0.617, 95%CI_{OR} = 0.31–28.84; $\chi^2_{(1)} = 1.50, p = 0.221,$ 95%CI_{OR} = 0.58–42.80; see section 3 of the **Supplementary File** for corresponding contingency tables].

DISCUSSION

Regarding the prevalence of depressive symptoms identified by the PHQ-2, our results align with the numbers given by recent systematic reviews in PsA (1, 2). Surprisingly, the results of our data analysis suggest depressive symptoms not to occur more often during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic compared to the 2019 data for patients having completed a depression screening at both time points. Except for GCs, that were prescribed less frequent at T2, our findings showed that anti-rheumatic medication remained unchanged in the vast majority of our sample. Thus, switches of anti-rheumatic medication do not seem to be a reason for the stable prevalence rates. With the help of a sensitivity analysis regarding the choice of the T2 time point, we were also able to show that results remained unchanged when limiting the second assessment to lockdown periods only. However, given the challenges the healthcare system and rheumatologists TABLE 1 | Descriptive sample characteristics before and during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

	N (valid)	% (valid)	<i>N</i> (NA)	% (NA)	Mean	Lower bound 95%Cl	Upper bound 95%Cl	SD
 T1								
Age	89	100.00	0	0.00	54.16	51.74	56.58	11.66
Disease duration (years)	89	100.00	0	0.00	9.33	7.45	11.20	9.02
DAPSA	89	100.00	0	0.00	10.38	7.36	13.41	14.56
TJC (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	3.03	1.29	4.77	8.38
SJC (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	1.24	0.39	2.08	4.05
NRS Disease Activity (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	2.84	2.27	3.41	2.75
NRS Pain (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	2.63	2.09	3.17	2.61
CRP	89	100.00	0	0.00	0.64	0.36	0.92	1.35
BSA	29	32.58	60	67.42	0.45	0.12	0.78	0.91
HFAQ	86	96.63	3	3.37	80.83	76.22	85.43	21.77
T2								
Age	89	100.00	0	0.00	55.27	52.85	57.69	11.63
Disease duration	89	100.00	0	0.00	10.44	8.56	12.32	9.06
DAPSA	89	100.00	0	0.00	7.91	5.77	10.05	10.31
TJC (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	1.96	0.56	3.35	6.70
SJC (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	0.76	0.29	1.24	2.29
NRS Disease Activity (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	2.35	1.90	2.79	2.14
NRS Pain (DAPSA)	89	100.00	0	0.00	2.38	1.90	2.87	2.34
CRP	89	100.00	0	0.00	0.46	0.34	0.58	0.58
BSA	16	17.98	73	82.02	0.75	0.29	1.21	0.93
HFAQ	86	96.63	3	3.37	82.51	78.22	86.80	20.30

Cl, confidence interval; SD, standard deviation; DAPSA, Disease Activity Psoriatic Arthritis Score; TJC, Tender Joint Count (68 joints); SJC, swollen joint count (66 joints); NRS, Numerical Rating Scale; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, c-reactive protein; BSA, Body Surface Area; HFAQ, Hannover Functional Ability Questionnaire. T1, January—December 2019; T2, March 22nd 2020–March 31st 2021.

TABLE 2 | Frequency distribution of PHQ-2 sum scores before and during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (n_{total} = 89).

PHQ-2		T1		Τ2			
	n	%	% (cumulative)	n	%	% (cumulative)	
0	39	43.82	43.82	41	46.07	46.07	
1	12	13.48	57.30	11	12.36	58.43	
2	23	25.84	83.15	24	26.97	85.39	
3	4	4.49	87.64	3	3.37	88.76	
4	6	6.74	94.38	6	6.74	95.51	
5	1	1.12	95.51	2	2.25	97.75	
6	4	4.49	100.00	2	2.25	100.00	
≥ 3	15	16.85	-	13	14.61		

T1, January–December 2019; T2, March 22nd 2020–March 31st 2021. Bold values represent column sums for n and % in the rows with a PHQ-2 score of 3 or higher, i.e., PHQ-2 scores of 3, 4, 5, and 6.

were facing, particularly during the first national lockdown, the corresponding sample sizes were smaller (T2: first lockdown: n = 18, T2: second lockdown: n = 50). A post-lockdown study confirmed a similar prevalence in patients with inflammatory arthritis and gave a plausible explanation of why depressive symptoms might not occur more frequently during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (23). According to Ciaffi et al., patients with inflammatory arthritis showed higher resilience scores than

study participants from the general population—independent of the patients' age or disease duration (23). Resilience is a psychological construct implying resistance to environmental risk experiences or overcoming stress or adversity (24). The authors of the study above hypothesize whether higher resilience might result from the necessity for patients to adapt to everyday hassle resulting from inflammatory arthritis, in turn, training their abilities to cope more effectively in challenging situations

Matched sample comparison	n	χ²	df	p-value	OR	Lower bound 95%Cl	Upper bound 95%Cl
Total sample	89	0.06	1	0.803	1.286	0.479	3.452
DAPSA-REM (T1)	38	0.25	1	0.617	0.333	0.035	3.205
DAPSA-LDA (T1)	31	0.00	1	1.000	1.000	0.141	7.099
DAPSA-MDA (T1)	12	0.25	1	0.617	3.000	0.312	28.842
DAPSA—HDA (T1)	8	0.25	1	0.617	3.000	0.312	28.842

TABLE 3 | McNemar tests for dichotomized PHQ-2 scores for the total sample and stratified by initial DAPSA levels at the first assessment before and during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic.

df, degrees of freedom; OR, odds ratio (effect size); CI, confidence interval; DAPSA, Disease Activity Psoriatic Arthritis Score; REM, Remission (DAPSA \leq 4); LDA, low disease activity (DAPSA > 4 and \leq 14); MDA, moderate disease activity (DAPSA > 14 and \leq 28); HDA, high disease activity (DAPSA > 28).

than individuals in the general population (23). Adding to these findings, another study in the U.S. general population revealed that getting outside more often, exercising more often, sleeping better, praying more often, and perceiving social support from friends, family, and significant others were also related to higher resilience (25). Though we did not measure these characteristics, an additional positive effect of these factors seems conceivable in PsA patients, too. However, in contrast to our findings, a multi-national European study including 1,800 patients with rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases reported a proportion of 45.9% of the participants at risk of depression during the COVID-19 pandemic (8). These results suggest that prevalence rates of depressive symptoms could be more than double the numbers according to our findings. Several reasons may serve as conceivable explanation of this difference: Firstly, the study mentioned above had a different sample composition, including only 9.1% of PsA patients and were given a different depression screening questionnaire returning two outcome categories for depressive symptoms, which were conflated for the analysis (borderline cases and cases suspicious for depression). The PHQ-2 in our analysis returns a single category for depressive symptoms and has no borderline category. These factors make a direct comparison of results difficult and can lead to considerably different prevalence rates. Secondly, the national healthcare systems across Europe are structured differently and were stressed to an individually different degree during the COVID-19 pandemic, depending on the local rate of infection on the one hand and available healthcare resources on the other. The study by Garrido-Cumbrera et al. included participants from several countries such as Spain, Portugal, France, Italy, or the UK which all had peak 7-day case rates per 100.000 that were twice as high as the numbers in Germany, at least (26). Corresponding limited healthcare resources including considerable disruptions having an impact on the availability of necessary (pain-related) medication and patient care are another feasible explanation for the higher prevalence rates of depressive symptoms found in these countries. The implications from this comparison are important to understand the generalizability of the results coming from our analysis. A mere cross-country comparison of numbers reflecting the occurrence of depressive symptoms in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic does not match the complexity of the issue. Data on prevalence rates of depressive symptoms during COVID-19 need to be

interpreted in the context of the impact the pandemic had on the availability of healthcare resources in each region or country of interest. For our analysis, we have chosen longitudinal PHQ-2 data from PsA patients including DAPSA as common measure of disease activity in PsA. However, information on psoriatic skin involvement by BSA were only available for a less than a third of the total patient sample. This might reflect rheumatologists' reluctance for an exact skin documentation, limiting comparability to other PsA samples investigating a similar research question to the musculoskeletal component and the more general visual analog scale for patient-reported global assessment. Furthermore, with including 89 patients with sufficient PHQ-2 and DAPSA documentation, our sample might not be generalizable to other countries or patient samples. Baseline PHQ-2 values preceding the T1 assessment were not included in the manuscript given that we felt that a period of 12 months preceding the COVID-19 pandemic for definition of the T1 assessment was sufficient. Regarding DAPSA, the patients in our sample seemed to have milder disease than the norming sample that was used to define DAPSA levels of disease activity by a quartile split (20). This finding may result from the majority of centers contributing data to the RHADAR register being resident rheumatologists adding patients with lower disease activity to the database than hospitals potentially would. However, since we were able to demonstrate, that the prevalence of depressive symptoms remained similar across DAPSA categories and is independent from the choice of timing for the second assessment as well, we consider our results reliable given similar numbers from previous large-scale systematic reviews. Given comparable results regarding 95% confidence intervals of mean PHQ-2 scores of database patients with a single PHQ-2 assessment at T1 (i.e., patients who were not included into the analysis) and the patient sample presented, we assume that patients with a single PHQ-2 assessment at T1 did not show higher depressiveness on average than the patients included into the analysis of this manuscript (95%CI only T1: 1.44-1.68, 95%CI patient sample: 1.04-1.72). Hence, a potential selection bias resulting from a mandatory T1 and T2 documentation as inclusion criterion is unlikely. Unfortunately, longitudinal data for comparing the prevalence of depressive symptoms before and during SARS-CoV-2 are scarce in rheumatology, yet and, thus, would merit further, preferably large-scale data input leading to improved insights of what kind of circumstances still can be handled by improved resilience capabilities of patients with rheumatic disorders and at which point even these might not suffice to bolster challenges such as those resulting from the pandemic.

In conclusion, our analysis showed similar prevalence rates of depressive symptoms before and during SARS-CoV-2 in PsA patients in Germany, irrespective of the patients' DAPSA category or the timing of the during COVID-19 assessment. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first longitudinal investigation of depressive symptoms in patients with PsA during the COVID-19 pandemic.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The raw data for this analysis are not openly available given the patients' consent, allowing for the publication of aggregated data only. However, information on aggregated raw data is given in the contingency tables of the **Supplementary Material**. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to pmanagement@statscoach.de.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Zhao SS, Miller N, Harrison N, Duffield SJ, Dey M, Goodson NJ. Systematic review of mental health comorbidities in psoriatic arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2020) 39:217–25. doi: 10.1007/s10067-019-04734-8
- Zusman EZ, Howren AM, Park JYE, Dutz J, De Vera MA. Epidemiology of depression and anxiety in patients with psoriatic arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2020) 50:1481–8. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2020.02.001
- Matcham F, Rayner L, Steer S, Hotopf M. The prevalence of depression in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Rheumatology*. (2013) 53:578–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ket439
- Wu JJ, Penfold RB, Primatesta P, Fox TK, Stewart C, Reddy SP, et al. The risk of depression, suicidal ideation and suicide attempt in patients with psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis or ankylosing spondylitis. *J Europ Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2017) 31:1168–75. doi: 10.1111/jdv.14175
- Karmacharya P, Chakradhar R, Ogdie A. The epidemiology of psoriatic arthritis: a literature review. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. (2021) 35:101692. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2021.101692
- Roubille C, Richer V, Starnino T, McCourt C, McFarlane A, Fleming P, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for the management of comorbidities in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, and psoriatic arthritis: expert opinion of the canadian dermatology-rheumatology comorbidity initiative. *J Rheumatol.* (2015) 42:1767–80. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.141112
- Michaud K, Wipfler K, Shaw Y, Simon TA, Cornish A, England BR, et al. Experiences of patients with rheumatic diseases in the United States during early days of the COVID-19 pandemic. ACR Open Rheumatol. (2020) 2:335– 43. doi: 10.1002/acr2.11148
- 8. Garrido-Cumbrera M, Marzo-Ortega H, Christen L, Plazuelo-Ramos P, Webb D, Jacklin C, et al. Assessment of impact of the COVID-19 pandemic from

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the RHADAR GbR (A Network of Rheumatologists), Bahnhofstr. 32, 82152 Planegg, Germany. RHADAR GbR received honoraria from UCB Pharma GmbH, Sandoz Deutschland/Hexal AG, Lilly GmbH, and Galapagos Biopharma Germany GmbH, and research support from Novartis Pharma GmbH. The funders were not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Nils Körber (by Nils Körber and Joachim Elgas GbR, Erlangen) who developed RheumaDok and the RHADAR database. We would also like to thank all the rheumatological specialist assistants supporting the clinical documentation in the participating centers.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.748262/full#supplementary-material

the perspective of patients with rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases in Europe: results from the REUMAVID study (phase 1). *RMD Open.* (2021) 7:e001546. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001546

- Gondo GC, Bell SJ, Slayden J, Ullmann G, Blauvelt A. Concerns and perceptions of patients with psoriatic disease during the COVID-19 pandemic: results from a two-wave survey by the National Psoriasis Foundation. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. (2021) 35:e354–5. doi: 10.1111/jdv.17173
- Salari N, Hosseinian-Far A, Jalali R, Vaisi-Raygani A, Rasoulpoor S, Mohammadi M, et al. Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Global Health.* (2020) 16:57. doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w
- 11. Salari N, Khazaie H, Hosseinian-Far A, Khaledi-Paveh B, Kazeminia M, Mohammadi M, et al. The prevalence of stress, anxiety and depression within front-line healthcare workers caring for COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-regression. *Hum Resour Health.* (2020) 18:100. doi: 10.1186/s12960-020-00544-1
- Marvaldi M, Mallet J, Dubertret C, Moro MR, Guessoum SB. Anxiety, depression, trauma-related, and sleep disorders among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2021) 126:252–64. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.03.024
- 13. Krishnamoorthy Y, Nagarajan R, Saya GK, Menon V. Prevalence among psychological morbidities population, of general healthcare workers and COVID-19 patients amidst the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res. (2020) 293:113382. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.1 13382
- 14. Deng J, Zhou F, Hou W, Silver Z, Wong CY, Chang O, et al. The prevalence of depression, anxiety, and sleep disturbances in COVID-19 patients: a

meta-analysis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2021) 1486:90-111. doi: 10.1111/nyas. 14506

- Kleinert S, Bartz-Bazzanella P, von der Decken C, Knitza J, Witte T, Fekete SP, et al. A real-world rheumatology registry and research consortium: the German RheumaDatenRhePort (RHADAR) registry. J Med Internet Res. (2021) 23:e28164. doi: 10.2196/28164
- Löwe B, Kroenke K, Grafe K. Detecting and monitoring depression with a two-item questionnaire (PHQ-2). J Psychosomatic Res. (2005) 58:163– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.09.006
- Hitchon CA, Zhang L, Peschken CA, Lix LM, Graff LA, Fisk JD, et al. The validity and reliability of screening measures for depression and anxiety disorders in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2019) 72:1130– 9. doi: 10.1002/acr.24011
- Schoels M, Aletaha D, Funovits J, Kavanaugh A, Baker D, Smolen JS. Application of the DAREA/DAPSA score for assessment of disease activity in psoriatic arthritis. *Ann Rheumatic Dis.* (2010) 69:1441– 7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.122259
- Lautenschlager J, Mau W, Kohlmann T, Raspe HH, Struve F, Bruckle W, et al. [Comparative evaluation of a German version of the Health Assessment Questionnaire and the Hannover Functional Capacity Questionnaire]. Z Rheumatol. (1997) 56:144–55. doi: 10.1007/s0039300 50030
- Schoels MM, Aletaha D, Alasti F, Smolen JS. Disease activity in psoriatic arthritis (PsA): defining remission and treatment success using the DAPSA score. Ann Rheum Dis. (2016) 75:811–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-207507
- 21. R Core Team. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2014). Available online at: http://www.R-project.org (accessed July 12, 2021).
- RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. Boston, MA: RStudio, Inc. (2015). Available online at: http://www.rstudio.com/ (accessed July 12, 2021).
- 23. Ciaffi J, Brusi V, Lisi L, Mancarella L, D'Onghia M, Quaranta E, et al. Living with arthritis: a 'training camp' for coping with stressful events? A survey on resilience of arthritis patients following the COVID-19 pandemic. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2020) 39:3163–70. doi: 10.1007/s10067-020-05411-x

- Rutter M. Implications of resilience concepts for scientific understanding. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2006) 1094:1–12. doi: 10.1196/annals.13 76.002
- Killgore WDS, Taylor EC, Cloonan SA, Dailey NS. Psychological resilience during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 291:113216. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113216
- 7 Day Incidence Rates: Countries of the world | OSCOVIDA: Open Science COVID Analysis. (2021). Available online at: https://oscovida.github.io/ countries-incidence-rate.html (accessed July 12, 2021).

Conflict of Interest: WV, CD, SK, PB-B, CK, KK, SS-M, PA, and MW are members of RheumaDatenRhePort GbR. RHADAR GbR received honoraria from UCB Pharma GmbH, Sandoz Deutschland/Hexal AG, Lilly GmbH, and Galapagos Biopharma Germany GmbH, and research support from Novartis Pharma GmbH. ME received remunerations from RheumaDatenRhePort GbR for statistical data analyses and consultation for previous projects.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Englbrecht, Bartz-Bazzanella, von der Decken, Gauler, Wurth, Aries, Karberg, Kuhn, Schuch, Späthling-Mestekemper, Vorbrüggen, Wendler, Welcker and Kleinert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ø

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your